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AUTHOR'S  PREFACE 

In  the  preparation  of  this  history,  the  author  has  endeavored  to  carry 

out  the  following  design,  viz;  to  give  only  the  most  important  and  interesting- 

events,  and  to  place  them  hefore  the  reader  in  not  only  an  attractive  hut  syste- 
matic form.  The  chronological  arrangement  of  the  history  proper  from  the 

traditional  period  to  the  present  time,  is  treated  in  decades,  as  hy  this  method, 

the  gradual  de\-elopment  of  the  people  and  the  resources  of  the  county  can  be 
best  appreciated.  Following  this  will  he  found  separate  chapters  on  such 

phases  of  our  history  as  deserve  individual  treatment.  The  military  annals, 

the  churches,  the  secret  societies,  the  ship-lniilding  industry,  the  car  w<irks, 

banks  and  banking,  the  Ijench  and  bar,  etc.,  etc.,  ha\e  been  described  from 

data  furnished  bv  men  ni'St  capable  and  most  intimately  acquainted  with 

these  subjects. 

If  some  of  our  frailties  have  been  exposed,  the  account  of  our  material 

de\-eloi)ment,  and  the  high  character  and  ability  of  our  earlier  leaders  more 

than  overbalance  the  weaknesses  of  those  periods,  and  should  sen-e  to  direct 
and  enthuse  the  lives  and  efforts  of  this  and  succeeding  generations.  The 

author  has  endeavored  most  conscientiously  to  make  this  work  authentic  and 

complete  and  has  freely  cnnsulted  authorities  lioth  local  and  otherwise. 

He  is  indebted  to  man\-  persons  in  the  preparation  of  the  chapters  follow- 
ing the  decade^  as  well  as  in  writing  the  body  of  the  work,  and  believes  that 

the  facts  thus  presented  may  be  relied  uixm  as  being  authentic.  To  John 

Owens,  of  Charlestown,  he  wishes  to  give  the  greatest  credit  for  the  facts 

procured  frtm  the  storehouse  of  his  memory  and  his  library,  and  for  the 

suggestions  he  has  made.  Col.  Reuben  T.  Durrett,  of  Louisville,  Hon.  Jonas 

G.  Howard  and  Dr.  D.  L.  Field,  both  of  JefTersonville,  and  others  have  added 

greatly  to  the  value  of  the  work.  English's  "Conquest  of  the  Northwest," 
Dillon's  "Indiana,"  Dunn's  "Indiana,"  and  other  volumes  have  furnished 
much.  In  fact  every  precaution  has  been  taken  to  record  the  history  of  the 

county  correctly  and  the  author  is  profi.aindly  grateful  for  the  encouragement 
he  has  received. 

Lewis  C.  B.mru. 





PUBLISHER'S  PREFACE 
All  life  and  achievement  is  evolution :  fjiesent  wisdom  comes  from  past 

experience,  and  present  commercial  pros])erity  has  come  only  fn.m  past  exer- 

tion and  sufl'ering.  The  deeds  and  motives  of  the  men  that  have  gone  before 
have  lieen  instrumental  in  shaping  the  destinies  of  later  communities  and  states. 

The  de\elopment  of  a  new  country  was  at  once  a  task  and  a  privilege.  It  re- 
quired great  courage,  sacrifice  and  privation.  Compare  the  present  conditions 

of  the  residents  of  Clark  county,  Indiana,  witli  what  tliey  were  one  hundred 
\ears  ago.  From  a  trackless  wilderness  and  \irgin  prairie  it  has  come  to  be  a 

center  of  prosperity  and  civilization,  with  millions  of  wealth,  systems  of  inter- 
.secting  railwavs,  grand  educational  institutions,  marvelous  industries  and  im- 

mense agricultural  productions.  Can  any  thinking  person  be  insensible  to  the 
fascination  of  the  study  wliich  discloses  the  incentives,  hopes,  aspirations  and 
efforts  of  the  early  pioneers  who  so  strongly  laid  the  foundation  uprm  which 
has  been  reared  the  magnificent  prosperity  of  later  days?  To  perpetuate  the 

story  of  these  people  and  to  trace  and  record  the  social,  political  and  industrial 
progress  of  the  community  from  its  first  inception  is  the  function  of  the  local 
historian.  A  sincere  purpose  to  preserve  facts  and  personal  memoirs  that  are 
deserving  of  preservation,  and  which  unite  the  present  to  the  past  is  the  motive 
for  the  present  publication.  The  work  has  been  in  the  hands  of  able  writers, 

who  have,  after  much  patient  study  and  research,  produced  here  the  most  com- 
])lcte  biographical  memoirs  of  Clark  county,  Indiana,  ever  offered  to  the 
pu])lic.  A  specially  valuable  and  interesting  department  is  that  one  devoted 
to  the  sketches  of  representative  citizens  of  this  county  whose  records  deserve 

perpetuation  because  of  their  worth,  effort  and  accomplishment.  The  prb- 
lishers  desire  to  extend  their  thanks  to  these  gentlemen  who  ha\-e  so  faithfulh' 
labored  to  this  end.  Thanks  are  also  due  to  the  citizens  of  Clark  county  for 
the  uniform  kindness  with  which  they  have  regarded  this  undertaking,  and  for 
Iheir  nvuiv  ser\ices  rendere<l  in  the  gaining  of  necessary  information. 

In  placing  "Baird's  History  of  Clark  County,  Indiana"  before  the  citizens, 
ihe  ]jublishers  can  conscientiously  claim  that  they  have  carried  imt  the  ])lan 
as  outlined  in  the  prospectus.  Every  biographical  sketch  in  the  work  has  been 
submitted  to  the  party  interested,  for  correction,  and  tlierefore  any  error  of 

fact,  if  there  be  any,  is  solely  due  to  the  person  for  whom  the  sketch  was  jire- 
pared.  Confident  that  our  efforts  to  please  will  fully  meet  the  appn  il)atiiin 
of  the  public,  we  are, 

Respectfully, 
The  PuRi.isiiERS. 
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HISTORICAL 

CHAPTER  I. 

TRADITIONAL  EARLIEST  INHABITANTS  OF  CLARK  COUNTY. 

That  the  country  north  of  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio  and  adjacent  to  the  river 

was  inhabited  by  a  strange  people  many  years  before  the  first  recorded  visit 

of  a  white  man,  there  can  be  no  doubt.  The  relics  of  a  former  race  are  scat- 
tered throughout  this  territory,  and  the  many  skeletons  found  buried  along 

the  banks  of  the  river  below  Jeffersonville  are  indisputable  evidence  that  a 

strange  people  once  flourished  here.  Of  all  the  legendary  stories  told  of  pre- 
Columbian  visitors  to  the  American  continent,  the  Madoc  tradition  takes  prece- 

dence. The  Atlantis  tradition,  twelve  thousand  years  old;  the  Phoenician 

tradition,  dating  from  three  quarters  of  a  century  before  the  Christian  era; 
the  Chinese  tradition  of  the  Buddhist  priest  in  the  fifth  century;  the  Norse 
tradition  of  the  tenth  century ;  the  Irish  tradition  of  the  eleventh  century ;  and 
the  ]Madoc  tradition  of  the  Welshmen  in  America  near  the  close  of  the  eleventh 

centurv,  all  lay  claim  to  the  honor  of  being  accounts  of  the  first  visit  of  white 
men  to  the  North  American  continent.  The  greatest  probability  of  truth 
seems  to  attach  to  the  Aladoc  tradition,  and  the  evidence  from  many  different 

sources  gives  it  a  greater  credibility  than  any  of  the  other  accounts. 

This  tradition  is  to  the  effect  that  a  colony  of  Welshmen,  who  had  emi- 
grated to  America  in  1170,  found  their  way  finally  to  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio, 

and  remained  there  for  many  years,  being  finally  almost  exterminated  in  a 

great  battle  with  "Red  Indians." 

Owen  Gwyneth,  Prince  nf  \\'ales,  died  in  1167,  and  left  seventeen  sons. 
Disputes  and  contentions  arose  among  them  as  to  who  should  succeed  the 
father,  and  Aladoc,  one  of  the  sons,  thinking  it  better  prudence  to  try  his 
fortune  elsewhere,  set  sail  with  a  good  company  of  Welshmen  and  traveled 
westward  until  he  reached  the  shores  of  another  continent.  The  new  land 

ofifered  such  a  fair  and  alluring  prospect  that  JNIadoc  returned  to  Wales  and 

brought  back  a  considerable  number  of  Welsh  to  join  his  colony  in  the  "New 
World."  \Miere  they  landed  is  conjecture,  but  the  testimony  of  many  authori- 

ties, and  the  stories  and  traditions  of  manv  of  the  early  settlers  of  this  west- 
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em  country  prove  to  a  greater  or  less  degree  of  probability  that  white  Indians, 

who  spoke  an  almost  pure  ̂ ^'elsh  tongue,  existed  in  several  localities. 
In  1582  the  first  account  of  this  Welsh  emig-ration  to  America  appeared 

in  "Hakluits's  Divers  Voyages  Touching  the  Discovery  of  America,"  etc..  and 

his  authority  was  Gutton  Owen,  a  \\'elsh  bard,  who  flourished  during  the  reign 
of  Henr\-  VII.  The  account  also  appears  in  an  addenda  to  Caradoc's  "Histoiy 
of  \^"ales,"  which  was  translated  into  English  in  1584.  In  America  the  first 
mention  of  the  Madoc  tradition  belongs  to  Captain  John  Smith,  who  gives  it 

as  the  only  discovery  prior  to  that  of  Columbus  (See  "Generall  Historie  of 
Virg-inia,  New  England  and  the  Summer  Isles,"  London,  1624,  page  i),  but 
the  personal  evidence  corroborati^•e  of  this  tradition  begins  with  a  statement 

by  the  Rev.  Morgan  Jones,  in  1685.  ( See  Gentlemen's  Magazine.  London, 
1740,  page  103).  The  Rev.  Mr.  Jones  was  sent  out  by  Governor  Berkeley,  of 

Virg'inia,  as  chaplain  of  an  expedition  to  South  Carolina.  Arriving  at  Port 
Royal  on  April  19,  1660,  they  lay  at  a  place  called  Oyster  Point  for  about  eight 
months,  at  which  time,  being  almost  starved  by  their  inability  to  procure 

provisions,  he  set  out  with  five  companions  through  the  wilderness.  His  nar- 

rative continues  as  follows :  "There  the  Tuscarara  Indians  took  us  prisoners 
because  we  told  them  we  were  bound  for  Roanoke.  That  night  they  carried 
us  to  their  town,  and  shut  us  up  close,  to  our  no  small  dread.  The  next  day 

they  entered  into  a  conversation  about  us,  which  after  it  was  over,  their  in- 
terpreter told  us  that  we  must  prepare  ourselves  to  die  the  next  morning. 

Thereupon  being  very  much  dejected  and  speaking  in  the  British  (Welsh), 

tongue,  'Have  I  escaped  so  many  dangers  that  I  must  now  be  knocked  on  the 

head  like  a  dog?'  His  words  were  understood  by  one  who  seemed  to  be  a 
war  captain,  and  through  his  intervention  the  six  prisoners  were  spared." 
These  men  remained  with  the  Indians  for  four  months,  and,  the  minister 

states,  "During  which  time  I  had  the  opportunity^  of  conversing  with  them 

familiarly  in  the  British  (W'elsh)  tongue,  and  did  preach  to  them  three  times 
a  week  in  the  same  language." 

Captain  Isaac  Stewart,  an  officer  in  the  Provincial  Cavalry  of  South 
Carolina,  in  1782  was  captured  by  Indians  and  taken  westward  of  Fort  Pitt. 

He  and  a  \\^elshman  named  John  Davy  were  kept  in  bondage  for  over  two 
years  and  were  finally  taken  up  the  Red  river  to  an  Indian  settlement.  Davy 
understood  and  conversed  with  this  tribe  of  white  Indians  in  his  native  tongue. 
(See  American  Museum,  Vol.  2,  page  92,  July,  1787). 

The  Rev,  John  ̂ ^■illiams,  LL.  D.,  in  a  book  entitled  "An  Inquiry  into 
the  Truth  of  the  Tradition  Concerning  the  Discovery  of  America  by  Madog," 
published  in  London  in  1796,  gives  the  testimony  of  numerous  persons  who 

had  been  among  the  ̂ ^'elsh  Indians  in  America.  These  incidents  are  too 

lengthy  to  relate  here,  but  they  show  that  enough  testimony  relating  to  \\'hite 
Indians  who  sixike  the  Welsh  language  lias  been  collected  l)v  writers  in  the 
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past  to  give  the  story  more  weight  than  attaches  to  the  Norse,  the  Chinese,  the 

Irish  or  the  Phoenician  traditions  of  pre-Columbian  discovery. 
In  later  years  historians  have  delved  deep  into  this  subject,  and  George 

Catlin,  who  published  "Letters  and  Notes  on  the  Manners  of  the  North  Ameri- 
can Indians"  in  1857,  says  that  the  Mandan  Indians,  among  whom  he  lived 

and  studied  their  histoiy  and  peculiarities,  were  descendants  of  the  Welsh 

colony  established  in  America  by  Prince  Madoc  in  the  twelfth  centurj'.  This 
entire  tribe  of  Welsh  Indians  was  almost  wiped  out  of  existence  by  the  small- 

pox in  the  summer  of  1838.  In  1842  Thomas  S.  Hinde,  an  antiquarian  of 
more  than  local  reputation,  gave  some  valuable  infonnation  touching  the 
Madoc  tradition.  In  answer  to  inquiries  made  by  John  S.  Williams,  editor 
of  The  American  Pioneer,  he  wrote  as  follows : 

"Mount  Camiel,  Illinois,  May  30,  1824.  Mr.  J.  S.  W'illiams  :  Dear  Sir — 
Your  letter  of  the  17th.  to  Major  Armstrong,  was  placed  in  my  hands  some 

days  ago.  The  brief  remark  and  hints  given  you  are  correct.  I  have  a  vast 
quantity  of  western  matter,  collected  in  notes  gathered  from  various  sources, 
mostlv  from  persons  who  knew  the  facts.  These  notes  reach  back  to  remote 
periods.  It  is  a  fact  that  the  Welsh  under  Owen  Ap  Zuinch.  in  the  twelfth 
century,  found  their  way  u])  the  Mississippi,  and  as  far  up  the  Ohio  as  the 

Falls  of  that  river  at  Louisx'ille,  where  they  were  cut  ofif  by  the  Indians;  others 
ascended  the  Missouri,  were  either  captured  or  settled  with  and  sunk  into 

Indian  habits.  Proof  I.  In  1799,  six  soldiers'  skeletons  were  dug  up  near 
Jeffersonville.  Each  skeleton  had  a  breastplate  of  brass,  cast  with  the  Welsh 

coat-of-anns,  the  Mermaid  and  Harp,  with  a  Latin  inscription,  in  substance, 

'virtuous  deeds  meet  their  just  reward."  One  of  these  plates  was  left  by  Cap- 
tain Jonathan  Taylor  with  the  late  Mr.  Hubbard  Taylor,  of  Clark  county,  and 

when  called  for  by  me  in  1814  for  the  date  Dr.  John  P.  Campbell,  of  Chilli- 

cothe,  Ohio,  who  was  preparing  notes  on  the  antiquities  of  the  \A^est,  by  a 
letter  from  iNIr.  Hubbard  Taylor  (a  relative  of  mine),  now  living,  I  was  in- 

formed that  the  breast-plate  had  been  taken  to  Virginia  by  a  gentleman  ot 

that  state.  I  supposed  as  a  matter  of  curiosity.  Proof  II.  The  late  Mr.  ]\Ic- 
Intosh,  who  first  settled  near  this  and  had  been  for  fifty  or  sixty  years  prior  to 

his  death,  in  183 1  or  1832,  a  western  Indian  trader,  was  in  Fort  Kaskaskia 

prior  to  its  being  taken  b}-  General  George  Rog'ers  Clark,  in  1778.  and  heard, 
as  he  informed  me  himself,  a  Welshman  and  an  Indian  from  far  up  the  Mis- 

souri speaking  and  conversing-  in  the  Welsh  languag-e.  It  was  stated  by  Gil- 
bert Imlay,  in  his  history  of  the  west,  that  it  was  Captain  Abraham  Chaplain, 

of  L'nion  county,  Kentucky,  that  heard  this  conversation  in  ̂ ^'elsh.  Dr. 
Campbell,  visiting  Chaplain,  found  it  was  not  he.  Afterwards  the  fact  was  stated 
by  ]\IcIntosh.  from  whom  I  obtained  other  facts  as  to  western  matters.  Some 

hunter,  manv  years  ago.  informed  me  of  a  tombstone  being-  found  in  the  south- 

ern part  of  Indiana  with  the  initials  of  a  name,  and  '1186'  engraved  upon  it. 
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The  Alohawk  Indians  had  a  tradition  among  them  respecting  the  Welsh,  and 

of  their  having  been  cut  off  by  the  Indians  at  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio.  The  late 

Colonel  Joseph  Hamilton  Davis,  who  had  for  many  years  sought  for  infonna- 

tion  on  this  subject,  mentions  this  fact,  and  of  the  Welshman's  bones  being 
found  buried  on  Corn  Island." 

The  early  pioneers  of  Kentucky,  in  their  intercourse  with  the  Indians, 
who  frequently  visited  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio  for  the  purposes  of  trade,  got 

from  them  the  tradition  of  Madoc,  and  Colonel  Reuben  T.  Durrett,  the  presi- 
dent of  the  Filscn  club,  of  Louisville,  in  the  23d  publication  of  that  society, 

gives  an  account  which  was  related  to  him  by  an  aged  W'elshman  named  Grif- 
fin in  the  early  sixties.    Griffin  related  as  follows : 

"On  the  north  side  of  the  river,  where  Jeffersonville  now  stands,  some 
skeletons  were  exhumed  in  early  times  with  armor  which  had  brass  plates 

bearing  the  Mermaid  and  Hai^p,  which  belong  to  the  Welsh  coat-of-amis.  On 
the  same  side  of  the  river,  further  down,  a  piece  of  stone  supposed  to  be  part 
of  a  tombstone  was  found,  with  the  date  11 86  and  what  seemed  to  be  a  name 

-or  initials  of  a  name  so  effaced  by  time  as  to  be  illegible.  If  that  piece  of 
stone  was  ever  a  tombstone  over  a  grave,  the  party  laid  beneath  it  must  have 
been  of  the  Welsh  colony  of  Aladoc.  for  we  have  no  tradition  of  any  one  but 
the  Welsh  at  the  Falls  so  early  as  1186.  In  early  times  the  forest  along  the 

river  on  both  sides  of  the  Falls  for  some  miles  presented  two  kinds  of  g-rowth. 
Along  the  margin  of  the  river  the  giant  sycamores  and  other  trees  of  the  forest 
primeval  stood  as  if  they  had  never  been  disturbed,  but  beyond  them  was  a 

broad  belt  of  trees  of  a  dift'erent  growth,  until  the  belt  was  passed,  when  the 
original  forest  again  appeared.  This  indicated  that  the  belt  had  been  de- 

prived of  its  original  forest  for  agricultural  or  other  purposes  and  that  a  new 
forest  had  grown  up  in  its  stead.  He  said,  however,  it  was  possible  that  the 
most  important  of  these  traditions  learned  from  the  Indians  concerned  a  great 

battle  fought  at  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio,  between  the  Red  Indians  and  the  ̂ ^'hite 
Indians,  as  the  Welsh  Indians  were  called.  It  has  been  a  long  time  since  this 
battle,  but  it  was  fought  here  and  won  by  the  Red  Indians.  In  the  final 
struggle  the  \Miite  Indians  sought  safety  on  the  island  since  known  as  Sand 

Island,  but  nearly  all  who  sought  refuge  there  were  slaughtered.  The  rem- 

nant who  escaped  death  made  their  way  to  the  Missouri*  river,  where,  by  dif- 
ferent movements  at  different  times,  they  went  up  that  river  a  great'  distance. 

They  were  known  to  exist  there  by  different  parties  who  came  from  there  and 

talked  Welsh  with  the  pioneers.  Some  Welshmen  living  at  the  Falls  of  the 
Ohio  in  pioneer  times  talked  with  these  White  Indians,  and  although  there 
was  considerable  difference  between  the  Welsh  they  spoke  and  the  Welsh 
spoken  by  the  Indians,  yet  they  had  no  great  difficulty  in  understanding  one 
another.  He  further  said,  concerning  this  tradition  of  a  great  battle,  that 
there  was  a  tradition  that  many  skeletons  were  found  on  Sand  Island,  mingled 
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promiscuously  together  as  if  left  there  unburied  after  a  great  battle,  but  that 
he  had  examined  the  island  a  number  of  times  without  finding  a  single  bone, 
and  that  if  skeletons  were  ever  abundant  there  they  had  disappeared  before 

his  time." John  Filson,  the  author  of  the  first  history  of  Kentucky,  published  in 
1784,  was  a  believer  in  the  Madoc  tradition,  and  while  in  Louisville  collecting 
material  for  his  history,  discussed  the  subject  with  such  men  as  General 

George  Rogers  Clark,  Major  John  Harrison,  Colonel  Moore  and  others.  At 
a  meeting  of  a  club  of  prominent  citizens  in  that  city  about  this  time  Filson 
was  invited  to  attend,  and  the  subject  of  the  Madoc  tradition  was  brought  up 
for  discussion.  General  Clark  spoke  first,  and  confined  himself  to  what  he  had 

learned  from  a  chief  of  the  Kaskaskia  Indians  concerning  a  large  and  curious- 
Iv  shaped  earthwork  on  the  Kaskaskia  river,  which  the  chief,  who  was  of 
lighter  complexion  than  most  Indians,  said  was  the  house  of  his  ancestors. 

Colonel  Moore  spoke  next,  and  related  what  he  had  learned  from  an  old  In- 
dian about  a  long  war  of  extermination  between  the  Red  Indians  and  the 

White  Indians.  The  final  battle,  he  said,  between  them,  was  fought  at  the 

Falls  of  the  Ohio,  where  nearly  the  whole  of  the  \\'hite  Indians  were  driven 
upon  an  island  and  slaughtered.  General  Clark,  on  hearing  this  statement  by 
Colonel  Moore,  confinned  it  by  stating  that  he  had  heard  the  same  thing  from 
Tobacco,  a  chief  of  the  Piankeshaws.  Major  Harrison  spoke  next,  and  told 

about  an  extensive  graveyard  on  the  north  side  of  the  Ohio,  opposite  the  Falls, 
where  thousands  of  human  bones  were  Ijuried  in  such  confusion  as  to  indicate 

that  the  dead  were  left  there  after  a  battle,  and  that  the  silt  from  inundations 
of  the  Ohio  had  covered  them  as  the  battle  had  left  them. 

The  testimony  of  many  living  men  of  Clark  county  today  bears  out  the 
statement  about  the  number  of  skeletons  to  be  found  in  the  vicinity  of  the  Big 

Eddy.  The  late  Dr.  Beckwith,  of  Jeffersonville,  had  in  his  possession  a  skull 
from  this  graveyard  at  the  Falls,  and  he  pronounced  it  not  the  skull  of  an 
Indian.  The  White  Indians,  or,  as  some  of  the  other  Indian  tribes  called 

them,  the  "Stranger  People,"  were  possibly  the  builders  of  the  mysterious 
fortifications  on  the  hill  crest,  two  hundred  and  fifty  feet  above  the  river,  at 
Fourteen  Mile  creek.  It  is  without  doubt  the  most  elalaorate  and  extensive  work 

of  defense  erected  by  the  vanished  race.  It  is  the  only  one  of  its  kind  in 
the  United  States.  It  has  an  area  of  about  ten  acres  and  has  the  remains  of 

strong  fortifications  along  its  exposed  front.  These  fortifications  consisted  of 
a  wall  with  watch  mounds  or  towers  at  intervals,  five  of  which  can  yet  be 

traced.  Students  and  antiquarians  have  shown  that  it  was  not  built  by  North 

American  Indians,  but  its  origin,  like  the  battle  at  the  Falls,  is  made  obscure 

by  the  hazy  lapse  of  centuries,  and  we  can  only  surmise  as  to  what  it  was  and 

who  built  it,  whether  by  the  Stranger  People  or  the  Mound  Builders;  but 

that  it  was  of  a  race  previous  to  the  Indians  is  certain.     Bones  of  a  race  ante- 
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dating  the  Red  Indians  are  frequently  found  in  the  mounds  in  this  vicinity. 
As  an  historical  and  antiquarian  curiosity  its  ruins  are  far  more  remarkable 

and  interesting  than  the  dilapidated  castles  along  the  German  Rhine. 

Among  the  traditional  or  semi-traditional  accounts  of  early  white  ex- 
plorers to  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio,  the  visit  of  the  French  explorer,  La  Salle,  may 

be  mentioned.  The  Indiana  country  was  claimed  by  the  French  by  virtue  of 
his  discovery  of  the  Ohio  river.    The  account  of  this  voyage  is  as  follows : 

Robert  Cavelier  Sieur  de  la  Salle  in  i66g  started  on  a  voyage  of  dis- 
covery down  the  Ohio,  and  it  is  said  that  he  floated  as  far  down  as  the  Falls 

of  that  river,  where  his  guides  and  crew  deserted  him.  Not  daunted  by  this 
misfortune,  he  made  his  way  back  to  the  French  settlements  to  the  north.  An 
iron  hatchet  which  he  left  here  in  a  small  tree  on  the  bank  of  the  river  is  said 

to  have  been  found  imbedded  in  the  tree  one  hundred  and  thirty-nine  years 
afterward.  La  Salle  is  credited  with  being  the  earliest  white  man  ever  in  this 

vicinity,  but  his  discovery  amounted  to  nothing.  From  shortly  after  his  sup- 
posed visit  other  explorers  began  to  periodically  discover  the  river,  until  the 

settlers  came  and  the  "Beautiful  river"  became  a  highway  for  travel,  rather 
than  an  entrance  into  a  mysterious  land. 

Xote :  I  am  indebted  to  Colonel  Reuben  T.  Durret,  President  of  the 

Filson  Club,  of  Louisville,  Kentucky,  for  much  of  the  material  in  this  chapter. 



CHAPTER  II. 

EARLY  HISTORY  OF  CLARK  COUNTY  BEFORE  ORGANIZATION. 

From  the  discoveries  of  Robert  Cavelier  Sieur  de  la  Salle  and  the  earlier 

voyage  of  the  Jesuit  Fathers  Charemonot  and  Breboeiif,  France  claimed  all  of 
the  Indiana,  Ohio  and  Illinois  country  as  early  as  the  seventeenth  century. 

The  Iroc|uois  nation  also  claimed  it,  but  France  was  an  aggressive  power,  and 
the  wars  of  the  Indians  against  her  encroachments  availed  nothing.  At  the 

treaty  of  Utrecht,  April  ii,  1713,  Louis  XIV  renounced  in  favor  of  England 
all  claims  except  those  to  the  St.  Lawrence  and  Mississippi  valleys.  Both 
nations  claimed  the  region  west  of  the  Alleghany  ̂ Mountains,  along  the  Ohio 
river,  and  the  resultant  squabble  was  that  war  known  as  the  French  and  Indian 

war,  1754  to  1763.  The  Treaty  of  Paris  ended  this  war  and  Indiana,  to- 
gedicr  with  all  of  the  other  territory  east  of  the  Mississippi  claimed  by  France, 
^vas  ceded  to  England.  This  territory,  of  which  Clark  county  was  a  part,  thus 
passed  to  the  rule  of  the  British  nation,  to  remain  a  colony  until  the  war  of 
the  Revolution  was  terminated  by  the  Treaty  of  Paris,  September  3,  1783. 

In  the  year  of  1766  the  British  parliament  insisted  upon  the  Ohio  river  as  the 
southwestern  boundary  and  the  Mississippi  river  as  the  western  limit  of  the 
dominions  of  the  English  crown  in  this  quarter.  By  this  measure  the  entire 
northwest,  or  so  much  of  it  as  afterwards  became  the  Northwest  Territory, 

was  attached  to  the  Province  of  Quebec,  and  the  tract  that  now  constitutes  the 
state  of  Indiana  was  nominally  under  its  local  administration. 

Virginia  began  to  lay  early  claim  to  the  vast  area  beyond  her  western 
border,  but  government  was  still  nominal,  and  the  few  white  settlers  and 

Indians  were  generally  a  law  unto  themselves.  In  1769  Virginia,  acting  upon 
the  authority  of  her  royal  grants,  by  an  enactment,  extended  her  jurisdiction 
over  all  the  territory  northwest  of  the  Ohio  river,  and  by  that  act  the  county  of 

Botetourt  was  organized  and  named  in  honor  of  Lord  Botetourt,  governor 
of  the  colony  of  Virginia.  It  was  a  vast  country,  about  seven  hundred  miles 
long,  with  the  Blue  Ridge  for  its  eastern  and  the  Mississippe  for  its  western 

boundary.  It  included  large  parts  of  the  present  states  of  \\'est  Virginia. 
Ohio,  Indiana,  and  Illinois,  and  was  the  first  county  organization  covering 

what  is  now  Clark  county.  After  the  conquest  of  the  Indiana  and  Illinois 
country  by  General  George  Rogers  Clark,  in  1778.  the  county  of  Illinois  was 
erected  by  the  Virginia  legislature  (in  October  of  the  same  year)  out  of  the 

great  county  of  Botetourt,  and  included  all  the  territory  between  the  Pennsyl- 
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vania  line,  the  Ohio,  the  Mississippi,  and  the  northern  lakes.  Colonel  Tohn 
Todd  was  appointed  the  first  county  lieutenant  and  civil  commandant  of  the 

county.  He  perished  in  the  battle  of  Blue  Licks,  August  i8,  1782.  and 
Timothy  de  Montbrun  was  named  as  his  successor. 

The  close  of  the  war  of  the  Revolution  found  the  American  states  deeply 

involved  in  debt  and  with  no  resources  in  prospect,  except  such  as  might  be 
derived  from  the  sale  of  their  lands  west  of  the  Alleghanies.  Some  of  the 

states  claimed  that  the  title  to  this  vast  unsettled  domain  to  have  ̂ •ested  in 
the  various  colonies  whose  charters  had  extended  their  limits  indeffinitely  to 
the  west,  and  there  was  a  special  claim  from  Virginia  on  account  of  her  con- 

quest and  the  retention  of  possession  through  George  Rogers  Clark.  Other 
states  objected  to  this,  but  on  October  20.  1783,  Virginia  authorized  a  cession 

to  the  Federal  government,  and  on  March  i,  1784,  our  countn*  passed  from 
Virginian  rule  to  that  of  the  United  States  of  America.  A  plan  for  the  di- 

^-ision  of  this  vast  tract  was  taken  up  immediately  and  a  scheme  for  the  forma- 
tion of  ten  states  out  of  it  was  reported.  The  names  of  the  states  as  proposed 

were  as  follows :  Sylvania,  Chersonesus,  Michigania,  Washington,  Saratoga, 
Metropotamia,  Assenisipia,  Illinoia,  Polypotamia  and  Pelisipia.  These  last 
two  names  concern  Clark  county,  as  it  lay  partly  in  both  as  proposed.  Both 
of  these  states  lay  south  of  the  thirty-ninth  parallel  and  north  of  the  Ohio 
river,  and  their  dividing  line  was  a  meridian  drawn  through  the  rapids  of  the 
Ohio.  Pelisipia  was  to  be  the  eastern  state  and  Polypotamia  the  western. 
To  think  that  our  mail  might  have  been  addressed  to  Charlestown,  Pelisipia, 
or  to  Borden,  Polypotamia,  may  appear  strange,  but  such  was  the  plan  of  the 
early  fathers.  However,  the  plan  failed  to  carry,  and  the  name  of  Indiana 
was  finally  given  our  great  state  when  the  territory  was  organized,  and  the 
illustrious  name  of  Clark  given  the  county  when  it  was  created  in  1801.  Xo 
legislative  measures  ever  enacted  meant  so  much  to  Clark  county  as  the  Ordi- 

nance of  1787.  This  celebrated  act,  entitled  "An  ordinance  for  the  govern- 
ment of  the  territoiy  of  the  United  States  northwest  of  the  river  Ohio."  was 

passed  by  Congress  July  13.  1787.  By  this  great  organic  act— "the  last 

gift,"  as  Chief  Justice  Chase  said,  "  of  the  congress  of  the  old  confederation 
to  the  country,  and  it  was  a  fit  consummation  of  their  glorious  labors" — 
provision  was  made  for  various  forms  of  territorial  government  to  be  adopted 
in  succession,  in  due  order  of  the  advancement  and  development  of  the  west- 

ern country.  The  sixth  article  provided  that.  "There  shall  be  neither  slavery 
nor  involuntary  sen-itude  in  the  said  territory,  otherwise  than  in  the  punish- 

ment of  crimes,  whereof  the  party  shall  have  been  duly  convicted.  This  ques- 
tion of  slavery  was  a  bitter  one,  and  within  a  few  years  was  to  become  the 

chief  issue  in  the  politics  of  the  territory  of  Indiana,  but  it  was  a  luilwark 
behind  which  the  best  men  of  the  time  stood,  and  even  the  action  of  a  legisla- 

ture was  powerless  to  have  this  paragraph  changed.     The  settlement  made  at 
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Clarkesville,  mentioned  in  a  succeeding  chapter,  and  the  building  of  the  fort 

at  Jeffersonville  in  1786  were  the  beginning  of  the  settlements  of  Clark  county. 
This  period  of  the  history  of  the  county  will  be  more  fully  treated  in  the 
chapter  on  the  military  annals. 

In  1793  the  first  of  the  great  floods  ever  recorded  overtopped  the  banks 
of  the  Ohio  and  the  few  settlers  who  had  built  their  cabins  in  the  rich  low- 

lands were  forced  to  retreat  to  higher  ground  for  safety,  while  their  fences, 
and,  in  some  cases,  their  cabins,  floated  away.  This  flood  was  not  as  great 

as  the  flood  of  1832.  but  no  record  of  the  stage  of  the  water  is  in  existence. 



CHAPTER  III. 

THE  ILLINOIS  GRANT. 

The  grant  of  land  by  the  state  of  Virginia  January  2.  1781,  to  General 
George  Rogers  Clark  and  his  men  was  a  fitting  recognition  of  the  value  of 

their  sen-ices  in  the  "Conquest  of  the  Northwest."  Around  this  grant  and 
the  events  leading  up  to  it  cluster  nearly  all  the  early  history  of  Indiana  Terri- 

tory and  the  Northwest  Territory.  The  events  leading  up  to  this  grant  of 
land  to  Clark  and  the  Illinois  regiment  date  from  the  instructions  he  received 

from  Patrick  Henry,  then  governor  of  Virginia,  January  2,  1778.  Two  sets 
of  instructions  were  given  to  Clark,  one  intended  for  the  public  eye,  as 
follows : 

"Lieutenant  Colonel  George  Rogers  Clark : 

"You  are  to  proceed,  without  loss  of  time,  to  enlist  seven  companies  of 
men,  officered  in  the  usual  manner,  to  act  as  militia,  under  your  orders.  They 
are  to  proceed  to  Kentuck3%  and  there  obey  such  orders  and  directions  as  you 

shall  give  them,  for  three  months  after  their  arrival  at  that  place:  but  to  re- 

ceive pa}-,  etc.,  in  case  they  remain  on  duty  a  longer  time,  etc.,  etc.,  etc. 

"Given  under  my  hand  at  \Villiamsburg-,  January  2,  1778.       "P  Henry." 
The  private  instructions  given  into  the  hand  of  Clark  are,  in  part,  as 

follows : 

"Virginia  Set.  "In  Council  Williamsburg,  January  2,  1778.  "Lieutenant 
Colonel  George  Rogers  Clark:  "You  are  to  proceed  with  all  convenient  speed 
to  raise  seven  companies  of  soldiers  to  consist  of  fifty  men  each,  officered  in 

the  usual  manner,  and  armed  most  properly  for  the  enterprise,  and  with  this 
force  attack  the  British  post  at  Kaskaskia.  It  is  conjectured  that  there  are 

many  pieces  of  cannon  and  militarj^  stores  to  a  considerable  amount,  at  that 
place,  the  taking  and  preservation  of  which  would  be  a  valuable  acquisition 

to  the  state.  If  you  are  so  fortunate,  therefore,  as  to  succeed  in  your  expedi- 
tion, you  will  take  every  possible  measure  to  secure  the  artillery  and  stores, 

and  whatever  may  advantage  the  state.  For  the  transportation  of  the  troops, 
provisions,  etc.,  down  the  Ohio,  you  are  to  apply  to  the  commanding  officer 

at  Fort  Pitt  for  boats,  and  during  the  whole  transaction  you  are  to  take  es- 
pecial care  to  keep  the  true  destination  of  your  force  secret ;  its  success  de- 
pends upon  this.  Orders  are  therefore  given  to  Captain  Smith  to  secure  the 

two  men  from  Kaskaskia. 

"It  is  earnestly  desired  that  you  show  humanity  to  such  British  subjects. 
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and  Other  persons  as  fall  into  your  hands.  If  the  white  inhabitants  of  that  post 

and  neighborhood  will  give  undoubted  evidence  of  their  attachment  to  this 
state,  for  it  is  certain  they  live  within  its  limits,  by  taking  the  test  prescribed 

by  law,  and  by  every  other  way  and  means  in  their  power,  let  them  be  treated 

as  fellow  citizens,  and  their  persons  and  property  be  duly  respected.  As- 
sistance and  protection  against  all  enemies,  whatever  shall  be  afforded  them, 

and  the  commonwealth  of  Virginia  is  pledged  to  accomplish  it.  But  if  these 

people  will  not  accede  to  these  reasonable  demands,  they  must  feel  the  conse- 
Cjuences  of  war,  under  that  direction  of  humanity  that  has  hitherto  dis- 

tinguished Americans,  and  which  it  is  expected  you  will  ever  consider  the  rule 
of  your  conduct,  and  from  which  you  are  in  no  instance  to  depart.  The  corps 
you  are  to  command  are  to  receive  the  pay  and  allowances  of  militia  and  to 
act  under  the  laws  and  regulation  of  this  state  now  in  force  as  to  militia.  The 

inhabitants  of  this  post  will  be  informed  by  you  that  in  case  they  accede  to  the 
offers  of  becoming  citizens  of  this  commonwealth,  a  proper  garrison  will  be 

maintained  among  them,  and  every  attention  bestowed  to  render  their  com- 
merce beneficial ;  the  fairest  prospects  being  opened  to  the  dominions  of  France 

and  Spain.  It  is  in  contemplation  to  establish  a  post  near  the  mouth  of  th.e 
Ohio.  Canniin  will  be  wanted  to  fortify  it.  Part  of  those  at  Kaskaskia  will 

be  easily  brought  thither  or  othenvise  secured  as  circumstances  make  neces- 
sary. You  are  to  apply  to  General  Hand,  at  Pittsburg,  for  powder  and  lead 

necessary  for  this  expedition.  If  he  cannot  supply  it,  the  person  who  has  that 

which  Captain  Sims  brought  from  New  Orleans,  can.  Lead  is  sent  to  Hamp- 
shire by  my  orders,  and  that  may  be  delivered  to  you.  Wishing  you  success, 

I  am  your  humble  servant,  "P.  Henry." 
It  will  be  seen  from  the  above  that  the  campaign  was  to  be  of  such  a  char- 

acter that  the  men  themselves  were  not  to  know  more  than  that  the  service 

was  to  be  on  the  frontier  and  against  the  Indians  and  British,  as  they  well 
knew  the  British  were  secretly  in  league  with  the  Indians  and  furnishing  them 
with  the  munitions  of  their  cruel  and  treacherous  warfare. 

Thus  was  the  expedition  launched  and  the  organization  of  his  forces  be- 
gun. The  end  of  May,  1778,  found  the  little  army  encamped  on  Com  Island, 

a  long  narrow  strip  of  land  reaching  from  what  is  now  Fourth  street  to  Four- 
teenth street,  Louisville,  Kentucky,  and  laying  very  near  the  south  side  of  the 

river.  On  June  24,  1778,  they  embarked  in  the  boats  which  had  been  pre- 
pared— shot  the  falls,  and  in  the  sombre  shadow  of  an  almost  total  eclipse 

of  the  sun  began  the  first  part  of  their  expedition  against  the  British  posts  at 
Kaskaskia.  Their  voyage  down  the  river  to  the  mouth  of  the  Tennessee, 

and  the  march  of  one  hundred  ad  twenty  miles  through  the  wilderness,  to- 
wards Kaskaskia  without  pack  horses,  wagons  or  other  means  of  conveying 

their  munitions  of  war,  baggage  or  provisions  than  their  own  robust  selves, 
was  a  feat  of  endurance  that  tried  their  hardihood. 
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Througli  forest  dark,  dense  and  tangled,  across  glades  of  intervening 

prairie  lands  which  were  often  covered  with  reed-like  grasses,  higher  than  the 
head  of  the  tallest  among  them,  over  hill  and  through  valley,  often  withiut 
water  for  hours,  save  only  that  which  each  man  carried,  under  the  blazing  of 
a  Southern  Illinois  summer  sun.  without  transportation  of  any  kind,  no  horses, 
no  wagons,  no  tents,  no  baggage,  no  artillery ;  this  band  of  heroes  led  i)y  a 

hero,  pressed  nn.  \\'hen  in  the  confines  of  what  is  now  Williamson  county, 
Illinois,  the  guide,  Saunders,  became  confused  and  lost  his  bearings  and  the 

troops  believing  he  was  betraying  them,  were  on  the  point  of  wreaking  sum- 
mary punishment  on  him  for  his  suspicioned  treachery,  when  he  recognized  a 

point  of  timber  which  he  said  marked  the  way  to  Kaskaskia. 
The  little  band  pressed  on  with  clothes  ragged  and  soiled  with  the  wear 

of  the  march,  and  faces  scratched  and  laruised  In-  liramliles  and  briars,  foot- 
sore and  weary  with  the  labor  of  forced  marching  and  want  of  proper  rest,  with 

only  the  sod  for  a  bed,  and  the  canopv  of  heaven  for  a  covering  when  at  night 

they  lay  down  for  a  few  hours'  sleep  in  strict  silence,  not  a  shot  being-  fired  for 
fear  its  echoes  might  be  heard  by  some  prowler  and  the  news  of  their  apprnach 

carried  to  the  enemy.  Arriving  withn  a  few  miles  of  Kaskaskia  on  the  e\'ening 

of  July  4,  1778.  no  time  was  lost  in  effecting  the  capture,  and  when  the  n-iorn- 
ing  of  July  5th  broke  the  town  was  Virginian  and  not  Britsh.  Clark  in-ime- 
diately  hastened  to  send  a  detachment  of  troops  to  take  possession  of  Cahokia, 
St.  Phillips  and  Prairie  du  Rocher.  on  the  Mississippi.  The  fort  and  town 

of  Vincennes.  ha\-ing  Ijeen  left  by  Abbott,  the  English  Governor,  virtuallv  in 
the  hands  of  the  French  inhabitants,  was  garrisoned,  the  American  flag  raised 
and  Capt.  Leonanl  Helm  put  in  command. 

Clark  being  now  in  possession  of  all  the  military  posts,  turned  his  at- 
tention at  once  to  making  the  best  terms  he  could  with  the  numerous  Indian 

tribes.  Helm  continued  in  command  at  Post  Vincennes.  but  his  force  was 

small,  and  Fort  Sackville  was  described  as  "wretched,"  "a  miserable  stockade 

without  a  well,  barrack,  platform  for  small  arms,  or  even  a  lock  to  the  gate." 
General  Hamilton,  the  commandant  at  Detroit,  headed  an  expedition 

against  Helm  at  Vincennes,  and  on  December  17,  1778,  Fort  Sackville  and 
the  ancient  town  of  Vincennes  again  came  into  possession  of  the  British.  Helm 

and  his  twenty-one  men  demanded  and  received  all  the  honors  of  war  upon 
their  surrender  to  an  enemy,  which  numbered  between  five  hundred  and  six 

hundred  men.  In  February,  1779,  Clark  began  his  memorable  march  from 
Kaskaskia  against  Vincennes.  After  incredible  difficulty  and  severe  exposure, 
marching  and  wading  through  the  icy  water  of  swamps  and  overflowed 
streams,  with  an  insufficiency  of  provisions  and  baggage,  the  worn  and  wearied 
expedition  appeared  before  the  town,  and  Clark,  with  his  usual  generalship, 
compelled  Hamilton  to  surrender,  and  the  final  downfall  of  the  British  in  the 

Wabash  and  Illinnis  ccmntrv  was  acconiplished. 
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When  Clark  marched  his  little  army  from  ̂ Massac  to  Kaskaskia,  across 
the  glades  and  timberlands  of  Southern  Illinois,  it  was  summer  time.  Soft 

winds  wafted  the  perfume  of  flower-sprinkled  prairies,  and  the  fragrance  of  the 

woodlands  about  the  marching  troops,  the  water  of  the  streams  was  compara- 
tively low,  and  the  swamp  lands  were  firmer  to  the  tread  of  their  moccasin-clad 

feet.  The  canopy  of  sky  and  cloud  was  covering  enough  by  night,  and  while 
the  blazing  of  a  June  sun  was  far  from  soothing  to  spirts  or  temper,  it  was  not 

to  be  compared  to  the  hardships  to  which  the  troops  on  the  march  to  the  cap- 
ture of  Vincennes  were  to  encounter. 

At  the  crossing  of  the  Little  Wabash,  Clark  cheered  them  on,  and  called 
to  his  aid  an  Irish  drummer,  celebrated  for  his  fund  of  droll  and  comic  songs, 

the  singing  of  which,  at  a  time  when  the  men  were  chilled  almost  to  freezing 
bv  the  icv  waters  through  which  they  had  been  wading,  sometimes  for  an 

hour,  up  to  their  armpits,  would  put  new  life  in.to  the  men,  and  agai'.i  they 
would  struggle  on.  What  a  picture !  What  melody  can  equal  the  living  pic- 

ture of  this  band  of  heroes  or  the  song  of  this  wild  Irishman's  singing?  The 
painters  of  the  picture  have  passed  away.  The  song  of  the  singer  is  stilled 
forever,  but  truly  their  works  live  after  them. 

The  party  on  the  i8th  heard  the  morning  gun  at  Fort  Sackville,  at  Vin- 

cennes, and  when  they  reached  the  A\'abash,  below  the  mouth  of  the  Embarass 
river,  they  were  exhausted,  destitute  and  starving — literally  starving,  with  no 

means  of  crossing  the  ri\-er,  which  was  merflowed  and  was  several  miles  wide. 
On  the  20th  of  February  a  party  of  French,  in  a  boat,  was  hailed  and  came 
to  the  little  army.  From  them  Clark  learned  that  the  French  of  Vincennes 
were  true  to  the  oath  of  Vincennes,  which  they  had  taken  the  previous  summer, 

and  that  the  British  garrison  had  no  knowledge  of  the  approach  of  the  expe- 
dition, indeed,  had  no  knowledge  that  an  expedition  had  e\'en  been  planned, 

much  less  had  they  thought  it  possible  that  men  wcjuld  undertake  so  hazardous 
an.  expedition,  and  one  which,  if  undertaken  must,  as  they  thought,  result  in 
the  death  of  every  soldier  from  the  hardships  of  the  march.  And  now,  with 
the  facts  before  us  it  seems  to  us  they  accomplished  the  impossible.  By  wading 

and  rafting  they  managed  to  cross  to  the  highlands  below  Vincennes.  Clark 

immediately  sent  the  following  notice  to  citizens  of  Vincennes':  "To  the  in- habitants of  Post  Vincennes :  Gentlemen :  Being  now  within  two  miles  of  your 

village,  with  my  army,  determined  to  take  your  fort  tonight,  and  not  being- 
willing  to  surprise  you,  I  take  this  method  to  request  such  of  you  as  are  tnie 
citizens,  and  would  enjoy  the  liberty  I  bring  you,  to  remain,  still,  in  your 

houses.  Those,  if  any  there  be,  that  are  friends  to  the  King,  will  instantly  re- 
pair to  the  fort  and  join  the  hair-buyer  general,  and  fight  like  men.  and  such 

as  do  not  go  to  the  fort  and  shall  be  discovered  afterwards,  they  may  depend 
on  severe  punishment.  On  the  contrary,  those  that  are  true  friends  to  liberty 
shall  be  treated  as  friends  deserve.    And  once  more  I  request  them  to  keep  out 
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of  the  streets,  for  everyone  I  find  in  arms  on  my  arri\-al  I  shall  treat  as  an enemy. 

"G.  R.  Clark." 
Clark's  army,  consisting  of  one  company  from  Cahokia,  commanded  by 

Captain  McCarty,  and  one  company  from  Kaskaskia,  commanded  by  Captain 
Charleville,  and  were  composed  of  French,  and  the  rest,  about  seventy  men, 
were  Americans  of  liis  old  command,  in  all  not  over  one  hundred  and  seventy 

men,  were  made  to  appear  to  the  villagers'  minds  as  mvtch  greater  by  this  pe- 
culiar note,  and  to  still  further  deceive  them  and  to  make  the  garrison  believe 

a  large  force  was  about  to  attack  them,  Clark  marched  his  men  back  and  forth 

among  some  mounds  in  the  prairie,  changing  the  flags,  so  that  the  British  be- 
lieved many  times  the  true  number  of  fierce  Kentuckians  were  about  to  assail 

them,  as  the  British  onl}-  knew  them  as  Kentucky  bordermen,  and  had  no 

thought  that  more  than  half  were  Illinois  French.  At  about  sunset  on  Feb- 
ruary 23d,  Lieutenant  Bayly  was  sent  with  fourteen  men  to  make  an  attack 

on  the  fort.  He  led  his  men  to  about  thirty  yards  of  the  fort,  where  they  lay 

concealed  behind  a  bank  of  earth,  protected  from  the  guns  of  the  fort.  Every 
one  of  the  Americans  was  an  expert  rifleman,  and  whenever  a  porthole  was 

opened  a  storm  of  Inillets  whistled  in.  killing  or  wounding  the  men  at  the  guns, 
so  that  none  would  work  the  cannon.  At  nine  in  the  morning  of  the  24th, 

while  his  men  were  eating  the  first  breakfast  they  had  had  for  sex'eral  days, 
Clark  sent  the  following  note  to  the  British  commandant: 

"Sir:  In  otder  to  save  yourself  from  the  impending  storm  which  now 
threatens  3'ou,  I  order  you  immediately  to  surrender  yourself,  with  all  your 
garrison,  stores,  etc.  If  I  am  obliged  to  storm,  you  may  depend  upon  such 
treatment  alone,  as  is  justly  due  a  murderer.  Beware  of  destroying  stores  of 

any  kind,  or  any  papers  or  letters  that  are  in  your  possession,  or  hurting  one 
house  in  town,  for,  bv  heaven,  if  you  do,  there  shall  be  no  mercv  shown  you. 

"G.  R.  Clark'" 
This  note  may  seem  brutal  to  modern  minds,  but  when  it  is  remembered 

that  it  was  addressed  to  a  man  who  was  paying  a  bounty  to  the  merciless  sav- 
age as  a  reward  for  the  murder,  not  only  of  the  American  men,  but  of  helpless 

women  and  innocent  children,  it  is  not  too  harsh.  Governor  Hamilton  was 

deeply  impressed  by  this  note,  it  is  certain,  by  the  meek  reply  returned  by  him, 

which"  is  as  follows : 

"Governor  Hamilton  begs  leave  to  acquaint  Colonel  Clark  that  lie  and 

his  garrison  are  not  to  be  awed  into  any  action  unworthy  of  British  subjects." 
About  midnight  of  the  23d  Clark  had  cut  a  ditch  near  the  fort,  and  in  it, 

secure  from  the  guns  of  the  fort,  the  riflemen  lay,  with  watchful  eye  and  un- 
erring aim.  They  poured  in  a  steady  fire,  and  in  fifteen  minutes  had  silenced 

two  pieces  of  artillery  and  killed  evei")'  gunner  approaching  them  or  had  driven 
them  away  from  their  guns,  horror-stricken  at  the  certainty  of  death  or  of 
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wounds,  if  but  tlie  smallest  portion  of  their  person  was  exposed  but  for  an  in- 
stant. This  terrible  fire  was  kept  up  for  eighteen  hours.  This  incessant  fire 

convinced  the  garrison  that  they  would  be  destroyed,  and  Governor  Hamilton 
sent  Clark  the  following  note : 

"Governor  Hamilton  proposes  to  Colonel  Clark  a  truce  of  three  days, 
during  which  time  he  promises  that  there  shall  be  no  defensive  work  carried 
on  in  the  garrison,  on  condition  that  Colonel  Clark  will  observe,  on  his  part, 
a  like  cessation  of  offensive  works,  that  is,  he  wishes  to  confer  with  Colonel 

Clark,  as  soon  as  can  be,  and  promises  that  whatever  may  pass  between  them 
two  and  another  person,  mutually  agreed  on  to  be  present,  shall  remain  secret 
until  matters  be  finished,  as  he  wishes  whatever  the  result  of  the  conference 

may  be,  it  may  tend  to  the  honor  and  credit  of  each  party.  If  Colonel  Clark 

makes  a  difficulty  of  coming  into  the  fort.  Lieutenant-Governor  Hamilton  will 
speak  to  him  by  the  gate. 

"Henry  Hamilton." 
February  24.  1779. 

Clark  replied : 

"Colonel  Clark's  comi)liments  to  Governor  Hamilton,  and  begs  to  say 
that  he  will  not  agree  to  any  terms  other  than  Mr.  Hamilton  surrendering 
himself  and  garrison  at  discretion.  If  ]\Ir.  Hamilton  wants  to  talk  with 

Colonel  Clark,  he  will  meet  him  at  the  church,  with  Captain  Helm." 
A  conference  was  held  and  Clark  demanded  a  surrender,  (itherwise  he 

threatened  to  put  the  leaders  to  the  sword  for  the  gold  paid  for  American 

scalps.  He  was  in  earnest  and  the  garrison  so  understood.  In  an  hour  Clark 
dictated  the  following  terms  of  surrender,  which  Hamilton  accepted : 

"First — Lieutenant-Go\-ernor  Hamilton  agrees  to  deliver  up  to  Colonel 
Clark,  Fort  Sackville  and  all  the  stores,  etc. 

"Second — The  garrison  to  deliver  themselves  as  prisoners  of  war,  and  to 
march  out  with  the  arms  and  accoutrements. 

"Third — The  garrison  to  be  delivered  up  by  tomorrow,  at  ten  o'clock. 
"Four — Three  days  are  allowed  the  garrison  to  settle  their  accounts  with 

the  inhabitants  and  traders. 

"Fifth — The  officers  of  the  garrison  are  to  be  allowed  their  necessary 
baggage. 

"Signed  at  Post  Vincennes,  this  24th  day  of  February,  1779. 
"Agreed  to  for  the  following  reasons :  First,  remoteness  from  succor ; 

second,  state  and  quantity  of  provisions;  third,  the  unanimity  of  the  officers 
and  men  in  its  expediency ;  fourth,  the  honorable  terms  allowed,  and  lastly, 
the  confidence  in  a  generous  enemy. 

"Henry  Hamilton." 

Lieutenant-Governor  and  Superintendent." 

On  the  25th  this  surrender  took  place.     Fifty  thousand  dollars"  worth  of 
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arms  and  stores  were  turned  over  to  Clark.  Governor  Hamilton,  Major  Hay 

and  some  other  officers  were  sent  under  guard  to  the  capital  of  Virginia.  Sev- 
enty-nine prisoners  were  paroled  and  sent  to  Detroit. 

An  expedition  up  the  \\'abash,  under  command  of  Captain  Helm, 
resulted  in  the  capture  of  seven  British  boats  which  were  manned  by 
about  forty  men  and  loaded  with  valuable  goods  and  provisions,  intended  for 
Fort  Sackville,  worth  at  least  fifty  thousand  dollars.  Thus  was  consummated 

the  scheme  of  conquest  which  originated  in  the  brilliant  mind  of  the  genius, 

Clark.  Dillon  says,  "With  respect  to  the  magnitude  of  its  design,  the  valor 
and  perseverance  with  which  it  was  carried  on,  and  the  momentous  results 
which  were  produced  by  it,  this  expedition  stands  without  a  parallel  in  the 

annals  of  the  valley  of  the  Mississippi.  English  says :  "Measured  by  the 
standard  of  great  results,  the  map  of  the  magnificent  territory,  acquired  mainly 
through  his  agency,  speaks  louder  in  behalf  of  General  Clark  and  his  little 

army  than  any  words  of  praise."  When  compared  with  other  portions  of  the 
United  States,  the  five  states  of  Indiana,  Ohio,  Illinois,  Michigan,  Wisconsin, 
and  part  of  Minnesota  comprise  the  very  heart  of  the  Republic.  The  resolution 

of  the  General  Assembly  of  Virginia,  January  2,  1781,  provided  that  a 
gratuity  of  land  not  to  exceed  one  hundred  and  fifty  thousand  acres  should 

be  given  the  officers  and  men  of  Clark's  army.  In  1783  another  act  was  passed 
"for  locating  and  surveying  the  one  hundred  and  fifty  thousand  acres  of  land, as  follows : 

"Be  it  enacted  by  the'  General  Assembly,  That  William  Flemming,  John 

Edwards,  John  Campbell,  ̂ ^'alker  Daniel,  gentlemen,  and  George  Rogers 
Clark,  John  Montgomei-y,  Abraham  Chaplin,  John  Bailey,  Robert  Todd  and 
William  Clark,  officers  in  the  Illinois  regiment,  shall  be,  and  they  are  hereby 
constituted  a  toard  of  commissioners  and  that  they  or  the  major  part  of  them, 
shall  settle  and  determine  the  claims  to  land  under  the  said  resolution.  That 

the  respective  claimants  shall  give  in  their  claims  to  the  said  commissioners  on 

or  before  the  first  day  of  April,  1784;  and,  if  approved  and  allowed,  shall  pay 
down  to  the  said  cijmmissioners  one  dollar  for  eveiy  one  hundred  acres  of 
such  claim,  to  enable  them  to  survey  and  apportion  the  said  lands.  The  said 

commissioners  shall  appoint  a  principal  surveyor,  who  shall  have  power  to 

appoint  his  deputies,  to  be  approved  by  the  said  commissioners  and  to  con- 
tract with  him  for  his  fees.  That  from  and  aftei^  the  said  first  day  of  April, 

1784,  the  said  commissioners,  or  the  major  part  of  them,  shall  proceed  with 
the  surveyor  to  lay  ofif  the  said  one  hundred  and  fifty  thousand  acres  of  land 
on  the  northwest  side  of  the  Ohio  river,  the  length  of  which  shall  not  exceed 
double  the  breadth ;  and,  after  laying  out  one  thousand  acres  at  the  most  con- 

venient place  therein  for  a  town,  shall  proceed  to  lay  out  and  survey  the  resi- 
due, and  divide  the  same  by  fair  and  equal  lot  among  the  claimants ;  but  no 

lot  or  sun-ey  shall  exceed  five  hundred  acres.     That  the  said  commissioners,  in 



BAIRU  S   HISTORY   OF   CLARK  CO.,    IND. 33 

their  apportionments  of  tlie  said  land,  sliall  govern  themselves  by  the  allow- 
ances made  by  law  to  the  officers  and  soldiers  in  the  Continental  Army.  That 

the  saiid  commissioners  shall,  as  soon  as  may  be,  after  the  said  one  hundred  and 

forty-nine  thousand  acres  shall  be  surveyed,  cause  a  plat  thereof,  certified  on 

oath,  to  be  returned  to  the  register's  office,  and  thereupon  a  patent  shall  issue 
to  the  said  commissioners  or  the  survivors  of  them,  who  shall  hold  the  same 

in  trust  for  the  respective  claimants ;  and  they,  or  the  major  part  of  them, 

shall  thereafter,  upon  application,  execute  good  and  sufficient  deeds  for  con- 

veying the  several  portions  of  land  to  the  said  officers  and  soldiers." 

The  frontage  of  the  "grant"  upon  the  Ohio  river  extended  from  a  point 
about  midway  between  Silver  creek  and  Falling  run,  up  the  river  to  a  point 
opposite  the  upper  end  of  eighteen  Mile  Island,  and  lay  almost  wholly  in  Clark 
county.  The  divisions  of  this  tract  of  land  are  unlike  the  regxilar  United 

States  survey  of  the  public  lands,  which  is  based  upon  lines  running  at  right 
angles  to  the  cardinal  points  of  the  compass.  The  lines  here  run  northeast 

and  southwest.  Why  this  sui-\-ey  was  made  in  this  position  it  is  impossible  to 
tell,  unless  it  resulted  from  trying  to  make  the  lines  mn  perpendicular  to  the 

Ohio  river  when  the  sui"\-ey  commenced. 

At  the  preliminai-y  negotiations  for  peace  in  Paris  in  November,  1782, 
between  England  and  her  revolted,  successful  American  colonies,  both  France 
and  Spain,  for  similar  reasons  of  discovery  and  partial  occupancy,  filed  their 

protests  against  the  claim  of  either  of  the  lately  contending  parties  to  "the 

Illinois  country."  It  cannot  be  too  often  repeated,  to  the  everlasting  honor  of 
General  Clark,  that  it  was  his  conquest  in  1778  that  detemiined  the  contro- 

versy in  favor  of  the  infant  republic,  and  carried  the  lines  of  the  new  nation 
to  the  Mississippi  and  the  northern  lakes.  Otherwise  the  east  bank  of  the 

Ohio,  or  possibly  even  the  Alleghanies,  would  have  formed  its  western  bound- 

ary in  part.  The  final  convention  signed  at  Paris,  September  3,  1783,  con- 
firmed the  claim  of  the  United  Colonies  as  made  good  by  the  victories  of  Clark. 

On  August  3,  1784,  the  commissioners  met  in  Louisville  for  the  purpose  of 
allotting  the  land  of  the  grant,  and  to  decide  who  was  entitled  and  who  was 
not. 

The  state  of  Virginia  appointed  William  Clark,  a  cousin  of  the  general,  as 

sur\'eyor.  He  selected  his  assistants  as  follows :  Edmund  Rogers,  David 
Steel,  Peter  Catlett,  and  Burwell  Jackson.  This  cession  or  grant  was  made  by 
Virginia;  but  she  relinquished  soon  after  her  right  to  the  United  States,  on 

condition  that  the  previous  donation  would  be  respected.  From  this  time  Vir- 
ginia has  not  retained  ownership  of  land  north  of  the  Ohio  river.  William 

Clark  and  his  party  divided  themselves  into  companies.  Some  of  his  men 

were  poor  engineers,  and  many  mistakes  occurred.  Peter  Catlett  was  especial- 
ly notorious  for  inaccuracies.  He  surveyed  that  portion  of  the  county  now 

occupied  by  Oregon,  a  row  of  five-hundred-acre  tracts  off  the  west  side  of 
.3 



34  EAIRU  S   lilSTORV   OF   CLARK   CO.,    IND. 

AX'ashington,  and  the  greater  part  of  Owen.  From  his  mistakes  resuUed  many 
lawsuits,  wlien  in  later  days  land  became  more  valuable.  Says  William  Clark: 

"I  discovered  several  errors  by  Catlett  in  going  into  his  district  to  subdivide 

some  of  the  five-hundred-acre  tracts."  They  were  principally  made  in  laying 
down  watercourses.  David  Steel  surveyed  that  part  of  the  county  now  oc- 

cupied by  Charlestown,  Utica,  and  Union  townships;  and  his  surveys  are 

almost  without  errors.  Burwell  Jackson  surveyed  the  township  of  Silver 

Creek,  a  part  of  Monroe,  and  besides  assisted  in  laying  off  Clarksville.  Ed- 

mund Rogers  and  William  Clark  sun^eyed  the  remaining  part  of  the  count}-. 
The  area  of  some  of  the  tracts  in  the  grant  instead  of  being  fi\e  hundred 

acres,  as  intended,  miss  that  figure  by  one  hundred  acres. 
The  provision  for  a  town  in  the  grant  was  made  by  the  following  act : 
That  a  plat  of  said  land  (one  thousand  acres)  be  returned  by  the  surveyor 

to  the  Court  of  Jefferson  which  was  then  in  Louisville,  to  be  by  the  Clerk  there- 
of recorded  and  thereupon  the  same  shall  be  and  is  hereby  invested  in  William 

Flemming,  John  Edwards.  John  Campbell,  ̂ ^''alker  Daniel,  George  Rogers 
Clark.  John  Montgomery,  Abram  Chaplin,  John  Bailey,  Robert  Todd,  and 
William  Clark.  The  lots  are  to  be  laid  off  into  one-half  acre  each  with  con- 

\-enient  streets,  and  the  same  shall  lie  and  is  hereby  called  Clarksville. 
On  each  lot  there  was  to  be  built  a  good  dwelling  house,  at  least  eighteen 

feet  by  twenty  feet,  with  a  brick  or  stone  chimney,  to  be  completed  three  years 

after  the  deed  with  recei\'ed.  If  these  terms  were  not  comi)lieil  with  the  cdui- 
missioners  had  the  right  to  sell  again  the  lot  and  use  the  money  in  public  im- 

provements. After  some  time,  however,  it  was  found  necessary  to  enlarge 
this  provision  in  order  to  give  the  young  colony  a  chance  ti)  grow,  and  induce 
early  settlers  to  make  it  their  residence. 

However,  the  inducements  did  not  seem  to  induce,  and  Clarksville"s  claim 
to  greatness  lies  in  her  histoiy  rather  than  in  her  prospects. 

The  grant  outside  of  the  town  of  Clarksville  was  allotted  to  those  en- 
titled, and  from  this  allotment  originate  all  the  titles  to  property  in  the  tract 

at  the  present  day. 

\\'illiam  H.  English,  in  his  "Conquest  of  the  Northwest,"  has  the  only 
authentic  roll  of  officers  and  soldiers  who  "assisted  in  the  reduction  of  the 

British  forts."  and  the  following  is  a  copy  with  their  allotments  Each 
number  represents  five  hundred  acres,  unless  otherwise  indicated.  Where  a 
letter  precedes  a  number  it  indicates  that  that  tract  is  subdivided  and  the 
subdivisions  lettereil. 

OFFICERS. 

Clark,  George  Rogers,  Brigadier  General — Xos.  2-j.  36,  62.  84,  165,  168, 
185.  208,  212,  223,  227,  229,  242,  285,  288,  297:  four  acres  in  74,  and  forty- 
five  acres  in  141.    Total,  8,049  acres. 
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Montgomen-,  John,  Lieutenant  Colonel — Nos.  35,  40,  51,  143,  167,  202, 
239,  270,  283  and  B141,  351  acres.    Total.  4.851  acres. 

Bowman.  Joseph,  Major — Nos.  5.  49,  97,  125.  140,  186,  193,  237,  and 
B32.  312  acres.     Total.  4.312  acres. 

Lynn,  William.  Major — Nos.  12,  93,  105,  132,  181,  217,  218,  291  and 
B216.  312  acres.     Total.  4.312  acres. 

Quick,  Thomas,  Major — Nos.  21.  70.  163.  204.  215,  233,  265,  284,  and 
B276,  312  acres.     Total.  4.312  acres. 

CAPTAIN.S. 

(3.234  acres  each.) 

Bailey,  John — Nos.  16,  22,  24,  81,  225.  226,  and  ̂ ^194,  234  acres. 
Brashear.  Richard — Nos.  68.  1 1 1.  112.  1 14,  134,  236  and  B194,  234  acres. 

George,  Robert — Nos.  17,  137,  146,  159,  172.  275  and  A149.  234  acres. 

Herrod.  \\'illiam — Nos.  91,  99.  164,  234.  261.  264,  A148. 
Helm,  Leonard — Nos.  66.  147.  201.  266.  269,  279,  149. 
Kellar.  Abraham — Nos.  71.  120.  156.  173.  238.  295,  B148. 

McCarty.  Richard — Nos.  63.  80.  90.  228.  251,  259,  A190. 
Rodgers.  John — Nos.  11,  72,  207,  235,  282,  296,  A248. 

/Ruddell,  Isaac — Nos.  14,  34.  yj .  no.  153.  179.  B190. 

Shelby,  James— Nos.  42.  43.  88,  89.  95'.  249.  B248. Taylor.  Isaac — Nos.  109.  129,  144,  151.  253.  293.  loi. 
Todd.  Robert — Nos.  3.  36.  48,  55.  122,  203.  A246. 
Williams.  John — Nos.  9.  75.  115,  152,  166,  240  and  loi. 
Worthington,  Edward — Nos.  2,1-  67.  69,  131.  176.  199  and  B246. 

LIEUTENANTS. 

(2.156  acres  each.) 

Bowman.  Isaac — Nos.  i.  158,  213.  289  and  A32. 

Calvit.  Joseph — Nos.  41,  50,  61.  161.  and  A216. 
Carney,  Martin — Nos.  38.  192.  250.  263.  and  C154. 
Chaplin.  Aliraham — Nos.  145.  180,  222.  267  and  A276. 
Clark.  Richard — Nos.  15,  18,  191,  274,  and  part  160. 
Clark.  William^ — Nos.  96,  103.  272.  287.  and  part  160. 
Dalton.  Valentine — Nos.  76.  104.  206.  247.  C155. 

Davis,  James — Nos.  39.  136.  187.  257.  and  B154. 
Floyd.  Henr\ — Nos.  65,  107.  230.  280.  and  A 154. 
Gerault.  Jnhn — Nos.  82.  117.  175.  189.  and  A133. 
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Harrison,  Richard — Nos.  102,  135,  139,  183,  and  B133. 

Merriweather,  James — Nos.  26,  92,  150,  214.  and  A106. 

Montgomery,  James — Nos.  6,  83,  127,  252,  and  C133. 
Perault,  Michael — Nos.  23.  78,  256,  277,  and  C106. 
Robertson,  James — Nos.  25,  200,  260,  294,  and  B106. 

Slaughter,  Lawrence — Nos.  8,  58,  157,  221.  and  A271. 
Swan,  John — Nos.  37,  98,  100.  209,  and  B156. 
Todd,  Levi — Nos.  29.  46,  87,  290,  and  C271. 

Williams,  Jarrott — Nos.  197,  241,  258,  268,  and  part  160. 
Wilson,  Thomas — Nos.  10,  45,  47,  298,  and  A169. 

ENSIGN. 

(2,156  acres.) 

Vanmeter,  Jacolj — Nos.  7,  64,  182,  232.  and  156  acres  in  B155. 

CORNET. 

(2,156  acres.) 

Thurston,  John — Nos.  53,  244,  278,  292,  and  156  acres  in  A155. 

SERGE.\NTS. 

(216  acres  each.) 

Brand,  John — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  D  and  E130. 
Brown,  James — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  D  &  E273. 
Crump.  William — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  A184. 
Dewit,  Henry — 16  acres  in  196  and  200  acres  in  121. 
Elms,  William — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  108. 
Irby,  James — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  A  and  B138. 
Kellar,  Isaac — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  C  and  D245. 
Key,  Thomas — 16  acres  in  194  and  200  acres  in  B  and  E245. 

Merriweather,  Wm — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  4. 
Miles,  Michael — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  A  and  B85. 
Moore,  John — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  A  and  B126. 
Morgan,  Charles — 16  acres  in  196  and  200  acres  in  178. 
Oreer,  John — 16  acres  in  160  and  100  acres  in  C211  and  100  acres  in  31. 
Parker,  Edward — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  part  of  4. 
Patterson,  Robert — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  D  and  E177. 
Pittman,  Euckner — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  D  and  E171. 
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Prichard.  William — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  C  and  D124. 

Rubey,  William — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  C  and  D118. 
Strode,  Sam — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  19. 

Treat,  Beverly — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  A  and  B142. 

Vaughn,  John — 16  acres  in  196  and  200  acres  in  178. 

Walker,  John — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  A  and  B130. 

Williams,  John — 16  acres  in  169  and  200  acres  in  B  and  E124. 

PRIVATES. 

(108  acres  each.) 

Allen,  David — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  188. 

Anderson,  Joseph — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C178. 

Ash,  John — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  aci'es  in  19. 
Asher,  William — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C59. 

Bailey,  David — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  B195. 
Bamet,  Robt. — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C162. 

Batten,  Thos. — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  A273. 

Baxter,  James — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C273. 

Buckley,  William — 8  acres  in  208  and  100  acres  in  D162. 
Bell,  William — 8  acres  in  part  of  210  and  100  acres  in  184. 
Bell,  Sam — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres    in  A 162. 

Bentley,  James — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  184. 
Bentley,  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  184. 

Bethey,  Elisha — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  E108. 

Bigger,  James — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  262. 
Bilderback,  Charles — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  D85. 

Blackford,  Sam'l — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  20. 
Blankenship,  Henr>' — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  B162. 
Booton,  Travis — 8  acres  in  248  and  100  acres  in  C85. 

Booton,  \\'illiam — 8  acres  in  48  and  100  in  B44. 
Bowen,  Ebenezer — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres- in  A 128. 
Boyles  John — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C60. 

Bryant,  James — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  188. 

Bulger,  Edward — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  A195. 
Burk,  Nicholas — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  113. 
Bush.  William — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  219. 
Cameron,  Angus — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C281. 
Camp,  Reuben — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  86. 
Campbell,  John — 8  acres  in  248  and  100  acres  in  D60. 
Camper.  Moses — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  E52. 
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Camper,  Tilman — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C52. 
Conore,  Andrew — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  A170. 

Chapman.  William — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  A205. 
Chenowith,  Richard — 8  acres  in  loi  and  100  acres  in  C30. 
Clark.  Andrew — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  231. 

Clark,  George — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  E205. 
Clifton,  Thomas — 8  acres  in  K)6  and  100  acres  in  188. 
Cofer,  William — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  B286. 

Choheren,  Dennis — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C231. 

Copland,  Cornelius — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  A60. 
Consule,  Harman — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  C205. 
Cowan,  John — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  A231. 
Cox,  Richard — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  B59. 

Cozer.  Jacob — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  B205. 
Cozer,  Peter — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  B52. 
Craze,  Noah — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  A52. 

Crosley.  William — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  D52. 
Curry,  James — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  D205. 
Curtis,  Rice — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  B60. 

Davies,  Asael — 8  acres  in  246  and  100  acres  in  C220. 

Davis,  Robert — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  E59. 
Dawson,  James — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  113. 
Doherty,  Frederick — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  A220. 

Dohej'ty,  Xeal — 8  acres  in  loi  and  100  acres  in  D30. 
Doran,  Patrick — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  E220. 
Dudley,  Amistead — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  E60. 
Duff,  John — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  86. 
Elms,  James — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  86. 
Elms,  John — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  D220. 
Evans,  Charles — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  B220. 
Faris.  Isaac — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  B94. 

Fear,  Edmund — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  C73. 
Finley,  Samuel — 8  acres  in  32  and  100  acres  in  D30. 
Finn,  James — 8  acres  in  32  and  100  acres  in  E  94. 
Flanaghan,  Dominick — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  A73. 
Floyd.  Isham — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  188. 
Foster.  William — 8  acres  in  32  and  100  acres  in  A30. 
Freeman.  William — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  E73. 
Flogget.  William — 8  acres  in  32  and  100  acres  in  121. 
Frost,  Stephen — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  B73. 
Funk.  Henry — 8  acres  in  141  and  100  acres  in  D73. 
Carrot.  Robert — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  C224. 
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Gaskins,  Thomas — 8  acres  in  276  and  100  acres  in  B273. 

Gagnia.  Lewis — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  1 13. 
Gaylor.  Gasper — 8  acres  in  194  and  100  acres  in  D224. 
Gihnore,  George — 8  acres  in  276  and  100  acres  in  C94. 
Glass,  ̂ lichael — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  121. 
Glenn.  David — 8  acres  in  216  and  100  acres  in  20. 

Godfrey,  Francis — 8  acres  in  276  and  100  acres  in  A94. 
Goodwin.  William — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  262. 

Grav.  Georg-e — 8  acres  in  216  and  100  acres  in  E224. 
Greathonse.  William — 8  acres  in  216  and  100  acres  in  B224. 

Green,  John — 8  acres  in  276  and  too  acres  in  D94. 
Grimes.  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  A 124. 

Guthrie  "\\'illiam — 8  acres  in  216  and  100  acres  in  A281. 
Gwin.  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A224. 

Hacker.  John — 8  acres  in  148  and  100  acres  in  D28. 
Hammet.  James — 8  acres  in  133  and  100  acres  in  E138. 
Hardin.  Francis — 8  acres  in  133  and  100  acres  in  D13S. 
Harland.  Silas — 8  acres  in  190  and  100  acres  in  D13. 

Harris.  James — 8  acres  in  190  and  100  acres  in  D28. 
Harris,  John  M — 8  acres  in  106  and  100  acres  in  E128. 
Harris,  Samuel,  Sr. — 8  acres  in  106  and  100  acres  in  D128. 

Harris,  Samuel,  Jr. — 8  acres  in  106  and  100  acres  in  C128. 
Hatten.  Christopher — 8  acres  in  148  and  100  acres  in  A28. 

Hayes,  Thomas — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  198. 
Henry,  David — 8  acres  in  154  and  lOO  acres  in  A^J. 

Henry,  Hugh — 8  acres  in  154  and  100  acres  in  B57. 
Henry,  Isaac — 8  acres  in  T54  and  lop  acres  in  A13. 
Henry.  John — 8  acres  in  154  and  100  acres  in  B13. 
Higgins.  Barney — 8  acres  in  190  and  100  acres  in  D57. 
Holmes,  James — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  E13. 
Honaker,  Henry — 8  acres  in  133  and  100  acres  in  C57. 
Honaker,  Peter — 8  acres  in  133  and  100  acres  in  E57. 

Hooper,  Thomas — 8  acres  in  149  and  100  acres  in  part  19. 
House,  Andrew — 8  acres  in  148  and  100  acres  in  E28. 

Hughes,  John — 8  acres  in  148  and  100  acre^  in  C28. 

Humphris,  Samuel — 8  acres  in  190  and  100  acres  in  C13. 
Isaacs.  John — 8  acres  in  271  and  100  acres  in  B123. 

James,  Abraham — 8  acres  in  155  and  100  acres  in  D108. 

January,  James — 8  acres  in  271  and  100  acres  in  C198. 

Jarrald.  James — 8  acres  in  155  and  100  acres  in  B128. 

Johnson.  John — 8  acres  in  271  and  100  acres  in  E170. 
Tohnston,  Edward — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  inrt  1  13. 
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Jones,  Charles — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  A 198. 
Jones,  David — 8  acres  in  271  and  100  acres  in  C138. 
Jones,  John — 8  acres  in  194  and  100  acres  in  B198. 
Jones,  ]\Iathe\v — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  C170. 
Joynes,  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  219. 
Kendall,  Benjamin — 8  acres  in  155  and  100  acres  in  245. 
Kendall,  William — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  D44. 
Kenton,  Simon — 8  acres  in  155  and  100  acres  in  E198. 

Key,  Georg-e — 8  acres  in  246  and  100  acres  in  C79. 
Leare,  William — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  A54. 

Lemon,  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  Ai  19. 
Levingston,  George — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  86. 

Lindsay,  Arthur — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  D79. 
Lockart,  Pleasant — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  D34. 
Lovell,  Richard — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  219. 

Lniisford.  George — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  86. 
Lunsford,  JNIason — 8  acres  in  246  and  100  acres  in  E44. 

Lunsford,  INIoses — 8  acres  in  246  and  100  acres  in  E119. 
Lnsado,  Abraham — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  A79. 
Lutterell,  Richard — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  B79. 

Lines,  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  C119. 
Lyne,  Joseph — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  E79. 
McBride,  Isaac — -8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D130. 
IMcDermet,  Francis — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  B54. 
McDonald.  David — 8  acres  in  248  and  100  acres  in  A211. 

McGar,  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  219. 
McLitire,  Alexander — 8  acres  in  10 1  and  100  acres  in  C130. 
McManus,  George — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A286. 
McJNIanus,  John,  Sr. — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D286. 
McManus.  John,  Jr. — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C286. 
McMullen,  Samuel — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  A254. 
McNutt,  James — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  E126. 
Mayfield,  Micajah — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  D184. 
Mahoney,  Florence — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E281. 
Manifee,  Jonas — 8  acres  in  106  and  100  acres  in  E254. 
Marr,  Patrick — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  219. 

Martin,  Charles — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B254. 
Mershorn.  Nathaniel — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C254. 
Millar,  Abraham — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  C54. 
Montgomeiy,  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  231. 
Monroe,  James — 8  acres  in  169  and  too  acres  in  D254. 
Moore.  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  C126. 
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Moore,  Thomas — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  A123. 

Murphv,  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  86. 
Murry.  Edward — 8  acres  in  ig6  and  100  acres  in  E54. 

Myers,  \\'iniam — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  D126. 
Nelson,  Enoch  G — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E85. 
Newton.  Peter — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  20. 

Oakley.  Jijlin — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  4. 

O'Harrow.  Michael — 8  acres  in  149  and  100  acres  in  B211. 
Oreer.  Daniel — 8  acres  in  160  and  100  acres  in  31. 

Oreer.  Jesse — 8  acres  in  160  and  100  acres  in  31. 
Oreer.  William — 4  acres  in  210,  4  in  196  and  100  in  31. 

Osburn.  Ebenezer — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E211. 

Oundsley.  Charles — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D211. 

Pagan.  David — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  19. 
Paintree.  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  Bi  77. 
Patten.  James — 8  acres  in  loi  and  100  acres  in  B30. 
Paul.  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  123. 

Peters,  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B281. 

Phelps.  Josiah — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A 177. 
Pickens.  Samuel — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  121. 
Piner.  Jesse — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B171. 

..^^Prather.  Henry — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C171. 
Priest.  Peter — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A171. 

Pruitt.  Josiah — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D170. 
Purcell,  William — 8  acres  in  ig6  and  100  acres  in  123. 

Pulford.  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E31. 

Ramsey.  James — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D119. 

--Ray.  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B118. 

Rubey.  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A118. 

Ruddle.  Cornelius — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E118. 

Rulison.  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C177. 

Ross,  Joseph — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  113. 

Sartine.  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D116. 

Sartine.  Page — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C116. 

Saunders.  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A 174. 
Sevems — Ebenezer — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D174. 

Severns.  John — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  195. 

Shepard.  George — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A116. 

Shepard.  Peter — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  195. 

Sitzer.  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E2. 

Sitzer,  Michael — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B2. 

Simpson.  Thomas — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B59. 
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Slack,  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  K174. 
Smith,  (iecirge — 8  acres  in  149  and  100  acres  in  A2, 
Smith,  William — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  C44. 
Sworden.  Jonathan — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E116, 

Snow,  George — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C174. 
Spear,  Jacob — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B174. 
Spilman,  Francis — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D2. 
Spilman,  James — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  262, 
Stevens,  Shep — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  108. 
Stephenson,  Samuel — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E286. 
Swan,  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A44. 
Swearingen,  Van — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B116. 
Talley,  John — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  DJ42. 
Taylor,  Abraham — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C142. 
Teall,  Levi — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  6170. 
Thompson,  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  262, 
Thornton,  Joseph — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  in  C2. 
Tygert.  Daniel — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  108, 
Taylor,  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E142. 
Vance,  Hanley — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D243. 
Vanmeter,  Isaac — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  C243. 
Venshioner,  George — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  Birg. 
Walker,  Thomas — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A210. 

Watkins,  Samuel — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A243. 

\\"alen,  Barney — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E255. 
^^'elch,  Dominique — 8  acres  in  149  and  100  acres  in  B255. 
White,  Layton — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  D255. 
White,  Randall — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  E195. 
\\hitecotton,  James — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  123. 

\\"hitley.  William — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  262. 
\\'hitehead,  Robert — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  20. 

^^'hitehead,  William — 8  acres  in  196  and  100  acres  in  20. 
\\'ilson,  Edward — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  A255. 

\/^^'illiams,  Daniel — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  E243. 
\\"itt.  Robert — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B243. 
Wood,  James — 8  acres  in  169  and  100  acres  in  C255. 
Yates,  Isaac — 8  acres  in  74  and  100  acres  in  B210. 
Znckledge,  William — 8  acres  in  210  and  100  acres  in  E162. 
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RECAPITI'I.ATION. 

I   Brigadier  General       "^-049  acres 
I   Lieutenant  Colonel    4.851  acres 

3  Majors — 4.312  acres  each    1 1,936  acres 
14  Captains^3,234  acres  each    45,276  acres 
20  Lieutenants — 2.156  acres  each    43,120  acres 
23   Sergeants — 216  acres  each    4,968  acres 

I   Ensign       2,156  acres 
I   Cornet       2,156  acres 

236  Privates — 108  acres  each    25,488  acres 

300   ]\Ien         149,000  acres 

The  following  taljle  will  show  the  number  of  the  tract  upon  which  the 
various  cities,  towns  and  villages  were  located,  and  the  name  of  the  soldier  to 
whom  same  was  allotted : 

Charlestown.  117,  Lieutenant  John  Gerault. 
Charlestown  Landing,  56,  General  George  Rogers  Clark. 

Hamljurg,  108,  Sergeant  \\'illiam  Elms  and  others. 
Henr}^ville,  254-5,  Private  James  JMonroe  and  others. 

Herculaneum,  ^y.  Pri\-ate  David  Henry  and  others. 
Hibernia.  105,  Alajor  William  Lynn. 

Jeffersonville,  X'o.  i.  Lieutenant  Isaac  Bowman. 
]\Iarysville,  248,  Pri\-ate  Travis  Booton  and  others. 
Alemphis,  203.  Captain  Robert  Todd. 
Xew  ̂ Market,  196,  Sergeant  John  Vaughan  and  others. 
Otisco,  210,  Private  John  Biggar  and  others. 
Petersburg,  130.  Private  Isaac  AIcBride  and  others. 
Port  Fulton,  2,  Private  Francis  Spilman  and  others. 

Sellersburg.  no.  Captain  Isaac  Ruddle. 
Springville,  94,  Private  Isaac  Paris  and  others. 
Ltica,  16,  Captain  John  Bailey;  17,  Captain  Robert  George. 

A\'atson,  36,  Captain  Robert  Todd. 
Clarksville,  opposite  the  falls,  just  below  and  adjoining  Jefferson\-ille. 
Old  fort  above  Fourteen  Alile  creek,  76.  Lieutenant  Valentine  Dalton. 

The  deed  for  the  Illinois  grant  was  not  recorded  by  the  commissioners 

until  about  1823.  It  appears  on  page  270  of  Deed  Record  No.  30  in  the  deed 
records  of  Clark  county.  It  is  a  peculiar  coincidence  that  General  Clark  had 
a  double  title  to  the  land  which  became  his  in  the  Illinois  grant.      After  the 
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close  of  his  memorable  campaign,  where  he  had  fairly  earned  the  title  "the 
Hannibal  of  the  West,"  he  lost  no  time  in  pacifying  the  Indians.  The  loyal 
Piankeshaws  held  a  council  and  insisted  on  presenting  the  General  with  a  tract 

of  land  two  and  one-half  leagues  square,  on  the  west  side  of  the  falls  of  the 
Ohio,  the  location  of  his  subsequent  grant  from  Virginia. 

General  Clark  was  a  citizen  of  Clarksville  for  many  years  and  took  an 

active  part  in  elections  and  public  affairs,  but  being  a  bachelor,  he  divided  his 
time  between  Indiana  and  Kentucky.  As  early  as  1783  a  number  of  log 
houses  had  been  built  in  Clarksville  and  a  town  government  was  organized, 

pursuant  to  the  charter.  In  the  record  book  of  the  Trustees  of  Clarksville, 

pages  66  and  67,  appears  a  resolution  to  confirm  the  title  of  the  following  per- 
sons, as  they  were  the  original  settlers  in  the  town  : 

David  Owens,  John  Owens,  brothers. 
Levi  Theel  (Teall),  private  in  Illinois  regiment. 
William  Burgoe. 

Robert  George,  captain  in  Illinois  regiment. 
William  Clark. 

Martin  Carney. 

John  Jackson. 
Valentine  T.  Dalton  (lieutenant  in  Illinois  regiment). 

John  INIartin. 
George  Clear. 
Christopher  Hewet. 
William  Burge. 

Jacob  Miner. 
John  Cleghorn. 

Joseph  Cleghorn. 
Joseph  Sprolsman. 

Philip  \\'alkes. 
Nancy  Smith. 
Buckner  Pitman. 

This  resolution  is  dated  August  7,  1784.  The  town,  however,  did  not 

prosper,  and  in  1797  there  were  but  twenty  houses  in  the  place.  The  Captain 
Robert  George  mentioned  above  had  brought  a  party  of  settlers  out  to  the 

"grant"  from  Pennsylvania,  and  some  of  the  names  in  thc'  resolution  were  of 
his  party.  Mrs.  Nancy  Smith's  daughter,  aged  twelve,  was  shot  and  scalped 
by  the  Indians  in  1790.  She  had  gone  to  the  spring  about  a  quarter  of  a  mile 
from  the  stockade  for  water,  and  after  the  Indians  had  scalped  her  they  left 

her  for  dead.  The  men  in  the  fort  brought  her  in  and  to  the  surprise  of  all, 

she  finallv  recovered.      Tlie  hair  on  her  head  o-rew  in  again,  but  ven'  coarse 
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and  snow  white.  She  married  a  man  named  Pitman,  whu,  with  his  family, 
afterwards  emigrated  down  the  river  and  settled  on  an  island  abont  twenty 

miles  above  Natchez,  Mississippi,  called  Fairchild's  Island. 
The  Valentine  Dalton  in  the  resolution  drew  the  old  stone  fort  at  Fourteen 

Mile  creek  in  the  allotment  of  land  in  the  grant. 

The  place  selected  by  General  Clark  for  his  residence  was  at  the  upper 

end  of  the  village  on  a  point  later  on  called  General's  Point.  Here  he  had  a 
full  and  delightful  view  of  the  falls,  but  he  took  little  pains  to  improve  the  site, 
having  raised  only  a  small  cabin.  His  lonely  life  here  was  enlivened  at  one 

time  by  a  party  of  jovial  hunters,  who  left  him  at  the  end  of  their  visit  in  the 
best  of  spirits.  Shortly  after  their  departure  he  was  stricken  with  paralysis 
and  fell  into  the  fire,  burning  one  of  his  legs  badly.  This  burn  finally  made 

amputation  necessary  and  Dr.  Ferguson  performed  the  operation  amid  sur- 
roundings that  are  probably  without  a  parallel.  It  was  before  the  day  of 

anaesthetics  and  a  fife  and  drum  corps  marched  around  the  cabin  playing  dur- 
ing the  operation,  and  it  is  said  that  the  old  General  kept  time  to  the  music  with 

his  fingers,  and  when  the  music  finally  stopped  asked,  "\A'ell.  is  it  off?" 
He  died  at  the  home  of  his  sister,  Mrs.  Lucy  Croghan,  at  Locust  Grove, 

Kentucky,  February  13.  1818.  and  is  buried  in  Cave  Hill  cemetery,  Louisville, 
Kentuckv. 



CHAPTER  IV. 

ORGANIZATION  OF  CLARK  COUNTY. 

.THE  FIRST   DEC.-XDE. 

William  Henry  Harrison,  the  first  Territorial  Governor  of  the  Territory 

of  Indiana,  created  Clark  county  by  gubernatorial  proclamation  February  3, 

1801.  Emigrants  had  begun  to  settle  at  man}-  points  along  the  Ohio  river, 
and  for  the  convenience  of  these  settlers  it  became  necessary  to  establish  a  new 

county  by  cutting  off  a  portion  of  Knox  county.  Clark  county  was  the  first 
to  be  created  out  of  the  territory  included  within  the  original  limits  of  Knox, 
so  that  she  has  the  proud  distinction  of  belonging  to  the  second  generation  of 

Indiana  counties.  Knox  county  was  organized  June  20,  1790,  by  proclama- 
tion of  General  Arthur  St.  Clair,  Governor  of  the  Northwest  Territory.  This 

county  not  only  included  all  of  what  is  now  Clark  county,  but  nearly  all  of 
what  is  now  Indiana.  The  new  county  which  was  to  bear  the  name  of  the 

illustrious  George  Rogers  Clark  was  a  state  in  itself.  The  proclamation  creat- 
ing Clark  county  was  dated  February  3,  1801,  and  the  description  of  the  tract 

is  as  follows :  Beginning  on  the  Ohio  at  the  mouth  of  Blue  river,  now  the 
boundary  line  between  Harrison  and  Crawford  counties,  up  the  said  river  to 
where  the  trail  leading  from  Vincennes  to  the  Ohio  Falls  crosses  said  river: 

thence  by  direct  route  to  the  nearest  point  on  (the  east  fork)  W'hite  river: 
thence  up  said  river  to  the  branch  thereof  which  runs  towards  Fort  Recoxery. 

and  from  the  head  springs  of  said  branch  to  Fort  Recovery :  thence  along-  the 
boundary  line  between  Indiana  Territory  and  the  Northwest  Territory,  south 
to  the  Ohio  river:  thence  down  said  river  to  the  place  of  beginning.  It  may 
be  difficult  to  trace  these  lines  at  the  present  day,  but  the  point  on  Blue  river 
where  the  line  left  the  stream  was  about  where  the  town  of  Fredericksburg 

is  located  in  the  southern  part  of  Washington  county.  The  line  runs  almost- 

north  througli  the  entire  leng-th  of  Washington  county  until  it  strikes  the  east 

fork  of  the  \\'hite  river.  This  stream  is  followed  in  a  northeastwardly  direc- 
tion through  Jackson,  Bartholomew,  Shelby,  Rush  and  Henry  counties.  The 

line  runs  from  a  point  at  the  head  springs  of  this  stream  in  a  straight  line 

noi-theastwardly  through  Randolph  and  Jay  counties  to  Fort  Recovery,  which 
is  situated  just  across  the  Ohio  state  line,  about  opposite  the  center  of  Jay 
county.  The  line  returns  to  the  Ohio  river  at  the  mouth  of  the  Kentucky  river 

and  thence  down  the  Ohio  to  the  point  of  beginning.      Here  indeed  was  a  niag- 
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nificent  scope  of  territtjry.  It  included  either  in  whole  or  part  the  following- 
counties  :  Harrison,  Floyd,  Clark,  Washington,  Jackson,  Scott,  Jefferson, 
Jennings,  Ripley,  Decatur,  Franklin,  Bartholomew,  Shelby,  Rush,  Favette, 

Lnion,  Henry.  Randolph.  Wayne  and  possibly  part  of  Ja}-  and  Switzerland 
counties. 

\o  other  name  could  ha\-e  been  applied  to  this  noble  tract  of  land  which 

included  within  its  bounds  n(jt  onl}-  the  town  of  Clarksx'ille,  but  also  the  grant 
of  land  given  to  General  Clark,  his  officers  and  men  by  the  state  of  Virginia, 
January  2,  1781. 

At  this  early  day  there  were  l)Ut  few  families  residing  in  the  wilderness 

which  is  now  embraced  in  the  bounds  of  Clark  count}-.  One  fan-iily  resided 
at  the  present  site  of  Charlestown — a  few  more  south  and  southeast  of  here, 

and  a  few  more  six  miles  east  at  a  place  called  "Armstrong's  Station." 
Clark  county  at  its  creation  embraced  about  one-fifth  of  the  present  area 

of  the  state  of  Indiana.  It  would  have  been  appropriate  if  Clarksville  could 
have  been  chosen  as  the  countyseat.  but  geographical  considerations  had  to  be 

temembered,  so  the  town  of  Spring\-ille  was  selected  April  7.  1801,  as  the  new 
seat  of  justice. 

Springville  was  a  rising-  and  prosperous  little  town,  about  four  miles  from 
the  river,  and  about  one  mile  southwest  of  Charlestown.  As  early  as  1799  a 

Frenchi-nan  kept  a  store  at  the  place  where  Springville  was  afterwards  located. 
C'nc  of  the  priiicipal  traders  was  a  man  named  Tulh-,  and  for  this  reason  the 
Indians  called  the  place  Titllytown.  The  town  of  Springville  was  platted 

about  the  year  1800  and  in  1802  it  was  a  thri\-ing  little  village  of  probablv 
one  hundred  bona  fide  inhabitants.  It  was  on  the  old  Indian  trail  from  the 

falls  of  the  Ohio  to  the  Indian  nations  of  the  north,  west  and  east.  Being  the 
first  camping  station  north  of  the  falls,  it  naturally  prospered.  It  was  laid 

off  aln-iost  wholly  on  survey  No.  115  of  Clark's  Grant.  (See  plat.)  The 
streets  running  north  and  south  were  seventy  feet  wide  and  those  running  east 
and  west  were  one  hundred  feet  wide.  The  lots  were  one  hundred  feet  front 

and  two  hundred  feet  deep.  In  1801  the  prospects  of  the  little  town  were 
brightest.  There  were  twc)  taverns,  one  kept  by  John  Ferguson  and  the  other 
by  Nicholas  Harrison,  who  also  had  a  store.  The  latter  was  also  a  Justice  of 
the  Peace.  There  was  a  blacksmith  shop,  a  wheelwright  shop,  a  hatter  shop, 

etc.  Old  Dr.  Vale  was  the  physician,  E\-en  Shelby  county  surveyor,  etc. 
Near  by  a  still  house  operated.  A  short  distance  west  lived  Jonathan  Jen- 

nings, the  first  Governor  of  Indiana.  Just  below  the  towii  on  Pleasant  run 
John  Bottorff  carried  on  the  milling  business.  The  location  of  the  still  houses 

and  trading  posts  made  Spring\-ille  a  great  rendezvous  for  Indians,  and  this, 
together  with  its  location  on  the  trail,  made  it  a  very  prosperous  village  for 
those  days. 

The  settlers  in  this  localitv  were  often  alarmed  bv  the  drunkenness  and 
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insolence  of  the  Indians,  who  had  traded  and  bartered  at  Tuhytown.  Here 

the  red  men  were  swindled  out  of  their  skins,  venison  and  bear  meat  by  the 

villainy  of  the  Frenchmen  and  the  small  price  which  they  received  for  their 

goods  was  usually  invested  in  whisky,  ruinous  to  themselves  and  dangerous  to 

the  settlers.  They  would  generally  get  no  further  from  Springville  on  their 

way  homeward  than  where  Charlestown  is  now  situated,  and  their  drunken 
revels  would  make  night  hideous  and  usually  resulted  in  bloodshed. 

Springville  and  vicinity  was  at  this  time  the  only  purely  American  settle- 
ment in  Indiana  ofT  of  the  river,  although  there  were  Americans  scattered  all 

through  the  French  settlements  elsewhere. 
After  the  county  seat  was  removed  to  Jefferscmville,  June  9,  1802,  the 

town  began  to  dwindle  away  until  within  a  few  years  it  had  wholly  disap- 

peared. Not  a  vestige  of  it  now  i-emains  to  tell  the  curious  where  it  stood,  and 
where  once  was  heard  the  sound  of  simple  industry,  where  once  the  leading 

men  of  early  days  met  to  transact  the  necessary  business  of  the  courts,  nothing 
remains  but  a  rural  scene,  a  winding  country  road  and  the  song  of  birds  above 

the  growing  crops. 
On  April  7,  1801,  the  first  court  in  Clark  county  was  held  at  Springville. 

It  was  named  the  Court  of  General  Quarter  Sessions  of  the  Peace,  and  it  was 

created  by  the  Governor,  William  Henry  Harrison.  It  was  composed  of  Jus- 
tices Marston,  Green  Clark.  Abraham  Huff,  James  Noble  Wood,  Thomas 

Downs.  William  Goodwin,  John  Gibson,  Charles  Tuley  and  William  Harwood. 

The  men  composing  this  court  were  the  leading  citizens  of  the  county  at  the 

time,  and  nearly  all  have  left  their  mark  upon  some  phase  of  our  early  history. 
The  first  and  most  important  work  of  the  court  was  to  divide  the  county 

into  townships,  so  that  the  administration  of  justice  might  begin  an  active 

operation.  The  boundaries  of  the  three  townships  of  Clarksville,  Springville 
and  Spring  Hill,  into  whicli  the  county  was  divided,  were  given  as  follows: 

The  first  to  begin  on  the  Ohio,  opposite  the  mouth  of  Blue  river ;  thence 

up  the  Ohio  to  the  mouth  of  Peter  McDaniel's  spring  branch ;  from  thence  in 
direct  course  to  Pleasant  run,  the  branch  on  which  Joseph  Bartholomew  lives, 
and  down  that  branch  to  the  mouth  thereof:  thence  down  Pleasant  run  to 

where  the  same  enters  into  Silver  creek :  thence  a  due  west  course  to  the  west- 

ern boundary  of  this  county;  to  be  called  and  kmiwn  by  the  name  of  Clarks- 
ville township. 

The  second  to  begin  at  the  mouth  of  Peter  ̂ McDaniel's  spring  branch : 
thence  up  the  Ohio  to  the  mouth  of  Fourteen  ^lile  creek:  thence  up  the  main 
branch  thereof  to  the  head :  and  from  thence  a  due  west  course  to  the  county 

line,  and  from  thence  with  the  same  to  Clarksville  township,  and  with  the  line 

thereof  to  the  Ohio  at  the  place  of  beginning:  to  be  called  and  known  by  the 
name  of  Springville  townsliip. 

The  third  one  began  at  the  mouth  of  Fourteen  Alile  creek:  thence  with 
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the  line  of  Springville  township  to  the  county  Hne ;  thence  with  the  same  to  the 
Ohio  river ;  and  thence  clown  the  same,  to  incUide  the  remaining  part  of  the 

county,  to  the  place  of  beginning;  to  be  called  and  kn(iwn  by  the  name  of 
Spring  Hill  township. 

From  these  three  original  townships  the  number  has  grown  to  twelve. 

Jeffersonville,  Utica,  Charlestown,  Owen  and  Bethlehem  townships  Ijnrder 
upon  the  river;  Union  is  in  the  center:  Carr  and  Silver  Creek  are  on  the  west; 

Monroe  and  Wood  are  on  the  north  and  northw'est ;  Washington  and  Oregon 
are  in  the  northeast. 

The  first  "constables  of  the  county"  were  Charles  Floyd  for  Clarksville 
township,  William  F.  Tulev  for  Springville  and  Robert  Wardel  for  Spring 
Hill. 

The  court  transacted  a  great  amount  of  business  and  appointed  all  the 

necessary  officers  for  the  county.  Samuel  Gwathmey  w'as  appointed  Protho- 
notary  Clerk  of  the  several  courts :  Jesse  Rowland,  Judge  of  Probate ;  Davis 
Floyd,  Recorder:  Thomas  Douns,  Treasurer;  Marston  G.  Clark,  Surveyor; 
Samuel  Hay,  Sheriff:  Peter  McDonald,  Coroner. 

On  December  24,  1S03,  Davis  Floyd  and  John  Owens  were  appointed  and 
commissioned  pilots  on  the  Falls.  Augtist  14,  1802,  the  court  ordered  the 
first  jail  built  at  Jeffersonville.  It  was  built  by  William  Goodwin,  with  Davis 
Floyd  on  his  bond  of  nine  hundred  dollars. 

This  was  a  most  vigorous  beginning  for  the  young  county,  but  the  re- 

moval of  the  county  seat  to  Jeffersonville  sounded  taps  to  Springville's  hopes 
as  well  as  reveille  to  the  ambition  of  the  little  villag'e  on  the  banks  of  the  Ohio. 
However,  Spring\'ille  remained  a  village  as  late  as  1810. 

Jeffersonville  had  grown  to  be  a  scattering  border  of  houses  and  stores 

along  the  river  front,  extending  up  from  old  Fort  Steuben.  On  June  23,  1802, 

Isaac  Bowman,  who  owned  tract  No.  i  of  Clark's  Grant,  disposed  of  part  of 
it  to  Marston  Green  Clark,  William  Goodwin,  Richard  Pile,  Davis  Floyd  and 

Samuel  Gwathmey  as  trustees  to  lay  off  a  town  and  sell  lots.  The  tract  con- 
tained one  hundred  and  fifty  acres  and  John  Gwathmey  laid  it  off  according 

to  a  design  said  to  have  been  devised  by  Thomas  Jefferson,  for  whom  the  town 

was  named.  The  original  plan  resembled  a  checker-board ;  the  black  squares 
to  be  sold  in  lots,  the  red  squares  to  be  crossed  diagonally  by  streets,  leaving 

four  triangular  spaces  for  parks  in  each  square  through  which  the  streets 
passed.  This  design  was  not  adhered  to,  and  the  present  plan  was  adopted  in 
1817.  The  boundaries  of  the  original  town  of  Jeffersonville  are  as  follows: 

Beginning  at  a  point  on  the  north  bank  of  the  Ohio  river  at  low-water  mark, 
eighty-eight  feet  west  of  the  west  line  of  Fort  street ;  thence  parallel  with  the 
w^est  line  of  Fort  street  to  a  point  on  Ohio  avenue  fifty  feet  south  of  the  south 
line  of  Court  avenue ;  thence  with  a  line  parallel  to  the  south  line  of  Court 
avenue  and  fifty  feet  from  it  to  the  west  line  of  Watt  street ;  thence  with  the 

4 
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west  line  of  ̂ ^'att  street  to  a  point  on  the  north  hank  of  the  Ohio  river  a  low- 
water  mark;  thence  with  the  meanderings  of  the  north  bank  at  low-water  mark 

to  the  beginning;  containing  about  one  hundred  and  fiftj'  acres. 
About  this  time  settlements  began  to  be  made  in  Bethlehem  township,  and 

the  Flaskets.  Rodgers,  Giltners.  Hamiltons,  Kellys,  Thislers,  Abbotts  and 
Simingtons  began  to  improve  their  new  farms.  Jacob  Giltner,  Sr.,  came 
from  Kentucky  to  Clark  county  about  1808,  but  was  born  in  Pennsylvania  in 

1767.  His  wife,  Elizabeth  Donagan,  was  from  Lancaster  county,  of  the  same 

date.  When  the  family  came  to  Clark  county  there  were  four  in  the  house- 
hold— two  daughters,  Elizabeth  and  Mary,  and  Mr.  and  Mrs.  Giltner. 
Jacob  Giltner  bought  three  quarter  sections  of  land  at  the  land  office  in 

Jeffersonville.  For  many  years  after  becoming  a  resident  of  the  township  he 
ran  a  distillery  in  connection  with  farming.  By  trade  he  was  a  linen  stamper, 

when  goods  were  made  of  that  kind  by  the  pioneers.  During  the  War  of  1812 
he  was  drafted,  but  on  account  of  a  physical  disability  was  exempted.  He  was 
a  member  of  the  Lutheran  church,  and  died  in  1859.  Mrs.  Giltner  died  a  few 

months  after  her  husband,  in  the  same  year. 

^^'illiam  Kell)',  Sr.,  was  born  in  Virginia,  but  was  taken  to  Kentucky  by 
his  parents  when  a  child,  and  came  to  Clark  county  in  1806.  He  married 
Margaret  Kelly,  who  bore  him  thirteen  children,  four  dying  in  infancy,  the 
remaining  nine  growing  up  to  maturity.  He  located  one  mile  and  a  half 

northwest  of  Bethlehem  village,  before  the  land  was  suiweyed.  ̂ ^llen  the  sur- 
vevs  were  completed  he  attended  the  public  sale  in  Jeffersonville  in  1S09,  but 

previously  had  made  no  clearing",  on  account  of  the  uncertainty  of  g^etting  the 
land  desired.  He  bought  two  quarter  sections,  and  began  the  work  of  improve- 

ment.    He  died  June  27,  1837.     Mrs.  Kelly  died  September  13.  1854. 

W^illiam  Kelly.  Jr..  was  born  August  12.  1812.  and  married  Elizabeth 
Starr,  whose  maiden  name  was  Hammond.  May  4,  1858.  There  are  but  few 

of  the  Kelly's  left  in  the  county. 
William,  son  of  Archibald  and  Sarah  Hamilton,  was  born  near  Frankfort, 

Kentucky,  October  10,  1790.  WHien  twenty-two  years  of  age  he  emigrated 
with  his  mother  and  two  sisters  to  Bethlehem  township,  landing  at  the  mouth 
of  Knob  creek  March  25.  1812.  The  Ohio  river  at  that  time  made  landing 

easy  by  the  backwater  up  these  small  streams.  He  immediately  opened  a  tan- 
ner}' on  one  of  the  branches  of  Knob  creek,  which  he  ran  till  his  death  in  1845. 

His  son,  John  T.,  continued  in  the  business  of  his  father  up  to  1865,  when  the 

old  tannery  was  abandoned  for  more  lucrative  employment.  \\'illiam  Hamil- 
ton married  Margaret  Byers  (who  was  born  near  McBride's  IMill,  Woodford 

county,  Kentucky,  April  4,  1795,  and  who  came  to  Jefferson  county,  Lidiana, 
in  1816),  October  30,  1821.    Mrs.  Hamilton  died  May  9,  1875,  near  Otto. 

Robert  Simington  was  a  settler  and  an  owner  of  land  in  the  township  in 
1805,  though  his  claim  was  subject  to  dispute  after  the  public  sales  in  1809. 
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He  owned  seven  hundred  and  fifty  acres  in  fractional  sections  2i2  and  33.  Sim- 

ington  left  in  1817,  after  selling  most  of  his  property,  and  settled  one  mile  be- 
yond Hanover,  in  Jefferson  county,  Indiana,  where  he  died  in  1849. 
The  Abbotts  were  among  the  first  men  of  their  day.  considered  in  the 

light  of  sportsmen.  John  Abbott  was  the  ancestor  of  the  Abbotts  in  this 
county,  and  from  him  descended  many  of  the  same  name. 

John  Thisler  began  clearing  off  land  below  Bethlehem  at  an  early  day. 
The  old  fami  now  runs  up  close  to  the  village. 

Moses  Rodgers  was  among  the  first  and  most  successful  of  the  early 
settlers. 

Lucas  and  \\'illiam  Plaskett,  the  latter  a  flat  boatman,  were  here  during the;  first  decade. 

All  these  men,  with  their  wives  and  families,  took  an  active  part  in  pre- 
paring the  way  for  future  generations;  and  to  their  credit  it  can  be  truly  said, 

they  did  their  work  well.    Let  us  see  that  posterity  shall  improve  on  the  past. 
The  first  settler  in  Monroe  township  was  Robert  Biggs,  who  came  here 

in  1806  from  Kentucky.  He  settled  on  Biggs's  fork  of  Silver  creek.  Biggs 
lived  and  died  in  sight  of  Henryville.  He  took  much  pleasure  in  hunting, 
and  was  considered  a  superior  marksman. 

Joseph  Miller  settled  in  sight  of  Henryville  about  1806.  or,  what  is  more 

probable,  a  year  or  two  afterwards;  for  Robert  Bigg-s  must  have  married  one 
of  his  daughters.  Miller  was  from  Kentuck\- :  his  family  consisted  mostly  of 
daughters,  the  onlv  son  dying  many  3'ears  since,  and  of  course  the  family 
name  is  now  extinct.     He  died  about  1830. 

Nicholas  Crist,  a  brother-in-law  of  Abner  Biggs,  settled  about  one  mile 

west  of  Henry\'ille  in  1808  or  1810.  He  was  bom  in  Pennsylvania,  but  came 
here  from  Kentucky.  He  married  a  daughter  of  Robert  Biggs.  Crist  re- 

moved to  Clay  county.  Indiana,  in  1830  or  1831,  and  died  at"^n  extreme 
old  age.  ' 

Robert  Cams,  who  was  from  Pennsylvania  by  way  of  Kentucky,  settled 
one  mile  east  of  Henryville  about  1810.     He  carried  on  farming. 

Zebulon  Collins,  who  was  no  doubt  a  brother  of  the  famous  scout  and 

hunter,  \A'illiam  Collins,  settled  a  year  or  two  before  the  Pigeon  Roost  massa- 
cre one  mile  and  a  half  east  of  Henryville.  Here  he  beg'an  to  operate  a  still 

house,  and  finally  a  way  tavern  on  the  Charlestown  and  Brownstown  road. 
During  a  part  of  his  life  he  was  chosen  as  a  justice  of  the  peace.  It  was  at  his 
tavern  that  the  first  polls  were  opened  in  the  township,  and  from  this  fact  the 
township  derived  its  first  name,  that  of  Collins.  The  township  was  abolished 

afterwards  and  the  territory  was  taken  into  other  townships.  It  was  here  tliat 
a  company  of  soldiers  was  stationed  in  1813  when  Mr.  Huffman  was  killed  by 
the  Indians,  to  protect  the  frontier.    Collins  was  originally  from  Pennsylvania. 

Mr.  Huffman  was  an  emigrant    from    Pennsvlvania    and    settled   on  the 
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west  bank  of  Siher  creek,  one  and  a  half  miles  from  Henryville,  three  or  four 

years  before  his  death,  in  1813. 
Among  the  later  settlers  who  came  after  Indiana  was  admitted  as  a  state 

were  James  Allen  and  David  McBride,  brothers-in-law,  from  Pennsylvania. 

Juda  Hemming",  who  emigrated  from  Kentucky,  and  Islam  McCloud,  of  South 
Carolina,  were  the  only  early  settlers  in  the  township  in  the  extreme  south  side. 

The  most  prominent  family  in  the  extreme  west  was  that  of  Lawrence 

Kelly,  who  came  from  Pennsylvania,  and  was  here  as  early  as  1810.  His  sons 
were  Hugh,  John,  Abram,  William  and  Davis,  who  lived,  in  the  township  till 
their  deaths.  Martha  Kelly  married  John  Lewis,  Sr.,  of  Monroe  township. 

Another  daughter  married  William  Blakely,  a  Virginian,  Ijut  here  from  Ken- 
tucky. One  of  the  daughters  married  William  Patrick,  whose  descend- 

ants are  ciuite  numerous  in  the  county  at  this  time. 
John  Deitz  and  wife,  both  Germans,  came  to  Monroe  from  Kentucky 

while  the  grant  was  yet  in  its  infancy. 

On  the  west  side  of  the  township,  near  the  Oregon  line,  AN'illiam  Beckett, 
of  Pennsylvania,  settled  about  1810.  His  family  was  very  large,  and  consisted 

mainly  of  sons.  He  died  many  years  ago.  There  are  now  but  few  of  the 
family,  with  their  descendants,  in  this  section. 

Josiali  Thomas  settled  in  the  same  section  years  ago,  manying  one  of  the 
Beckett  girls. 

During  the  years  when  the  other  townships  were  tilling  up  with  settlers 

rapidly,  Monroe  was  left  uut  in  the  cold.  There  were  no  early  permanent  set- 
tlers between  Henryville  and  the  Pigeon  Roost  settlement. 

A\^illiam  E.  Collins,  by  birth  a  Pennsylvanian,  was  one  of  the  first  white 
men  in  the  neighborhood  of  the  northwestern  corner  of  the  township.  He 
came  secondarily  from  the  interior  of  Kentucky,  whither  he  had  gone  from 

Louisville  in  quest  of  game.  Learning  that  game  was  abundant  in  this  region 

— the  Pigeon  Roost  ground — he  came  hither.  His  son  Henry  met  hf"s'  death 
from  the  hands  of  the  Indians.  Kearns,  one  of  the  oldest  sons  of  the  family, 
settled  near  the  old  battleground  in  1813,  where  he  resided  until  his  death. 

Seymour  Guernsey  was  born  in  Connecticut,  and  emigrated  to  Utica 
township,  Clark  county,  in  18 17.  From  Olean  Point,  on  the  Ohio  river,  about 
one  hundred  and  fifty  miles  above  Pittsburg,  the  family  took  passage  in  a  boat, 

on  which  they  made  the  entire  trip  to  their  place  of  landing.  ]\Iehetabel  Beard- 
sley.  his  wife,  was  born  in  New  Haven.  Connecticut,  and  bore  him  before  arriv- 

ing here  two  sons — Burritt  and  Seymour — and  one  daughter — ]\Ialinda  Ann. 
After  remaining  in  the  vicinity  of  LTica  for  one  year  and  raising  a  crop  he 
removed  to  Alonroe  township,  where  he  and  his  wife  died.  The  marriage 
produced  four  sons  and  two  daughters. 

One  of  the  most  prominent  families  in  this  township  is  the  W'illey  family. 
Barzillai  Willey  was  a  soldier  of  the  Revolution,  and  was  born  in  Xew  York, 

V 
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and  came  to  Cincinnati  in  1808  from  Utica,  in  that  state.  All  the  land  below 

the  city  at  that  time  belonged  to  the  Harrisons  and  Sedams.  After  remaining 
here  for  two  years,  accumnlating  a  boatload  of  produce,  he  started  for  Xew 

Orleans.  Arriving  at  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio,  he  found  them  impassable,  and  an- 
chored on  the  west  side.  After  waiting  here  some  time  for  the  river  to  rise, 

and  having  his  merchandise  damaged  considerably  by  the  cold  weather,  he 
sold  his  load  to  the  best  advantage  possible  and  made  Jeffersonville  his  home 

for  one  year.  In  181 1  he  moved  to  Monroe  township  and  settled  near  Mem- 
phis; but  at  that  time  there  was  no  such  township  as  Union  in  the  county. 

After  a  life  of  much  hardship  and  ripe  experience,  he  died  at  the  residence  of 

his  son,  J.  F.  A\"illey,  in  the  township  of  Utica,  n  1854. 
Colonel  John  Fletcher  Willey,  the  son  of  Barzillai  Willey,  was  one  of  the 

foremost  Union  men  in  Southern  Indiana  during  the  war  of  the  Rebellion. 

In  Oregon  township  the  Henthorns,  who  settled  in  the  vicinity  of  New 
Market,  came  from  Virginia.  Robert  Henthorn,  the  founder  of  the  village, 

was  a  prominent  man  in  the  affairs  of  his  time. 
The  Coverts  came  from  Pennsylvania  in  1798  and  settled  near  the  old  site 

of  ̂ ^'ork■s  mill.  The  family  was  composed  of  Bergen.  Daniel.  Peter  and  John 
Covert. 

In  181 7  James  A.  \\'atson  came  to  Clark  county  and  settled  on  grant 
No.  59.  He  moved  to  Oregon  township  in  1850,  and  settled  on  the  bottoms 
of  Poke  run. 

One  of  the  early  and  most  prominent  families  in  Oregon  was  the  Henlys. 

They  rose  to  occupy  some  of  the  highest  positions  in  the  gift  of  the  people. 

Thomas  J.  Henly  represented  the  third  district  of  Indiana  in  congress  for  two 

or  three  terms.  In  1842  he  and  Joseph  L.  \Miite  fought  a  hard  battle  for  con- 
gressional honors.  This  district  being  overwhelmingly  Democratic,  it  was  al- 

most impossible  for  a  Whig  to  secure  a  prominent  office.  White  lost  the  elec- 
tion and  Henly  went  to  congress. 
In  the  northwest  corner  of  O.regon  township  the  early  settlers  were  made 

up  of  John  Taflinger  and  family,  John  Todd  and  family,  Alexander  McClure 

and  James  Beckett,  with  their  wives  and  families.  Many  of  their  descendants 

are  now  living  in  this  part  of  the  township,  well-to-do  farmers  and  artisans. 
In  Silver  Creek  township  the  Poindexter  family  was  quite  an  early  one. 

C.  S.  Poindexter.  a  native  of  Virginia,  was  born  in  1797.  and  came  to  New  Al- 

bany with  his  father's  family  at  an  early  age.  After  remaining  in  New  Albany 
for  a  short  time,  he  removed  to  the  vicinity  of  Sellersburg.  where  he  had  pre- 

viously bought  a  tract  of  land  from  Absalom  Littell.  Nancy  (Holland)  Poin- 
dexter, his  wife,  was  bom  in  Virginia  and  died  in  Sellersburg  in  1854,  at  an 

advanced  age.  By  this  marriage  were  born  seven  children,  five  sons  and  two 
daughters. 
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The  Littell  family  came  from  Pennsylvania  and  settled  on  Silver  creek, 
one  mile  east  of  Petersburg.    There  were  five  sons  and  two  daughters. 

The  \\'ellses  were  from  North  Carolina.  They  settled  on  Camp  run  as 
early  as  1800.    There  were  four  daughters  and  five  sons. 

William  Adams  was  of  Scotch-Irish  extraction.  He  had  a  large  family, 
and  settled  on  Camp  run. 

An  early  statistician  says  there  were  five  hundred  voters  in  Clark  county 

in  1840  by  the  name  of  Bottorff.  John  Bottorff  was  the  father  of  twenty-six 

children.  They  were  long^-lived  people,  and  from  them  descended  a  numerous 
posterity,  who  now  live  in  nearly  every  state  in  the  Union. 

In  1794  James  Noble  Wood  and  his  wife  settled  in  Utica  township  on 
the  present  site  of  Utica.  He  established  the  first  feny  there  in  1795.  He. 
was  the  foremost  man  in  the  township  in  early  days,  and  had  a  reputation  of 

being  a  great  hunter.  Wood  made  three  trips  to  New  Orleans,  the  first  in 
1805,  when  the  whole  countiy  from  Louisville  to  Natchez  was  an  unbroken 

wilderness.  On  retvtrning  he  walked  through  the  countrj'  of  the  Choctaw 
and  Chickasaw  nations.  The  second  trip  was  made  in  1806,  and  the  third  in 

1807.  James  Noble  W'ood  was  present  when  most  of  the  treaties  were  made 
with  the  Indians  at  Vincennes.  He  saw  Tecumseh  and  his  brother,  the  Prophet 

(Tuthnipe),  and  the  chief  Meshecanongue.  In  1805  he  met  Aaron  Burr  at 

Jeffersonville,  and  with  him  was  much  pleased. 

Judge  W^ood's  character  is  evidenced  by  the  active  part  he  took  in  the 
affairs  of  his  time.  He  died  near  Utica,  March  25,  1826.  He  was  a  fine  his- 

torian, a  faithful  citizen,  a  devoted  husband,  and  withal  a  man  of  many  excel- 
lent parts.  Margaret  Wood  was  of  fine  physique  and  veiy  handsome.  She 

had  musical  talents  of  no  ordinary  degree ;  she  was  also  a  fine  swimmer.  Her 
heart  seemed  to  overflow  with  kindness  and  generosity,  and  in  the  world  she 
had  no  enemies. 

BaaiJLR.  Prathej,  the  father  of  all  the  Prathers  in  the  township,  came  here 

from  North  Carolina  in  1801.  His  sons — Thomas,  William,  Walter,  Basil  R., 

Jr.,  Judge  Samuel,  Lloyd,  John  and  Simon — were  all  married  when  they  came 
here,  except  the  last  named.  They  settled  throughout  the  township,  and 
formed  a  class  of  men  possessed  of  many  admirable  qualities. 

Jeremiah  Jacobs  came  here  with  his  family  from  North  Carolina  in  1800, 
and  settled  near  the  old  fort.  His  family  was  large,  and  its  increase  steady. 
A  goodly  number  of  his  descendants  are  now  living  in  this  vicinity,  respected 
and  hospitable  citizens. 

In  the  fall  of  1802  Matthew  Crum,  from  Virginia,  settled  within  one- 
half  mile  of  the  Union  Methodist  Episcopal  church.  He  married  his  wife.  Miss 
Margaret  Spangler,  near  Louisville  in  1800.  who  bore  him  one  child,  William 
S.,  born  October  28,  1801,  before  coming  to  this  township.  The  marriage 
of  Matthew  Crum  and  ̂ Margaret  Spangler  resulted  in  a  family  of  ten  sons  and 
two  daughters. 
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In  1819  John  Lewman  came  tn  Utica  township  from  Xortli  Carolina  with 
his  father.     In  this  family  were  four  brothers  and  three  sisters. 

Hezekiah  Robertson  was  born  in  Alaryland,  and  came  with  his  father's 
family  to  this  township  when  fifteen  years  of  age.  In  the  family  there  were 
six  brothers  and  two  sisters.  They  immediately  began  the  work  of  clearing, 

living  here  the  most  of  their  lives. 
In  the  year  1802  John  and  Elizabeth  Schwartz  came  from  Pennsylvania 

with  a  family  of  four  children  and  settled  five  and  a  half  miles  above  Jefterson- 
ville.  His  vocation  was  farming.  In  Indian  wars  he  took  an  active  part,  but 

on  account  of  his  age  did  no  fighting.  His  death  was  caused  by  an  accident 

in  June,  1824.    Mrs.  Schwartz  lived  to  be  over  seventy  years  of  age. 

The  Bottorfifs  settled  in  Utica  township  about  the  year  1S15.  In  all  af- 

fairs of  the  township  they  took  a  prominent  part,  and  are  now  among  the  sub- 

stantial people  of  the- county. 
The  Lutz  family  came  to  Utica  township  from  North  Carolina  and  are 

now  scattered  over  the  township  in  considerable  numbers. 

There' is  no  record  of  the  first  permanent  settlement  in  Wood  township. 
Whether  George  Wood  was  the  first  white  man  who  settled  in  the  township 
we  cannot  say ;  but  it  is  quite  certain  he  was  among  the  first.  Wood  emigrated 
north  in  1802  and  settled  near  Charlestown,  where  lie  resided  till  1807.  He 

then  removed  to  the  Muddy  Fork  valley  and  settled  for  life  one  and  a  half 
miles  below  where  New  Providence  was  afterwards  located.  George  \\  ood 

was  a  native  of  South  Carolina:  he  died  ten  or  twelve  years  after  removing  to 
this  township. 

After  Wood  came  John  and  Robert  Burge,  James  Smith.  Matthew  Barn- 

aby.  jMoses  Harman.  Elijah  Harnian,  James  \\'arman  and  Sjmon  Akers.  To 
protect  themselves  from  the  savages  a  block  house  was  erected  on  George 

Wood's  farm  in  1808.  After  this  means  of  defense  became  generally  known. 
John  Giles,  Jonathan  Carr  and  Samuel  Harrod  came,  accompanied  by  their 
families.  In  18 10  John  McKinley,  of  Shelby  county,  Kentucky,  settled  in  the 

same  valley:  in  181 1  Samuel  Packwood  came  from  Shenandoah  county,  Vir- 
ginia. The  Burges,  Harmans.  Smith  and  Barnaby  emigrated  from  North 

Carolina;  Giles  and  Akers  were  from  Kentucky:  likewise  W'arman  and  a  man 
named  Frederick  Gore  and  others.  Carr  and  Harrod  were  from  Pennsylva- 

nia. Harrod  had  two  sons,  W'illiam  and  Henry.  The  former  was  by  trade  a 
miller,  and  for  many  years  owned  a  notable  mill  on  Silver  creek.  Henry  for 
several  years  was  Clerk  of  Clark  county. 

In  1813  came  James  McKinley,  brother  of  John,  whose  name  we  have 
already  mentioned.  William  Packwood,  brother  of  Samuel,  came  in  1819. 

These  were  the  parents  and  grandparents  of  many  sons  and  daughters  now  in 
this  region,  and  well  known  far  and  near. 

Among  the  other  earlv  settlers  were  Charles  Rubertson.  James  Baker  and 
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brother  Jesse,  Micaiah  Burns,  Thompson  Littell,  \\illiam  Kelly.  Michael  Bor- 

ders, Christopher  Morris.  \\'illiam  Gibson.  James  Johnson  and  brother  Lance- 
lot. James  Brown  (who  came  from  North  Carolina  in  1824  at  six  years  of  age 

and  settled  in  the  Silver  creek  valley  with  his  father's  family).  John  Bell, 
George  Brock,  Isaac  Baggerly.  Cyras  Bradford,  George  Goss  and  his  brother 

David,  John  Goss,  Matthew  W'est,  Thomas  Halow,  mostly  from^  the  south. 
Robertson  was  from  Virginia,  and  the  Bakers  from  South  Carolina:  Bums 

was  from  Vermont ;  Littell  and  Bradford  were  from  New  York  state :  the  re- 
maining ones  whose  names  have  been  mentioned  were  from  North  Carolina. 

Among  other  earlv  families  in  the  county  can  be  mentioned  the  Absalom 

Little  faniilv.  near  Sellersburg :  James.  John  and  Charles  Beggs.  near  Charles- 

town  ;  John  and  David  Owens,  near  Charlestown :  the  Pettitt  family,  near  So- 

lon ;  Nathan  Robertson,  near  Charlestown ;  the  Hay  family  and  Parson  Todd's 
familv,  near  Charlestown ;  Henry  Bottorff,  James  Garner.  David  Lutz  and 

Mathias  Hester,  near  Charlestown ;  Amos  Goodwin,  near  L'tica.  and  the 
Amicks,  Cortners  and  Clapps.  in  Oregon  township.  The  customs  of  these 

earlv  people  was  simplicity  and  plainness  of  dress  and  address.  Their  lack  of 
wealth  prevented  the  introduction  of  superfluity,  and  their  dependence  upon 
each  other  seemed  to  endear  them  in  their  several  associations. 

During  the  first  decade  of  Clark  county  history  the  settlements  along  the 
river  at  Bethlehem,  Utica,  Jefifersonville  and  Clarksville,  and  those  back  at 
Charlestown,  Springville  and  New  Providence,  were  the  only  ones  in  the  county 
where  more  than  three  or  four  families  had  congregated.  Charlestown  w^as 

then  the  second  town  in  the  county,  a  population  of  probably  four  hundred  peo- 
ple, in  and  near  the  place. 
The  land  at  this  time  was  covered  with  an  almost  unbroken  forest  and 

with  canebrakes  of  vast  extent.  Game  was  unlimited,  and  the  settlers  had  only 

to  venture  into  the  forest  to  obtain  an  ample  supply.  The  presence  of  a  salt 

lick  attracted  the  denizens  of  the  forest,  and  the  fox,  the  panther,  the  cata- 
mount, the  wildcat,  the  bear,  the  black  and  gray  wolf  and  the  wild  hog  made  the 

journey  through  the  forest  extremely  hazardous.  Deer  of  several  kinds,  the 

raccoon,  the  opossum,  the  otter  and  the  mink  were  numerous,  while  the  squir- 
rels in  some  instances  became  a  pest.  Migratory  fowls,  such  as  the  wild  goose, 

wild  ducks,  brant  and  sandhill  cranes,  were  found  in  profusion,  and  the  forests 

were  enlivened  by  the  brilliant-hued  plumage  of  thousands  of  paroquets.  The 
wild  animals  were  to  be  feared  next  to  the  Indians,  and  more  than  one  story 

testifies  to  their  iferocity  when  brought  to  bay  or  attacked. 

James  Anderson,  who  lived  on  Becket's  Fork  of  Silver  creek,  shot  at  two 
panthers  while  in  the  forest  a  short  distance  from  his  cabin,  killing  one.  The 

other  attacked  him  ferociously  and  in  the  melee  he  lost  his  gun  and  his  knife. 

He  fell  on  the  beast  and  manag^ed  to  get  its  face  down,  but  Udt  until  it  had 
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terribh'  lacerated  him.  After  he  had  strangled  the  animal  he  recovered  his  rille 
and  killed  it.  but  not  until  he  was  about  hors  de  combat  from  loss  of  blood. 

Up  to  the  year  1800  it  was  unsafe  to  venture  far  from  the  settlements 

without  weapons.  Buffalo'  were  reported  by  some  of  the  early  pioneers,  Bull 
Creek  being  so  named  because  a  buffalo  bull  was  killed  near  its  mouth  by  one 
of  the  early  settlers.  One  ambitious  sportsman  of  this  period  declared  that  he 

had  witnessed  the  last  mastodon  crossing  the  river  from  Iventucky  near  Four- 
teen Mile  creek. 

As  earlv  as  1794  a  mill  had  lieen  built  on  the  Alill  Ivun  creek.  It  is  men- 
tioned in  a  deed  recorded  in  Record  Xo.  1 1,  pages  188  to  igo.  This  is  evidently 

the  earliest  mill  in  the  county.  In  1800  Spencer  Collins  built  a  grist  mill  on 

]\Iuddy  Fork,  near  where  the  village  of  Petersburg  now  stands.  It  came  into 

the  hands  of  Samuel  and  Peter  Bottarff  in  1815.  Montgomery's  mill,  one  and 
three-fourths  miles  above  Petersburg  on  Elk  Run,  was  about  the  earliest  mill 
in  the  northern  part  of  the  ctninty.  Some  time  between  1802  and  1804  John 

Schwartz  put  up  a  water  mill  in  Utica  ti.iwnship,  on  Six  Mile  creek.  Straw's 
mill  on  Silver  creek  was  put  up  not  long  after  this  date  by  Rezen  Redman.  In 

1808  George  ̂ ^'ood  built  the  first  mill  in  ̂ ^'ood  township. 
William  Pervine  was  next  to  John  Work  in  the  milling  business.  He 

established  a  mill  on  Fourteen  Mile  creek  about  1808.  He  did  a  big  business, 
but  sold  cut  to  a  Mr.  Walker  in  181 5.  This  mill  was  finally  made  into  both  a 

grist  and  saw. mill  and  tlid  many  years  service.  These  mills  were  among  the 

earliest  necessities  of  the  settlers  and  their  builders  not  only  reaped  their  re- 
ward from  the  business,  but  added  to  the  attractiveness  of  the  countv  Iw  build- 

ing them. 
In  1803  Samuel  Gwathmey  built  the  first  frame  house  in  Jeffersonville. 

Before  this  time  log  houses  sheltered  the  seven  hundred  inhabitants  of  the  vil- 
lage. The  first  licensed  ferry  at  Jeffersonville  was  established  in  1803  by  }ilars- 

ton  G.  Clark.  In  1808  a  J\Ir.  Sullivan  established  and  ran  a  ferry  between 

Bethlehem  and  ̂ ^'estport,  Kentucky,  ̂ ^'ith  the  early  settlers  of  Clark  county 
the  matter  of  schools  and  churches  was  not  wholly  forgotten.  In  subsequent 
chapters  both  the  schools  and  the  various  churches  will  be  treated  fullv.  It  is 
worthy  of  note  here  that  the  first  Methodist  church  in  Indiana  was  built  near 

Charlestown  in  1807.  and  the  building,  "old  Bethel  meeting  house",  built  of 
logs,  still  stands.  The  vear  1806  is  memorable  as  the  date  of  the  visit  and 
scheeming  of  Aaron  Burr,  and  his  use  of  the  canal  project  to  cover  his  political 

designs  in  the  ̂ ^'est.  On  August  24.  1805.  the  Territorial  Legislature  of  In- 
diana, passed  an  act  incorporating  the  Indiana  Canal  Company  for  the  pvu'pose 

of  digging  a  canal  around  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio  at  Jeffersonville  and  Clarks- 
ville.  The  incorporators  were  Aaron  Burr.  John  Brown.  George  Rogers 

Clark,  Jonathan  Dayton.  Davis  Floyd,  Benjamin  Hovey,  Josiah  Stevens,  Wil- 
liam Croghan,  John  Gwathmey,  John  Harrison,  Marston  G.  Clark  and  Samuel 
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C.  Vance.  The  project  was  a  most  important  one  for  Jeffersonville  and  Clarks- 

ville,  and  was  commented  upon  by  several  travelers  of  that  period  as  the  be- 

ginning of  a  period  of  prosperity  and  growth.  The  line  as  sun^eyed  seemed 

more  practical  than  the  one  marked  oS  on  the  Louisville  side  of  the  river.  The 

attempt  of  Burr,  Hovey  and  others  to  secure  the  canal  for  Indiana  led  the  Ken- 

tuckians  to  tiy  their  chances,  and  with  governmental  aid  their  project  was  car- 

ried to  completion.  The  inability  of  the  Indiana  incorporators  to  finance  their 

scheme  no  doubt  gave  their  competitors  a  great  advantage,  and  the  arrest  of 

Burr  on  a  charge  of  treason  in  1807  made  the  success  of  the  undertaking  an 

impossibility.    The  estimates  of  the  cost  of  this  canal  are  amusing. 

The  total  cost  was  estimated  at  two  hundred  and  fifty-two  thousand  six 

hundred  and  thirt3r-eight  dollars.  This  included  the  purchase  of  two  hundred 

negroes  at  six  hundred  dollars  each,  making  a  total  of  one  hundred  and  twenty 

thousand  dollars.  That  amount  would  be  increased  by  their  clothing,  subsis- 

\  tence,  loss  by  desertion  and  mortality  to  one  hundred  and  eighty  thousand  dol- 
lars.  It  was  calculated  that  when  the  canal  was  finished  the  company  would 

have  on  hand  one  hundred  and  eighty  negroes  valued  at  five  hundred  and  fifty 

dollars  each,  or  a  total  value  of  ninety-nine  thousand  dollars.  This  would  re- 

duce the  cost  of  labor  to  eighty-one  thousand  dollars.  If  the  plan  had  suc- 
ceeded it  would  have  made  the  country  around  Jeffersonville,  New  Albany  and 

Clarksville  one  great  city.  Victor  W.  Lyon  and  other  engineers  still  ably  con- 
tend that  a  canal  is  a  practical  possibility  on  the  Indiana  side.  This  proposed 

canal  should  start  near  Six  Mile  island,  and  by  following  the  course  of  Laca- 
sagne  creek,  a  natural  channel  would  be  found  to  connect  with  Mill  Run  creek. 
This  creek  could  be  followed  to  Silver  creek  and  thence  across  low  lands 

southwestwardly  to  the  lower  end  of  New  Alliany.  The  ambitions  of  Burr's 
friends  were  to  have  him  become  a  citizen  of  Indiana  and  to  return  him  to  con- 

gress. His  trip  to  Vincennes,  under  the  assumed  name  of  Colonel  Burnham, 
was  to  see  Francis  Vigo,  who  had  been  very  prominent  in  a  previous  scheme 

to  have  Indiana  and  Kentucky  break  oft  from  the  Union  and  unite  with  the 
Spanish  provinces  west  of  the  Mississippi.  An  agent  was  appointed  to  select 
several  five  hundred  acre  estates  for  Burr  to  choose  from,  one  of  which  was 

on  the  Ohio  river  just  above  Jeffersonville.  The  idea  of  returning  him  to  con- 
gress fell  through  with,  but  Burr  continued  to  visit  some  of  his  adherents  in 

Jeffersonville,  and  caused  several  boats  to  be  built  there.  It  was  never  estab- 
lished that  any  of  his  Clark  county  friends  knew  of  his  designs  against  the 

Spanish  authority  either  in  Texas  or  Mexico,  but  the  probabilities  are  that  they 
were  privy  to  his  whole  scheme.  Before  the  scheme  was  fully  ripe  the  militia 
at  Jeffersonville,  acting  on  information  of  his  treason,  seized  the  boats  that  had 
been  built  there  for  him,  and  Davis  Floyd,  his  host,  while  visiting  the  village, 
was  arrested  and  tried  as  an  accomplice  in  the  crime  of  his  friend. 

At  this  time,   1807,  Charlestown  had  not  been  laid  oft",  Spring\-ille  was 
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already  declining,  Clarksville  had  but  four  or  five  houses,  and  JeiTersonville 
not  more  than  forty  houses. 

A  Mr.  Josiah  Espy,  who  was  here  in  1805.  found  Clarksville  in  the  san.ie 

state  of  decay  which  affected  Spring\'ille  later  on,  but  with  not  such  fatal  re- 

sults. He  says,  "At  the  lower  end  of  the  Falls  is  the  deserted  village  of  Clarks- 
burgh,  in  which  General  Clark  himself  resides.  The  general  has  not  taken 
much  pains  to  improve  the  commanding  and  beautiful  spot,  having  only  raised 
a  small  cabin.  While  the  villages  and  settlements  throughout  the  country  were 
weak  the  people  themselves,  in  common  with  the  rest  of  the  territory,  were 

strong  in  the  advocacy  of  their  political  beliefs.  The  sixth  article  in  the  Ordi- 
nance of  1787  prohibited  slavery  in  the  Northwest  Territory.  In  1807  the 

pro-slavery-  party  had  grown  strong  and  were  petitioning  congress  to  suspend 
this  article.  The  anti-slaveiy  element  became  aroused  to  the  danger,  and  in 
Clark  county  a  mass  meeting  was  called  for  October  loth,  at  Springville,  to 

take  action  on  the  legislative  resolution  which  the  pro-slavery  people  had  been 
strong  enough  to  put  through.  There  was  a  large  attendance  and  a  general 
harmony  of  sentiment.  John  Beggs  was  elected  chairman  and  Davis  Floyd 
secretary.  A  committee  composed  of  Absalom  Little,  John  Owens,  Charles 

Beggs,  Robert  Robertson  and  James  Beggs  was  appointed  to  draw  up  a-  me- 

morial against  the  Legislature's  resolution.  James  Beggs  was  evidently  the 
author  of  the  memorial,  which  after  briefly  reviewing  the  histor}'  of  the  slavery 

controversy  in  Indiana,  proceeds :  "And  although  it  is  contended  by  some  that 
at  this  day  there  is  a  great  majority  in  favor  of  slavery,  whilst  the  opposite 
opinion  is  held  by  others,  the  fact  is  certainly  doubtful.  But  when  we  take  into 

consideration  the  vast  emigration  into  this  territory,  and  of  citizens  too  de- 

cidedly opposed  to  this  measure,  we  feel  satisfied  that  at  all  e\'ents  Congress 
will  suspend  any  legislative  act  on  this  subject  until  we  shall,  by  the  Consti- 

tution, be  admitted  into  the  L^nion,  and  have  a  right  to  adopt  such  a  constitu- 
tion, in  this  respect,  as  may  comport  with  the  wishes  of  a  majority  of  the 

citizens.  .  .  The  toleration  of  slavery  is  either  right  or  wrong,  that  it  is  in- 
consistent with  the  principles  upon  which  our  future  constitution  is  to  be 

formed,  your  memorialists  will  rest  satisfied,  that,  at  least,  this  subject  will  not 
be  by  them  taken  up  until  the  constitutional  number  of  citizens  of  this  territory 

shall  assume  that  right."  This  petition  was  presented  to  the  senate  on  Novem- 
ber 7,  1807,  and  was  referred  to  Messrs.  Franklin,  of  North  Carolina;  Kitchell, 

of  New  Jersey,  and  Tiffin,  of  Ohio.  They  reported  on  the  13th  that  it  was  inex- 
pedient to  suspend  the  sixth  article,  and  a  resolution  to  that  effect  was  adopted 

on  the  17th.  The  house  received  this  same  communication  on  the  6th  and  re- 
ferred it,  but  no  action  was  taken  after  the  report  in  the  senate.  It  was  during 

the  strife  over  the  cjuestion  of  slavery  that  there  appeared  a  new  champion  in 
the  field  in  the  person  of  Jonathan  Jennings.  In  1806  Jonathan  Jennings 
emigrated  to  Indiana,  and  for  a  short  time  stopped  in  Jeffersonville,  but  soon 
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after  pushed  on  to  Vincennes.  He  soon  afterward  returned  to  Charlestown 

and  adopted  that  place  as  his  home.  His  slogan  was.  "Xo  slavery  in  Indiana," 
and  throughiiut  his  long  and  lirilliant  career  he  kept  the  slavery  question  to 
the  front.  Jonathan  Jennings  was  a  man  of  the  people,  and  owed  much  of  his 

brilliant  success  in  politics  to  his  peculiar  knack  of  keeping  close  to  them.  An- 
ecdotes of  his  doings  were  treasured  up — how  he  used  to  take  an  axe  and 

"carrv  up  a  corner"  of  a  log  house ;  how  he  took  a  scythe  in  the  field  and  kept 
ahead  of  half  a  dozen  mowers:  and  other  deeds  which  appealed  to  the  hearts 
of  the  men  aniDng  whom  he  was  campaigning.  He  was  the  political  sage  of 
Southern  Indiana,  and  his  home  the  mecca  of  many  aspiring  politicians,  who 

sought  his  advice  on  public  cjuestions.  Clark  county  has  produced  no  more 
brilliant  character.  His  incorruptible  integrity,  his  refusal  to  bow  to  political 

expediency,  his  hospitality,  his  thorough  understanding  of  the  lives  and  needs 
of  the  people,  and  his  firmness  of  character  place  him  in  the  front  rank  among 

Indiana's  great  men.  Clark  county  had  the  honor  to  furnish  both  candidates 
in  the  first  campaign  for  governor  in  the  new  state. 

Thomas  Posey,  the  territorial  governor,  and  pro-slavery  standard  bearer, 
was  a  resident  of  Jeffersonville,  as  Jennings  was  a  resident  of  Springville. 

In  the  year  1808  a  new  town  was  laid  off  a  short  distance  north  of  Spring- 
ville. The  original  proprietors  were  Barzillai  Baker  and  James  IMcCampbell. 

John  Hay  and  Charles  Beggs  were  the  surveyors,  and  the  town,  like  many 
other  places,  derived  its  name,  Charlestown,  from  one  of  its  surveyors.  What 
induced  the  founders  to  lay  ofif  a  new  town  back  in  the  woods,  as  it  was  then 

situated,  will  never  become  kno\\n.  Charlestown  is  situated  upon  grant  num- 
ber 1 17.  and  in  the  original  plat  there  were  one  hundred  and  fifty-nine  lots  and 

about  ninety-five  acres  of  land.  The  lots  were  eighty  by  two  hundred  feet, 
and  the  founders  of  the  town  donated  the  proceeds  of  the  sale  of  thirty  lots 
for  ])ul)lic  buildings.  In  the  central  part  of  the  new  town  a  plat  of  aliout  three 
acres  was  reserved  for  a  public  square. 

The  excellent  location  for  a  town,  and  the  decadence  of  Spring\-ille  were 
both  a  help  to  Charlestown,  and  the  original  town  was  enlarged  from  time  to 

time.  The  first  addition  lay  north  of  Thompson  street  and  comprised  abi  ait 
thirteen  acres.  James  Ross  added  forty-two  acres,  and  James  INIcCampliell 

twenty-nine  acres  some  time  afterwards.  John  Naylor  added  twelve  acres. 

Barzilla  Baker  added  twenty-eight  acres  and  James  Gamer  six  acres.  Charles- 
town now  contains  nearly  three  hundred  acres. 

The  early  milling  history  of  Charlestown  township  is  without  a  parallel 

in  Tniliana  history,  and  this  honor  belongs  to  John  W^ork.  He  settled 
near  Charlestown,  on  Fourteen  Mile  creek,  in  1804.  and  found  a  mill  already 

in  operation  on  the  one  hundred  acres  which  he  purchased  from  John  and 

James  Bate.  Mr.  \\'ork  operated  the  mill  until  bis  conception  of  the  tunnel 
project  in  1814.     He  was  a  man  of  great  mechanical  and  mathematical  talents. 
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and  the  calculations  and  actual   work  which   he  performed   stamp  him   as  a 
genius.     His  old  mill  was  discontinued  and  a  new  one  erected.     The  new  mill 
was  begun  in  1814  and  will  be  described  in  a  subsequent  chapter.     Among  the 

early  families  who  settled  in  Clark  county  in  the  first  decade  of  her  history  ■ 
besides  those  mentioned  previously  were  Jonathan  Jennings,  in  Charlestown ; 
the  Yarborough  family  in  Jeffersonville ;  the  Wood,  Burge,  Smith,  Barnaby, 

Harman,  ̂ ^'arman,  Akers,  Giles,  Carr  and  Herrod  families  in  Wood  township: 
the  Adams  and  other  families  in  Washington  township ;  the  Slider,  Warman 
and  other  families  in  Carr  township ;  the  Hutchings  and  other  families  in  Owen 

township;  the  Crist,  Cams,  Connel.  Becket  and  other  families  in  ̂ Monroe  town- 

ship.    With  the  ad\-ent  of  settlers  still-houses  began  to  appear,  and  from  their 
number  it  seemed  as  if  they  were  thought  as  necessary  as  mills.     In  Bethlehem 

township  Joseph  Jones,  Jacob  Giltner  and  George  Sage  distilled  the  juice  of 
the  corn.  In  Carr.  Charles  Goatman ;  in  Charlestown,  Jonathan  Jennings  and 
others:  in  INIonroe.  Zebulon  Collins:  in  Owen,  Mr.  Levi,  a  Mr.  Needham  and 

Samuel  Struseman :  in  Utica,  Samuel  Pratlier:  in  Washington,  Jacob  Bear, 

Fitch.  Helterbridle.  Samuel  Montgomery  and  William  Fisher:  in  fact  the  dis- 
tillation of  whisky  and  brandy  seemed  to  be  among  the  first  undertakings  of 

the  pioneers.     Xearly  every  farmer  had  something  to  do  with  the  manufacture 
of  spirits,  yet  strange  to  say,  there  is  no  record  of  much  drunkenness.     Keeley 
cures  were  unknown,  and  the  chief  executive  of  the  state  saw  nothing  in  the 

widespread  manufacture  of  "John  Barleycorn"  to  excite  his  wrath.     Barrels 
of  whisky  with  the  heads  kn(icked  in  were  the  usual  thing  at  liberal  public 

gatherings,  but,  as  one  writer  says.  "It  was  not  such  whisky  as  we  get  now."  It 
is  a  matter  of  pride  to  the  people  of  the  county  now  that  there  is  not  a  brewery 

nor  distillery  within  our  boundary.     Januar}-  i,  igo6,  there  were  one  hundred 
and  sixteen  saloons  in  the  county,  drawing  their  heavy  supplies  of  beverages 
from  outside  sources.     The  end  of  the  first  decade  of  Clark  county  history 
finds  little  of  the  land  cultivated  and  the  people  still  primitive  and  simple.     The 
dangers  which  they  faced  in  beast  and  savage  foe  remained,  and  the  second 
decade  was  to  be  ushered  in  with  a  massacre  as  brutal  as  that  of  the  valley  of 

the  \\')X)ming  in  1778. 
In  1810  the  population  of  Clark  county  was  five  thousand,  six  hundred 

seventy. 



CHAPTER  V. 

THE  SECOND  DECADE— 1811-1820. 

With  the  increase  in  her  population  by  the  ad\-ent  of  new  settlers,  Clark 
county  began  to  dwindle  in  area  by  the  organization  of  new  counties  from  her 
territory.  Jefferson  county  was  cut  off  and  organized  in  1810;  Washington 
in  18 14:  Floyd  in  18 19,  and  Scott  in  1820.  One  of  the  signs  of  a  coming 
population  was  the  opening  up  of  new  roads  between  the  settlements.  Perhaps 

the  most  useful  as  well  as  the  earliest  road  in  the  county  was  the  Jefi'ersonville 
and  Charleston  road,  laid  out  in  the  year  1810.  It  passed  through  the  Fry 

settlement  and  on  to  Charlestown  b_\'  way  of  Spring\-ille.  Before  the  township 
of  Utica  was  organized  there  were  three  roads  leading  from  Charlestown  to 

Jeffersonville,  all  of  which  passed  through  the  township  as  it  now  is.  They 

were  designated  as  the  W^estern,  Middle  and  Eastern  roads.  The  Fry  settle- ment road  was  and  is  still  known  as  the  Middle  road :  the  Eastern  road  ran 

over  to  Utica  and  thence  down  the  river  to  Jeffersonville.  It  is  now  known  as 

the  Utica  pike.  That  which  led  to  Springville  cut  ofif  a  small  slip  of  the  north- 
west corner  of  the  township.    It  has  long  been  discontinued. 

The  danger  of  the  Falls  gave  the  ferry  at  Utica  the  advantage  over  tlie 

Jeffersonville  ferry.  The  latter  place  had  long  been  considered  dangerous  b}' 
those  who  knew  it  best.  Many  boats  with  their  cargoes  had  gone  to  the  bot- 

tom on  the  Falls  as  the  result  of  inexperience  and  lack  of  care.  Between  the 

years  1800  and  1825  the  fen-j^  at  Utica  did  an  immense  business.  Emigrants 
were  streaming  into  the  interior  counties  like  bees,  and  the  white  covered 
wagons  were  as  familiar  as  steamboats  are  now.  These  emigrants  took  the 

Charlestown  road,  passed  b)'  way  of  New  Washington  on  to  the  W'abash  or 
beyond,  through  the  dense  forests  which  then  covered  the  land.  In  181 1  a 

ferry  was  established  at  Bethlehem  which  has  continued  to  this  day  with  va- 
rious degrees  of  success. 

In  181 2  Aaron  Hoagland  kept  a  ferry  about  one  mile  below  Bethlehem. 

In  1815  there  were  ten  ferries  in  Clark  county.  W'ith  the  establishment  of 
ferries,  roads  were  opened  up  and  in  18 18  a  road  was  built  from  Bethlehem 
to  Madison.  This  was  the  first  road  in  this  township.  It  ran  over  the  best 
and  highest  land  between  the  two  places,  and  at  Bethlehem  it  descends  to  the 
town  from  the  top  of  a  bluff  nearby,  two  hundred  feet  above  the  river.  The 

approach  and  view  of  Bethlehem  from  this  road  presents  an  interesting  pic- 
ture with  the  fertile  valley    spread  out    below  and    the  majestic    river  with 
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Steamboats  and  other  water  craft  in  the  distance.  It  was  not  long  before  roads 

were  built  to  Charlestown  and  to  New  \^'ashington.  Charlestown  being  the 
early  county  seat  there  were  roads  leading  into  the  town  from  all  parts  of  the 
county.  One  road  which  led  to  Charlestown  landing  is  in  use  yet.  but  not  of 
much  consequence.  At  the  latter  place  existed  a  feny  wliich  was  established 
about  1796  by  a  Peter  McDonald.  IniSij  there  were  two  roads  leading 
from  Charlestown  to  Salem,  called  the  upper  and  lower  Salem  roads.  A 
later  road  was  built  to  the  mouth  of  Bull  creek,  where  a  ferry  had  been  kept 
from  early  times  by  the  Pettitt  family.  The  ferries  at  Jeffersonville  had  been 
running  since  1802,  when  ]\Iarston  G.  Clark  was  granted  a  license.  In  1807. 
Joseph  Bowman  was  granted  a  ferry  license.  The  ten  ferries  in  existence  in 

181 5  were  owned  by  Marston  G.  Clark.  William  Clark,  Joseph  Bowman, 
Peter  McDonald,  John  Pettitt,  Richard  Astor,  Robert  Patterson,  X.  Scriljner. 

James  Noble  \A'ood  and  \\'illiam  Plaskett. 
The  second  decade  of  the  century  still  found  Clark  county  A^-ild,  primitive 

and  sparsely  settled.  Emigrants  were  attracted  to  the  locality,  and  during  this 
period  settlements  began  to  appear  here  and  there  and  the  small  patches  of 
cultivated  land  relieved  the  weary  stretch  of  forest  and  cane  brakes.  The 

Yarborough  family  came  to  Jeffersonville  in  1810.  At  this  time  the  village 

had  only  a  few  log  houses  and  -very  little  else  to  recommend  it  as  a  place  of 

residence.  In  ̂ ^'ood  township  Samuel  Packwood  emigrated  from  Virginia 
in  181 1,  and  Carr  and  Herrod  in  1810,  from  Pennsylvania.  Herrod  had  two 
sons,  William  and  Henry.  William  became  a  miller,  and  for  manv  years 
owned  a  notable  mill  on  Silver  creek.  Henrv  was  a  politician  and  for  several 
years  was  Clerk  of  the  Clark  County  Circuit  Court.  In  181 3  came  James 

McKinle^',  a  brother  of  John  ]\IcKinley,  mentioned  before.  In  1819  came 
William  Packwood.  a  brother  of  Samuel,  and  at  various  times  during  this 

period  came  Charles  Robertson,  James  and  Jesse  Baker,  Mica  Burns,  Thomp- 

son Little,  Amos  Little,  ̂ ^'illiam  Kelley,  Michael  Borders,  Christopher  Morris, 

A^'iliam  Gibson,  James  Johnson.  James  Brown.  John  Bell.  George  Brock, 
Isaac  Bagerly.  Cyrus  Bradford,  George  Goss,  David  Goss,  John  Goss.  Mathew 
West  and  Thomas  Harlowe.  These  emigrants  were  mostly  from  the  south. 

The  settlement  in  ̂ ^'ood  township  was  made  within  easj^  distance  of  Wood's 
blockhouse.  The  Indians  often  visited  these  new  settlements  in  the  county, 

and  generally  appeared  friendly,  but  they  were  treacherous  to  the  core,  and  the 
settlers  were  never  safe  so  long  as  the  savages  were  with  them.  The  visitors 
loved  whisky,  and  the  owners  of  the  still  houses  were  friolish  enough  to  sell 
to  them.  Their  love  for  strong  drink  would  prompt  them  to  declare  the  most 
undying  affection  for  the  white  man.  On  one  occasion  a  gallon  of  whisky 

brought  a  man  out  of  captivity,  and  to  receive  it  the  Indians  brought  tlieir 
prisoner  to  Clarksville  from  the  far  north. 

One  diversion  of  the  settlers  was  to  shoot  at  a  target,  a  sport  which  the 



64  BAIRD's   history  of   CLARK   CO.,  IND. 

Indians  were  particularly  fond  of.  and  when  the  pale  faces  were  beaten  in  the 
contest,  which  was  often  purposely  permitted,  the  joy  of  the  red  skins  was 
unbounded.  This  condition  of  affairs  existed  throughout  the  county  until 

1812,  and  up  to  the  time  of  Harrison's  victory  at  Tippecanoe.  It  was  not  long 
after  this  that  the  Indian  began  to  take  up  his  march  to  find  less  civilized  but 
more  congenial  homes  and  hunting  grounds  far  to  the  west.  With  this  ever 
present  sword  of  Damocles  removed  from  over  their  heads  the  pioneers 
breathed  their  first  free  air  and  went  forth  unarmed  to  their  labors. 

In  1817  John  Borden  and  Stephen  Borden  came  to  Wood  township  from 
Rhode  Island,  together  with  Henry  Dow  from  Connecticut. 

Dow  purchased  land :  so  also  did  John  Borden.  Dow  returned  to  his 
home  in  Connecticut.  Borden  having  laid  out  the  town  of  New  Providence, 
naming  it  after  Providence,  Rhode  Island,  returned  home  also.  In  i8t8. 
leaving  his  children,  two  or  three  in  number,  with  relatives  in  his  old  state, 

accompanied  by  his  wife  and  Joseph  Cook — a  young  man  of  influence  and  re- 
spectability, and  by  trade  a  blacksmith — he  removed  to  this  so-called  land  of 

promise.  Dow  came  in  1819.  bringing  with  him  John  Fowler,  a  son-in-law, 
and  an  unmarried  daughter,  also  two  sons  unmaried,  and  HeniT,  a  son  who 

was  married — altogether  about  si.xteen  men,  women,  and  children.  William, 
Brannan,  a  man  of  wealth  and  respectability,  with  a  large  family,  came  soon 
after  Dow,  from  New  York.  Bannannel  Shaw  and  family  from  Rhode  Island, 

soon  followed  Brannan.  Then  came  Thomas  Bellows.  His  family  was  com- 
posed of  his  mother,  then  a  widow ;  two  sisters.  Lydia  and  Laura :  a  brother, 

David,  and  of  course  his  wife  and  children.  The  company  in  which  the  Bel- 
lowses  came  was  composed  of  Samuel  Hallett  and  Silas  Standish,  with  their 
families:  Joseph  Durfy  and  Peleg  Lewis,  without  families,  all  from  New 
London  county,  Connecticut. 

The  Bordens  took  the  lead  in  affairs  at  New  Providence,  John  being  the 

first  storekeeper.  He  engaged  in  blacksmithing.  farming  and  sheep  raising, 
and  kept  an  inn,  and  his  wife  continued  the  business  from  the  time  of  her 

husband's  death  in  1824,  until  185 1. 
The  first  school  taught  in  Wood  township  was  in  181 1  by  Closes  Wood, 

a  brother  of  George.  Samuel  Packwood  started  the  first  tannery  in  Wood 
township  in  1812.  The  first  saw  mill  was  erected  in  1820  by  Henry  Dow, 
Sr.  On  the  opposite  side  of  the  county  Willis  Brown  established  the  first  store 
at  Bethlehem  in  181 5.  Abram  Kimberlain  established  possibly  the  earliest 
tannery  in  the  county  near  Knobbs  Station.    It  was  in  operation  in  1812. 

The  establishment  of  mills  and  tanneries  was  continued  eyen  in  the  face 

of  Indian  troubles.  After  the  battle  of  Tippecanoe  the  commercial  and  agri- 
cultural life  of  the  county  grew  apace,  and  as  conditions  permitted  new  set- 
tlements were  made  and  schools,  churches,  mills  and  tanneries  followed  as  a 
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matter  of  course.  Distilleries  continued  to  be  pnititable  until  the  government 
taxed  the  product,  when  they  disappeared. 

In  1812  the  village  of  Bethlehem  was  platted.  W.  C.  Greenup  was  the 
surveyor,  and  the  town  was  laid  out  with  streets  parallel  to  the  river,  and  a 

reservation  was  made  for  a  public  square  in  the  center.  Much  of  the  land  upon 
which  Bethlehem  is  built  was  owned  by  John  Armstrong  of  Revolutionary 

fame.     In  the  original  plat  there  were  one  hundred  and  tw-enty-fottr  lots. 
Jefifersonville  in  1812  was  a  sleepy  little  town  of  possibly  five  hundred 

people.  In  this  year  the  question  of  the  removal  of  the  county  seat  to  Charles- 
town  came  up  and  was  settled ;  and  the  next  year  the  first  and  original  court- 

house was  built  at  Charlestown.  In  September  of  1812,  the  people  of  the 
county  were  thrown  into  a  panic  of  fear  by  the  Pigeon  Roost  Massacre  (see 
Military  Annals).  Many  people  crossed  the  river  to  Kentucky  for  safety,  but 

after  a  few  weeks  regained  courage.  Several  block-houses  w^ere  built  as  a 
result  of  this  scare,  but  it  had  little  or  no  efifect  on  the  new  settlers  who  con- 

tinued to  come  in.  In  Washington  towaiship  several  block-houses  were  built 
Jesse  Henly  erected  one  on  wdiat  is  now  the  Charlestown  and  New  Washing- 

ton road,  two  miles  and  a  half  south  of  New  Washington  village  in  1812.  The 

house  stood  near  the  mouth  of  Henly's  cave  from  which  a  plentiful  supply  of 
water  was  furnished.  After  the  excitement  went  down  the  block-house  was 

abandoned.     It  has  entirely  disappeared. 

Mr.  Pervine  put  up  a  fort  on  Fourteen-mile  creek  near  his  mill.  It,  too, 
has  long  since  passed  away. 

On  Frederic  Fisher's  farm,  one  mile  north  of  New  Washington,  a  block- 
house was  erected  in  1812.  There  was  one  also  in  a  little  settlement  called 

Hookertown,  but  which  has  entirely  disappeared. 

Colonel  Adams  himself  put  up  a  private  block-house.  In  it  the  family 
lived  for  a  year  or  two,  and  then  returned  to  their  old  but  more  comfortable, 

log  cabin. 

The  Indians  seldom  gave  the  white  settlers  in  \\'ashington  township  any 
trouble,  except  a  few  petty  thefts  which  they  committed,  and  which,  fortunate- 

ly, the  settlers  were  always  able  to  bear.  In  181 1  the  Adams  family  removed 
to  Clark  county  from  Terre  Haute. 

General  Harrison  was  engaged  at  that  time  in  trying  to  conciliate  the 

Indians  on  the  frontier.  It  was  on  this  account  that  the  family  mo\-ed  to 
Washington  township.  In  the  spring  of  1813,  Col.  Martin  Adams  enlisted 
as  a  ranger  to  fight  the  Indians  on  the  borders,  and  made  several  campaigns. 
On  the  i8th  of  August,  1825,  he  married  ]\Iiss  Jane  H.  Davis.  The  Davises 
came  from  Kentucky  and  settled  in  Jefferson  county,  Indiana.  The  title  of 

colonel  he  recei\-ed  from  his  service  with  the  Rangers. 
John  Russell  lived  in  Washington  villige  in  181 1.  He  was  a  Revolu- 

tionary soldier,  and  died  many  A-ears  ago. 
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Henry  and  William  Robinson  came  from  Nelson  county,  Kentucky,  in 

1814,  in  compan}-  with  father,  mother.  fi\'e  brothers  and  three  sisters.  The 
former  was  born  December  31.  1803:  the  latter  February  9,  1806.  The 

family  settled  on  the  road  leading  from  Xew  Washington  to  Bethlehem  on 
their  arrival. 

Jesse  Henly  was  one  of  the  wealthiest  men  in  the  township  in  181 1.  He 

bought  his  land  in  most  instances  from  the  government.  At  the  time  of  his 

death  he  owned  twent}--one  hu.ndred  acres. 
William  Montgomery,  a  man  who  took  much  interest  in  all  township 

questions,  was  the  father  of  ten  sons  and  three  daughters.  A  large  number 
of  his  descendants  are  now  living  in  this  county. 

The  Foutses  came  from  North  Carolina :  their  descendants  are  scattered 

in  many  parts  of  the  United  States. 

In  181 1  the  Willey  family  took  up  their  residence  on  a  farm  near  where 

Memphis  is  now  located.  Barzillai  Willey.  the  father,  became  a  Incal 

preacher  and  was  engaged  in  the  milling  business  for  se\-eral  years.  He  left 
a  family  of  eleven  children,  all  of  whom,  except  one  son.  John  Fletcher  Willey, 

emigrated  farther  west.  John  Fletcher  \\'illey  is  the  head  of  the  numerous 
Willey  family  in  Clark  county. 

In  1813  Jeff ersonville  became  the  seat  of  Indiana  government  temporarily. 
Governor  Posey  did  not  like  Corydon  as  a  place  of  residence.  On 

December  2'].  181 3,  he  sent  a  communication  to  the  legislative  council  stating 
that  he  had  gone  to  JefTersonville.  where  he  could  be  near  his  physician,  who 

lived  in  Louis\-ille.  He  added  that  if  the  Legislature  had  any  business  with 

him  it  could  be  sent  on  to  the  former  city.  This  communication  evidently  ' 
did  not  please  the  Legislature,  for  on  January  6,  1814.  a  preamble  and  reso- 

lution was  adopted  criticising  Governor  Posey  for  leaving  the  seat  of  govern- 

ment. The  resolution  in  part  reads :  "Whereas,  the  expense  of  near  fifty  dol- 
lars a  day  doth  arise  to  the  people  of  the  territory  by  reason  of  the  Legislature 

being  kept  in  session,  all  of  which  evil  and  inconvenience  doth  arise  from 

the  Governor  leaving  the  seat  of  government  and  going  to  Jeffersonville."  etc., 
it  w-as  resolved  to  adjourn  sine  die.  that  the  people  might  not  be  put  to  the 
extraordinary  expense  of  fifty  dollars  a  day  by  the  members  remaining  at 

Coiydon. 
Governor  Posey  did  not  get  offended  at  the  Legislature  and  resign.     He 

remained  in  of^ce  until  November  7,  1816.     Most  of  the  time  he  lived  in  a 

"mansion"  at  JefTersonville.    This  old-fashioned  house  stood  until  about  1836. 
The  above  mentioned  breed  of  legislator  is  no  more.     He  has  gone  the 

wav  of  the  cave-bear,  the  three-toed  horse  and  the  ichthyosaurus. 

In  1812  the  first  Presb3-terian  church  in  the  county  was  established  in 
Charlestown.  In  1814  Silver  Creek  township  was  organized.  This  township 
is  the  smallest  in  the  countv  and  takes  its  name  from    Silver    Creek,    the 
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in  the  cniint}'.  In  early  days  Siher  Creek  township  was 
covered  witli  a  magnificent  growth  of  oak,  liickory,  beecli  and  poplar  trees  of 
immense  size.  Tliese  forest  trees  furnished  great  sources  of  income  to  the 

early  settlers,  and  ga\-e  employment  to  many  hands,  and  to  tlie  farmers  during 
the  winter  season  in  cutting  and  hauling  it  to  market.  Much  of  this  early 
timber  was  hauled  to  the  creek  and  taken  to  the  river  on  freshets.  A  great 
deal  of  the  lumber  from  this  timber  was  used  in  steamboat  building,  a  rising 
industry  at  that  time. 

In  1816  the  County  Commissioners  met  at  Charlestown  and  proceeded 
to  separate  the  northeastern  part  of  the  grant  and  that  portion  of  territory 

which  had  been  annexed  to  it  into  four  townships,  one  of  which  was  Washing- 
ton. This  same  year  the  town  of  Utica  was  laid  out.  August  gth.  marking 

the  culmination  of  a  long  anticipated  hope.  In  the  original  sun'ey  there  were 
two  hundred  and  twenty  lots,  one  hundred  feet  square.  Lot  number  one  was 
in  the  southwest  corner,  from  which  all  the  rest  were  numbered.  Five  lots 

were  given  for  public  purposes  by  those  having  the  matter  in  charge — James 
Noble  Wood.  Samuel  Bleight  and  John  Miller.  The  shape  of  the  town  is 
that  of  a  rectangle  and  the  streets  run  parallel  to  the  river.  Front  street  is 

seventy  feet  wide:  Walnut  street  is  fort\'-three  feet:  Mercer  and  \\"arren 
thirty:  and  all  others  are  sixtv  feet  in  width. 

Doctor  Bleight    contracted    witii    a   James    Ferguson,    of    Louisville,  in 

1816.  to  build  one  hundred  log  cabins  with  clapboard  roofs  at  twenty-five  dol- 
lars each.  In  1817.  when  Samuel  Morrison  arrived  in  Utica,  he  found  all  of 

these  cabins  built  and  some  of  them  occupied.  The  original  plan  of  Jefiferson- 
ville,  in  which  every  other  lot  was  lost  for  business  purposes,  was  changed  in 
1 81 7.  An  act  of  the  Legislature  in  that  year  authorized  the  town  board  to 
replat  all  that  part  north  of  Market  street,  and  J.  K.  Graham  platted  that  part 
of  the  city  as  it  is  now  laid  out.  New  deeds  of  conveyance  were  given  to  all 

the  property  holders,  who  held  property  under  the  original  deeds  of  1802. 

The  new  plan  had  in  lots  numbered  from  one  to  two  hundred  and  forty-six, 

and  out  lots  numbered  from  two  hundred  and  forty-se\'en  to  two  hundred 
and  fifty-three. 

Originally  JNIulberry  street  was  Front  street :  Pearl  street  was  First ; 

Spring  street  was  Second ;  ̂^'all  street  was  Third,  etc.  This  is  the  plan  of 
that  part  of  the  original  town  at  the  present  day  with  the  exception  of  the 
names  of  the  streets.  Charlestown.  the  county  seat,  had  meanwhile  been 
pushing  ahead  and  the  industry  and  ambitions  of  her  citizens  received 
favorable  comment  from  travelers. 

Mr.  Palmer,  the  Englishman  who  journeyed  through  the  Ohio  valley  in 

1817.  has  this  to  sav  in  his  subsequent  book  of  travels  in  the  United  States: 

"Charlestown,  the  seat  of  justice  for  Clark  county,  is  situated  in  the  center 
of  a  rich  and  thriving  settlement,  thirtv-two  miles  southwest  from  ]\Iadison. 
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two  miles  from  the  Ohio  river,  and  fourteen  from  the  Falls.  This  village,  like 

many  others  in  the  ̂ \'estern  countiy.  has  sprung  up  suddenly  by  the  magical 
influence  of  American  enterprise,  excited  into  action  by  a  concurrence  of 

favorable  circumstances." 

The  following  notice  of  the  place  in  contained  in  Dana's  Georgraphical 
Sketches  on  the  Western  Country,  published  in  i8iq: 

"Charlestown,  the  county  seat  of  Clark,  is  situated  two  miles  from  the 
Ohio,  twenty  miles  south  of  -west  from  Madison,  and  fourteen  miles  above 
the  Falls.  It  is  one  of  the  most  flourishing  and  neatly  built  towns  in  the  state; 

contains  about  one  hundred  and  sixty  houses,  chiefly  of  bi'ick,  a  handsome 
court-house,  and  is  inhabited  by  an  industrious  class  of  citizens.  There  are 
numerous  plantations  around  this  town,  consisting  of  good  land,  and  better 
cultivated,  perhaps,  than  any  in  the  state.  This  tract  is  within  the  grant 

made  by  the  state  of  Virginia  to  the  brave  soldiers,  etc.,  etc.  Charlestown's 
first  postmaster  was  Peter  G.  Taylor,  of  New  York." 

Down  to  1849  the  mail  came  three  times  a  week  by  way  of  Louisville, 
from  Cincinnati.  The  steamboats  brought  the  mail  in  most  cases  down  the 
river.  From  the  villages  along  the  Ohio  mail  routes  led  off  to  the  county  seats 

and  little  post-offices  in  the  townships.  Mails  were  carried  to  all  the  villages 
of  any  importance  in  the  county,  on  horseback,  in  a  pair  of  saddle-bags.  A 
mail-carrier  was  a  person  whom  all  persons  delighted  to  see.  Letters  then, 
more  than  now,  were  precious  articles. 

On  February  26,  1819,  the  County  Commissioners  advertised  for  bids  to 
build  a  jail  at  Charlestown.  Daniel  P.  Faulkner  erected  tlie  building,  and 
all  necessary  out  buildings.     The  jail  was  of  logs. 

The  first  court-house  was  built  on  tiie  northeast  side  of  the  present  square 
about  1817,  just  between  the  building  and  the  fence. 

In  the  spring  of  1813  a  party  of  Lidians  came  to  within  nine  miles  of 
Charlestown  on  a  raid,  and  concealed  themselves  near  the  house  of  a  Mr. 

Hofifman.  on  the  banks  of  Silver  creek.  They  fired  upon  and  killed  Hoffman 
and  then  shot  his  wife,  inflicting  a  wound  supposed  to  be  fatal,  but  from  which 

she  finally  recovered.  They  took  his  grandson,  aged  nine  years,  a  prisoner, 
and  kept  him  about  nine  years  until  the  Federal  Government  was  prevailed 
upon  to  take  the  matter  of  his  return  up  and  redeem  him.  During  this  time 
he  had  become  almost  savage  and  it  was  with  some  difficulty  that  he  could 
be  prevailed  upon  to  leave  the  savage  tribes  and  return  home  to  his  friends.  At 

this  time  there  were  soldiers  camped  within  a  short  distance  of  Hoffman's, 
but  it  being  Sunday,  they  were  visiting  a  family  some  distance  away.  From 
the  number  of  horses  stolen  by  these  savages,  and  from  other  signs  it  was 
evident  that  they  had  visited  several  different  parts  of  the  county,  but  they 
were  never  caught,  as  their  skill  in  retreating  down  rivulets  and  streams  made 
this  difficult  to  do. 
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This  was  the  last  of  tlie  Indian  atrocities  in  Clark  county,  with  a  few 
minor  exceptions  of  the  abductions  of  children  and  the  theft  of  horses  and 

cattle.  The  braves  who  at  earlier  times  roamed  their  hunting  grounds  with 
lordly  mien,  had  now  become  thieving,  begging  vannints  and  their  hegira 

to  newer  and  wilder  lands  in  the  boundless  ^^'est  called  forth  no  tears  nor 
resolutions  of  regret  from  the  settlers  on  the  creeks  and  runs  of  Clark  county. 

In  Washington  township  there  w-as  no  regularly  laid  out  village  at  this 
time.  Its  isolated  situation  seemed  to  preclude  any  idea  of  future  greatness. 
But  there  naturally  sprang  up  a  desire  to  have  a  township  center,  a  place  where 
people  could  vote,  where  ammunition  and  groceries  could  be  bought,  and 

where  Christmas  shooting-matches  could  be  held.  David  Copple,  Bala  Johnson 

and  Adam  Keller,  who  owned  land  in  the  vicinity  of  New  Washington,  w'ere 
the  first  persons  who  made  a  successful  attempt  to  found  a  village.  New 
Washington  is  admirably  situated.  It  was  laid  out  in  1815  by  the  three 

persons  above-mentioned.  There  were  one  hundred  and'  twenty-eight  lots. 
each  ninety  by  one  hundred  and  fifty  feet.  Eight  lots  w-ere  given  for  public 
purposes,  and  the  proceeds  of  their  sale  turned  into  a  fund  for  chtuxhes, 
schools  and  the  grading  of  streets.  They  were  located  on  the  first  square 
northeast  of  the  center  of  the  town — for  it  was  a  town  of  size  which  they 

had  planned.  In  i8ig  Johnson  made  an  addition  on  the  w'est  side  of  nine 
lots  of  the  same  size  as  those  sunxyed  at  first.  Mr.  Todd  made  an  addition 

of  thirty-three  inlots  and  twelve  outlots,  in  1879,  on  the  south  side,  the  former 
ninety  by  one  hundred  feet. 

Adam  Keller,  who  came  from  Wales,  with  his  wife  and  a  part  of  his 

family,  was  one  of  the  first  citizens  of  New  A\'ashington.  He  afterwards 
moved  to  Shelby  count}',  Indiana,  where  he  died. 

Bala  Johnson  came  from  Kentucky,  farmed  for  a  living,  and.  after  a 
life  of  much  fruitfulness,  died  near  his  ideal  village. 

David  Copple  was  a  farmer.  He  came  from  one  of  the  Carolinas.  Ab- 
solom  Frazier.  another  early  citizen,  a  wheelwright  and  edge-tool-maker,  was 
here  before  1820.  He  erected  a  steam  grist  mill  eighty  odd  years  ago  in  the 

village,  to  which  he  afterwards  attached  a  saw-mill.  He  was  a  man  of  con- 

siderable ability,  and  aided  much  in  the  impro^•ements  of  New  ̂ ^'ashington. 
In  a  few  years  after  the  village  had  been  laid  out  it  became  a  thriving 

place.  This  resulted  mainly  from  its  location  on  the  great  thoroughfares 
which  led  to  Madison  and  Lexington,  over  which  hundreds  of  emigrants 
passed  yearly. 

In  1817.  two  years  after  New  Washington  was  laid  out,  the  town  of 
New  Providence  was  laid  out  in  Wood  township  by  Stephen,  John  and  Asa 

Borden.  In  the  center  of  the  village  is  a  public  square,  which  lies  at  right 

angles  with  the  ?^Iuddy  fork  of  Silver  creek.  It  is  situated  on  the  Monon 

Railroad  about  eighteen  miles  from  New  Albanv.     In  1816  Bethlehem  town- 



yO  BAIRD  S    HISTORY   OF   CLARK   CO.j    IXU. 

ship  was  organized.  It  lays  wholly  outside  the  famous  Clark  grant  in  the 

extreme  northeastern  part  of  the  county.  Like  Washington  township  it  de- 
rived its  name  from  a  village  which  had  b.een  laid  out  within  it  before  there 

was  a  separate  organization  and  township  lines  were  fixed  definitely.  That 

village  was  Bethlehem,  platted  in  1812,  and  situated  on  the  Ohio  river.  The 
township  is  bounded  on  the  north  by  Jefiferson  county ;  on  the  east  by  tlie 
Ohio ;  on  the  south  by  the  Ohio  river,  Owen  and  Washington  townships. 

On  February  loth,  1817,  Jeffersonville  township  was  organized.  At  that 
time  it  included  much  more  territory  than  it  does  at  present.  The  first 
election  was  ordered  for  the  second  Monday  of  March  of  that  year,  at  the 

house  of  Charles  Fuller  on  Front  street.  James  Lemon  was  appointed  in- 
spector of  the  election,  and  three  Justices  of  the  Peace  were  elected.  On 

Mav  1 2th  of  the  same  year  the  township  was  reduced  in  size  by  the  formation 
of  a  new  township  as  follows : 

Ordered;  That  all  that  part  of  said  township  I  Jeffersonville)  west  of 

Silver  creek,  lying  and  being  between  the  said  creek  and  Greenville  township, 
do  constitute  and  form  one  new  township,  and  that  the  same  be  called  and 

known  as  New  Albany  township. 
The  organization  of  new  townships  and  the  lading  out  of  towns  during 

this  decade  would  argue  prosperity  and  growth,  but  not  so  with  the  old  town 

of  Clarksville.  John  Palmer,  in  his  Journal  of  Travels  in  the  United  States, 
recording  his  journeyings  of  1817,  said: 

Clarksville  lies  at  the  lower  end  of  the  Falls,  and,  although  commenced 

as  earlv  as  1783,  does  not  contain  above  forty  houses,  most  of  them  old  and 
decayed.     It  has  a  safe,  capacious  harbor  for  boats. 

In  Doctor  :\Ic]\Iurtrie's  Sketches  of  Louisville,  published  in  1819.  the  fol- 
lowing not  over-flattering  notice  is  given  of  Clarksville : 

"Although  this  was  one  of  the  earliest  settled  places  in  the  state  of  Indiana 
being  established  in  1783  by  the  Legislature  of  Virginia,  as  part  of  the  Il- 

linois grant,  yet  it  is  at  the  present  moment  far  behind  them  all  in  every  pos- 
sible respect.  A  few  log  houses  of  one  story  comprise  the  list  of  its  dwellings, 

and  from  their  number  and  appearance  I  should  suppose  that  they  do  not  con- 
tain altogether  one  hundred  inhabitants.  It  is,  however,  pleasantly  situated  at 

the  foot  of  the  Indiana  Chute,  and  immediately  opposite  Shippingport.  It  is 

said  to  be  very  unhealthy,  which  is  more  than  probable,  from  the  number  of 

marshes  that  are  in  the  vicinity." 
This  condition,  however,  did  not  prevail  elsewhere  in  the  county.  Mc- 

Murtrie  seemed  to  be  soured  on  the  territory  across  from  Louisville,  par- 
ticularly on  the  canal  project  as  revived  again  in  18 18. 

A  Mr.  Palmer,  who  was  in  Jefifersonville  in  1817,  said:  "Jefliersonville 
stands  on  the  banks  of  the  Ohio,  nearly  opposite  Louisville  and  a  little  above 
the  Falls.     It  contains  about  one  hundred  and  thirtv  houses  of  brick,  frame 
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and  hewn  logs.  The  bank  of  the  river  is  high,  which  affords  a  fine  view  of 
Louisville,  the  Falls  and  the  opposite  hills.  Just  below  the  town  is  a  fine  eddy 

for  boats.  A  post-office  and  a  land-office  for  the  sale  of  United  States  lands, 
are  established  and  it  promises  to  become  a  place  of  wealth,  elegance  and  ex- 

tensive business.  The  most  eligible  boat  channel  is  on  the  Indiana  side  of  the 

Ohio." The  year  1814  is  noteworthy  as  the  date  of  the  commencement  of  the 

tunnel  on  Fourteen  ]\Iile  creek  for  the  tunnel  mill.  John  \\'ork  owned 
a  mill  on  the  creek,  but  he  conceixed  the  idea  that  instead  of  repairing  the 
old  one  he  would  build  a  new  mill.  A  tunnel  was  to  be  made  through  a  spur 

of  a  hill,  around  which  the  creek  ran,  to  act  as  a  mill  race,  and  therefore  al- 
ways gave  a  good  supply  of  water.  Xature  had  fitted  Work  peculiarly  for  the 

work  of  his  life.  His  natural  mathematical  and  mechanical  talents  were 

great,  and  to  these  natural  accomplishments  he  added  an  indomitable  will  and 
a  tireless  mind. 

Fourteen  ilile  makes  a  long  curve  in  the  form  of  a  pear,  leaving  a  body 
of  land  resembling  a  peninsula,  which  included,  perhaps,  twenty  acres.  The 
distance  through  at  the  narrowest  point  was  a  little  over  three  hundred  feet. 
But  the  obstacles  were  of  mammoth  proportions.  The  hill,  for  such  it  was. 
rose  to  one  hundred  feet  from  the  bed  of  the  creek.  It  was  made  up  of 
solid  rock.  After  mature  deliberation  and  a  few  surveys,  he  began  the  work. 

From  the  old  mill-site  he  began  tuimeling,  and  also  at  the  same  time  on  the 
opposite  side,  or  where  the  new  mill  was  to  stand.  His  implements  were 
rude :  his  experience  in  blasting  and  making  powder  limited.  The  work  began 

in  1 8 14  and  lasted  three  years.  During  this  time  three  men  were  constantly 
engaged.  Six  hundred  and  fifty  pounds  of  powder  were  used,  and  the  cost 
of  the  work  is  estimated  at  three  thousand,  three  hundred  dollars.  The  race 

was  six  feet  deep  and  fi\-e  wide,  and  was  ninety-four  feet  below  the  summit. 
The  work  which  he  performed  in  driving  the  tunnel,  and  the  calculations 

necessarv  to  its  successful  completion  seem  almost  incredible.  The  two  ends 

of  the  tunnel  met  accurately  when  the  work  was  finished.  The  ilay  of  com- 
pletion was  a  gala  day  for  the  surrounding  country.  John  Work  invited  all 

his  customers  to  partake  of  his  hospitalities.  A  great  dinner  was  provided. 
A  man  who  weighed  over  two  hundred  pounds  rode  through  the  tunnel  on 
horseback.  At  each  end  was  a  barrel  of  prime  whiskey,  with  the  head  knocked 

out.  Speeches  were  made  and  a  glorification  had  which  to  this  day  is 

remembered  with  man)-  aft'ectionate  regards. Henceforward  this  was  called  the  Tunnel  mill.  .\t  the  end  of  the  race 

an  overshot  wheel  was  put  up.  The  two  Ijuhrs  ran  by  a  never-failing  water 
supply,  with  a  fall  of  twenty-four  feet.  The  mill  is  frame,  and  is  fifty  by 

thirty-five  feet.  The  wheel  is  twenty  feet  in  diameter,  though  twenty-six  feet 
could  be  used,  if  necessary.     There  were  originally  two  wheels.     John  Rose 
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acted  here  as  second  engineer,  and  ̂ A'ood  and  Proctor  as  tool-sharpeners 
and  gunsmiths. 

The  first  bank  in  Clark  count}-  was  started  in  JetTersonville  in  1817  by 
Beach  and  Bigelow.  The  currency  which  it  issued  was  a  great  convenience 
to  people  of  the  town  and  surrounding  country  at  that  time.  This  institution 
continued  in  business  until  after  the  failure  of  the  canal  project. 

An  important  event  in  the  second  decade  of  Clark  county's  history  was 
the  project  inaugurated  in  1818  to  build  a  canal  around  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio 
on  the  Indiana  side  of  the  river.  The  Jeffersonville  Ohio  Canal  Company 
was  incorporated  in  January,  1818,  with  a  capital  stock  of  one  million  dollars, 
and  the  articles  of  incorporation  permitted  the  officials  to  raise  one  hundred 
thousand  dollars  by  a  lottery.  The  charter  was  to  nui  to  1899,  but  the  canal 

was  to  be  completed  and  in  use  by  1824.  The  maps  of  Jeffersonville  at  this 
time  have  the  line  of  the  canal  marked  plainly  upon  them.  By  May,  18 IQ, 

sun'eys  had  been  made  of  the  line  of  the  proposed  work  and  some  contracts 
had  been  let  for  the  excavation.  Work  was  commenced  and  a  ditch  dug  the 

entire  length.  The  upper  end  of  the  canal  was  at  the  south  end  of  Meigs 
avenue  (Canal  street  then)  and  ran  northwestwardly  across  Market  street  at 
the  intersection  of  Walnut  street.  The  remains  of  the  old  ox  pond,  a  great 

skating  place  for  the  boys  before  the  levee  was  built  in  the  eighties,  was  one  of 

the  scars  left  by  the  canal  seventy-odd  years  before. 

The  route  cut  through  the  block  under  the  present  location  of  St.  Paul's 
church,  and  left  it  at  the  mouth  of  the  alley  on  Locust  street,  between  Market 
street  and  Chestnut  street.  It  ran  from  here  to  the  intersection  of  Chestnut 

street  and  Wall  street,  and  thence  to  Spring  street.  It  crossed  Spring  street 

at  No.  437  and  438,  and  ran  thence  to  Court  avenue,  where  it  struck  the  street 
about  one  hundred  feet  east  of  Pearl  street.  From  here  the  route  was  across 

Court  avenue  to  the  intersection  of  Kentucky  avenue  and  sixth  street :  thence 

to  Michigan  avenue  and  Seventh  street :  thence  to  Ohio  avenue  and  alx)ut 
one  hundred  and  fifty  feet  south  of  Eighth  street ;  thence  to  Broadway,  about 
one  hundred  feet  north  of  Eighth  street ;  thence  to  Ninth  street  about  half 
way  between  Broadway  and  Illinois  avenue ;  thence  to  Missouri  avenue  about 

one  hundred  feet  south  of  Tenth  street :  thence  diagonally  through  out  lots 
21  and  22  of  Clarksville,  to  Cane  Run  creek,  striking  the  Ohio  river  at  the 

upper  end  of  General's  Point.  It  was  to  empty  into  the  whirlpool  through 
the  ravine  about  one  mile  below  the  Pennsylvania  bridge.  At  a  point  about 
where  the  junction  is  located  a  lock  was  to  be  constructed  and  another  set 
of  locks  was  to  be  located  at  the  lower  end  of  the  canal  wdiere  it  emptied  into 

the  river.  It  was  to  be  two  and  one-half  miles  long,  one  hundred  feet  wide 
at  the  top  and  fifty  feet  wide  at  the  bottom.  It  was  to  have  an  average  depth 

of  forty-five  feet  and  a  fall  of  twenty-three  feet.  The  upper  one-fourth  of 
the  excavation  was  to  be  made  in  earth,  but  in  the  lower  three-fourths  ten  or 
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twelve  feet  of  solid  rock  would  have  had  to  have  been  Ijlasted  out.  entailing 
an  enormous  expenditure  of  time  and  money.  The  great  fall  through  two 
and  one-half  miles  of  the  canal  was  to  furnish  unlimited  power  to  drive  ma- 

chinery for  shops  and  factories  along  the  line.  It  was  the  idea  of  the  projec- 
tors that  the  ditch  if  started  would  soon  wash  itself  out.  and  a  rise  in  the 

river  was  expected  to  demonstrate  the  far  sightedness  of  the  engineers.  A 
large  log  did  travel  almost  tlie  entire  length  of  the  ditch  during  high  water, 

but  as  it  came  up  from  the  lower  end  where  the  water  backed  up  in  the  "canal" 
the  scheme  stood  somewhat  discredited.  Unfortunately  also,  the  water  failed 

to  wash  out  the  ditch  to  the  required  depth,  but  left  a  la)-er  of  mud  in  it 
which  had  ne\-er  been  there  before. 

Finances  ran  low,  the  proper  backing  could  not  be  found  and  more  pro- 

gressive people  of  Louisville  and  Philadelphia  formed  a  compan\-  to  dig  a 
canal  on  the  Kentucky  side  of  the  river.  The  Jeffersonville  canal  project  was 
fought  with  vigor  and  the  scheme  died  a  natural  deatli.  For  many  vears 
afterward  the  route  of  this  canal  could  be  easih-  traced  but  the  marks  have 

all  been  obliterated  at  the  present  day.  ̂ ^'hile  the  idea  of  a  canal  was  occupy- 
ing the  mind  of  Jefferson\-ille.  Bethlehem  thought  of  roads,  and  in  1818  the 

road  leading  to  ]\Iadison  was  established. 

The  old  cemetery  at  Charlestown.  where  so  many  of  the  men  of  promi- 
nence in  our  affairs  sleep,  was  laid  out  in  1818.  In  the  early  part  of  the 

centur}"  it  was  used  by  the  public  generally  and  was  the  most  noted  of  any  in 
that  part  of  the  county.  Here  Jonathan  Jennings  was  buried,  and  here  nearly 
every  early  family  of  the  county  is  represented. 

In  1819  the  first  steamboat  was  built  in  Jeffersonville.  Her  name  was 

the  "United  States,"  and  she  was  owned  by  Hart  and  others.  In  a  succeeding 
chapter,  the  boat  building  industn,'  of  Jeffersonville  and  Clark  county  will 
be  treated  separately  and  fully. 

In  1820  the  first  brick  house  was  built  in  Charlestown  which  was  some- 
what pretentious  for  those  days.  On  June  26,  1819,  Clark  county  was  honored 

by  a  \"isit  of  the  president.  James  Monroe,  at  Jeffersonville.  James  Flint,  a 
traveler  here  at  that  time,  wrote:  "On  the  26th  (June)  the  President  arrived. 
A  tall  pole  with  the  striped  flag  was  displayed  on  the  bank  of  the  river,  a 
salute  was  fired  and  a  large  body  of  citizens  awaited  his  coming  on  shore.  To 
be  introduced  to  the  President  was  a  wish  almost  universal,  and  he  was  sub- 

jected to  a  laborious  shaking  of  hands  with  the  multitude.  A  public  dinner 
was  given  and  this,  too,  was  an  object  of  ambition. 

"Grocers  left  their  goods  and  mechanics  their  work-shops  to  be  present  at 
the  gratifying  repast.  The  first  magistrate  appears  to  be  about  sixty  years 

of  age.  His  deportment  is  dignified,  and  at  the  same  time  aft'able.  His 
countenance  is  placid  and  cheerful.  His  chariot  is  not  of  iron,  nor  is  he  at- 

tended by  horse-guards  or  drawn  swords.  His  protection  is  the  affection 

of  a  free  and  a  represented  people." 
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In  io20  Jefifersonville  was  remarked  in  Gilleland's  Geography  of  the 
States  and  Territories  west  and  south  of  the  Alleghany  mountains,  appended 

to  the  Ohio  and  Mississippi  Pilot,  published  at  Pittsburg,  as  "the  largest  town 
in  the  State  and  irom  the  advantages  of  its  situation,  will  prcAably  co'.ilinue 

to  be  so." An  incident  A\hich  occurred  in  Charlestown  about  iSjo.  recalls  a  case 

of  Indian  brutality.  Alathias  Hester,  one  of  the  pioneers  of  Clark  county, 
while  in  Kentucky  in  1793.  was  employed  in  teaming  between  Louisville  and 
Shelbvville.  with  a  man  named  Leathennan.  On  one  trip  when  they  had 

passed  "Benney  Hughes'  '"  Station  on  the  way  to  Shelbyville.  they  were  hred 
upon  by  a  part)'  of  Indians.  Leatherman  managed  to  escape,  but  Hester  was 
shot  with  a  rifle  ball  from  a  distance  of  four  paces,  the  ball  striking  him 

above  the  left  eye,  breaking  his  skull.  He  fell  from  his  horse,  but  started  to 
escape  by  running.  He  was  prostrated  three  times  in  running  one  hundred 
and  seventy  yards  by  the  pain  and  being  blinded  by  the  blood,  his  last  fall 

happening  when  his  pursuers  were  so  close  behind  him  that  he  decided  to 
feign  death  and  submit  to  their  torture.  The  first  Indian  struck  him  a  glancing 
stroke  on  the  head  with  his  tomahawk  and  the  second  saluted  him  likewise. 

They  scalped  him  and  during  the  performance  of  this  horrible  act  repeatedly 
speared  him  in  the  back  as  he  lay  upon  the  ground.  After  their  butchery  they 
took  the  horses  and  rode  away.  Hester,  wonderful  to  say,  recovered,  and 
in  the  fall  of  1799  he  removed  to  the  Illinois  grant  and  took  up  his  residence 

beyond  Spring\-ille.  at  what  is  now  Charlestown. 
The  Indians  were  accustomed  to  stop  at  his  house  and  ask  for  lodging, 

when  returning  north  from  trading  at  the  French  store  at  "Tullytown".  On 
one  night  two  Indians  applied  for  and  received  quarters  for  the  night,  and 

as  they  had  a  jug  of  whiskey,  it  was  not  long  before  Hester  was  obliged  to 

send  his  little  son  to  a  neighbor's  house  for  help,  meanwhile  secreting  one  of 
their  large  butcher  knives  in  a  crack  in  the  wall.  After  the  arrival  of  the 

neighbor,  who  had  asked  to  smoke  with  the  tomahawk  of  one  of  the  Indians, 
the  savage  became  suspicious  and  when  he  missed  his  knife  immediately 

wrenched  the  tomahawk  from  the  neighbor's  hand  and  assaulted  Hester  with 
it.  The  Indians  were  finally  prevailed  upon  to  desist  by  kind  expressions  and 
signs  and  peace  prevailed  in  the  Hester  household.  Such  incidents  as  these 
did  not  create  a  great  love  for  the  Indians  in  the  breast  of  the  elder  Hester. 

About  1820  a  sale  or  gathering  of  some  sort  was  held  near  Charlestown, 
and  Hester,  with  most  of  the  inhabitants  of  the  town  was  in  attendance. 

Some  Indians  were  as  usual  in  attendance  ami  one  old  buck  approached 

Hester,  and  looking  at  the  scalp  wound  on  the  top  of  his  head  solemnly  re- 

marked, "^le  thought  me  kill  you."  It  was  the  wretch  who  had  scalped  him 
years  before  in  Kentucky,  and  it  is  said  that  the  victim  of  that  operation  be- 

came so  violent  towards  the  savage  that  it  required  the  united  persuasion  of 
all  of  his  friends  to  prevent  his  shooting  him  on  the  spot. 
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One  of  the  most  noted  institutions  in  Clark  CDUnty  at  this  time  was 

"The  Jeffersonviile  Springs".  This  resort  was  located  beyond  Eleventh  street 
and  to  the  north  of  Spring  street,  including  about  thirteen  acres  in  the 
grounds.  In  1819  Doctor  McMurtrie,  of  Louisville,  in  his  history  of  that  city, 
speaks  as  follows  of  these  wonderful  springs : 

"About  a  mile  from  this  town  are  several  valuable  springs,  mineralized 
by  sulphur  and  iron,  where  a  large  and  commodious  building  has  lately  been 
erected  by  the  proprietor,  for  the  reception  of  those  who  seek  relief  either  from 
physical  indisposition,  their  own  thoughts,  or  the  disagreeable  atmosphere  of 

cities  during  the  summer  season.  In  a  word,  he  is  pi'eparing  it  for  a  fashion- 
able watering  place,  to  which  there  is  nothing  objectionable  but  its  proximity 

to  Louisville ;  its  being  so  near  requires  neither  equipage  nor  the  expense  of  a 
journey  to  arrive  there,  things  absolutly  required  to  render  every  place  of  the 
kind  perfectly  a  la  mode.  It  is,  however,  one  of  the  most  powerful  natural 
chalybeate  waters  I  have  ever  seen  or  tasted,  and  will  no  doubt  prove  very 
serviceable  in  many  complaints,  particularly  in  that  debility  attended  with 
profuse  cold  sweats,  which  are  constantly  experienced  by  the  convalescent 

victim  of  a  biliotts  fever,  so  common  to  the  inhabitants  of  this  neighborhood." 
The  land  where  this  resort  was  located  was  owned  by  a  Swiss,  named 

John  Fischli.  He  discovered  the  wonderful  properties  of  the  water  in  the 
springs  and  conceived  the  idea  of  making  it  a  health  and  pleasure  resort.  He 

improved  and  cultivated  the  ground,  laid  out  roads  and  walks,  made  a  puzzle 

garden,  etc. 
Fountains  were  arranged,  bath-houses  were  erected,  bowling  alleys  were 

established  and  all  the  attractions  possible  were  made  to  catch  the  public. 

Cottages  were  built  at  various  places  in  the  grounds,  where  visitors  and  their 
families  could  spend  the  season  and  enjoy  the  brilliancy  and  attractiveness 
of  the  society  which  repaired  to  this  mecca  from  all  over  the  South.  In  the 

summer  season  it  was  the  gayest  place  in  this  part  of  the  wurld.  The  man- 

ager of  the  "Springs"  in  1820  was  one  Gutsel  and  his  reputation  as  an  en- 
tertainer was  wide  spread.  He  had  provided  all  sorts  of  amusement  devices, 

and  the  gambling  here  became  in  after  years  very  heavy.  There  were  rooms 
for  faro,  poker  and  every  other  conceivable  sort  of  game  except  bridge  whist. 

All  of  these  games  were  public  and  visitors  were  welcome  to  view  or  partici- 
pate as  they  chose.  The  great  men  of  the  South  in  those  days  and  until 

1850  were  wont  to  repair  here  for  rest  and  pleasure.  R.  AI.  Johnson,  Yke 
President  under  Van  Buren :  Henry  Clay,  Thomas  Marshall,  Humjihrey 
Marshall,  Ben  Hardin,  General  Jackson  and  many  other  celebrities  of  the 

day  besides  the  lesser  lights,  added  to  the  gaity  of  the  resort. 

In  1838  the  owners  built  a  big  hotel  at  the  foot  of  Broadway,  near  the 

river  bank,  and  it  was  the  finest  hotel  in  Indiana  or  Kentucky  when  com- 

pleted.   A  good  wharf  was  built  and  Broadway  was  graded  out  to  the  Springs. 
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Carriages  were  always  waiting  to  transport  the  seeker  for  healtli  or  pleasure 
to  his  goal,  and  many  a  dollar  did  the  lucky  owner  of  a  rig  gather  in  during 
a  season.  The  end  of  the  second  decade  of  Clark  county  history  found  a 
healthy  growth  and  substantial  condition  of  affairs. 

The  Indian  question  had  been  settled  for  all  time.  The  outlaying  parts 
of  the  county  were  being  taken  up  and  cultivated.  The  territory  had  become 
a  sovereign  state.  The  population  in  1820  was  eight  thousand,  seven  hundred 
and  nine. 



CHAPTER  VI. 

THE  THIRD  DECADE— 1820  to  1830. 

The  period  of  1820  to  1830  was  the  first  peaceful  epoch  in  the  history  of 

the  comity.  The  improvement  of  farms,  the  building  of  mills  and  the  estab- 
lishment of  new  settlements  in  the  remoter  parts  of  the  county,  all  bespoke 

a  welcome  period  of  freedom  from  Indian  or  other  conflicts,  and  the  people 
began  to  till  their  farms,  to  plant  new  orchards,  to  erect  school-houses  and 
churches,  to  build  hamlets,  and  to  engage,  with  some  degree  of  ardor  in  the 

various  peaceful  pursuits  of  civilized  life.  A  sense  of  security  pei"\'aded  the 
minds  of  the  people.  The  hostile  Indian  tribes,  throughout  the  state  ha\'ing 
been  overpowered,  humbled  and  impoverished,  no  longer  excited  the  fears  of 
the  settlers  who  dwelt  in  safety  and  security  in  their  plain  log  cabin  homes, 
and  cultivated  their  small  fields  without  the  protection  of  armed  sentinels. 

The  numerous  temporary  blockhouses  and  stockades,  which  were  no  longer 
required  as  places  of  refuge  for  the  pioneers,  were  either  converted  into 

dwelling  houses,  or  suffered  to  fall  into  ruin,  and  the  people  turned  their  at- 
tention to  the  substantial  development  of  their  resources. 

In  1820  Jacob  Giltner  erected  a  saw-mill  near  Otto,  and  it  was  con- 
tinued by  him  and  his  sons  until  1848.  It  later  on  passed  into  other  hands,  but 

under  his  management  was  a  valuable  factor  in  the  development  of  the  sur- 
rounding country.  The  streams  of  Bethlehem  township  are  small  and  have 

either  rapid  or  tortuous  currents  and  there  were  very  few-  favorable  mill  sites. 

Peter  Mikesell's  horse  mill,  which  stood  near  the  old  Antioch  church,  was 
erected  in  1828,  and  for  many  years  ground  most  of  the  grain  of  the  county. 
It  continued  to  run  until  about  1844. 

The  mills  of  Owen  township  w-ere  generally  small  afifairs,  on  account 
of  the  scattered  settlements.  When  Leonard  Troutman  erected  the  first  water 

mill  in  the  township,  on  Bull  creek,  there  was  not  enough  custom  work  to  keep 

him  grinding  all  the  time.  From  1820,  the  year  of  its  erection,  until  1825.  it 
ground  most  of  the  grains  for  the  farmers  in  this  region.  After  that  date 

Jacob  Bear  put  up  a  horse  mill  in  the  "Possum  Trot"  district.  Here  he  carried 
on  his  trade  for  ten  or  more  years.  Previous  to  the  abandonment  of  the  horse- 
mill  Mr.  Bear  had  erected  an  overshot  grist-mill  on  its  mouth,  one  mile  above 
Bull  creek.  This  was  about  1826  or  1827.  He  engaged  in  milling  on  this 
site  for  a  number  of  years.  As  time  went  by  and  the  Tunnel  mill  rose  to  be 
considered  the  best  on  the  northern  side  of  the  county,  mills  in  Owen  town- 
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ship  were  left  to  struggle  with  a  small  income.  Trade  was  uncertain.  Busi- 

ness was  unprofitable,  and  this  branch  of  industry  soon  went  into  non-exis- 

tence. It  was  useless  to  compete  with  John  \\^ork,  the  founder  of  the  famous 
Tunnel  mill. 

In  Carr  township  Lewman  Griswold  had  an  oversliot  wheel  on  Muddy 

F"Grk,  two  and  one-half  miles  below  Bridgeport,  as  early  as  1830.  The 
Hughes-Palmer  mill  on  the  river  bank  in  Clarksville  was  built  in  1827,  and 
remained  in  sennce  until  it  was  washed  away  by  the  great  flood  of  1832.  In 

1908  the  mill-stones  lay  where  they  fell  seventy-six  years  before  as  good  as 

when  they  \\-ere  in  use. 
Previous  to  the  year  1820,  George  Smith  and  Nathaniel  Bolton  pub- 

lished the  first  newspaper  in  Clark  county,  at  Jeffersonville.  Its  name  is  lost 
and  a  copy  is  not  known  to  exist.  The  printing  office  for  the  paper  was 
located  on  Front  street,  in  the  residence  of  the  editors.  In  1821  they  removed 
to  Indianapolis,  where  they  established  the  first  newspaper  in  that  city. 

In  the  fall  of  182 1  the  first  state  prison  was  established  in  Jefifersonville 
at  the  corner  of  Ohio  avenue  and  Market  street.  Capt.  Seymour  Westover 

was  the  first  lessee,  the  prison  at  that  time  being  leased  by  the  state.  The 

prison  was  then  a  primitive  aft'air.  built  of  logs  at  a  cost  of  about  three 
thousand  dollars,  the  greater  part  of  which  had  been  subscribed  Ijy  Jefiferson- 

ville people.  Previous  to  the  opening  of  the  prison,  prisoners  had  been  pun- 
ished at  the  whipping-post.  The  law  was  so  changed  that  all  persons  who 

committed  a  crime  for  which  they  should  receive  not  to  exceed  thirty-nine 
lashes  on  the  bare  back,  should  be  sent  to  prison  for  a  term  not  to  exceed 

three  years.  \\n'iere  formerly  the  puni.shment  was  one  hundred  stripes,  a  term 
not  to  exceed  seven  years  was  imposed.  Captain  Westover  was  a  blacksmith 
and  had  a  shop  on  West  Market  street.  Upon  his  release  of  the  lease,  he  went 
to  Texas,  in  1826,  and  was  reported  to  have  been  killed  with  Crockett  at  the 

Alamo.  The  old  prison  had  fifteen  cells  built  in  a  row.  They  were  made  of 
logs  ten  inches  square,  dovetailed  at  the  ends.  The  doors  were  four  inches 
thick  and  covered  with  strap  iron,  and  throughout  the  building  there  was 
little  or  no  attention  paid  to  sanitation  or  health.  This  institution,  now 
called  the  Indiana  State  Reformatory,  will  be  treated  in  a  separate  chapter 
later  on. 

In  1823  an  industr}^  was  started  at  New  Providence,  which  has  been  a 

valuable  asset  to  the  town  ever  since.  At  that  time  the  tanning  for  the  com- 
munity was  done  by  Samuel  Packwood,  Sr.,  and  his  pit  was  a  large  poplar 

log  trough.  A  regular  tannery  was  established  by  John  Borden,  Sr.,  with 

Butler  Dunbar  as  principal  workman.  It  passed  into  the  hands  of  James  Mc- 
Kinley  later  on  and  has  remained  in  this  family  ever  since.  That  the  good 

people  of  New  Providence  bad  not  lost  sight  of  the  necessity  of  spiritual  train- 
ing for  their  children  in  their  endeavor  to  develop  their  settlement  is  attested 
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by  the  opening  of  the  first  Sunday  school  in  1824.  It  was  tauglit  by  Mrs. 
Sabra  \Miite  and  Miss  Laura  W.  Bellows.  These  and  other  minor  events 
serve  to  illustrate  the  steady  growth  of  the  outlying  districts  of  Clark  countv. 

The  chief  event  of  the  decade,  howe\-er,  was  the  visit  of  Lafayette  May  11. 1825. 

At  various  times  Clark  count}-  has  been  honored  by  \-isits  of  civil  and 
military  heroes,  but  never  has  a  more  notable  gathering  of  this  kind  taken 
place,  and  never  a  more  spontaneous  outpouring  of  the  peo])le  to  welcome  and 

honor  a  patriot,  than  that  of  May  11.  1825.  when  Major  General  Marie  Jean 
Paul  Roch  Yves  Gilbert  Motier,  Marquis  De  Lafayette — soldier,  statesman 
and  patriot  in  the  cause  of  liberty,  the  friend  and  comrade  of  Washington, 
visited  this  county,  while  making  a  tour  of  the  United  States  at  the  invitation 
of  a  grateful  nation. 

His  official  visit  to  Indiana  soil  was  at  Jefi'ersonville,  and  he  was  received 
with  the  same  demonstrations  of  popular  enthusiasm  which  made  his  progress 

through  the  twenty-four  states  of  the  Union  resemble  a  continuous  triumphal 
procession. 

His  tour  was  under  the  supervision  of  the  Federal  Government,  and 

preparations  had  been  perfected  for  his  reception  by  the  Indiana  State  author- 
ities long  before  he  arrived  at  Louisville.  The  Legislature  had  taken  up  the 

matter  early  in  January,  1825.  and  the  resolutions  adopted  at  that  time  ex- 
press their  sentiments  in  the  following  language : 

"The  committee  to  whom  was  referred  a  joint  resolution  of  the  General 
Assembly,  directing  them  to  take  into  consideration  the  propriety  of  the  Gen- 

eral Assembly's  expressing  their  sentiments  in  reference  to  Major  General  La- 
fayette, respectfully  report  the  following  preamble  and  resolutions: 

"The  Senate  and  the  House  of  Representaties  of  the  State  of  Indiana, 
in  General  Assembly  convened,  would  be  deficient  in  respect  to  the  feelings  of 
their  constituents,  and  unmindful  of  their  obligations  to  a  distinguished  bene- 

factor did  they  fail  to  join  in  the  pean  of  national  gratitude  and  unanimous 
welcome  to  Major  General  Lafayette  on  the  occasion  of  his  late  arrival  in 

the  L'nited  States.  It  is  scarcely  necessary  for  them  to  say  that  they  unani- 
mously accord  with  the  sentiments  expressed  towards  their  illustrious  friend 

by  the  chief  magistrate  of  the  L^nion,  and  cordially  add  their  sanction  to  the 
provision  in  his  favor  recently  enacted  bv  Congress.  The  latter  thev  view 

as  the  smallest  return  for  his  pre-eminent  services  and  sacrifices,  the  American 
people  could  make,  or  the  guest  of  the  nation  receive.  It  is  the  dignity  of  a 
spectacle  unparalleled  in  the  history  of  man,  which  they  particularly  feel  and 
admire.  Ten  millions  of  hearts  spontaneouslv  offering  the  homage  of  their 
gratitude  to  a  private  individual,  unsupported  by  rank,  or  power,  for  services 

long  past,  of  the  purest  and  most  exalted  character:  whilst  they  furnish  con- 
soling evidence  that  republics  are  not  ungrateful,  also  carry  with  them  the  de- 
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lightful  conviction  that  the  sons  of  America  have  not  degenerated  from  their 
fathers  of  the  Revolution. 

"In  pausing  to  contemplate  with  appropriate  feelings  this  sublime  ex- 
ample of  popular  gratitude,  united  with  respect  for  character  and  principles, 

the  General  Assembly  learns  with  peculiar  satisfaction  that  it  is  the  intention 
of  General  LaFayette  to  visit  the  western  section  of  the  United  States.  The 
felicity  denied  by  a  mysterious  providence  to  the  father  of  his  countrv  has.  it 

is  lioped,  been  reserved  by  his  adopted  son.  What  the  immortal  Washington 
was  permitted  to  see  only  through  the  dark  vista  of  futurity,  will  be  realized 

in  the  fullness  of  vision,  by  his  associate  in  arms  and  glor)-. 

"The  General  Assembly  hails  with  inexpressible  pleasure  the  prospect  of 
this  auspicious  visit.  They  cannot,  they  are  aware,  receive  their  benefactor  in 
the  costly  abodes  of  magnificence  and  taste,  nor  vie  with  their  sister  states  in 
the  embellishments  of  a  hospitality  more  brilliant  than  it  is  theirs  to  ofYer;  but 
not  more  sincere. 

"But  they  can,  and  do,  in  common  with  the  whole  American  people, 
welcome  him  to  a  home  in  their  hearts.  They  feel  persuaded  that  he  will 
take  a  deep  interest  in  this  part  of  our  country,  which  though  not  the  actual 
theatre  of  his  generous  labors,  has  emphatically  grown  out  of  the  glorious 

results  of  his  Revolutionary  services.  On  the  west  of  the  Alleghany  moun- 
tains, our  illustrious  guest  will  behold  extensive  communities  of  freemen, 

which  within  the  period  of  his  own  recollection,  have  been  substituted  for 
the  trackless  wilderness.  Where,  forty  years  ago,  primeval  barbarism  held 
undisputed  sway  over  man  and  nature ;  civilization,  liberty  and  law  wield  the 

mild  scepter  of  equal  rights ;  it  is  here  that  our  illustrious  friend  will  find  his 

name,  his  services,  and  we  trust  his  principles,  flourishing  in  perennial  ver- 
dure. Here,  too.  may  he  enjoy  the  exulting  prospect  of  seeing  them,  in  the 

language  of  a  favorite  son  of  the  West,  "transmitted  with  unabated  vigor 
down  the  tide  of  time,  to  the  countless  millions  of  posterity." 

In  accordance  with  the  preceding  sentiments,  the  General  Assembly 

adopted  the  following  resolutions  : 

"Resolved,  That  this  General  Assembly,  in  common  with  their  fellow  citi- 
zens of  the  state  and  Union,  have  the  most  heart-felt  gratitude  for  the  ser- 

vices of  Major  General  LaFayette,  and  most  cordially  approve  of  eveiy  testi- 
monial of  kindness  and  affection  he  has  received  from  the  people  and 

Government  of  the  United  States. 

"Resolved,  That  in  the  opinion  of  this  General  Assembly,  it  would  afford 
the  highest  gratification  to  the  citizens  of  Indiana,  to  receive  a  visit  from 

their  revered  and  beloved  benefactor,  the  only  sui-viving  general  of  the 
American  revolution ;  and  that  the  Governor  of  this  state  be  requested, 

without  delay,  to  transmit  to  General  LaFayette  this,  with  the  preceding  reso- 
lution and  preamble,  accompanied  by  an  invitation  to  visit  this  state,  at  the 
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seat  of  Government,  or  such  town  on  the  Ohio  river  as  tlie  General  may 
designate. 

"Rcsok'cd.  That  tlie  Governor  of  the  state,  together  with  such  ofKicers  and 
citizens  as  may  find  it  convenient  to  attend  at  the  point  selected  by  General 
LaFayette,  do  receive  him  with  the  honors  due  to  the  illustrious  guest  of  the 
state  and  nation,  and  that  the  Governor  draw  on  the  contingent  fund,  for  the 
payment  of  all  e.xpenses  incurred  in  executing  these  resolutions. 

"Resolved,  That  the  Governor  be  requested  to  transmit  a  copy  of  the  fore- 
going preamble  and  resolutions  to  the  President  of  the  United  States,  and  to 

each  of  our  Senators  and  Representatives  in  Congress". 
On  the  arrival  of  General  LaFayette  at  Louisville,  May  loth.  Colonel 

Farnham,  one  of  the  aids  to  the  acting  Governor,  in  conjunction  with 
Messrs.  Gwathmey,  Samuel  Merriwether,  Beach  and  Burnett,  waited  upon 
him  with  the  congratulations  of  the  state.  To  which  the  General  most 

afifectionately  replied  that  a  visit  to  Indiana,  where  he  should  have  an  opportu- 
nity in  person  to  express  his  sensibility  to  her  Executive,  representation  and 

citizens,  for  their  very  kind  invitation  and  generous  expression  of  regard,  was 
among  the  fondest  wishes  of  his  heart,  and  appointed  the  following  day  on 
which  to  make  his  visit  to  the  state,  at  Jefifersonville. 

The  country  from  New  Providence  to  Bethlehem  turned  out  to  welcome 

him.  Never  before  had  such  a  multitude  thnmged  the  streets  of  the  village  of 
Jefifersonville.  The  state  Legislature  and  officers,  together  with  those  of 
equal  rank  from  neighboring  states,  assembled  to  honor  the  patriot. 

At  II  o'clock,  a.  m.,  on  Thursday,  the  nth,  the  above  named  committee 
waited  upon  him  on  board  the  steamboat.  General  Pike,  to  which  he  was  es- 

corted by  the  Committee  on  Arrangements  and  Marshals  of  Louis\-ille  and 
Jefferson  county.  The  General  was  greeted  on  the  Indiana  shore,  by  a  salute 

of  thrice  twaity-four  guns,  discharged  from  three  pieces  of  artillery,  stationed 
on  the  river  bank,  at  the  base  of  three  flag  stafifs,  each  seventy  feet  in  height, 
bearing  flags  with  appropriate  mottoes. 

He  was  received  by  Gen.  Marston  G.  Clark,  of  Jefifersonville,  and  Gen. 

John  Carr,  of  Charlestown,  marshals  of  the  day,  and  escorted  by  a  detach- 
ment of  three  artillery  companies,  commanded  by  Captains  Lemon,  Melford 

and  Booth.  Captain  Parker's  infantry  company  of  Charlestown,  and  other 
military  organizations,  to  the  pleasant  mansion  house  of  the  late  Governor 
Posey,  on  the  west  corner  of  Fnint  and  Fort  streets  overlooking  the  river 
and  the  city  of  Louisville  beyond. 

On  his  arrival  at  the  entrance  to  the  Governor's  house,  the  General  was 
welcomed  by  his  Excellency  James  B.  Ray.  to  which  the  General  returned 
the  following  answer : 

"While  I  shall  ever  keep  the  most  gratified  and  grateful  sense  of  the 
manner  in  which  I  have  been  invited  bv  the  representatives  of  Indiana,  it  is 

6 
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now  to  me  an  exquisite  satisfaction  to  be,  in  the  name  of  the  people,  so  af- 
fectionately received  by  their  chief  magistrate,  on  the  soil  of  this  young  state, 

and  in  its  rapid  progress  to  witness  one  of  the  most  striking  efifects  of  self- 
government  and  perfect  freedom. 

"Your  general  remarks  on  the  blessings  which  I  have  had  to  enjoy,  in  this 
continued  series  of  popular  welcomes,  and  delightful  feelings :  as  they  sympa- 

thize with  my  own  inexpressible  emotions,  so  the  flattering  personal  observa- 
tions you  have  been  pleased  to  add,  claim  my  most  lively  acknowledgments, 

never  more,  sir,  than  when  you  honor  me  with  a  mention  of  my  name,  as  being 
the  filial  disciple  of  Washington,  and  the  fond  admirer  of  Bolivar. 

"Be  pleased  to  accept  the  tribute  of  my  thanks  to  you  sir.  to  the  branches 
of  the  representations  of  Indiana,  and  my  most  devoted  gratitude  and  good 

wishes  for  the  people  of  this  state." 
The  General  was  then  conducted  to  chambers  provided  with  refresh- 

ments, and  presented  to  a  numerous  company  of  ladies  assembled  to  welcome 
him,  and  to  several  hundreds  of  citizens,  including  a  few  venerable  relics  of 

the  "times  that  tried  men's  souls." 
The  citizens  at  this  reception,  besides  meeting  the  General,  had  the 

pleasure  of  being  presented  to  Col.  George  Washington  De  LaFayette,  his 
son,  who  accompanied  his  father  as  an  aid. 

One  incident  occurred  during  the  reception  that  served  to  relieve  the  pro- 
ceedings of  any  stiffness  which  might  have  appeared.  Capt.  John  Parker, 

of  Charlestown,  had  brought  his  militia  company  down  to  Jeffersonville  to 

form  part  of  the  large  military  escort,  and  to  gi\-e  his  men  an  opportunity  to 
see  the  illustrious  visitor. 

During  the  presentation  he  took  several  of  his  men  up  to  be  introduced. 

One  strapping  young  militiaman  stepped  forward  to  shake  the  General's 
hand  and  politely  raised  his  hat,  when  out  fell  several  large  crackers  which 

he  had  thoughtfully  provided  for  a  lunch  during  the  exciting  duties  which 
he  might  have  been  called  up(in  to  perform.  The  General  adroitly  relieved 
him  of  his  embarrassment  and  mortification  by  congratulating  him  on  being 

a  good  soldier,  in  carrying  his  rations  with  him. 

At  3  o'clock  in  the  afternoon  the  General  was  conducted  to  dinner  under 
a  militai-y  escort  accompanied  by  a  band  of  music.  The  table  was  hand- 

somely prepared  under  an  arbor,  about  two  hundred  and  twenty  feet  in  length, 
well  covered  and  ornamented  throughcxit,  with  the  verdure  and  foliage  of 

the  forests,  among  which  roses  and  other  flowers  were  tastefully  interwoven 

by  the  ladies  of  Jeffersonville.  This  table  was  set  in  the  woods  just  above  the 

Governor's  house,  about  one  hundred  feet  above  Fort  street,  and  in  con- 

structing the  arbor  or  covering,  as  was  usual  in  that  day  on  such  occasions, 

the  branches  of  the  surrounding  beech  trees  were  used. 

At  the  head  of  the  table,  a  transparent  painting  was  hung,  on  which  was 
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inscribed:  "Indiana  welcomes  LaFayette,  the  Champion  of  Liljerty  in  Both 
Hemispheres!"  over  which  was  a  flag,  bearing  the  arms  of  the  United  States. 
At  the  foot  of  the  table  was  a  similar  painting,  with  the  following  inscription : 

"Indiana  in  76  a  wilderness — in  1825,  a  civilized  community!  Thanks  to  La 
Fayette  and  the  soldiers  of  the  Revolution !" 

The  company  was  honored  by  the  presence  of  many  distinguished  gen- 
tlemen from  Kentucky,  Tennessee  and  other  states,  among  whom  Governor 

Carroll  and  suite;  Hon.  C.  A.  WicklifYe,  Judges  Barry  and  Bledsoe;  Atty.  Gen. 
Sharp,  Colonel  Anderson,  the  Hon.  John  Rowan,  with  the  committee  of  ar- 

rangements of  Louisville  and  Jefferson  county.  Major  Wash,  Mr.  Neilson,  etc. 
After  dinner,  the  following  toasts  were  drank  with  entire  unanimitv  of 

applause : 

1.  Our  countr}-  and  our  country's  friends — One  gun. 
2.  The  memory  of  Washington. 
3.  The  Continental  Congress  of  die  thirteen  United  Colonies  and  their 

illustrious  coadjutors. 

4.  The  Congress  of  1824 — They  have  expressed  to  our  benefactor,  the 
unanimous  sentiment  of  our  hearts. 

5.  The  President  of  the  L^nited  States — A  vigorous  and  fruitful  scion 
from  a  Revolutionary  stock. 

6.  Major  General  LaFayette,  united  with  \\'ashington  in  our  hearts — 
We  hail  his  affectionate  visit  w'ith  a  heart-cheering  welcome — Three  guns, 

drank  standing'. 
The  above  was  received  with  three  times  three  heart-moving  cheers.  As 

soon  as  the  emotion  subsided  General  LaFayette  returned  his  thanks  in  the 
most  affectionate  manner,  to  the  state  of  Indiana  and  company  present,  for  the 

honor  conferred  upon  him,  and  beg'ged  leave  to  offer  the  following  sentiment : 

"Jeffersonville  and  Indiana — ]\Iay  the  rapid  progress  of  this  young  state, 
a  wonder  among  wonders,  more  and  more  e\'ince  the  blessings  of  republican 

freedom." 
General  LaFayette,  on  being  invited  to  propose  a  toast,  gave  "The  mem- 

ory of  General  Greene". 
At  six  o'clock  General  LaFayette  left  the  table,  and  was  re-escorted  to 

the  General  Pike,  where  the  committee  of  arrangements  from  Kentucky,  re- 
sumed the  honor  of  their  special  attendance  in  which  they  were  joined  by  the 

Governor  of  Indiana  and  suite,  the  Marshals  and  Indiana  committee  of  ar- 

rangements, who  accompanied  him  to  Louisville,  and  enjoyed  the  g'ratifica- 
tion  of  being  near  his  person  until  his  departure  on  the  next  morning  for 
Frankfort. 

Thus  terminated  a  day  that  reflected  luster  on  the  annals  of  Indiana,  and 
should  be  a  subject  of  grateful  recollection,  not  only  to  that  generation,  but 
to  posterity. 
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The  simple  fact  of  this  visit,  and  the  incidents  connected  witli  it,  are  now 

unknown  to  most  of  the  people  of  our  locality,  but  if  there  be  aught  in  the 
life  and  deeds  of  the  Marquis  De  LaFayette  in  offering  his  life,  his  fortune 
and  his  sacred  honor  in  the  cause  of  principle  in  a  foreign  land,  we  should 
keep  green  the  memory  of  his  visit  to  our  hospitable  state,  as  a  perpetual 
reminder  of  a  high  and  patriotic  character  for  emulation. 

Histoi-y  relates  that  but  for  one  man,  in  all  probability  Jeffersonville 
would  have  been  the  state  capital  after  it  was  decided  to  ([uit  Vincennes, 

where  the  original  territorial  government  was  established  May  7,  1800.  It 
was  not,  however,  until  July  29,  1805,  that  the  first  session  of  the  General 
Assembly  of  the  territory  was  called  to  meet  at  Vincennes.  This  was  when 
Governor  Harrison  issued  a  proclamation  to  that  effect.  The  first  session  of 
the  third  General  Assembly  met  at  Vincennes  on  November  12.  1810,  and 

James  Beggs,  of  Clark  county,  was  made  president  of  the  body.  Mr.  Beggs 

and  his  relatives  had  large  landed  interests  in  the  vicinity  of  where  Charles- 
town  now  stands,  and  the  removal  of  the  county  seat  from  Springville  to 
Jeffersonville  in  1802  had  left  a  sore  spot  in  the  breast  of  Mr.  Beggs,  even 
after  he  became  a  member  of  the  Legislature.  Charles  Beggs  had  laid  out 
Charlestown,  which  was  named  for  him  in  1808,  and  James  Beggs  conceived 
the  idea  that  with  the  county  seat  at  Jeffersonville,  the  town  would  never 

thrive.  With  these  thoughts  foremost  in  his  mind,  he  never  lost  an  oppor- 

tunity to  vote  against  anything'  that  would  benefit  Jeffersonville.  The  first 
session  of  the  fourth  General  Assembly  decided  to  remove  the  capital  from 

Vincennes  to  some  more  centra!  point,  and  it  was  agreed  that  the  new  loca- 
tion should  be  either  Corydon  or  Jeffersonville,  at  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio. 

Cor>-don  had  been  laid  out  by  R.  M.  Heth  in  1808,  the  same  year  as 
Charlestown.  There  was  a  spirited  contest  over  the  location  and  when  the 
vote  was  taken  it  resulted  in  a  tie.  As  presiding  officer,  Mr.  Beggs  had  the 
deciding  vote  and  he  lost  no  time  in  joining  the  Corydon  forces.  The  second 
session  of  the  fourth  General  Assembly  met  at  Corydon  as  a  result  of  this 

vote  cast  by  Mr.  Beggs,  but  it  is  safe  to  say  that  had  Mr.  Beggs  stood  by 
his  own  county,  Jeffersonville  would  have  remained  the  state  capital,  after 
becoming  so  and  would,  in  all  likelihood,  have  been  a  much  larger  place  at 
the  present  time  than  Louisville. 

Its  location  and  the  country  between  Jeffersonville  and  Charlestown, 
offers  a  magnificent  site  for  a  city.  A  splendid  harbor,  an  excellent  drainage 

condition,  an  absence  of  swampy  or  low  grounds  and  a  generally  level  surface 

would  all  have  added  to  its  attractiveness  and  possibly  even  now  Charles- 
town would  have  been  a  part  of  the  city,  the  residential  suburb.  But  let  us 

draw  the  veil.  Jeffersonville  had  at  the  time  a  population  of  about  six 

hundred  inhabitants.  In  1825  the  first  tavern  was  established  in  Carr  town- 

ship.    It  was  kept  by  John   Slider  and  "Slider's  Hotel"  was    a    prominent 
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Stopping  place  for  travelers,  between  JetTersonville  and  Vincennes.  It  was 
located  on  the  Vincennes  road,  in  sight  of  Bennettsville. 

The  original  tavern  was  built  of  logs.  As  business  increased,  ̂ Ir. 

Slider  made  a  frame  addition  to  the  log  house,  converting  the  only  room 
above  into  six  sleeping  compartments.  The  style  of  public  houses  in  those 
days  was  to  have  but  one  room  in  the  upper  story.  Here  all  travelers  were 

put,  and  among  the  promiscuous  sleepers  there  was  always  some  notorious 

rake,  who  delighted  to  disturb  the  tired  and  worn-out  emigrant.  Slider  was 
here  fifteen  or  twenty  years.  During  that  time  all  the  marketers,  teamsters, 

hog-drivers,  manv  of  the  public  men  and  the  public  generallv.  stepped  with 

"Old  John  Slider." 
The  settlement  and  advancement  of  that  part  of  Clark  county  to  the  Udrth 

led  to  the  erection  of  a  new  township,  some  time  previous  to  1830. 
The  commissioners  of  Clark  county  in  1824  were  John  Owens,  John  M. 

Lemmon  and  Robert  Robertson.  From  the  surname  of  the  first  of  these  men 

the  township  derived  its  name.  As  nearly  as  can  be  ascertained  Owen  town- 
ship was  organized  a  year  or  two  after  Owens  vacated  his  office,  which  makes 

it  about  1830.  The  minutes  of  the  commissioners  of  the  grant  are  obscure  up 

to  1816.  The  old-fashioned  paper  has  lost  nearly  all  its  retaining  power,  and 
dates  and  minutes  of  regular  meetings  are  veiy  difficult  to  decipher.  Nothing 
is  inde.xed.  Town  plats  are  stowed  away  carelessly,  and  nearly  all  original 
documents  and  legal  papers  are  torn  or  disfigured.  From  these  circumstances 

the  exact  year  the  township  was  placed  under  a  separate  organization  cannot 
be  positively  fixed. 

Monroe  is  a  township  lying  in  the  northwestern  corner  of  Clark  county. 
The  first  mention  made  in  the  records  of  this,  the  second  largest  township  in 

the  county,  which  has  over  thirty-five  thousand  acres,  is  under  date  of  Janu- 
ary I,  1827,  when  Andrew  McCombe  and  L  Thomas  were  appointed  fence- 

viewers.  Previously,  and  in  fact  for  a  number  of  years  afterwards,  the 
boundaries  were  indefinite.  The  surface  precluded  strictly  established  lines. 
It  was  known  that  the  upper  side  of  the  township  bordered  on  the  line  between 
Scott  and  Clark  counties,  and  that  the  south  side  was  adjacent  to  Charlestown 
township.  Beyond  this  there  seemed  to  be  no  fixed  boundaries.  The  west 

side  was  described  as  "extending  to  the  county  line."  but  even  that  line  was 
imaginaiy.  On  the  dividing  line  between  Wood  and  Monroe  there  was  no 
dispute.  That  question  was  settled  in  1816,  when  the  former  township  was 
organized.  The  reason  why  boundary  lines  were  so  indefinitely  located  was 
in  the  hilly  surface,  poor  soil,  few  settlements,  and  general  unimportance  of 

the  township.  On  its  first  organization  it  went  by  the  name  of  Collins  tozim- 
ship;  and  it  was  only  in  1827  that  its  name  was  permanently  settled.  It  was 
probably  named  in  honor  of  President  Monroe,  who  had  only  vacated  his  office 
a  few  years  before;  or,  what  is  more  likely,  the  township  name  was  changed 
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about  the  year  1826,  but  no  mention  of  it  was  made  in  the  records  until  a  year 
after,  when  we  find  record  of  the  two  men  above  named  as  fence-viewers. 

In  New  Providence  the  first  post-office  was  estabhshed  in  1826.  Tilly  H. 
Brown  was  the  first  postmaster.  He  was  a  Presbyterian  minister,  and  was 
succeeded  by  Samuel  Hallett,  a  member  of  one  of  the  oldest  families  in  the 
county. 

In  1827  the  first  Presbyterian  church  was  erected  in  Charlestown.  Here 
also,  in  1830,  Doctor  Baker  founded  a  famous  school.  He  was  an  Englishman 
by  birth  and  held  his  school  in  the  old  Masonic  hall.  This  seminary  consisted 
of  three  large  rooms,  and  had.  sometimes  during  the  fall  terms,  as  many  as 
three  hundred  students. 

The  second  school-house  in  ̂ ^'ood  township  was  established  in  New 
Providence  in  1827.  In  the  last  two  years  of  this  decade  two  flourishing  little 
villages  of  Clark  county  were  laid  out. 

Herculaneum  was  surveyed  for  William  L.  Pettitt  in  1830,  by  John 

Beggs.  It  is  situated  on  tract  number  fifty-seven  of  the  Illinois  grant,  below 
the  mouth  of  Bull  creek.  The  streets  run  at  right  angles  with  the  river.  There 

are  twenty-two  lots,  which  number  from  the  lower  right  hand  corner. 
Germany  was  laid  out  by  Jacob  Bear,  Sr.,  in  1829.  It  has  nineteen  lots 

and  is  crossed  by  two  streets,  Alain  and  Main  Cross  streets.  Both  these  vil- 
lages are  now  of  little  consequence.  Bull  creek  with  its  high  bluffs  passes  close 

by,  and  almost  makes  one  village  out  of  two — if  villag'es  they  can  be  called. 
The  main  business  of  the  station  is  to  fern-  people  across  the  river,  as  they 
come  from  New  Market  and  Strieker's  corner. 

These  villages  took  their  names  from  the  German  people  who  early  made 

the  narrow  bottoms  their  home.  Standing  on  the  high  banks  of  Bull  creek 
and  looking  down  in  the  valley  which  follows  it,  the  places  can  hardly  be  called 

either  neighborhoods  or  hamlets.  They  are  just  between  the  two,  and  will,  ap- 
parently, stay  where  they  are  for  a  number  of  years  to  come. 

Among  the  notices  of  Jeff'ersonville  for  this  period  we  find  the  following 
in  Flint's  "Condensed  Geography  and  History  of  the  Western  States" : 

"Jeffersonville  is  situated  just  above  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio.  The  town  of 
Louisville  on  the  opposite  shore,  and  the  beautiful  and  rich  countiw  beyond, 

together  with  the  broad  and  rapid  river,  pouring  whitened  sheets  and  cascades 
from  shore  to  shore,  the  display  of  steamboats,  added  to  the  high  banks,  the 

neat  village,  and  the  noble  woods  on  the  north  bank,  unite  to  render  the  scen- 
ery of  this  village  uncommonly  rich  and  diversified.  It  is  a  considerable  and 

handsome  village,  with  some  houses  that  have  a  show  of  magnificence.  It  has 

a  land-office,  a  post-office,  a  printing-office,  and  some  of  the  public  buildings. 
It  was  contemplated  to  canal  the  Falls  on  this  side  of  the  river,  and  a  company 

with  a  large  capital  was  incorporated  by  the  Legislature.  In  1819  the  work 
was  commenced,  but  has  not  been  prosecuted  with  the  success  that  was  hoped. 
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The  completion  of  the  canal  on  the  opposite  side  will  probably  merge  this  proj- 

ect, by  rendering  it  useless.  One  of  the  principal  chutes  of  the  river  in  low- 
water,  is  near  this  shore ;  and  experienced  pilots,  appointed  by  the  state,  are 
always  in  readiness  to  conduct  boats  over  the  Falls.  Clarksville  is  a  small 

village  just  below  this  place". 
In  1829  there  was  not  a  church  in  the  city:  the  ferry  to  Louisville  was 

nothing  but  a  skiff,  and  there  was  not  a  house  on  Spring-  street. 
The  population  of  Clark  county  in  1830  was  10,686. 



CHAPTER  VII. 

THE  FOURTH  DECADE— 1830-1840. 

From  the  accounts  of  the  various  phases  of  hfe  in  Clark  county  during 

this  decade,  we  learn  that  it  was  a  period  of  prosperity.  Townships  and  towns 
were  laid  out  and  the  reports  of  travelers  are  bright  with  prophecies.  In 
1833  both  Charlestown  and  Jeffersonville  received  favorable  notices  in  the 
State  Gazetteer,  as  follows : 

"Charlestown.  a  post-town  and  seat  of  justice  of  Clark  county,  situated 
on  a  high  table-land  between  the  waters  of  Fourteen-mile  creek  and  those 

of  Silver  creek,  about  two  and  a  half  miles  from  M'Donald's  ferry,  on  the 
Ohio  river,  from  which  there  is  a  direct  road  ari'd  well  improved  to  the  town, 
thirteen  miles  from  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio  and  one  hundred  and  six  miles  south- 

east of  Indianapolis.  It  is  surrounded  by  a  body  of  excellent  fanning-  land, 
in  a  high  state  of  cultivation.  Charlestown  contains  about  eight  hundred 
inhabitants,  seven  mercantile  stores,  one  tavern,  six  lawyers,  four  physicians, 

three  preachers  of  the  gospel,  and  craftsmen  of  almost  all  descriptions.  The 

public  buildings  are  a  court-house,  a  jail,  an  office  for  the  Clerk  and  Recorder, 
and  a  market-house,  all  of  brick :  in  addition  to  which  the  Episcopal  Metho- 

dists, the  Reformed  Methodists,  the  Baptists,  and  the  Presbyterians  have  meet- 
ing-houses, all  of  brick,  and  an  extensive  brick  building  has  lately  been 

erected  for  the  purpose  of  a  county  seminary.  In  the  immediate  vicinity  of  the 

town  a  fiouring-mill  and  oil-mill  have  been  recently  erected,  which  are  pro- 
pelled by  steam  power.  The  situation  is  healthy,  and  supplied  with  several 

springs  of  excellent  water.  There  are  in  Charlestown  ab(iut  sixty-five  brick 
dwelling-houses,  and  about  one  hundred  of  wood.  There  are  also  carding- 
machines,  propelled  by  horse  or  ox-power. 

"JefTferson\-ille.  a  town  on  the  Ohio  river,  in  Clark  county.  It  is  a  beau- 
tiful situation,  on  a  high  bank  above  the  highest  water-mark,  and  extends  from 

the  head  of  the  Falls  up  the  river,  so  as  to  include  a  deep  eddy,  where  boats 

of  the  largest  size  can  approach,  at  all  stages  of  the  water,  within  cable- 

length  of  the  shore.  From  this  town  there  is  a  delightful  \\e\\-  of  Louisville 
and  of  the  landing  at  the  mouth  of  Beargrass.  It  also  affords  the  most  advan- 

tageous landing  for  boats  descending  the  river  and  intending  to  pass  the 
Falls  through  the  Indiana  chute.  It  is  laid  out  on  a  large  and  liberal  plan,  and 

must,  from  its  local  advantages,  become  a  place  of  great  commercial  imjior- 
tance.     The  state  prison  is  located  at  this  place;  and  there  are  in  its  immediate 
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vicinity  two  steam  mills,  a  ship-yard,  an  iron  foundry;  and  in  tlie  town  tliere 
are  six  mercantile  stores,  tiiree  taverns,  and  a  steam  grist  and  saw  mill,  and 

numerous  mechanics  of  all  trades.  *  *  *  Its  present  population  amounts 

to  six  hundred  or  seven  hundred  inhabitants,  three  of  whom  are  physicans." 
The  smaller  towns  of  Bethlehem,  New  Washington  and  Utica  were  men- 

tioned also  and  given  favorable  notices,  as  follows : 

"Bethlehem,  a  pleasant  village  on  the  bank  of  the  Ohio  river,  in  the  county 
of  Clark,  about  fifteen  miles  northeast  of  Charlestown.  It  contains  about  three 

hundred  inhabitants,  amongst  whom  are  mechanics  of  various  kintls. 

''Utica.  a  pleasant,  thri\-ing  post-village  in  Clark  cnunty.  It  is  situated  on 
the  bank  of  the  Ohio  ri\-er,  about  eight  miles  south  of  Charlestown.  It  contains 
about  two  hundred  inliabitants,  three  mercantile  stores,  and  a  wariety  of 
mechanics. 

"^^'ashingt(lP.  is  a  post-tmvn  in  Clark  CDuntv,  abr)Ut  twelve  miles  nnrtlieast 
from  Charlestown.  It  has  about  one  hundred  and  fiftv  inhabitants,  two  tav- 

erns, three  mercantile  stores,  and  several  mechanics  of  various  trades.'" 
In  1 83 1  the  old  hand  ferry  at  JetTersonville  was  discontinued  and  the  first 

steam  ferryboat  began  to  run.  This  l:)oat  ran  but  a  short  while,  its  boiler  ex- 
]3loding  in  1832,  killing  seven  nien.  The  company  soon  replaced  this  boat  by 

another  and  better  one,  and  continued  the  business.  W'athan  and  Gilmore,  who 
were  the  proprietors  of  the  ferry  at  this  time,  sold  out  to  Sliallcross,  Strader 
&  Thompson  in  1838.  The  ferryboats  at  this  time  ran  from  the  foot  of 

Spring  street  directly  across  the  river  to  a  place  called  Keiger's  landing,  the 
island  not  ha\-ing  attained  its  present  size,  offering  no  obstacle. 

The  township  of  Utica  was  established  November  7.  1831.  the  line  adjoin- 

ing Jeft'ersonville  being  as  follows:  "Commencing  on  the  Ohio  river  on  the 
line  (li^•iding  Xos.  5  and  6:  thence  on  a  straight  direction  to  the  line  of  No. 
13.  at  the  corners  of  Nos.  22  and  23:  thence  on  the  line  dividing  said  Nos. 
22  and  2Ty,  and  on  the  line  between  Nos.  33  and  36,  49  and  50,  and  67  and  68 

to  Silver  creek,"  etc. 
The  ̂ .'illage  of  Hibernia  sprang  up  in  the  early  thirties,  David  Hostetler 

being  one  of  the  earliest  settlers.  The  Charlestown  and  Bethlehem  road  crossed 

the  Boyer's  landing  and  Otisco  road  at  the  corner  of  his  property.  The  north- 
east boundary  of  the  grant  passes  through  the  village,  and  its  principal  street 

is  on  this  line. 

Hostetler  came  here  in  1828  and  bought  land  of  Daniel  Kester  from  tract 
number  one  hundred  and  five.  Thomas  Applegate  and  William  Pangborn 

were  neighbors.  W'illiam  Pangborn  was  from  New  Jersey  and  emigrated  to 
Indiana  after  serving  throughout  the  Revolutionary  war.  After  a  few  years 

others  gathered  here,  and  hence  the  place  naturally  took  the  form  of  a  vil- 
lage. Hostetler  soon  opened  a  store,  and  was  the  first  to  carry  on  this  branch 

of  industry  in  the  village.     He  was  also  the  first  postmaster,  as  the  mails 
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were  carried  to  Bethlehem  from  Charlestown.  His  store  was  used  many 

years  as  the  voting-place  for  Owen  township.  John  Roland,  James  Lee 
Strieker,  and  Isaac  Crunini  were  storekeepers  during  the  early  experience  of 
Hibernia. 

Hamburg,  the  oldest  village  in  Silver  Creek  township,  is  located  on  Grant 
No.  io8.  It  was  laid  (ait  in  1837  by  Aliram  Littell  and  Thomas  Cunningham, 

and  had  thirty-one  lots  of  various  sizes.  The  original  plat  resembles  a  tri- 

angle, and  the  ordinary  size  of  the  lots  is  sixty  b)'  one  hundred  and  twenty 
feet.  "Lot  number  three,  on  School  street  and  in  the  forks  of  the  same,  is  do- 

nated to  the  Christian  congregation,  or  the  Church  of  Jesus  Christ,  for  a 

meeting-house,  and  for  that  use  forever,  never  to  be  transferred.  Lot  num- 
ber four  is  donated  for  school  purposes,  and  for  that  use  forever,  the  same 

given  by  Absalom  Littell."  The  proprietors  also  donated  land  for  a  market- 
house — a  good  idea,  but  never  realized;  they  also  gave  land  for  school  pur- 

poses, "and  for  that  use  forever". 
Mr.  Littell.  who  was  a  Christian  minister  and  who  owned  quite  a 

large  tract  of  land  in  this  vicinity,  a  man  of  considerable  foresight  and  re- 
markable energy,  was  the  first  to  bring  the  idea  of  founding  a  town  at  this 

point  to  a  successful  termination.  A  combination  of  influences  decided  the 
matter.  The  old  stage  route  between  Jettersonville  and  Salem,  established  as 

early  as  1830,  had  for  a  stopping  place  John  A.  Smith's,  two  miles  above  the 
present  site  of  Hamburg.  This  line  made  three  trips  each  way  every  week. 
Four  horses  were  used,  and  the  business  done  was  considerable. 

These  circumstances  induced  ̂ Ir.  Littell  to  lay  off  the  tiiwn.  But  pre- 

vious  to  1837  the  post-office  had  been  established,  with  William  Wells  as  first 

postmaster.  His  office  was  in  a  little  log  house  on  "Jeff  street,"  as  it  was  gen- 
erally called  by  the  people.  Sometime  after  he  kept  the  office  in  a  frame 

building  on  the  southwest  corner  of  the  cross-roads.  The  year  the  town  was 
laid  out  David  Young  served  as  postmaster.  His  place  of  doing  busi- 

ness was  in  a  small  log  house  on  Jeft'  street.  William  Thompson  came  next, 
keeping  the  office  in  Well's  old  place.  Then  came  John  W.  Jenkins,  in  the 
same  building.  Reuben  Hart  followed  Jenkins  in  a  frame  house  on  the  north- 

west corner  of  the  cross-roads. 

Hamburg  never  attained  much  size  or  prominence,  and  its  prospects  to 
become  metropolitan  are  remote. 

In  1837  all  that  part  of  Grant  No.  i  not  being  in  Jeft'ersonville,  and 
belonging  to  the  Jeft'ersonville  Association,  was  platted  by  a  Mr.  Barnum,  of 
Cincinnati.  The  association  rejected  all  of  that  part  of  his  map  north  from 

Court  avenue  and  east  of  Spring-  street,  and  employed  Edmund  F.  Lee  to 
replat  it.  It  was  replatted  by  Lee,  lithographed  by  T.  Campbell,  of  Louisville, 

and  printed  by  C.  R.  Milne,  of  the  same  city,  and  erroneously  called  Milne's 
map.     This  plat  consists  of  blocks,  not  lots,  or  squares  numbered  from  one  to 



BAIRD  S    HISTORY   OF   CLARK   CO.^   IND.  91 

154.  and  also  of  Coinmercial  Square  at  the  south  end  of  Broadway :  of  Central 
Park,  laying  on  both  sides  (jf  Broadway,  between  Indiana  avenue  and  Illinois 

a\'enue.  and  bounded  on  the  north  and  south  by  Xorth  and  South  Fourth 
streets.  Rose  Hill  school  occupied  one  part  of  Central  Park,  and  Rader  Park 
the  other  part.  The  Milne  map  also  has  Washington  Scpiare  on  each  side  of 
Broadway,  between  North  and  South  Eighth  streets,  and  from  alley  to 

alley ;  also  Franklin  Square,  just  above  the  Court  House  lot ;  also  Jeffer- 
son Square,  bounded  on  the  north  by  Vernon  ( Sparks)  avenue,  nn  the  east 

by  Canal  (Meigs)  street,  on  the  south  l^y  Eleventh  street,  and  on  the  west  by 

\\'att  street. 
This  public  square  is  now  the  northwest  quarter  of  the  United  States 

quarter-master  depot.  Milne's  map  also  calls  for  Market  Square,  which  is 
bounded  by  New  Market  (Court  avenue)  street,  Wall  street,  and  the  alley  east 
of  Kentucky  avenue.  It  includes  Park  street,  and  Park,  and  the  triangle  where 
the  engine  house  and  the  police  station  are  now  located.  That  part  of  Market 

Square  lying  east  of  Spring  street  is  now  divided  up  into  Park  street.  Warder 

Park.  Flynn  avenue,  and  the  Plaza.  No  other  city  in  the  state  has  a  "Plaza." 
Shallcross  Block,  or  Shipyard  Block,  lying  east  of  Meigs  avenue,  to  a  point 

sixty  feet  east  of  Mechanic  street,  and  from  the  river  to  the  alley  north  of  Mar- 

ket street  is  also  a  separate  unnumbered  part  on  Milne's  map.  The  fact  that  the 
land  adjacent  to  Jeffersonville  was  platted,  was  no  sign  that  there  had  been  a 
great  influx  of  settlers.  In  1840  there  were  only  five  hundred  voters  in  the 
city. 

In  1839,  Dr.  Nathaniel  Field,  who  then  represented  Clark  county  in  the 

Legislature,  introduced  a  resolution  authorizing  the  incorporation  of  Jefferson- 
ville as  a  city,  and  an  act  in  conformity  to  this  resolution  was  passed.  In  April 

of  this  year  an  election  was  held  and  Isaac  Heiskell  was  elected  the  first  Mayor. 
The  first  Councilmen  of  the  city  were:  First  ward,  L.  B.  Hall  and  James  G. 

Read :  Second  ward.  John  D.  Shryer  and  Samuel  Alerriw^eather ;  Third  ward, 

A.  \\'athen  and  J.  B.  McHolland ;  Fourth  ward,  Nathaniel  Field  and  James 
Slider;  Fifth  ward,  Daniel  Trotter  and  C.  W.  Magill.  John  Mitchell  was  the 
first  Treasurer,  and  Thomas  Wilson  was  the  first  Clerk.  Jackson  Hulse  was 
the  first  Marshal.  The  population  of  the  city  at  this  time  was  five  hundred  and 

eighteen. 
Two  events  in  the  year  1832  are  worthy  of  note.  The  great  flood  came 

that  year,  the  greatest  ever  known  up  to  that  time.  Havoc  was  wrou,ght  along 

the  river  by  the  w'ashing  away  of  property.  One  account  of  the  damage  done 
to  this  locality  as  related  by  a  Louisville  historian,  is  as  follows: 

"In  1832  a  new  calamity  came  upon  the  city\  This  was  an  unparalleled 
flood  in  the  Ohio.  It  commenced  on  the  loth  of  February  and  continued  until 

the  2 1  St  of  that  month,  having  risen  to  the  extraordinary  height  of  fifty-one 

feet  above  low-water  mark.    The  destruction  of  property  by  this  flood  was  im- 
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niense.  Nearl}-  all  the  frame  buildings  near  the  river  were  either  floated  off  or 
turned  over  and  destroyed.  An  almost  total  cessation  in  business  was  the  nec- 

essary consequence:  even  farmers  from  the  neigliborhood  were  unable  to  get 
to  the  markets,  the  flood  having  so  afTectetl  the  smaller  streams  as  to  render 

them  impassable,  'idie  description  of  the  sufferings  by  this  flood  is  appalling. 
This  calamity,  iiowever,  great  as  it  was.  could  have  but  a  temporary  effect  on 

the  progress  of  the  city,  as  will  be  seen  hereafter." 
The  height  of  fifty-one  feet  given  here  does  not  tally  with  the  official 

record.  The  water  reached  its  greatest  height  on  February  19th — forty-five 
and  four-tenths  feet.  The  Hughes-Palmer  mill,  in  Clarksville,  was  swept 
away  by  this  flood. 

Cholera  was  epidemic  in  1S3-2.  W'hWe  jjeople  were  succumbing  to  the  dis- 
ease everywhere.  Clark  county  lost  very  few,  if  any.  They  died  by  scores  in 

Louisville,  but  we  were  almost  completely  immune  from  it.  At  Salem  there 

were  sixtv  deaths  in  one  night.  In  1833  the  disease  was  veiw  bad,  but  there 

was  none  in  1S34;  in  1835,  however,  it  was  worse  than  ever  before  and  there 

were  many  deaths.  Besides  the  great  flood  of  1832.  the  county  was  subjected 

to  a  great  drouth  during  the  summer  months.  It  remained  the  worst  on  record 

until  that  of  1854.  In  1834.  James  Howard  built  his  first  steamboat  in 

Teffersonville,  the  first  of  a  vast  fleet  of  water  craft  turned  out  from  these  yards 

since  that  time.  In  1832  the  first  foundry  was  started  by  Robert  C.  Green, 

who  came  from  Cincinnati.  Charles  C.  Anderson,  who  had  learned  the  foun- 
drv  business  with  Mr.  Green,  in  Cincinnati,  started  a  small  machine  shop, 

which  he  operated  successfully  on  a  growing  scale  up  to  the  time  of  his  death. 

In  this  year  also  a  project  for  a  bridge  across  the  river  was  inaugurated  and 

James  Guthrie.  Samuel  Gwathmey  and  Daniel  McAllister,  of  Louisville,  went 

to  Indianapolis  to  recei\-e  the  incorporation  of  a  company  by  the  Indiana 
Legislature  to  aid  in  the  building.  One  charter  had  already  been  granted  by 

the  Kentucky  Legislature,  but  another  one  seemed  necessary  to  \n\>h  th.e 
scheme  to  completion.     This  project  made  apparent  progress. 

The  Kentucky  charter  was  deemed  sufficient  and  contracts  for  the  con- 
struction of  the  bridge  were  let.  The  corner  stone  on  the  Kentucky  side  was 

laid  September  7.  1836,  with  great  solemnity  and  ceremony  near  the  foot  of 

Twelfth  street,  two  squares  above  the  present  Pennsylvania  bridge.  On  the 

Jeffersonville  side  the  abutments  were  commenced  also,  but  financial  difficulty 

arose,  the  contractor  failed  to  proceed  with  the  work  and  the  project  finally 

fell  through  and  forty  years  elapsed  before  it  was  broached  again. 

The  first  fair  in  Clark  county  was  held  in  1836,  in  Charlestown.  on 

Denny's  lots,  southeast  of  the  court-house.  Thomas  J.  Henly,  John  Denny,  and 
John  W.  Long  were  instrumental  in  its  success.  Nothing  was  exhibited  of 

special  attraction,  except  Dr.  James  Taggart's  Durham  bull,  the  first  in  the 
county.     Avery  Long  was  their  president,  and  Campbell  Hay,  treasurer. 
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July  26,  1834,  ex-Governor  Jonathan  Jennings  died  at  liis  home  on  the 
picturesque  banks  of  Sinking  Fork  surrounded  by  his  family  and  friends,  and 
beloved  by  all.  His  body  was  taken  to  Charlestown  for  interment  and  laid  in 

an  unmarked  grave.  During  the  pioneer  age  schools  were  imperfectiv  man- 
aged and  even  down  to  later  days  this  is  true  in  some  parts  of  the  countv.  In 

Bethlehem  township  the  school  antedated  the  church. 
Before  the  Antioch  church  had  been  thought  of.  a  school  was  carried  on 

near  where  the  church  now  stands.  The  house  was  sixteen  by  eig'hteen  feet, 
and  had  a  door  which  swung  to  the  outside — a  very  rare  thing,  even  in  those 
backwoods  days.  Cyrus  Crosby  was  the  first  teacher.  After  him  came 

Thomas  J.  Glover:  Dr.  Solomon  Davis,  Rev.  Benjamin  Davis,  a  local  Metho- 
dist preacher;  and  perhaps  a  few  others.  In  1832  Mr.  Martin  Stucker  taught 

in  a  new  hewed-log  house.  Then  came  Charles  Smith,  of  New  York  state; 
Samuel  C.  Jones,  of  Kentucky,  but  at  this  time  a  citizen  of  the  county,  and 
who  had  been  here  as  one  of  the  very  earliest  teachers.  Joel  M.  Smith  came 

soon  after  Jones :  he  was  a  native  of  Xew  York,  but  came  with  his  father's 
family  when  a  boy  and  settled  near  Charlestown.  Thomas  S.  Simington 

taught  in  1839  and  1840,  and  it  was  during  his  term  that  the  old  school-house 
burned  down.  Very  soon  thereafter  another  building  was  ]3ut  up,  in  which 
George  Matthews  acted  as  teacher.  After  the  new  school  law  came  into 
force  a  new  district  was  created,  and  another  building  erected  in  a  different 

place. 
Although  the  town  of  Bethlehem  was  on  the  mail  route  from  Jefiferson- 

ville  to  Vevay,  she  had  no  postmaster.  This  route  was  begun  about  1827, 

and  was  continued  until  1840.  George  Monroe  carried  the  mail  o\-er  the 
route  in  1834-1838.  William  G.  Armstrong  was  the  first  postmaster  and  he 
was  succeeded  in  1835,  by  Asa  Abbott. 

Bennettsville.  in  Carr  township,  is  the  <inly  place  in  that  township  which 
claims  to  be  a  village,  and  its  population  is  not  so  seething  that  you  would 
notice  it.  It  was  laid  off  in  September,  1838,  by  H.  O.  Hedgecoxe,  county 
surveyor,  for  Baily  ]\Iann.  The  first  name  given  to  the  newborn  village  was 
New  Town.  After  several  years  the  name  was  changed,  Bennettsville  being 

thought  preferable  to  the  name  of  Xew  Town.  Benedict  Nugent,  who  was 

the  first  store-keeper  in  the  village,  probably  had  much  to  do  indirectly  with 
the  changing  of  the  name.  The  evidence  is  that  Mr.  Mann  removed  to  some 
other  locality,  and  that  IMr.  Nugent  being  the  most  prominent  man  in  the 

place,  the  citizens,  for  some  reasons  peculiar  to  a  pioneer  people,  almost  un- 

awares gave  it  the  name  of  Bennettsville,  a  prolongation  of  Mr.  Nugent's lan 

The  original  plat  does  not  give  the  width  of  the  streets  and  avenues.  In 

finding  the  direction  which  \\'asliington  street  takes  with  reference  to  section 
lines,  subtract  the  variation  five  degrees  and  fifty  minutes  from  field  note 

north  thirty  degrees  and  forty-five  minutes  west. 
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Bennettsville  is  locatetl  i.jh  the  railroad.  It  has  few  features  which  attract 
attention. 

Tlie  village  of  Xew  Market  was  laid  out  by  Robert  Henthorn  in  1839. 
The  streets  are  si.xty  feet  wide,  avenues  thirty  feet,  alleys  ten  feet.  It  is 
situated  in  the  southern  part  of  survey  or  tract  numl)er  one  hundred  and 

ninety-six  on  the  west  bank  of  Fourteen-mile  creek.  In  1850  Gabriel  Phillippi 
made  an  addition  of  twenty-two  lots  on  the  southeast  comer  of  the  original 

plat.  Round  about  the  \'illag"e  the  country  is  rolling.  In  the  northern  part 
of  the  first  plat  the  ground  is  broken  and  not  well  adapted  for  a  thriving  busi- 

ness place.  The  eastern  half  of  the  village  juts  out  on  the  high  banks  of 

Fourteen-mile  creek.  Here  the  road  leads  up  the  liluffs  as  it  follows  up  the 
dividing  line  between  the  tracts. 

For  many  years  previous  to  1839  New  ]\Iarket  was  a  rendezvous  for 
market  wagons,  which  made  it  a  stopping  point  on  their  way  to  the  towns  on 

the  Falls.  People  soon  learned  to  bring  their  produce  here — eggs,  butter, 
poultry,  calves  and  dressed  hog.s — and  to  receive  in  e.xchange  groceries  and 
d\y  goods.  From  this  fact  the  village  derived  its  name  of  New  Market.  The 
first  man  who  engaged  in  buying  and  selling  country  produce,  and  who  lived 

in  New  Market  and  sold  all  the  articles  common  in  country  stores,  was  An- 

derson Ross.  After  him  came  W^esley  Bottorff.  Mr.  Garner.  J.  W.  Haymaker. 
Dr.  Benson  and  Alexander  Ruddell.  Between  1840  and  1850  there  were  three 
stores  in  the  town  at  the  same  time.  There  was  an  old-fashioned  saloon  here 

about  1845.  which  dealt  out  all  kinds  of  drinks,  from  hard  cider  to  Kentucky 

"Bourbon."  A  prosperous  blacksmith  and  cooper  shop  about  the  same  time 
gave  the  village  an  appearance  of  considerable  business.  In  the  place  now 
there  is  but  one  store. 

The  resort  known  as  the  Jeffersonville  Springs  was  in  the  heyday  of  its 
existence  at  this  time.  Its  patronage  came  from  all  points  of  the  South  and 
West.  In  1838  the  management  built  a  large  and  handsome  hotel  at  the  foot 
of  Broadway  and  the  street  out  to  the  resort  was  graded  and  became  a  highway 
for  the  ecjuipage  of  fashion  and  wealth. 

Jefifersonville  had  never  been  satisfied  with  the  manner  in  which  the 
county  seat  had  been  taken  away  and  removed  to  Charlestown.  There  had 

been  no  controversy  upon  the  county  seat  question  in  the  election  of  the  Rep- 
resentatives to  the  Legislature,  and  they  had  acted  wholly  upon  their  own  per- 

sonal feelings  and  wishes  in  the  matter.  The  people  of  Jeffersonville  bided 
their  time  to  take  back  the  county  seat  and  get  their  revenge  at  the  same  time. 

In  1838  the  county  seat  removal  question  was  raised  again,  and  both  sides  to 
the  question  prepared  for  a  pitched  battle.  A  Senator  and  two  Representatives 
of  the  Legislature  were  to  be  elected  and  the  candidates  were  chosen  on  that 
issue. 

The  anti-removal  candidates  put  in  nomination  for  Senator  were  Ben- 
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jamin  Ferguson,  and  for  the  Lower  House  Col.  John  S.  Simonson  and 

Thomas  J.  Henl}-.  Those  in  favor  of  removal  to  JeiTersonville  put  forward 
William  G.  Armstrong  for  the  Senate,  and  Dr.  Nathaniel  Field  and  Major 

Henr_\'  Hurst  for  Representati\'es.  This  was  a  noted  contest  in  the  political 
history  of  Clark  county  as  the  nominees  were  all  men  of  ability  and  of  great 
personal  popularity.  The  canvass  was  hot  and  the  contest,  as  it  always  is  on 

questions  of  county  seat  remo\-als,  was  bitter.  The  removalists,  the  JefYer- 
sonville  part}',  elected  their  candidates,  but  the  victory  was  barren  of  fruits ; 
the  Legislature  refusing  to  the  people  of  Clark  county  their  wishes  on  that 
subject,  and  Charlestown  still  retained  her  hold  upon  the  county  seat.  But 
the  strength  of  the  removal  feeling  had  been  tested  and  it  showed  that  a 

majority  of  the  people  were  in  favor  of  it.  They  were  defeated  but  not 
discouraged.     After  a  lapse  of  forty  years  the  fight  was  renewed. 

The  Hon.  James  G.  Howard  gi\-es  a  measure  of  the  period  as  follows : 

"At  that  time  school-houses  were  not  very  plentiful.  The  only  one  that  we 

had  in  Jeiifersnn\-ille  was  a  little  old  unused  clerk's  office.  They  had  the  court- 
house here  then,  but  the  county  seat  was  at  Charlestown ;  and  the  first  school 

I  went  to  when  I  came  here  was  to  that  little  clerk's  office.  The  people  did 
not  have  many  opportunities  for  an  education  those  days.  Tliev  were  not 

generally  well  educated ;  but  there  was  a  class  of  men  here  at  that  early  day — 
quite  a  number  of  them,  that  with  all  the  disadvantages  that  surrounded  them 

w'ould  compare  favorably  with  any  I  have  ever  met.  So  far  as  the  morals  of 
the  community  at  that  time  are  concerned,  I  do  not  think  the  period  between 
1830  and  1850  has  ever  been  surpassed.  It  is  astonishing  that  the  intelligence, 
the  judgment  and  stamina  that  constitute  vigorous  manhood  shcjuld  have 
been  consolidated  in  men  of  those  days  of  hardship  and  few  advantages :  and 
when  I  undertake  to  compare  the  present  with  the  past,  I  think  that  the  men 
of  those  days  would  compare  most  favorably  with  those  of  our  present  time. 

I  believe  that  every  man,  so  far  as  I  can  remember,  was  a  church-going  citizen. 
There  was  a  stability  of  character  pervading  the  community  at  that  time  that 
almost  astonishes  me  when  I  think  of  it.  And  more  especially  was  this  true 

of  the  farmers:  nearly  every  fanner  was  a  church-going  man."  The 
population  of  Clark  county  in  1840  was  fourteen  thousand  five  hundred  ninety- 
five. 



CHAPTER  VIII. 

THE  FIFTH  DECADE— 1840  TO  1850. 

On  January  23.  1841,  Jeffersonville  expanded  once  more.  The  Jefferson- 
ville  Association,  Dr.  Nathaniel  Field,  agent,  promoted  the  eastern  division  en- 

largement. This  division  extended  from  the  river  with  the  line  of  Port  Fulton 

(which  is  the  dividing  line  of  C.  and  D.  of  tract  No.  2,  of  the  Illinois  grant) 

to  Eighth  street,  thence  with  Eighth  street  to  within  six  hundred  and  sixty- 

five  feet  of  Fulton  street  (which  is  the  east  line  of  Benson's  addition)  thence 
with  this  line  to  the  Ohio  river,  comprising  blocks  one  to  sixteen,  including 
Chestnut  Grove  cemetery. 

A  flouring  mill,  tannery  and  foundry  were  started  in  Jeffersonville  at  this 
period.  In  1847  Samuel  H.  Patterson  and  James  Callahan  erected  a  brick 
flouring  mill  on  Spring  street.  This  was  the  first  steam  flouring  mill  in  the 
city  and  was  run  for  two  or  three  years  when  I\Ir.  Patterson  bought  out  the 
interest  of  his  partner  and  soon  after  sold  the  business  to  John  F.  Howard,  of 
Louisville.  In  1841  James  Lemaire  started  a  tannery  at  the  corner  of  Eleventh 
street  and  Broadway.  He  carried  on  this  business  until  1848,  when  he  sold 
out  to  John  A.  Ingram  and  J.  AI.  Ross. 

The  Anderson  foundi-y  which  was  carried  on  in  a  small  shop  near  the 
ship  yard,  was  moved,  about  1844.  to  a  location  on  Spring  street.  This  firm, 
consisting  of  Charles  C.  Anderson,  James  Keigwin,  Hamilton  Robinson  and 
Richard  Goss,  did  business  at  this  location  for  a  number  of  years,  but  finally 
in  i860  removed  to  their  present  plant  on  Watt  street,  between  Maple  and 

Court  avenue.  The  necessity  for  a  better  wharf  prompted  the  city  council  oi 
Jeffersonville  to  have  the  present  wharf  between  Spring  and  Pearl  streets 
graded  down  in  1843.  Originally  the  ground  stood  some  six  or  seven  feet 

higher  than  the  pavement  on  Front  street  and  extended  out  nearly  two  hun- 
dred feet  level.  On  this  plat  of  ground  was  a  row  of  large  trees  at  the  edge  of 

the  bluff,  while  just  to  the  rear  of  them  was  an  old  graveyard  which  had  been 

used  by  the  garrison  of  Fort  Steuben  in  1790  for  their  burials.  Haiwey 
McCampbell  had  the  contract  to  grade  down  the  earth  and  the  city  council 

had  the  bodies  of  the  old  soldiers  there  removed  to  the  Mulberry  street  ceme- 
terv.  At  different  times  during  this  decade  Clark  county  was  tlie  host  for 
several  of  the  national  political  leaders.  July  5,  1842,  Gen.  William  Henry 
Harrison  visited  Jeffersonville  and  Charlestown.  At  the  latter  place  he  made 

a  speech  describing  the  battle  of  Tippecanoe    and    refuting  several  charges 
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which  had  lieen  made  as  tcj  his  mismanagement  of  the  troops  in  this  laattle. 

While  here  he  spoke  in  the  most  commendatory  manner  of  a  great  many  offi- 
cers who  had  fought  at  Tippecanoe,  but  never  mentioned  Bigger  or  Beggs. 

These  olificers  had  performed  vahant  service,  and  during  the  whole  campaign 

had  done  their  duty  in  a  brave  and  honorable  manner.  The  General's  neglect  of 
recognition  to  these  officers  not  only  in  his  speeches  but  in  his  reports  of  the 
campaign  and  the  battle  was  noticed.  It  was  and  is  a  matter  of  regret  that 
these  officers  and  the  men  who  fought  under  them  in  this  memorable  action. 
did  not  receive  the  public  recognition  which  was  their  just  due. 

Richard  IM.  Johnson  came,  too.  in  the  course  of  the  fall,  and  delixered 
his  speech  to  attentive  listeners.  He  was  received  by  a  committee,  and  from 

here  went  to  Salem,  in  W'ashington  county.  At  the  foot  of  the  knobs  he  cut 
hickory  canes  for  the  committee,  which  were  preserved  as  relics  of  much  value. 
Thomas  J.  Henly  delivered  the  reception  speech  in  behalf  of  Clark  county.  In 
1844  James  K.  Polk  visited  Jeffersonville.  He  had  been  elected  President, 
and  had  been  brought  across  the  river  to  Jeffersonville,  to  a  reception  given 
in  the  old  Methodist  church  on  Wall  street.  President  Polk  was  on  his  way 

east  and  his  escort  wore  scarlet  coats.  \\'hen  the  boat  landed  at  the  foot  of 
Spring  street,  there  was  a  great  crowd  to  receive  him,  a  band  was  playing, 

and  cannon  were  booming.  In  the  crowd  was  a  raw-boned  individual,  named 
IMaybe,  who  was  an  ardent  Polk  man.  Some  one  made  a  slighting  remark 
about  the  scarlet  coats  and  a  fight  ensued  in  which  Maybe  whipped  about 

twenty  men.  Such  encounters  as  this  were  common  in  those  days,  all  men 
were  plucky  and  were  as  willing  to  fight  as  to  eat. 

In  1844  also  Ben  Hardin,  of  Kentucky,  was  the  speaker  at  a  great  Henry 

Clay  meeting  held  at  the  "Springs."  About  four  thousand  people  were  here 
to  hear  him,  and  the  "Springs'"  which  were  then  in  the  glory  of  their  popu- 
laritv,  was  crowded  to  the  gates.  In  1849  Gen.  Zachary  Taylor  visited 
Jeffersonville  and  was  received  in  the  church  on  Market  street,  between 

Spring  and  Pearl.  He  was  on  his  way  to  Washington  to  be  inaugurated  Pres- 
ident. Millard  Fillmore  spoke  in  Jeffersonville  in  1850  from  the  small  porch 

in  front  of  the  building  on  the  southwest  corner  of  Market  and  Spring- 
streets. 

In  1845  Charlestown  and  Clark  county  suffered  the  loss  of  one  of  its  oldest 
and  most  prominent  citizens.  Gen.  John  Carr.  In  the  Southern  Indianian, 
a  county  paper  published  at  Charlestown  by  William  S.  Ferrier,  is  the 
following  account : 

"It  becomes  our  painful  duty  in  this  week's  paper  to  announce  the  death 
of  Gen.  John  Carr,  who  died  on  the  20th  instant  (January  20,  1845)  after 

a  long  and  very  painful  illness.  His  death  created  a  space  which  cannot  soon 
be  filled.  General  Carr  was  a  man  of  no  ordinary  character.  He  had  long 
occupied  an  elevated  standing  among  his  fellow  men.    He  was  born  in  Fayette 

7 
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county,  Pennsylvania,  on  the  6th  of  April,  1793,  and  hat!  at  the  time  of  his 
death  nearly  completed  his  fifty-second  year.  He  emigrated  from  that  state 
with  his  father  to  the  then  territoiy  of  Indiana,  in  the  spring-  of  1806,  having 
been  a  citizen  of  this  county  ever  since — a  period  of  thirty-nine  years.  During 
the  summer  of  181 1  he  was  engaged  in  several  scouting  parties  on  the  frontier, 
and  in  watching  and  guarding  against  the  approach  of  the  Indians,  who  were 
then  known  to  entertain  hostile  feelings  toward  the  settlers.  At  this  tune  he 

was  but  eighteen  years  of  age.  In  the  fall  of  the  same  year  he  joined  tlie 

Tippecanoe  expedition,  with  Captain  Bigger's  company  of  riflemen,  and 
was  engaged  in  that  memorable  and  bloody  conflict,  which  occurred  on  the 
7th  of  November  of  that  year.  On  the  declaration  of  war  in  1812  he  was 

appointed  a  lieutenant  of  a  company  of  United  States  rangers,  authorized  by 
an  act  of  Congress  and  organized  for  the  defense  of  the  western  frontiers. 

During  the  years  of  181 2  and  1813  he  was  activeh'  engaged  in  se\'eral  im- 
portant and  fatiguing  campaigiis.  which  were  attended  with  extreme  hardship 

and  peril.  The  Mississinewa  and  Illinois  or  Peoria  campaigns  were  particularly 

distingtiished  for  their  many  pri\-ations,  difficulties  and  hairbreadth  escapes ; 
in  all  of  which  he  participated.  During  much  of  his  time  the  command  of 
his  company  devolved  upon  him,  in  consequence  of  the  absence  of  the  captain. 
Though  then  but  a  youth  he  was  equal  to  any  emergency. 

After  the  war  he  filled  successively  several  military  offices.  Aniimg  these 

were  brigadier  and  major-general  of  the  Militia  of  Indiana.  The  latter 
office  he  held  at  the  time  of  his  death.  General  Carr  was  repeatedly  honored 
with  the  confidence  of  his  fellow-citizens  in  the  election  to  several  civil  offices 

of  trust  and  honor.  He  filled  at  various  times  the  offices  of  Recorder,  agent 
for  the  town  of  Indianapolis,  Clerk  of  Clark  County  Circuit  Court,  to  which 

he  was  re-elected,  and  Presidential  Elector  on  the  Jackson  ticket  in  1824.  All 
these  duties  he  discharged  with  honor  to  his  country  and  himself.  In  183 1 

he  was  elected  a  member  of  the  House  of  Representatives  of  the  Twenty-first 
Congress  of  the  United  States,  and  continued  to  serve  in  this  body  for  six 

consecutive  years.  In  1837  he  retired,  but  was  re-elected  for  the  fourth  time 

in  1839,  and  sen'ed  two  years  more,  making  in  all  eight  years"  service  in  that 
body.  His  Congressional  career  w'as  noted  for  industiw,  efficiency  and  use- 

fulness. He  originated  the  sale  of  lands  in  forty-acre  lots,  thus  bringing 
within  the  reach  of  all  the  home  that  so  many  needed.  He  assisted  in  passing 

the  pension  act,  by  which  so  many  of  the  old  Revolutionary  soldiers  received 
pensions  and  afterward  aided  many  of  them  in  establishing  their  claims  to 
this     hard-earned     bounty     of     their        Government.  In     private,      as 
well  as  in  public  life,  he  was  distinguished  for  his  nice  sense  of  honor  and  the 
uprightness  of  his  conduct.  Of  him  it  may  be  said  in  truth  that  he  was  one 

of  God's  noblest  works,  an  honest  man."  Carr  township  was  named  for 
General  Carr. 
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In  1843  there  appeared  in  the  heavens  a  great  comet  which  ahnost  rivaled 

the  splendor  of  the  sun  itself.  It  became  visible  in  America  on  March  6,  1843. 
As  observed  in  this  country  the  greatest  length  of  the  tail  was  about  fifty  de- 

grees, and  its  size  and  brilliancy  may  be  imagined  when  we  learn  that  it  was 
visible  at  midday,  near  the  sun.  with  the  naked  eye.  It  remained  within  vision 
about  a  month  and  caused  the  greatest  excitement,  as  its  appearance  was  co- 

incident w-ith  the  prophecv  of  \\'illiam  Miller  that  the  millenium  would  be  in 1843. 

\\'illiam  Aliller  was  Ijnrn  in  Massachusetts  in  1782  and  held  a  captain's 

commission  in  the  \\'ar  of  1812.  He  held  peculiar  views  concerning  the 
second  advent  of  the  Saviour,  and  began  to  preach  his  doctrine  in  1833.  In 
1840  the  first  general  conference  of  the  Second  Advent  believers  was  held  in 

Boston,  and  the  work  spread  with  rapidity  from  that  time  on.  All  the  calcu- 

lations of  the  sect  were  to  the  effect  that  in  the  year,  1843  '^^'^^  to  be  the  great 
da}'  when  the  faithful  were  to  be  caught  up  in  the  air  and  enter  into  the 
realms  of  celestial  bliss  forevermore.  In  Clark  county  this  sect  had  many 
followers.  Mordecai  and  Christopher  Cole  in  Charleston  and  Dr.  Nathaniel 
Field,  of  Jeffersonville.  were  the  leaders  in  the  Millerite  following  in  these 

localities.  April  14.  1843.  was  the  revealed  date  and  as  the  great  day  ap- 
proached, many  of  the  believers  in  Clark  county,  as  well  as  elsewhere,  were 

waiting  in  their  white  ascension  robes  to  be  caught  up  in  the  air,  or  were  on 

the  house-tops  or  in  the  grave  yards  watching.  Many  disposed  of  their 
worldly  goods.  For  some  days  preceding  this  time,  their  secular  business 

w-as,  for  the  most  part,  suspended,  and  those  who  looked  for  the  advent,  gave 
themselves  over  to  the  work  of  preparation  for  that  event,  as  they  would 

have  done  if  they  had  been  on  a  bed  of  sickness  expecting  death.  Notwith- 
standing the  ridicule  heaped  upon  them  by  the  public,  they  continued  to 

maintain  their  societies  even  after  their  great  disappointment,  and  the  Second 
Adventists  still  huve  churches  in  the  countv. 

Sellersburg  was  laid  out  in  1846,  by  Closes  W.  Sellers  and  John  Hill. 

Sellersburg  is  very  irregularly  laid  oft.  None  oi  the  forty-two  lots  have  a 
riglit  angle.  It  resembles  an  isosceles  triangle  pressed  together  from  its  base. 

One  writer  says,  "Sellersburg  resembles  a  linx  twisted  and  squeezed  together." 
Sellersburg  together  with  Cementville  and  Speeds  is  a  great  shippinif  point  for 
cement,  an  industry  which  will  l)e  treated  later  on. 

New  Market  became  a  post-office  about  1845.  Mails  were  formerly 

carried  through  the  eastern  end  of  Oregon  township  on  their  way  to  Bethle- 
hem and  Madison,  from  Charlestown.  Poke  Run  was  the  only  office  for  many 

years  in  the  township.  Dr.  John  Covert  was  postmaster  here  for  fourteen 

years.  The  way  of  carrying  mails  was  on  horseback  with  a  pair  of  saddle- 

bags: or  in  summer,  a  light  \-eliicle  was  sometimes  used,  when  a  passenger 
might  be  picked  up  along  the  route.     After  the  Ohio  &  Mississippi  liranch 
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was  built,  Poke  Run  ceased  to  be  a  post-office.  New  Alarket  liad  grown  suffi- 
ciently to  gain  the  right  of  having  an  office  within  her  limits.  Accordingly 

the  old  route  was  abandoned  and  a  new  one  established,  which  ran  from 

Charlestown  to  New  Washington  via  New  Market.  The  first  postmaster  was 

John  W.  Haymaker.  After  him  came  'Sisney  Conner,  D.  M.  Turner,  and 
James  A.  Watson. 

The  first  post-office  in  Union  township  was  established  at  Sylvan  Grove, 

one-quarter  of  a  mile  south  of  Memphis,  on  the  route  which  led  from  Charles- 
town  to  Bedford,  in  Lawrence  county,  Indiana.  The  office  was  established 

in  1847,  with  John  Y.  Wier  as  the  first  post-master,  and  who  held  the  office 
for  many  years.  Some  time  in  i860  this  route  was  abolished  and  the  office 
taken  to  ̂ Memphis.  The  first  postmaster  in  Memphis  was  J.  F.  ]\IcDeitz :  then 

came  U.  S.  Reynolds,  A.  P.  Jackson,  Daniel  Guernsey,  and  John  D.  Coombs. 

Blue  Lick  was  established  about  1842  by  the  efforts  of  the  Thompsons.  Guern- 
seys, McDietzes,  Kelleys  and  Hawses,  with  Thomas  McDietz,  Sr.,  as  the 

postmaster. 
But  few  of  the  smaller  post-offices  established  in  this  decade  remain. 

The  rural  free  delivery  has  wiped  them  out  of  existence,  and  has  replaced 
them  with  a  service  far  superior  to  what  was  given  before. 

Lt  Jeffersonville  the  state  prison  was  changed  from  its  old  location  to  the 
present  in  1845,  and  the  wall  and  buildings  at  the  corner  of  Ohio  avenue  and 

Market  street  were  torn  down,  and  the  brick  sold  to  various  purchasers  in  Jef- 
fersonville. The  old  house  at  the  southwest  corner  of  Market  and  Locust 

streets  was  built  from  these  old  prison  brick.  The  State  Reformatory  is  in 

Clarksville,  not  Jeft'ersonville.  The  first  warden  of  the  prison  south  in  its 
new  location  was  William  Lee.  This  institution  from  its  log  cells  at  Ohio 
avenue  and  Market  street  to  its  new  location,  and  its  change  in  management 

and  principle,  will  be  described  in  a  separate  chapter.  In  1845  the  historic 

old  Governor's  mansion  at  Fort  and  Front  streets  burned  down.  It  was  here 
that  Governor  Posey  retired  when  he  left  Corydon,  and  it  was  here  that 
General  LaFayette  was  received  in  1825. 

In  1847  the  second  great  flood  swept  down  the  Ohio  valley  leaving  waste 
and  destmction  in  its  path.  It  reached  its  highest  December  i8th.  and  rose 

to  the  height  of  forty  and  eight-tenths  feet,  only  four  and  six-tenths  feet  below 
the  record  of  February  19.  1832. 

The  idea  of  building  a  canal  around  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio,  which  seems 

to  have  had  a  periodical  recurrence  in  Jeft'ersonville,  took  on  a  tangible  form 

again  in  1848.  On  December  6th,  of  that  year  an  act  to  incorporate  the  "In- 

diana Canal  Company"'  was  passed  by  the  Legislature  and  the  following  were 

named  as  incorporators :  Athanasius  Wathen,  \\'illiam  D.  Beach,  ̂ ^'illiam  G. 
Armstrong,  Samuel  H.  Patterson.  John  D.  Shryer,  Thomas  J.  Howard,  Sam- 

uel Merriwether.  George  F.  Savitz,  of    Clark    county;    Shepparrl    ̂ ^'hitman. 
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James  Brook.  Randal  Crawfcird.  Jolin  Bnjwn.  Somerville  E.  Leonard,  Henry 
H.  Royse,  John  Austin,  William  A.  Weir,  of  Floyd  county :  John  Law.  of 
Knox  county;  William  Carpenter,  of  Vanderburgh  county:  Richard  W. 

Thompson,  of  Vigo  county:  Abijah  \\'.  Pitcher  and  John  W'oodburn,  of 
Jefiferson  county:  George  H.  Dunn,  of  Dearborn  county:  James  Morrison, 
of  jMarion  county :  Jacob  Burnet  and  Josiah  Lawrence,  of  Cincinnati.  Ohio : 
Benjamin  Loder,  of  New  York  City :  Erastus  Corning,  of  Albany.  Xew 
York,  and  Henry  B.  Stone,  of  Boston,  Massachusetts.  The  capital  stock  was 
five  hundred  thousand  dollars,  but  the  directors  had  power  to  increase  this 
amount  by  the  sale  of  additional  shares  as  they  thought  necessary.  The  tolls 
which,  were  to  be  charged  were  as  follows :  For  steamboats,  sea  vessels, 
barges  or  keel  boats,  any  sum  not  exceeding  seventy  cents  per  ton :  for  each 
flat  boat,  not  exceeding  twenty  dollars :  for  each  raft  of  timber,  plank  or  other 
lumber,  not  exceeding  twenty  dollars,  for  each  sixty  feet  in  length  and  twenty 
feet  in  width.  The  state  of  Lndiana  fnot  the  United  States)  was  given  the 
right  to  transport  troops,  munitions  of  war  and  provisions  free  of  toll  in 
time  of  war. 

On  June  i6,  1849,  the  directors  met  at  JefTersonville  and  elected  James 
C.  Hall  as  president :  Amos  Lovering,  secretar}\  and  William  D.  Beach, 

treasurer.  A\'illiam  J.  Ball  was  appointed  chief  engineer  and  he  made  a  volu- 
minous report  dated  January  i,  1850.  He  enumerated  several  schemes,  the 

first  of  which  is  the  opening  of  a  navigable  channel  in  the  middle  of  the  river : 

second,  the  digging  of  a  canal  from  the  head  of  the  middle  chute  to  the  foot 
of  the  Kentucky  chute :  third,  a  canal  near  the  Lidiana  side  to  the  head  of  big 
eddy,  thence  with  locks  through  Goose  Island ;  fourth  a  canal  through  Goose 
and  Rock  Island,  but  with  a  dam  across  the  river  at  the  head  of  Goose  Island 

instead  of  the  canal  from  that  point  up  to  the  head  of  the  Falls ;  fifth,  a  new 
canal  on  the  Indiana  side  from  Jeffersonville  to  just  below  the  point  of  rocks, 
to  be  fed  from  the  upper  pool  of  the  Ohio :  sixth,  a  new  canal  to  be  built  on 

the  Indiana  side  from  Jefifersonville  to  "Falling  Run,"  canal  to  be  fed  from 
the  upper  pool  of  the  river;  seventh,  a  new  canal  built  on  a  high  level,  to  be 
fed  by  a  navigable  feeder  from  Columbus.  Indiana,  to  Jeffersonville.  eighty 
miles  in  length.  The  plan  adopted  was  a  canal  from  one  hundred  feet  to  two 
hundred  feet  wide,  extending  from  above  the  drift  of  the  Falls  to  the  whirlpool, 
at  which  point  the  locks  were  to  be  located.  From  this  lower  end  the  natural 
channel  was  to  be  improved. 

The  length  of  this  proposed  canal  was  one  and  three-fourths  miles,  the 
lockage  twent}'  and  twelve  one  hundredths  feet,  and  the  total  cost  was  to  be 

six  hundred  and  eighty-eight  thousand  thirty-three  dollars  and  sixty-five  cents. 
The  project  never  got  beyond  the  paper  period,  and  the  idea  of  transporting 

boats  around  the  F"alls  was  allowed  to  sink  into  innocuous  desuetude  until 
another  genius  conceived  the  new  idea  of  building  a  railroad  from  the  head 
to  the  foot  of  the  rapids  and  hauling  steamboats  around  on  cars. 
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The  Mexican  war  peiiod  in  Clark  county  like  other  counties  throughout 
the  state  was  one  of  excitement,  particularly  so  to  this  county  because  the 

regiments  all  came  to  the  southern  part  (jf  the  state  to  embark  on  their 

journey.  Fort  Clark,  called  Camp  Joe  Holt  in  the  \\'ar  of  the  Rebellion, 
was  the  scene  of  rendezvous  of  the  Fourth  Indiana  Volunteer  Infantry,  and 

as  they  embarked  on  steamboat  here  the  war  was  brought  very  near  to  home. 
In  the  chapters  of  the  military  annals  of  Clark  county,  appear  accounts  of 
these  events. 

Following  the  ̂ lexican  war  the  gold  fever  occupied  the  minds  of  the 
more  adventurous  and  some  few  left  to  try  their  fortunes  in  the  far  West. 

Cholera  appeared  again  in  1849,  but  with  far  less  mortality  than  in  1S35. 

A  not  very  bright  description  of  the  sanitary  and  health  conditions  of  Jeffer- 

sonville  is  given  in  Doctor  Drake's  treatise  published  in  1850. 
"It  stands  about  a  mile  above  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio,  on  a  terrace,  the 

south  or  river  side  of  which  is  forty  feet  above  low  water,  and  about  four 
hundred  and  twenty  feet  above  the  sea.  This  terrace,  like  most  others  along 
the  Ohio,  declines  from  near  the  river  and  is  liable  to  inundation,  so  that  in 

high  floods  the  town  becomes  inundated.  Both  above  and  below  it  there  are 

small  streams  entering  the  Ohio,  which  are  the  channels  by  which  these  over- 
flows are  effected.  To  the  north  and  northeast,  near  the  town,  there  are 

ponds  skirted  with  marsh,  one  of  which  has  lately  been  drained.  The  surface, 
like  that  of  the  plain  on  which  Louisville  stands,  on  the  opposite  side  of  the 
river,  is  argillaceous,  and  retains  the  water  which  rains  or  flows  upon  it.  It 
will  be  obsen-ed  that  all  the  insalubrious  surface  lies  to  the  summer  leeward 
of  the  town,  but  the  flats  and  stagnant  waters  near  the  mouth  of  Beargrass 

creek,  on  the  opposite  side  of  the  Ohio,  are  directly  to  the  windward  of  this 
town,  with  only  the  river  intervening.  Jelfersonville  is  also  to  the  leeward 
of  the  Falls,  and  exposed  therefore  to  any  insalubrious  gases  which  may  be 

liberated  by  the  agitation  of  the  waters.  Two  miles  north  of  the  town  a 
watershed,  between  the  Ohio  river  and  Silver  creek,  commences  and  runs  to 

Charlestown,  thirteen  miles  north.  At  its  commencement  this  terrace  is  sixty 
feet  above  the  level  of  the  town,  and  its  rise  afterward  is  about  ten  feet  per 
mile.  Doctor  Stewart,  to  whom  I  am  indebted  for  several  of  the  facts  in  this 

article,  informs  me  that  autumnal  intermittents  and  remittents  are  decidedly 

prevalent  in  Jeft'ersonville  and  its  vicinity.  The  penitentiary  in  the  state  of 
Indiana,  stands  in  the  western  part  of  Jeffersonville  (not  so — in  Clarksville). 
Doctor  Collom,  its  physician,  informs  me  that  the  convicts  are  every  year  in- 

vaded by  autumnal  fever,  but  in  a  degree  rather  less  than  the  inhabitants  of  the 

town."  This  condition,  we  are  happy  to  say  has  been  obliterated  and  Jefiferson- 
ville  together  with  the  rest  of  Clark  county  has  a  good  health  record. 

On  April  23,  1839.  John  Fleming  surveyed  the  west  half  of  C  of  Grant 
No.  2,  of  the  Illinois  grant,  and  the  plat  was  certified  to  on  May  17,  1848. 
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This  addition  to  Jeffersonville  lay  between  Fulton  street  and  the  west  line  of 
the  eastern  division,  and  from  the  Ohio  river  to  Eighth  street.  It  was  called 

Benson's  addition  and  was  divided  into  blocks  numbered  from  one  to  twelve. 

In  Benson's  addition  Fleming  gave  names  to  all  the  alleys,  as  follows : 
Wagoner,  Cherry,  Virgin,  Cypress,  Sassafras  and  Wood. 

In  lx3th  Charlestown  and  Jefifersonville  schools  of  no  small  merit  were 
established  in  the  latter  part  of  the  decade.  In  Charlestown  the  Rev.  H.  H. 

Cambern,  in  1849,  bought  up  the  old  Masonic  hall,  or  rather  the  original 
seminary,  made  additions  and  erected  boarding  houses,  and  opened  a  female 
seminary  for  the  first  time  in  Charlestown.  Rev.  George  J.  Reed  was  the 
first  teacher.  In  this  school  all  the  higher  branches  were  taught,  the  ladies 

leaving,  in  many  instances  with  a  diploma.  Cambern's  seminary  lasted  for 
fifteen  or  twenty  years.  The  Rev.  Mr.  Reed  was  succeeded  by  John  F.  Lind- 
ley,  of  Frederickstown,  Ohio.  He  was  succeeded  by  Zebulon  B.  Sturgiis 
about  1859.  Sturgus  had  previously  been  teaching  in  a  frame  building  on 

upper  Thompson  street  in  what  was  known  as  the  Charlestown  boys'  school. 
Here  Sturgus  made  considerable  reputation,  his  students  coming  from  differ- 

ent states  along  the  Ohio  river.  But  in  course  of  time  changes  were  made. 
Untoward  circumstances  threw  the  old  teacher  out  of  his  position.  Students 

gathered  here  from  all  sections,  and  the  faithful  old  teacher  had  the  pleasure 

of  seeing-  in  after  years  some  of  them  quite  distinguished  lawyers,  statesmen 
and  philanthropists.  Henry  Crawford,  one  of  the  prominent  lawyers  of 

Chicago,  and  Senator  Booth,  of  California,  received  much  of  their  early  edu- 
cation from  ■Mr.  Sturgus.  The  old  teacher  was  a  strict  disciplinarian.  To- 

bacco-chewers  and  swearers  were  not  allowed  among  his  students.  It  is  re- 
lated that  when  the  first  locomotive  passed  over  the  Ohio  &  Mississippi 

Railroad,  he  whipped  all  the  scholars  for  imitating  the  engine.  Sturgus  is  no 

more:  the  old  schools  are  gone,  and  the  present  generation  is  reaping  their 

golden  grain. 

In  Jeffersonville  a  'Mr.  Hibben  established  a  seminary  on  the  north  side 
of  jMarket  street,  just  below  Pearl  street  about  1850.  This  school  was  a  high 
class  institution  and  had  quite  a  reputation,  receiving  scholars  from  a  distance 
and  for  that  day  .giving  them  an  education  above  the  average.  In  Professor 

Wylie's  history  of  Indiana  University  in  Bloomington,  appears  the  following: 
"He  (Hibben)  completed  his  sophomore  year  at  Jefferson  College,  Pennsyl- 

vania, and  was  graduated  at  Transylvania  University  September  i,  1848, 
from  which  university  he  received  the  degree  of  A.  M.  He  then  began  his 

career  as  a  teacher  in  Jeft'ersonville,  Indiana."  This  school  lasted  until  in  the 
fifties  and  was  known  as  the  Jeffersonville  Seminary.  In  1850  the  population 

of  Clark  county  was  fifteen  thousand  eight  hundred  twenty-eight. 



CHAPTER  IX. 

SIXTH  DECADE— 1S51-1860. 

This  pericd  in  Clark  county  was  marked  by  no  events  of  importance  to 
history.  The  quiet  pursuits  of  peace  gave  employn;ent  to  the  minds  and 
energies  of  the  people,  and  the  pohtical  tension  which  was  beginning  to  be 

drawn  everj^where  throughout  the  country  gave  a  prominence  to  national 
affairs  which  dwarfed  local  issues. 

Townships,  towns  and  villages  were  laid  oft,  a  fact  which  testifies  to  the 
progress  of  the  county  which  otherwise  would  not  be  evident.  Broom  Hill  in 

Carr  township  was  begun  in  185 1  by  Thomas  Littell,  who  lived  in  this  im- 
mediate neighborhood.  Here  he  began  the  making  of  brooms,  and  from  this 

circumstance  the  village  derived  its  name.  But  Littell  was  not  the  first 
settler  in  this  locality  by  any  means,  though  he  built  the  first  house  in  the 

village  and  opened  the  first  store.  Littell's  house  stood  on  the  north  side  of 
the  railroad.  Previous  to  Littell,  about  the  year  1809,  one  Michael  Bums, 
of  Connecticut,  settled  here  and  built  a  cabin  on  the  site  of  Broom  Hill,  on 

the  south  side  of  the  railroad.     Austin  Rowe  was  a  storekeeper  after  Littel. 

Broom  Hill  has  had  many  small  manufactories.  William  Leighton.  in 

the  former  part  of  its  history,  put  up  a  shingle  macl.ine.  He  also  erected  a 

grist-mill  and  afterwards  attached  to  it  a  stave  factory.  At  one  time  a 

thriving  portable  saw-mill  was  run  by  the  Bussey  brothers.  It  lasted  for  a 

few  years  only.  After  the  Bussey  brothers,  W^illiam  McKinley  and  ]\Iichael 
Bums  erected  a  saw-mill.     The  business  done  at  this  mill  was  considerable. 

Blacksmith  shops,  shoemaker  shops,  and  the  various  trades  have  been 
carried  on  in  the  village,  though  never  on  a  very  extended  scale.  Broom  Hill 
is  noted  as  once  being  the  seat  of  extensive  railroad  supplies.  During  the  first 

few  years  of  the  railroad  the  village  furnished  more  wood  than  any  other 
station  on  the  road. 

Bridgeport,  much  like  Broom  Hill,  came  into  existence  about  the  time 
the  railroad  was  built.  The  section  hands  created  a  demand  for  many  of 
the  coarser  wares,  and  hence,  as  a  result,  Samuel  Pkimmer,  of  this  section, 

began  to  sell  various  things,  such  as  shovels,  picks,  spades,  drills  and  crow- 
bars, to  the  men  employed  by  the  railroad.  Mr.  Plummer  died  before  the  road 

was  completed,  and  the  store  fell  into  the  hands  of  his  brother,  Charles.  Soon 
after  it  was  finished  James  Warman  erected  a  warehouse  on  the  north  side 
of  the  track.    Here  were  stored  various  grains,  the  house  serving  as  a  kind  of 
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"depot  for  supplies"  for  the  people  round  about.  Wesley  W'arman  was  a 
storekeeper  here  about  this  time. 

The  village  of  Henry\-ille  is  situated  in  the  center  of  Alonroe  township. 

Many  yeai-s  before  the  place  was  laid  out  there  was  an  old  Indian  trail  running 
through  the  village,  much  as  the  Pennsyh-ania  railroad  now  runs.  It  is 

located  on  Wolf  run  and  Miller's  fork  of  Silver  creek,  the  former  a  tributary 
stream  of  Silver  creek,  which  derived  its  name  from  the  great  rendezvous  it 
furnished  wolves  forty  years  before  Henryville  was  platted.  The  village  lies 
in  a  beautiful  valley,  with  hills  on  the  east  side,  and  in  sight  of  the  famous 
mounds.  A  little  further  east,  on  a  high  hill,  is  where  the  red  man  of  forest 

manufactured  his  darts,  implements  of  war,  and  himting  utensils.  Formerly 
the  village  was  known  by  the  name  of  Morristown,  which  name  it  retained 

for  three  yems.  It  was  laid  out  in  1850,  and  in  1853  was- named  Henryville, 
in  honor  of  Col.  Henry  Ferguson.  The  Pennsvlvania  Railrfiad  passes 
through  the  village,  going  almost  due  north,  and  leaves  the  place  in  a  very 
irregular  shape. 

Joseph  Biggs  was  the  first  storekeeper  in  Henry\'ille.  He  kept  his 
stock  in  a  little  frame  house  on  the  west  side  of  the  railroad.  A  Mr.  Over- 

man came  ne.xt,  but  stayed  only  for  a  short  time.  He  kept  in  a  little  frame 
house  on  the  east  side  of  the  railroad.    Henry  Bussey  and  David  Fish  followed. 

The  post-ofiice  was  established  immediately  after  the  railroad  was  built. 
The  first  postmaster  was  Mr.  Overman,  second,  Harvey  Bussey:  third,  Mr. 
Lewis;  fourth,  John  Bolan,  who  acted  in  this  capacity  two  years. 

Memphis  is  the  only  village  regularly  laid  rmt  in  Union  township.  It 
was  platted  by  Thompson  McDeitz  in  1852.  The  lots  are  at  right  angles 

with  Main  street.  There  ha\'e  been  several  additions  made,  the  most  impor- 

tant of  which  is  J.  F.  Willey's.  of  very  awkward  shape,  made  so  because  of 
the  location  of  the  land.  Generally  the  town  is  shaped  ungainly.  The  railroad 
passes  through  the  principal  street,  while  the  business  houses  are  on  either 
side.  Memphis  is  wholly  in  tract  number  two  hundred  and  three,  of  the 

Illinois  grant.  Neither  of  the  founders  of  the  village  ever  lived  here  perma- 
nently. McDeitz  was  a  resident  of  Blue  Lick,  and  Colonel  Willey  of  L-tica 

township.  Tract  numbei^  two  hundred  and  three  was  originally  owned 
by  heirs  in  Virginia. 

Previous  to  1852  the  citizens  of  what  is  now  Oregon  were  included  in 
the  township  of  Charlestown.  People  residing  in  the  northeastern  part  of 
the  latter  township  found  it  inconvenient  to  attend  elections  at  the  county 

seat,  or  even  nearer  home.  The  old,  original  place  of  voting  was  constant!}' 
losing  much  of  its  regular  business,  and  other  towns  and  villages  were  gaining 
what  she  lost.  So  the  residents  naturally  desired  to  be  struck  off  from  the 
old  township,  and  to  have  a  separate  organization  of  their  own.  These  and 
many  more  influential  people  finally  induced  a  petition  to  be  circulated  for 
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signers,  and  to  be  presented  to  the  honorable  board  of  County  Commissioners, 
praying  for  a  new  township  organization.  The  petition  was  written  by  Dr. 
John  Covert,  a  chstinguished  resident  of  Xew  Market,  and  mainly  through 

his  efforts  the  plan  succeeded.  \Mthin  the  same  year.  1852.  the  County  Com- 
missioners granted  the  request,  and  hence  the  present  township  of  Oregon. 

It  was  struck  oft"  the  northeastern  side  of  Charlestown,  and  is  four  tracts  wide 
from  northeast  to  southwest  and  ten  from  northwest  to  southeast,  making  in 

all  forty  five-hundred-acre  tracts,  if  the}'  were  wholly  in  Clark  county.  But 
the  county  line  between  Scott  and  Clark  counties  cuts  off  the  northeastern 

corner  of  the  township,  and  throws  three  or  four  tracts  into  the  county  of 

Scott.  From  this  fact  the  tract  which  would  naturally  belong  to  Oregon  ex- 

tending further  in  a  northeasterly  direction  than  any  of  those  in  other  town- 
ships, the  name  was  derived.  The  Territory  of  Oregon  was  then  the  most 

distant  body  of  land  lying  in  the  northwest  which  belonged  to  the  United 

States :  since  there  seemed  to  be  a  striking  coincidence  between  the  two  sec- 
tions, it  was  mutually  agreed  that  the  new  township  should  be  named  after 

the  new  territory.     , 
The  site  of  Otisco  was  formerly  owned  by  Thomas  Cowling :  but  after 

his  death  his  son,  Samuel,  inherited  the  property.  They  were  of  English 
extraction,  and  came  here  about  1830,  when  the  upper  part  of  the  township 
was  a  dense  forest.  Immediately  after  the  railroad  was  built,  which  was  in 

1854,  the  village  w-as  laid  out. 
Carr  township  lies  in  the  western  half  of  the  county.  It  was  organized 

in  1854.  being  struck  off'  almost  entirely  from  the  eastern  side  of  W'ood.  It 
has  an  area  of  nearly  twenty-seven  scjuare  miles,  or  over  seventeen  thousa^nd 

acres,  one  third  of  Avhich  is  knobs.  It  is  bounded  on  the  north  by  ̂ ^^ood, 
Monroe,  and  Union  townships ;  on  the  east  by  Union  and  Silver  Creek  town- 

ships: on  the  south  by  Floyd  county:  and  cm  the  west  by  W'ood  townshii). 
The  boundaries  are  very  irregular  on  tlie  north  and  east  sides.  They  are  set 
forth  in  language  something  like  the  following : 

Beginning  on  the  line  which  divides  Clark  from  Floyd  county,  and  on 
the  line  which  divides  sections  nineteen  and  twenty,  and  from  thence  running 

north  until  it  strikes  the  southwest  corner  of  section  thirty-two :  thence  east 
and  thence  north  to  where  tracts  numbers  two  hundred  and  fifty,  two  hun- 

dred and  thirty-four,  and  two  hundred  and  thirtv-five  corner:  thence  south, 
with  variations,  until  it  strikes  the  Muddy  fork  of  Silver  creek ;  thence  witli 

that  stream,  with  its  meanderings.  to  the  south  side  of  tract  number  one  hun- 
dred and  sixty-six ;  thence  west,  with  variations,  to  the  county  line  of  Floyd, 

near  St.  Joseph's  Hill,  and  thence  with  the  dividing  line  between  Clark  and 
Floyd  counties  to  the  place  of  beginning. 

This  township  is  composed  mostly  of  sections,  though  there  are  four  or 
five  of  the  Grant  tracts  lying  along  the  eastern  side  of  the  township. 



BAIRD  S   HISTORY   OF   CLARK  CO.^   IND.  I07 

Petersburg,  one  of  the  little  villages  of  Silver  Creek  township,  was  laid 
out  about  the  year  1854,  by  Lewis  Bottorff.  The  survey  was  made  by  Danie! 

H.  McDaniels.  Owing  to  some  irregularity  in  the  Recorder's  office  the  plat 
was  never  recorded.  There  were  eighteen  lots  fifty  by  two  hundred  feet,  and 
the  village  was  named  in  honor  of  Peter  McKossky,  a  Russian  who  lived  near 
by  on  the  Muddy  fork. 

Union  township,  covering  an  area  of  nearly  thirteen  thousand  acres,  oc- 
cupies the  central  portion  of  the  county,  and  according  to  the  census  of  1900 

has  a  population  of  nine  hundred  and  sixteen.  It  was  organized  in  September, 
1858.  mainly  through  the  efforts  of  Col.  John  Carr.  It  is  the  newest  of  all 
the  townships  of  the  county,  and  takes  its  name  from  the  fact  that  it  was 

made  up  from  a  union  of  parts  of  other  townships.  Monroe  bounds  it  on  the 

north,  except  a  narrow  strip  on  the  east  side,  where  the  township  of  Charles- 
town  forms  also  the  eastern  boundary ;  the  townships  of  Carr  and  Charles- 
town  bound  it  on  the  south ;  Monroe  and  Carr  form  the  western  boundaiy. 
The  township  as  it  now  is  was  erected  out  of  Monroe.  Charlestown  and  Carr 
townships.  The  extreme  northern  end  of  Silver  Creek  township  and  the 
extreme  southern  corner  of  Union  unite  in  the  middle  of  Silver  creek,  near 

the  southwest  corner  of  tract  number  one  hundred  and  sixty-six ;  also  the 
extreme  portions  of  Carr  and  Charlestown  townships — the  only  instance  of 
the  kind  in  the  county. 

In  the  late  forties  the  town  of  Jeft'ersonville  became  interested  in  the 
construction  of  a  rairoad.  The  Jefferson ville  Railroad  Company  was  in- 

corporated by  an  act  approved  January  20.  1846.  which  empowered  the  com- 

pany to  build  a  road  from  Jeft'ersonville  to  Columbus,  and  also  to  use  the 
tracks  of  the  Madison  and  Indianapolis  Railroad.  The  company  organized 
under  the  name  of  the  Ohio  &  Indiana  Railroad  Company,  on  the  17th  of 

March,  1848,  with  James  Keigwin.  Samuel  Merriwether,  William  G.  Arm- 
strong, A.  Walker,  Woods  Maybury,  Benjamin  Irwin,  J.  B.  Abbott.  J.  D. 

Shryer,  \\'.  A.  Richardson.  W.  D.  Beech,  and  Samuel  McCampbell  as  direc- 
tors, and  William  G.  Armstrong,  president :  Samuel  McCampbell,  secretaiy, 

and  J.  G.  Read,  treasurer,  as  its  officers.  Th^  name  of  the  corporation  was 
changed  to  the  Jeffersonville  Railroad  Company  in  1849.  and  in  the  fall  of 
1852  the  road  was  completed. 

The  two  roads  were  consolidated  subsequent  to  1862  as  the  Jeft'ersonville, 
Madison  &  Indianapolis  Railroad  Company.  This  consolidation  was  a  prac- 

tical absorption  of  the  older  by  the  younger  road,  as  the  officers  and  directors 

of  the  Jeffersonville  Railroad  Company  were  retained  in  office.  This  rail- 
road now  exists  under  the  name  of  the  Pennsylvania,  having  been  absorbed 

by  that  company  in  1873. 

In  September.  1853.  the  Fort  Wayne  &  Southern  Railroad  was  first  dis- 

cussed in  the  Jeff'ersonville  council.     This  discussion    finally    culminated  in 
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April.  1855,  in  the  purchase  of  two  hundred  thousand  dollars"  worth  of  stock- 
in  the  company.  The  route  of  this  road  after  it  entered  the  county  about 
where  the  Pennsylvania  now  crosses  Silver  creek  was  up  Front  street  in 

Clarksville  and  Jefifersonville  to  the  foot  of  Pearl  street,  where  the  terminal 

was  to  be  located.  The  efforts  of  such  men  as  A\'illiam  G.  Armstrong.  James 
Keigwin,  Samuel  Merriwether,  J.  D.  Shryer,  Woods  Maybury  and  James  G. 
Read  did  much  to  advance  the  interests  of  Jeffersonville,  although  the  heritage 

of  the  Fort  Wayne  &  Southern  investment  is  nothing  to  create  much  pleasure 

in  the  breasts  of  the  present  tax-payers  of  the  city. 
The  peritxlical  recurrence  of  the  scheme  to  get  steamboats  over  the  Falls 

appeared  again  in  1852.  The  movement  began  with  the  organization  of  a 
companv  which  intended  to  take  steamboats  out  of  the  water  at  Jeffersonville 
and  transport  them  by  rail  around  the  Falls,  depositing  them  again  upon  the 
bosom  of  the  stream  below  the  Falls.  This  company  was  chartered  May  11, 

1852,  and  was  called  the  "Ohio  Falls  Marine  Railroad  Company."  The 
seal  of  the  company  depicts  the  ease  with  which  this  feat  was  to  be  performed. 

The  boat  resting  gracefully  upon  the  cars  "en  train"  is  shown  with  smoke 
pouring  out  of  her  chimneys,  and  from  the  steam  issuing  from  her  escape 

pipes  her  engines  are  evidently  still  at  work.  Among  the  citizens  of  Jeffer- 
sonville who  subscribed  money  for  the  scheme  were  Sidney  S.  Lyon,  L.  D. 

Clemmons,  John  P.  Cox.  B.  F.  Marsh.  Joseph  Lank,  ̂ ^'arren  How,  George 
L.  Swartz  and  David  H.  Lane.  They  each  subscribed  for  forty  shares.  This 

ship  railroad  was  to  be  "wholly  in  Clark  county,"  and  was  "to  begin  at  a  place 

in  the  town  of  Jeft'ersonville  a  short  distance  from  the  Jeffersonville  ferry 
landing,  as  at  present  established,  and  to  terminate  at  a  place  called  Whirl- 

pool, as  estimated  to  be  one  and  three-fourths  miles  below  the  Jeft'ersonville 
landing,  the  length  of  said  road  being  as  near  as  m?y  be,  a  mile  and  three- 

fourths."  Although  sun-eys  were  made  and  plans  drawn  the  road  was  ne\er 
built  and  the  project  still  hangs  unplucked  by  the  promoter. 

The  conditions  of  the  transportation  facilities  on  our  railroads  and  ferries, 

as  w^ell  as  the  attractions  of  Jeffersonville,  are  told  by  a  traveler  who  arrived 
in  1858.     His  account  ends  as  follows: 

"After  no  less  than  four  accidents  to  our  train  on  the  Ohio  &  Mississippi 
Railway,  happily  involving  no  other  evil  consecpiences  than  the  smashing  of 

the  company's  engine  and  two  or  three  cars,  the  sacrifice  of  many  valuable 
hours,  and  the  loss  of  an  amount  of  patience  difficult  to  estimate,  though  once 

possessed  by  all  the  passengers,  myself  included,  we  arrived  at  the  miserable 

village,  though  called  a  city,  of  Jeft'ersonville.  in  Indiana,  nearly  opposite  to 
Louisville,  in  Kentucky,  on  the  River  Ohio.  The  train  was  due  at  an  early 
hour  in  the  afternoon,  but  did  not  reach  Jeffersonville  until  half  past  nine  in 

the  evening,  long  before  which  time  the  steam  ferry-boat  had  ceased  to  ply, 

and  the  captain  of  which  refused  to  re-light  the  fires  of  his  engines  to  carr>- 
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the  passengers  across.  We  saw  the  lights  of  the  large  city  gleaming  tempting- 
ly across  the  stream,  but.  there  being  no  means  of  conveyance,  we  were  all 

reluctantly  compelled  to  betake  ourselves  to  the  best  inn  at  Jeffersonville — 
and  bad,  very  bad,  was  the  best.  We  had  had  nothing  to  eat  or  to  drink  all 

day,  in  consequence  of  the  accident  to  uur  train  having  befallen  us  in  an  out- 
of-the-way  place  and  in  the  very  heart  of  the  wilderness;  and  such  of  us  as 
were  not  teetotalers  looked  forward  to  a  comfortable  supper  and  glass  of 
wine  or  toddy,  after  our  fatigue  and  disappointments.  But,  on  asking  for 
supper  and  wine  at  the  hotel,  we  were  told  by  mine  host  that  we  were  in  a 
temperance  state,  and  that  nothing  in  the  way  of  drink  would  be  served  except 

milk,  tea.  coffee  and  lemonade.  A  thoughtful  friend  at  Cincinnati  had  given 
us  on  starting  a  bottle  of  Bourbon  whiskey  twenty  years  old ;  and  we  told 

mine  host  that  if  he  would  provide  us  with  glasses,  hot  water,  sugar  and  a 
corkscrew,  we  should  enjoy  his  meat,  find  our  owri  drink,  and  set  Fate  at 

defiance." 
Happily,  we  of  later  years  are  not  compelled  to  be  victims  of  such  con- 

ditions, and  the  fact  that  the  traveler  was  tired,  hungry  and  disappointed  upon 
his  arrival,  and  possibly  recovering  from  his  above  mentioned  drink  when  he 
drote  this  description,  may  account  for  the  beautiful  tribute  which  he  has 
paid  Jeffersonville.  The  city,  however,  seemed  to  be  considered  important 

enough  to  notice  even  earlier  than  this.  In  1852  General  Scott  visited  Jelter- 
sonville  to  deliver  a  speech  against  Franklin  Pierce.  Pierce  had  served  under 

Scott  in  the  Mexican  war  and  had  risen  to  the  rank  of  brigadier-general. 
The  presence  of  Mexican  war  veterans  in  Clark  county  prompted  the  visit  of 
the  old  general  but  it  availed  him  nothing,  and  Pierce  was  elected  to  the 
Presidency. 

In  1852  the  public  school  system  was  inaugurated  in  Jeffersonville.  The 
new  constitution  made  education  compulsory  and  free  in  the  state.  Two  new 

school-houses  were  built  at  this  time,  both  of  which  have  disappeared.  The 

first  was  on  Mulberr\-  street  about  opposite  the  end  of  Chestnut  street,  and 
was  called  the  Alulberrj^  street  school.  The  other  stood  on  the  northwest 

corner  of  Maple  and  ̂ ^'att  streets  and  was  called  the  "Blue"  school-house. 
They  were  two-stor\'  brick  structures  and  served  admirably  for  the  purposes 
for  which  they  were  constructed,  yet  they  stand  in  great  contrast  to  the 
newest  addition  to  the  schools  of  the  city  of  Jeffersonville.  The  first  school 

trustee  of  Jeffersonville  was  Jonas  G.  Howard,  still  an  active  factor  in  the 
politics  and  business  life  of  the  county.  The  establishment  of  the  public 
school  system  in  Indiana  provided  good  schools,  but  there  still  seemed  to  be 
an  opening  for  private  institutions.  In  1852  the  Methodist  church  purchased 

the  Springs  property,  where  formerly  the  beauty  and  society  of  the  South 
were  wont  to  disport  itself,  and  where  gambling  and  conviviality  were 

the  pastimes  of  gentlemen.     The  "Palaces  of  Sin"  were  torn  down  or  con- 
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verted  into  school  buildings,  and  quite  a  number  of  young  ladies  were  enrolled 

as  students  in  the  new  "Seminary."  It  prospered  but  a  short  while.  Soon 
after  the  lapse  of  gaity  at  "The  Springs,"  the  hotel  which  stood  at  the  foot 
of  Broadway,  burned  (1857). 

The  establishment  of  a  branch  of  the  Bank  of  the  State  of  Indiana  in 

Jef¥ersonville  in  1855  inaugurated  the  banking  system  in  Clark  county.  It 
remains  today,  under  the  name  of  the  Citizens  National  Bank,  the  oldest 
bank  in  the  county. 

In  1855  the  question  of  lighting  the  city  of  Jeffersonville  with  gas  was 

discussed  in  the  Council,  and  in  1859  a  company  was  chartered  for  that  pur- 
pose. Mains  were  laid  and  within  a  year  the  streets  were  lighted  and  the 

residences  were  piped  for  the  safer  and  more  desirable  illuinination. 
In  Utica  the  first  addition  to  the  town  was  made  in  1854  by  James  H. 

Oliver.     It  was  on  the  northwest  corner  of  tlie  town. 

In  Bethlehem  a  great  fire  in  1856  burned  down  one  entire  block,  in- 
cluding some  of  the  oldest  and  largest  houses  in  the  town. 

In  Sellersburg  the  first  post-office  was  established  in  1852.  In  1856.  the 
Clark  County  Fair  which  had  been  held  regularly  in  the  vicinity  of  Charles- 

town,  was  held  at  Jefifersonville,  but  remained  here  but  a  few  A'ears,  when  it 
was  taken  back  to  Charlestown. 

In  the  year  1853  the  proceedings  of  the  Common  Council  of  the  city 

of  Jeffersonville  show  that  the  town  of  Port  Fulton  was  annexed  to  Jeffer- 
sonville,  but  the  action  was  premature  as  the  annexation  was  never  consuin- 

mated.  The  solons  of  Jeffersonville  were  e\'identh-  wide  awake  at  this 
period,  for  in  January,  1855,  the  Council  took  up  the  question  of  the  removal 
of  the  county  seat  from  Charlestown.  In  February  of  this  year  Judge  Read 

reported  to  the  Council  that  he  had  been  to  Indianapolis  to  push  the  matter, 
and  in  January.  1856,  a  committee  of  three  was  appointed  to  advance  the 
idea — four  hundred  dollars  being  appropriated  for  their  expenses.  As  the 
countv  seat  remained  at  Charlestown  for  twenty  years  after  this  attempt,  it  is 
evident  that  the  project  was  salted  away  for  future  use. 

In  1854  Clark  county  was  visited  by  a  great  drouth,  lasting  from  July 
to  October.  The  crops  were  ruined,  springs  went  dry,  and  the  river  reached 

an  unprecedented  low  stage.  The  temperature  during  this  period  hovered 
about  one  hundred  degrees  for  one  hundred  days.  The  following  year  the 

river  reached  an  exceedingh'  low  stage,  and  as  there  was  no  dam  on  the  Falls 
the  upper  harbor  extending  past  Madison  suffered  greatly.  There  was  an 
earlv  winter  that  year  and  during  the  latter  part  of  November  the  river  froze 

over,  and  on  account  of  the  shallow  places  froze  to  the  bottom,  .\bout  De- 

cember 20th  there  was  a  period  of  mild  weather  and  the  owners  of  steam- 
boats, supposing  that  navigation  could  be  resumed,  started  out  with  their 

crafts.     There  was  a  sudden  cold  snap  and  between  Fourteen  Mile  creek  and 
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Twelve  Mile  Island  five  large  steamers  loaded  with  freight  and  passengers 
were  caught  in  the  ice  and  held  fast. 

The  only  new  industry  started  in  tlie  city  of  Jeffersonville  during  this 

decade  was  a  woolen  mill.  This  mill  was  a  large  two-story  brick  building  near 
the  river  bank  just  below  Mechanic  street.  It  was  built  by  Samuel  H.  Pat- 

terson. This  mill  he  placed  in  the  hands  of  J.  ̂^  .  L.  Mattock,  who  had 
formerly  managed  a  mill  of  like  kind  in  Danville.  Indiana.  In  1863  the  mill 
was  sold  to  Moses  G.  Anderson,  who  ran  it  some  two  years.  In  1865  it  was 
bought  by  J.  L.  Bradley,  Dillard  Ricketts  and  S.  H.  Patterson,  who  conducted 

it  under  the  firm  name  of  Bradley  &  Company.  During  the  following  j-ear  and 
a  half  the  firm  lost  considerable  money,  and  closed  up  the  mill,  selling  the 
machinery  to  various  persons.  This  building  stood  vacant  for  many  years 
and  was  torn  down  in  the  eighties. 

In  i860  occurred  the  trouble  between  the  citizens  of  Jefifersonville  and 
the  convicts  of  the  Prison  South.  The  warden  of  the  prison  had  contracted 

to  furnish  brick  for  the  Louisville  water  works,  then  building,  and  the  con- 
victs were  marched  through  the  city  streets  to  the  brick  works  above  the  city. 

The  fact  that  these  men  were  taken  through  the  streets  chained  together,  and 
that  they  competed  with  free  labor  aroused  the  people  to  the  injustice  of  the 
practice  and  a  mob  was  formed  to  compel  its  discontinuance.  The  convicts 
were  driven  back  to  the  prison,  and  since  that  time  have  never  performed 

any  labor  outside  the  walls. 
Politically  the  people  of  Clark  county  were  comparatively  quiet  during 

the  early  fifties,  but  the  election  of  1854  stirred  up  feeling  which  engendered 

much  bitterness.  The  \A'higs  and  the  Democrats  had  fought  their  political 
battles  before  this,  and  had  then  forgotten  their  dififerences,  but  this  cam- 

paign produced  a  new  feeling.  ̂ Members  of  both  the  Whig-  and  Democratic 

parties  formed  the  People's  party  and  in  their  meeting  at  Charlestown  they 
promulgated  their  beliefs,  among  which  was  "temperance."  Within  this 
part}-  was  organized  a  secret  organization,  which  went  by  the  name  of  "Know 
Nothing."  It  was  created  for  the  purposes  of  waging  a  political  war  against 
the  Roman  Catholics  and  foreigners.  At  the  time  of  the  election  riots  oc- 

curred in  the  city  of  Jeffersonville  when  these  citizens  were  assaulted  to  pre- 
vent their  voting.  No  serious  injuries  resulted  and  the  feeling  in  Clark 

countv  subsided.  However,  the  movement  which  wr^s  nation-wide,  appeared 

in  Louisville  the  next  year,  1855,  and  the  memorable  "Bloodv  Monday" 
resulted 

While  the  political  atmosphere  of  the  county  became  agitated  in  '54- 
and  during  the  last  year  or  two  of  the  decade,  the  social  and  commercial  con- 

ditions presented  a  calm  and  unruffled  surface.  The  people  both  in  the 
country  and  in  towns  were  a  quiet,  contented  and  industrious  class.  In  the 
rural  districts  the  fanners  were  far  more  contented  and  possibly  had  more 
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reason  to  be  so  than  at  later  periods.  Previous  to  1850,  tlie  county  was 
covered  with  a  tiiick  forest,  and  tlie  land  was  owned  by  settlers  who.  besides 

farming-  a  small  part  of  their  forty  or  fifty  acre  tract,  made  considerable  profit 
out  of  the  manufacture  of  staves,  hoops  and  barrels.  There  were  few,  if 

any,  large  farms  at  this  time,  and  the  division  of  the  land  into  small  parcels, 

each  with  its  cabin  or  more  ostentatious  residence  upon  it,  made  a  neighbor- 
hood of  eveiy  farm,  and  no  one  was  isolated  or  without  near  neighbors.  The 

cooperage  plants  and  the  shipping  of  the  output  as  well  as  the  hoop-poles  gave 
occupation  to  a  very  large  population  outside  of  the  cities  and  towns.  It  is  a 
matter  of  fact  as  well  as  astonishment  to  know  that  the  rural  population  of 

Clark  county  at  that  time  was  greater  than  at  the  present  day.  The  timber 

disappearing,  the  population  followed,  either  moving  to  the  city  of  Jefifer- 
sonville  or  the  various  towns  situated  northwardly.  The  small  farms  became 
a  part  of  larger  ones,  and  where  twenty  or  thirty  families  had  lived  and 
flourished,  the  present  day  presents  extensive  tracts  of  pasture,  or  cultivated 

fields  of  an  extent  unknown  in  those  cla3^s. 
The  larger  rural  population  made  the  country  far  more  attractive  than  it 

is  in  some  localities  at  present,  and  the  simpler  habits  and  customs  of  the 
people  made  for  contentment,  and  the  desire  for  wealth  which  has  spoiled 

the  simple  happiness  of  many  of  the  present  day  farmers  had  not  become 
as  marked  then  as  later  on. 

The  farmers  raised  their  crops  and  marketed  them :  were  independent 
and  happy.  The  spring,  summer  and  fall  gave  occupation  to  all  and  the 

winter  evenings  wei^e  more  given  to  reading  and  study  than  at  the  present 
day.  As  a  rule  they  were  a  religious.  God-fearing  people.  The  farmer  who 

did  not  attend  church  was  the  exception.  Political,  religious  and  general  in- 
formation was  the  rule,  and  although  papers  and  magazines  were  far  less 

plentiful  than  at  present,  these  mediums  were  perused  with  interest  and  the 
topics  of  the  day  were  studied  and  understood.  The  Christian  Advocate, 

The  Louisville  Journal,  edited  by  George  D.  Prentice,  and  the  Louisville 
Democrat,  edited  by  Harney,  together  with  the  Cincinnati  Enquirer,  were  the 

journals  subscribed  for.  The  country  churches  were  the  centers  of  neighbor- 
hood activities,  and  the  visit  of  a  preacher  always  resulted  in  an  all-day  gather- 
ing. It  has  been  said  that  almost  every  neighborhood  had  men  so  familiar 

with  the  Bible  that  if  the  bonk  had  been  destroyed  they  might  have  repro- 

duced it  from  memor}-.  A  social  and  friendly  spirit  seemed  to  per\-ade  each 
countryside,  and  the  simple  religion  of  the  pioneers  remained  to  brighten  and 
lighten  the  lives  of  those  who  chose  to  live  in  the  free  air  and  cheerful  light  of 

heaven.  Xearly  every  family  had  prayers  in  the  evening  and  a  chapter  read 

from  a  well-thumbed  Bible  became  a  part  of  the  devotions.  The  Bible  was  the 
one  book  which  was  familiar  to  almost  every  country  man.  To  this  familiarity 
with  the  Book  may  be  attributed  the  high  tone  which  marked  the  character 
of  the  men  of  the  day. 
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Previous  to  1850  it  was  impossible  to  procure  and  keep  harvest  hands 

unless  whiskey  was  sen-ed  in  the  field,  but  this  habit  disappeared  and  with 
it  the  incident  features  which  had  helped  to  lower  the  standard  of  morality. 
Industry,  prosperity  and  success  marked  the  lives  of  the  men  who  tilled  the 
soil.  The  religious  phase  of  their  lives  had  none  of  the  deadening  influences 
which  marked  Puritan  England  in  the  sixteenth  century,  nor  did  as  violent 

a  reaction  follow.  The  countrj-  dances  and  social  gatherings  were  not 
affected  by  Puritanical  views  of  such  things.  The  intercourse  between  the 

people  of  Jeffersonville  and  Charlestown  was  most  cordial.  The  road  leading 

to  Jefifersonville  from  the  county  seat  was  a  ven,-  busy  highway,  and  although 
there  was  neither  railroad,  electric  line,  or  telephone,  the  incidents  and  events 

in  one  locality  were  subjects  of  interest  elsewhere  almost  as  c|uickly  as  at 

present.  A  'bus  running  between  Charlestown  and  Jeffersonville  over  the 
old  Charlestown  road  brought  the  city  and  town  in  close  touch. 

The  exciting  questions  which  arose  during  the  last  year  of  the  decade 
concerned  the  issues  in  national  affairs,  and  but  few  months  of  the  new 

decade  had  passed  until  the  storm  of  war  broke  upon  the  nation,  and  Clark 
county,  like  the  remainder  of  the  loyal  state  of  Indiana,  entered  with  heart 

and  soul  in  the  duty  of  upholding  the  government  founded  by  their  fore- 
fathers in  1776.  In  the  year  i860  the  population  of  Clark  county  was  twenty 

thousand  five  hundred  and  two. 

8 



CHAPTER  X. 

THE  SEVENTH    DECADE   1861-187O. 

The  seventh  decade  of  the  histoiy  of  Clark  county  was  the  most  momen- 
tous of  all.  The  War  of  the  Rebellion  had  deluged  the  land  with  blood  for 

more  than  half  of  this  period,  and  although  Clark  county  never  became  the 
scene  of  actual  combat,  yet  no  city  in  the  Union,  large  or  small,  had  more  of 
the  outward  and  visible  signs  of  war  than  did  Jeffersonville.  Beyond  the  river 

la}'  the  Southland,  whose  legions  surged  to  and  from  the  border,  while  from 
the  North  came  untold  blue-clad  thousands  to  preserve  the  Union  established 
by  our  fathers.  Jeffersonville  being  one  of  the  principle  gateways  to  the  South, 
became  the  scene  of  martial  display  and  military  activities,  which  made  every 

other  business  here  sink  into  insignificance.  Troops  of  all  arms  of  the  service, 
either  arriving,  camping  here,  leaving,  or  in  hospitals,  gave  an  importance  to 
the  city,  the  adjacent  country,  and  the  lines  of  transportation  leading  out  of 
it  that  has  never  been  known  either  before  or  since.  The  county  itself  presented 
a  scene  of  activity  in  bearing  its  burden  of  the  weight  of  war,  and  the  raising 

of  troops  together  with  the  man}^  other  activities' co-ordinate  with  it  kept  the 
people  alive  to  the  condition  of  affairs  both  national  and  local.  The  farmer, 

the  mechanic,  the  professional  man  and  the  tradesman,  those  who  found  it  im- 
possible to  volunteer,  still  followed  their  vocations,  but  War  was  the  dom- 

inating question,  JFar  was  the  principal  theme,  and  fPflr  was  the  chief  basis 
of  business.  In  other  chapters  of  this  volume  will  be  found  recorded  the 
events  of  interest  connected  with  Clark  county,  and  the  War  of  the  Rebellion, 

under  the  title  of  "Military  Annals."  Of  disloyal  organizations  there  were  for- 
tunately feAV  within  the  borders  of  Clark  county,  but  these  few  let  no  oppor- 

tunity slip  to  advance  the  rebel  cause  or  to  gain  friends  for  the  Southern  Con- 
federacy, Their  meetings  were  secret,  as  were  their  activities,  but  they  made 

themselves  felt  at  times  and  their  machinations  added  spice  to  the  times,  if  not 
to  the  honor  of  a  loyal  county. 

In  the  early  sixties  the  city  of  Jefifersonville  established  her  first  gas  plant 

and  the  streets  were  lighted.  The  Patterson  wharf  was  built  and  a  new  fern- 
company  was  started.  This  company,  however,  consolidated  soon  afterward 
with  the  older  company. 

The  Car  Works  was  established  in  1864.  The  First  National  Bank  was 
established  in  1865.  The  Charlestown  and  Utica  pike  was  opene<l  in  1866. 
The  first  steam  mill  in  Wood  township  was  built  in  1868. 
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In  1864  one  hundred  and  fift)'  thousand  dollars  were  appropriated  by 
Congress  to  build  the  United  States  Quartermaster  Depot  at  Jeffersonville. 
There  being  no  provision  for  the  purchase  of  the  ground,  the  citizens  of  the 
city  took  the  matter  up  and  a  committee  headed  by  S.  B.  Diffenderfer, 
finally  found  means  to  get  the  location.  This  was  under  the  administration 
of  Levi  Sparks  as  Mayor  of  the  city,  and  the  city  after  paying  eleven  thousand 

dollars  for  the  ground  donated  it  to  the  United  States  for  the  purpose  of  erect- 

ing a  peiTnanent  depot.  The  buildings  were  begun  soon  after  and  the  perma- 
nent location  of  the  quartermaster  depot  was  assured  for  Jeffersonville. 
Up  to  the  year  i860  there  had  never  been  a  legal  hanging  in  Clark  county, 

but  this  year  the  Sheriff  executed  a  man  sentenced  by  the  Clark  Circuit  Court. 
There  has  only  been  one  other  legal  hanging  since. 

In  1865  Congress,  by  act,  authorized  the  Louisville,  Nashville  &  Jeffer- 
sonville Railroad  Companies,  who  were  stockholders  in  the  Louisville  Bridge 

Company  to  construct  a  railway-  bridge  across  the  Ohio  at  the  head  of  the 
Falls.  The  erection  of  the  superstructure  was  begun  in  May.  1868,  and  on 
Febmary  i,  1870,  the  spans  were  connected.  The  first  train  passed  over  on 
February  12,  1870.  This  bridge  cost  two  million  three  thousand  six  hundred 

ninety-six  dollars  and  twenty-seven  cents.  In  the  various  accidents  during-  the 
construction  of  this  work  there  were  fifty-six  men  killed  and  eighty  wounded. 

The  winter  of  1866-1867  was  a  veiy  severe  one.  The  cold  was  intense, 
and  the  river  so  low  that  it  froze  up  early  in  the  winter.  The  coal  supply  gave 
out,  and  the  people  suffered  for  want  of  fuel.  What  little  there  was  on  hand 
went  to  60  cents  per  bushel.  Previous  to  this  period  there  were  two  ferry 
lines,  one  of  which  had  a  landing  at  the  foot  of  Clay  street,  Louisville,  and 
after  fighting  for  some  months  they  consolidated,  but  part  of  the  agreement 
was  that  a  boat  should  continue  to  land  at  Clay  street.  The  fuel  famine  became 
so  serious  that  Phil  Tompert,  who  was  then  Mayor  of  Louisville,  was  appealed 
to  by  the  people  to  ask  the  boats  to  stop  running,  a  channel  having  been  cut 
between  Louisville  and  Jeffersonville,  so  that  the  coal  they  were  consuming 

could  be  distributed  among  the  suff'erers.  There  was  practically  no  trouble  in 
getting  the  boat  landing  at  Clay  street  to  stop,  as  it  was  not  paying,  and  from 
that  day  to  this  it  has  never  made  a  trip.  There  was  threatened  litigation. 

but  this  never  amounted  to  anything,  and  the  present  ferry  company  gained 
its  monopoly  of  the  business  thrtiugh  the  demand  for  coal  stopping  the  other 
boat. 

In  1870  the  Ohio  &  Mississippi  Railroad,  the  main  line  of  which  runs 
between  Cincinnati  and  St.  Louis,  built  what  is  noAV  the  Watson  connection. 

At  that  time  some  good  coaches  were  used  on  the  Watson  line,  but  they  have 

become  slightly  worn  since  then.  This  road  now  operates  under  the  title.  Bal- 
timore &  Ohio  Southwestern. 

In  the  vear  1870  the  mill  known  as  the  Gathright    Mill    was  built  just 
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below  the  Pennsylvania  bridge.  This  mill  was  operated  by  a  turbine  water- 
wheel,  except  during  high  water,  and  was  successfully  operated  for  many  years. 
It  burned  about  1906. 

The  end  of  this  decade  finds  Clark  county  back  to  a  normal  condition  after 

the  war.  The  population  of  the  county  in  1870  was  twenty-four  thousand 
seven  hundred  seventy. 



CHAPTER  XI. 

THE  EIGHTH   DECADE   187I-1880. 

An  epoch  of  commercial,  political  and  religious  activities  was  that  of  the 
seventies.  The  temperance  question,  the  county  seat  removal,  the  glass  works 
and  car  works  questions,  the  panics  and  strikes,  and  a  general  condition  of 
material  improvement  marked  this  decade  as  war  had  marked  the  preceding 
one.  The  various  departments  and  offices  of  the  United  States  quartemiaster 

were  still  scattered  over  the  city  of  Jeffersonville,  but  work  was  soon  com- 
menced upon  the  new  buildings  which  were  to  contain  all  of  the  offices  and 

storehouses  under  one  roof.  In  1870  was  launched  the  steamer,  James  How- 
ard, at  the  Howard  ship  yards  in  Jeffersonville.  She  was  the  largest  inland 

river  steamer  ever  built  on  western  waters. 

The  village  of  Marysville,  containing-  about  one  hundred  inhabitants,  was 
laid  out  by  W.  W.  Tevis.  civil  engineer,  in  1871,  for  Patrick  H.  Jewett.  It 
is  located  on  the  Baltimore  &  Ohio  Southwestern  Railroad,  between  Otisco 

and  Nabbs.  It  is  on  both  sides  of  the  railroad  and  has  forty  lots.  The  village 

is  located  on  the  south  side  of  tract  number  two  hundred  forty-eight,  about 
midway  from  the  north  and  south  line.  Marysville  was  named  after  Miss 
Maiy  Kimberlain,  the  wife  of  A.  Q.  Abbott,  of  Oregon  township.  During 
the  years  which  have  elapsed  since  the  village  was  regularly  platted,  very  little 
has  been  done  in  the  way  of  improvement. 

On  January  31,  1871,  the  city  of  Jeffersonville  ceded  all  jurisdiction  over 

the  four  blocks  purchased  by  the  United  States  Government  for  a  quarter- 

master's depot,  to  the  United  States  Government.  At  meetings  held  in  several 
places  in  the  county  immediately  following  the  Chicago  fire,  substantial  do- 

nations were  made  for  the  benefit  of  the  sufferers. 

On  the  6th  of  July,  1871,  the  city  council  passed  an  ordinance  providing 
for  a  steam  fire  department,  to  consist  of  one  engineer,  two  drivers,  and  four 

hosemen  for  each  engine  and  hose-cart.  In  September  of  the  same  year  a  com- 
mittee was  appointed  to  buy  the  necessary  engine,  hose-cart,  hose,  etc.  An 

Amoskeag  engine  was  bought  at  a  cost  of  four  thousand  five  hundred  dollars ; 
hose  cart,  five  hundred  fifty  dollars ;  one  thousand  feet  of  hose  and  three 

horses,  six  hundred  dollars,  and  harness,  eighty-four  dollars  and  twenty-five 
cents,  making  a  total  cost  of  seven  thousand  two  hundred  twenty-four  dollars 
and  twenty-five  cents.  Previous  to  this  the  department  consisted  of  a  hand 
engine  and  fires  were  often  the  occasion  of  a  fight  or  a  frolic. 
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On  September  22,  1872,  Horace  Greeley,  nominee  of  the  Democrats  and 
Libera!  Republicans  for  the  Presidency,  visited  Jefifersonville  and  spoke  to  an 
immense  crowd  on  Spring  street.  His  speech  was  delivered  from  the  small 
iron  balcony  in  front  of  the  second  floor  of  the  old  hotel  at  Spring  and  ]\Iarket 
streets.  In  this  year  also  occurred  a  great  disaster  to  the  city  of  Jefifersonville 
in  the  burning  of  the  shops  of  the  Ohio  Falls  Car  and  Locomotive  Company. 
The  company  had  just  made  extensive  improvements,  but  everything  was 
swept  out  of  existence.  Fortunately  a  heavy  insurance  was  carried  and  the 

building  of  the  present  magnificent  system  of  fire-proof  and  isolated  structures 
was  begun.  The  improvements  were  still  incomplete  when  the  panic  of  1873 
came  and  the  long  period  of  financial  depression  which  followed  completely 
paralyzed  the  car  building  business. 

In  December,  1872,  the  office  of  the  County  Treasurer  at  Charlestown 

was  robbed,  and  although  the  amount  of  actual  county  funds  stolen  finally 
turned  out  to  be  small,  the  robbery  caused  great  excitement.  A  gang  of  toughs 
had  terrorized  Charlestown  for  several  years,  and  the  robbery  was  of  their 

doing.     They  were  captured,  how'ever,  soon  afterward. 
In  both  Charlestown  and  Jeffersonville  fairs  were  held  this  year  to  raise 

fimds  to  be  used  for  the  relief  of  the  poor  who  were  sufifering  as  a  result  of 
the  panic.  Mosart  Hall  was  the  scene  of  the  fair  in  Jefifersonville.  This 

building,  at  the  southwest  comer  of  Spring  and  Court  streets,  sensed  for  many 
years  for  gatherings  of  this  kind,  and  held  the  unique  position  of  being  the 
only  available  hall  of  its  size  in  the  city,  during  a  period  when  such  fairs  and 
social  gatherings  were  far  more  frequent  than  at  the  present  day. 

During  the  winter  of  1872  smallpox  was  epidemic  throughout  the  county, 
and  reached  such  a  stage  that  the  council  of  Jeffersonville  ordered  that  red 

flags  be  displayed  before  each  house  containing  a  case.  The  papers  of  the  time 
tell  of  Sam  Hedge  being  ill  with  the  disease,  and  of  how  he  had  decorated 

the  whole  front  of  his  house  with  myriads  of  red  flags  to  warn  away  eveiybody. 

Building  a  new  school-house  at  Utica  was  a  wanm  subject  in  1873,  in 
that  township.  However,  after  extended  debate  and  much  feeling,  but  no 
casualties  the  building  was  ordered  built. 

In  this  year  on  October  8th  all  the  female  convicts  at  the  prison  were  sent 
to  Indianapolis.  Previous  to  this  the  Prison  South  received  female  as  well  as 

male  prisoners  as  no  special  provision  had  been  made  by  the  state  up  to  that 
time  for  their  separate  incarceration.  Previous  to  this,  in  Februaiy,  1873,  the 
citizens  of  Jeffersonville  had  held  a  meeting  and  adopted  a  most  inexplicable 

resolution.  They  worked  and  used  even,'  influence  to  get  the  prison  removed 
from  Jeffersonville  to  iXIichigan  City,  but  fortunately  failed. 

A  new  company  was  incorporated  this  year  to  constract  a  bridge  across 
the  river  from  the  foot  of  Clay  street  in  Louisville.  Among  the  incorporators 
were  Barrett,  Dennis  Long,  W.  Ray,  Doctor  Green,  T.  Bradley  and  others. 
The  following  subscribed  stock: 



BAIRD  S   HISTORY   OF   CLARK   CO.,   IND.  1 19 

Chesapeake  &   Ohio   $200,000.00 
Ohio  &  Alississippi         200,000.00 
City  of  Jeffersonville      100,000,00 
City  of  Louisville      100,000.00 

The  fact  that  Jeffersonville  siibscrihed  as  much  as  Louisville  shows  either 
a  financial  healthfulness  or  a  desire  to  be  so  that  was  commendable.  That  she 

was  abreast  of  Louisville  in  some  ways  was  evidenced  by  the  existence  of  three 

banks,  all  in  a  flourishing  state  of  prosperity.  The  Citizens'  National  Bank, 
the  First  National  Bank  and  i\Ir.  Barnaby's  Faro  bank. 

In  1873  the  village  of  Bethlehem  made  application  for  incorporation.  It 
had  been  laid  out  in  1812,  and  since  that  time  had  seen  varying  changes  of 
fortune. 

In  1873  began  the  agitation  against  the  liquor  traffic.  The  movement 

began  as  did  the  one  in  1907  and  1908,  and  gathered  momentum  as  it  ad- 
vanced. In  the  year  1874  the  actual  warfare  against  the  saloon  and  the  whis- 

key business  in  general  was  begun  by  the  women  of  Jeffersonville. 

Dr.  Sallie  C.  Jackson  was  president  of  the  woman's  society  which  was 
battling  against  the  rum  demon.  ]\Irs.  \\'inesburg,  of  the  Presbyterian  church, 
was  elected  vice-president,  and  Mrs.  ]\Iartha  Cook,  treasurer.  These  women, 
numbering  sometimes  a  hundred,  would  meet  at  the  Methodist  church,  and 
after  prayers,  would  march  out  in  column  of  twos  to  the  various  saloons  in 
the  city. 

Their  first  meetings  were  held  in  the  saloons  of  Alonzo  Fonts  and  the 
Falls  City  hotel,  where  they  were  treated  with  great  discourtesy.  At  the 
saloon  in  the  Strauss  Hotel,  on  the  corner  of  Front  and  Spring  streets,  meetings 

were  held,  but  whatever  results  may  have  come  at  that  time  have  wholly  dis- 
appeared as  this  place  still  dispenses  old  Tambo  over  the  bar  in  satisfactory 

quantities. 

At  John  Sittle's  emporium  the  ladies  were  attacked  by  the  proprietor's 
wife  with  tubs  of  water.  Although  drenched  to  the  skin,  they  stood  their 

ground  and  one  i_^f  the  party  of  crusaders,  glorying  in  her  condition,  cried  out 

in  her  ecstacy,  "Bless  God,  I  am  a  Baptist!" 
These  eff'orts  culminated  in  the  formation  of  the  ̂ ^'omap.'s  Christian  Tem- 

perance L'nion  in  Jeft'ersonville,  and  the  reputation  of  the  crusaders  of  this 
city  went  abroad  in  the  land.  A  paper  of  the  day  has  this  item  concerning  the 
effects  of  their  efforts: 

"The  ladies  of  the  Temperance  L'r.ion  of  this  city  have  been  now  about 
four  weeks  engaged  in  active  work  against  the  liquor  traftic.  All  the  druggists 

but  one  in  the  city  have  signed  the  pledge  to  sell  liquor  only  upon  the  prescrip- 
tion of  a  regular  physician.  All  the  physicians  but  two  have  signed  pledges 

to  use  iquor  in  their  practice  only  in  cases  of  emergency.     Pledges  not  to  sign 
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applications  for  a  renewal  of  license  have  been  widely  circulated  among  the 
voters  and  have  met  with  such  favor  that  it  is  believed  that  a  renewal  of  license 

could  not  now  be  obtained  in  any  ward  in  the  city.  There  has  been  such  an 
awakening  on  the  subject  of  temperance  as  was  scarcely  if  ever  known  Ijefore. 

The  traffic  has  been  reduced  at  least  sixty  per  cent." 
During  the  time  of  the  crusaders  the  women  held  one  hundred  fifty-two 

street  prayer  meetings,  besides  visiting  saloons,  offering  pledges  and  praying 

and  talking  to  saloon-keepers. 
In  1874  another  fine  school-house,  the  Rose  Hill  school  in  Jeffersonville, 

was  finished.  The  question  concerning  the  removal  of  the  county  seat  from 
Charlestown  to  Jeffersonville  resulted  in  one  of  the  bitterest  political  fights 
ever  known  in  Clark  county.  The  fight  which  was  made  in  1838  and  won  by 

the  removalists.  the  Jeffersonville  party,  resulted  in  nothing  as  the  Legislature 
refused  the  people  of  the  county  their  wishes  on  that  subject. 

During  the  sixty-six  years,  while  Charlestown  had  been  the  county  seat, 

Jeft'ersonville  had  passed  her  in  population,  and  had  acquired  an  envy  of  her 
only  great  possession.  After  a  lapse  of  forty  years  from  the  first  attempt 
the  fight  was  renewed. 

Jeffersonville  township,  including  the  city  of  Jeffersonville.  now  had  near- 
Iv  one-half  of  the  whole  population  of  the  county,  and  it  seemed  just  that  the 

majority  should  rule.  As  early  as  March.  1874.  the  papers  of  the  time  con- 
tain accounts  of  meetings  held  to  discuss  this  subject.  At  this  time  one  meet- 

ing was  held  at  Charlestown,  and  a  united  effort  was  decided  on  to  prevent  the 
removal.  Discussion  became  bitter,  letters,  circulars  and  newspaper  articles 

appeared.  About  Januar}-  i.  1876,  the  City  Council  of  Jeffersonville,  headed 
by  its  then  recently  elected  Mayor,  the  Hon.  Luther  F.  Warder,  decided 
to  inaugurate  a  determined  effort  to  regain  the  long  lost  county  seat.  The 

ground  was  donated  for  the  site  of  the  court-house  and  thirty  thousand  dol- 
lars was  voted,  raised  and  deposited  with  the  County  Treasurer  as  a  donation 

to  the  county  to  build  a  court-house  in  case  removal  was  made.  The  people 

of  Charlestown  met  the  movement  at  the  beginning  and  foug'ht  it  with  vigor 
and  determination.  The  people  in  the  upper  end  of  the  county  joined  them. 
The  contest  ran  into  bitter  personal  animosities  and  hostility  between  the  two 
sections  of  the  county.  Animosities  were  engendered  that  perhaps  will  never 
he  healed,  and  the  newspapers  of  the  time  present  some  rich  and  racy  reading. 
Political  affinities  were  destroyed  and  the  removal  question  dominated  every 

other  and  all  other  questions  of  public  interest.  The  Board  of  County  Com- 
missioners met  at  Charlestown  court-house  on  the  first  Monday  in  March.  1876, 

and  the  petitions  for  removal,  containing  a  clear  majority  of  all  the  voters  in 

the  county  were  presented,  but  every  eft'ort  Avas  made  to  defeat  them.  It  was 
charged  that  a  large  portion  of  the  signatures  were  fictitious,  but  the  anti- 
removalists  were  met  at  every  point.     The  case  was  pressed  through  the  Com- 
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missioners'  court  and  then  appealed  to  the  Circuit  Court.  A  change  of  venue 
was  tal<en  to  Floyd  county  and  a  special  judge  was  agreed  upon.  Judge  Per- 

kins, of  Indianapolis,  was  sent  to  tr\'  the  case.  At  length  the  anti-removalists 
had  reached  the  end  of  their  resources  and  were  compelled  to  submit  to  the 

inevitable.  On  September  23.  1878,  the  order  was  made  to  remove  the  county 
records  to  Jeffersonville.  and  during  the  month  of  October  they  were  brought 
to  the  new  county  seat  and  placed  in  the  new  and  commodious  court-house, 

which  had  been  built  to  receive  them.  After  a  lapse  of  sixty-seven  vears.  Jef- 
fersonville again  became  the  county  seat  of  Clark  county,  and  it  is  hardly 

probable  that  the  removal  cjuestion  will  ever  arise  again. 
The  affairs  at  the  Prison.  South,  occupied  a  great  deal  of  attention  in 

1874,  on  account  of  the  frec^uent  escapes  of  a  genius  namer  Rodifer.  who  was 

serving-  time  there.  An  investigation  of  conditions  at  the  prison  was  made 
soon  after,  and  the  report  of  the  investigating  committee  was  to  relieve  Shuler, 
the  warden,  for  gross  mismanagement. 

In  1875  a  great  revival  of  religion  swept  over  the  county. 
In  May,  1875,  the  first  notices  of  the  new  glass  works  began  to  appear  in 

the  papers,  and  it  was  stated,  "Work  will  be  started  if  twenty  thousand  dollars 
worth  of  stock  can  be  subscribed.  On  November  i,  1876,  work  was  started 
on  the  plant.  The  company  was  chartered  under  the  name  of  the  Ford  Plate 

Glass  Company,  with  a  capital  stock  of  one  hundred  twenty-five  thousand  dol- 
lars. The  city  donated  five  hundred  feet  of  ground  on  ̂ Market  street,  east, 

extending  to  the  river  front,  to  secure  the  location  of  this  industrv  in  Jeffer- 
sonville. John  F.  Read  was  chosen  president  of  the  company.  In  February, 

1880,  the  name  was  changed  to  the  Jeft'ersonville  Plate  Glass  Companv,  the 
incorporators  Iseing  at  this  time.  John  F.  Read,  S.  Goldbach,  Felix  Lewis,  Ed- 

ward Howard,  James  Burke,  Edward  Ford,  ̂ ^'arren  Horr,  Joshua  Cook, 
Frederick  Herron,  Abraham  Frye,  Jonas  G.  Howard.  S.  Goldbach  was  elected 

president.  H.  T.  Sage,  secretary  and  treasurer  and  E.  L.  Ford,  superintendent. 

After  the  reorganization  nf  the  company  one  hundred  feet  front  was  added. 

Two  hundred  men  were  employed  and  the  business  was  confined  to  the  man- 
ufacture of  plate  glass.  This  industry  was  a  valuable  addition  to  the  city  of 

Jeffersonville,  and  as  it  was  one  of  the  first  glass  works  in  the  United  States, 
its  output  was  easily  disposed  of.  An  article  of  that  time  described  the  plant 
as  follows : 

"So  great  is  the  demand  for  plate  glass  that  the  works  in  Jeffersonville 
are  driven  to  their  fullest  capacity,  and  find  it  difficult  to  fill  their  orders. 

They  have  two  large  furnaces,  each  with  a  capacity  for  eight  crucibles  holding 

fifteen  hundred  pounds  of  melted  glass.  One  furnace  is  opened  in  the  morn- 
ing, the  other  in  the  afternoon,  and  sixteen  large  plates  are  rolled  each  day. 

As  soon  as  possible  after  pouring,  the  plates  are  removed  from  the  iron  bed 
on  which  thev  are  made  and  transferred  to  the  annealing  ovens,  where  thev 
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are  allowed  to  graduall}'  cool.  They  then  pass  through  the  various  stages  of 
grinding,  polishing  and  cleaning,  and  are  ready  to  be  packed.  The  entire 
process  requires  the  greatest  care  and  accuracy,  owing  tn  tlie  brittle  character 
of  the  article,  and  breakages  are  not  infrequent. 

"The  talile  on  which  the  molten  mass  is  poured  is  eleven  by  twenty-two  feet 
and  glass  can  be  made  of  nearly  this  size,  the  largest  being  one  hundred  ten 
by  two  hundred  thirty  inches.  The  time  required  to  melt  the  metal  in  the 

crucibles,  and  allow  it  to  cool  sufficiently  to  pour,  is  twenty-four  hours."' 
In  the  year  1881  the  sales  of  the  company  amounted  tn  two  hundred  fifty 

thousand  dollars.  The  finished  plate  glass  was  worth  at  that  time  about  one 
hundred  dollars  and  sixty  cents  per  square  foot. 

The  year  1876  being  an  election  year  as  well  as  the  centennial  year,  the 
usual  enthusiastic  demonstrations  during  th.e  compaigni  took  place,  and  the 

torch-light  processions  of  this  and  the  succeeding  campaigns  of  1880  and  1884 
were  evidence  of  the  great  interest  which  the  masses  took  in  the  issues  of  the 
day. 

On  April  24,  1876,  the  great  steamer,  the  Robert  E.  Lee,  was  launched  at 

Howard's  ship  yard.  It  was  an  occasion  which  drew  great  crowds,  not  only 
because  of  the  name  of  the  boat,  but  on  account  of  her  size.  The  shipyards  at 

this  time  were  in  the  most  prosperous  period  of  their  existence,  but  the 
founder  and  head  of  this  industry,  Capt.  James  Howard,  was  drowned  on 

October  14th  by  his  buggy  backing  oft"  of  the  feriy  boat. 
An  amusing  incident  occurred  during  the  early  part  of  1876.  A  baby 

was  found  on  a  doorstep  in  Jeft'ersonville  with  a  note  attached,  giving  the  in- 
formation that  its  father  was  a  councilman.  Col.  James  Keigwin,  always  a 

great  joker,  discussed  the  matter  at  a  council  meeting,  and  together  with  Capt. 
William  Northcutt  and  William  S.  Goldbach,  other  members,  furnished 

amusement  to  the  people  of  the  city  for  some  time. 

In  Jeft'ersonville  the  Orphans'  Home  was  founded  this  year,  and  the  work 

of  raising  a  building  fund  was  begun.  This  3^ear  also  the  town  of  ̂ \'atson 
was  laid  out.  J.  B.  Speed  was  the  moving  spirit  in  the  new  village.  In  1871 
the  cement  mill  had  been  erected  in  this  vicinity  and  it  was  this  fact  which 

brought  the  village  into  existence.    In  1872  the  post-office  here  was  established. 

Following  the  election  of  Mr.  Hayes  to  the  Presidency,  after  the  hot  cam- 
paign of  the  fall,  came  the  violent  dissatisfaction  of  those  who  voted  the  other 

way,  and  Clark  county  added  her  mite  to  the  cause  by  holding  meetings  at 

several  points  to  protest.  At  New  Washington  the  Democrats  and  Repub- 
licans clashed  and  engaged  in  a  rough  and  tumble  fight,  but  no  casualties 

resulted. 

The  panic  and  strikes  in  1877  affected  the  industries  of  Clark  county 

materiallv.  The  threats  of  members  of  the  mob  in  Louisville,  that  they  intend- 

ed coming  to  Jeffersonville  to  seize  the  stores  and  amis  at  the  quartermaster's 
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depot,  was  tlie  occasion  of  much  concern,  and  the  Jetifersonville  Rifles,  the  local 
militia  company,  was  held  under  arms  for  quite  a  while.  Cannon  from  the 
Government  building  were  kept  in  readiness,  but  the  mob  never  came. 

In  1877  the  question  of  water  works  for  Jeffersonville  was  agitated,  and 
in  the  latter  part  of  the  year  a  company  was  organized,  called  the  Jeffersonville 
Water  Works  Company.  Dennis  Long,  of  Louisville,  was  president ;  John 
C.  Howard,  John  Read,  D.  S.  Barmore  and  other  were  interested,  but  the 
company  failed  to  make  good. 

The  visit  of  President  Hayes  to  Jeft'ersonville  and  his  enthusiastic  recep- 
tion, September  17,  1877,  was  evidence  that  the  people  of  Clark  county  had 

forgotten  the  animosities  created  by  the  campaign  and  in  the  election  squabble. 
On  September  23,  1878,  the  final  order  was  given  for  the  removal  of  the 

records  from  Charlestown  to  the  new  court-house  at  Jeffersonville. 

The  town  of  New  \\'ashington  was  increased  in  size  in  1879  by  the  ad- 
dition of  thirty-three  in-lots.  and  twelve  out-lots.  On  Thursday,  September 

18,  1879.  the  ]\Iost  \\'orshipful  Grand  blaster  of  the  Masons  of  Indiana, 
Calvin  W.  Prather,  of  Jeffersonville,  laid  the  cornerstone  of  the  Jeffersonville 

Orphans'  Home  with  great  ceremony. 
As  a  whole  the  decade  of  1870-1880  was  one  in  which  Clark  county 

showed  material  advancement  in  many  ways.  Her  industrial,  her  social  and 
her  religious  life  had  each  their  revivals,  and  the  year  1880  opened  with  a 

people  happy,  prosperous  and  ambitious.  The  population  of  the  city  of  Jeffer- 
sonville in  1880  was  ten  thousand  six  hundred  sixty-six;  that  of  Clark  county 

was  twenty-eight  thousand  six  htmdred  ten. 



CHAPTER  XTI. 

THE  NINTH  DECADE.   1881-189O. 

Outside  of  the  commercial  activity,  whicli  marked  tliis  decade  and  tlic 

floods  which  threatened  to  ruin  the  city,  nothing  of  great  importance  occurred. 
In  1 88 1  the  block  bounded  by  Court  avenue,  and  between  Spring  street  and 

Wall  street  was  divided  by  a  thirty-foot  street  known  as  Park  street.  The 
part  laying  between  Park  street  and  Court  avenue  was  laid  out  as  a  park  and 

improved  with  walks,  trees  and  shrubs  and  christened  "Warder  Park,"  in 
honor  of  the  mayor,  the  Hon.  Luther  F.  Warder. 

In  188 1  Sweeney's  foundry  was  moved  to  its  present  location.  It  was 
originally  established  in  1869  by  Michael  A.  Sweeney  and  Chris.  Baker,  who 
opened  a  small  shop  on  Pearl  street,  near  Court  avenue.  Mr.  Baker  retired 
from  the  firm  in  1870,  Mr.  Sweeney  continuing  the  business  alone.  In  1872 
he  moved  to  Court  avenue,  and  in  March,  1876,  admitted  James  Sweeney  as 
a  partner.  The  business  was  continued  here  until  March,  188 1,  when  the 

firm  purchased  nine  acres  of  ground  from  Guthrie,  Marlin  &  Company,  of 
Louisville,  and  as  soon  as  buildings  could  be  erected,  moved  their  works  to 

the  place  they  now  occupy.  They  have  a  river  frontage  of  nine  hundred 

sixty-five  feet,  and  since  their  purchase  of  this  property  have  made  extensive 

improvements.  For  a  number  of  years  they  have  engaged  in  boat-building, 
and  have  launched  cjuite  a  number  of  handsome  steamers  in  late  years.  The 
principal  work  of  this  firm,  however,  is  engine  building,  although  all  kinds 
of  machinery  is  constructed.  This  firm  still  remains  one  of  the  important 
industries  in  Clark  county.  The  most  important  incident,  or  rather  series  of 
incidents,  which  collectively  made  one  great  calamity  in  the  eighties,  were  the 

floods  of  1883  and  1884.' In  the  year  1883  the  river  reached  such  a  stage  that  a  large  part  of  Jef- 
fersonville  was  flooded  and  great  damage  done,  but  in  1884,  when  on  Feb- 

ruary 15th,  the  river  reached  the  unprecedented  stage  of  46.7  feet,  the 

city  of  Jeflfersonville  suft^ered  a  blow  to  her  hopes — her  industries  and  her 
business  which  took  years  to  repair.  The  water  on  this  date  covered  Port 
Fulton  up  to  the  Utica  pike,  as  far  down  at  Jefterson  street,  out  to  High 
street,  down  to  Division  street,  out  to  Chestnut  street,  down  Chestnut  street, 

out  Penn  street,  down  Court  avenue,  out  Fulton  street,  thence  to  Ninth 
street  and  Walnut,  thence  east  to  Walnut  and  Watt  streets,  thence  to  Tenth 

street  and  Locust,  thence  to  Eleventh  and  Wall,  to  Thirteenth  and  Walnut, 
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to  Locust  and  Fourteenth,  thence  southwardly  to  Sparks  avenue,  east  to 

Spring  street,  thence  to  Spring  and  Broadway,  thence  west  to  the  city  hue, 
between  Eleventh  and  Sparks  avenue.  The  water  reached  the  point  where 
Eighth  street  crosses  the  west  line  of  Jeffersonville,  thence  to  Missouri 
avenue  and  Seventh  street,  thence  to  Seventh  and  Broadway,  thence  to  Sixth 
and  Indiana  avenue,  thence  to  Court  avenue,  east  of  Indiana  avenue,  tlience 

to  Fourth  street,  east  of  Indiana  a\'enue,  thence  to  Ohio  avenue  and  Fourth 
street,  thence  to  Third  and  Ohio  avenue,  thence  to  Market  and  Fort  street, 
thence  with  Fort  street  to  the  alley,  between  Market  and  Front  streets,  thence 
to  Clark  street,  tlience  to  Mulberry  and  Market  streets,  and  Ihence  to  the 
river  front. 

The  city  of  Jeffersonville  contained  two  hundred  fourteen  blocks,  of 

which  ninety-three  were  wholly  submerged,  forty-three  partly  submerged,  and 

seventy-eight  were  dry.  Some  of  the  measurements  taken  at  that  time  by 
Victor  W.  Lyon,  C.  E.,  show  the  following  depths  of  water  Februarv  15, 
1884: 

Spring  and  Front  streets          3.14  feet 
Pearl   and   Market   streets           1.42  feet 
Pearl  and  Chestnut   streets           4.51   feet 
Pearl  and  Maple  streets          6.82  feet 
Pearl  and  Court  avenue          8.12  feet 

Michigan  avenue  and  Court  avenue       8.86  feet 
Fifth  street  and  Ohio  avenue        9.05   feet 
Sixth  street  and  Ohio  avenue          2.95   feet 
Seventh  street  and  Ohio  avenue        9.19  feet 
Eighth  street  and  Ohio  avenue          9.31    feet 
Eighth  street  and  Michigan  avenue        11.42  feet 
Ninth  street  and  Spring  street           8. 1 1    feet 
Eleventh  street  and  Spring  street           7.89  feet 
Front  street  and  Locust  street          5.18  feet 
Market  street  and  Locust  street           6.21    feet 

Chestnut  street  and  Locust  street          6.30  feet 
Walnut   street   and    Maple    street           6.58  feet 
Walnut  street  and  Court  street           4.98  feet 
Walnut  street  and  Seventh  street          6.66  feet 

Walnut  street  and  Eighth  street         8.54  feet 
Walnut  street  and  Market  street        10.00  feet 
Locust  street  and  Ninth  street        11.88  feet 

Ekin  avenue  and  Indiana  avenue      i3-70  feet 
Ekin  avenue  and  Illinois  avenue         12.31   feet 
Eleventh  street  and   Illinois  avenue         16.18  feet 

Missouri  avenue  and  Tenth   street         I4-I5   feet 
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Missouri  avenue  and  Eleventh  street    13-74  feet 
Missouri  avenue  and  west  line  of  city      16.53  f^^t 
Indiana  avenue  and  Ninth  street      11.98  feet 
Maple  street  and  Watt  street       5.07  feet 
Wall  street  and  Ninth  street      i3-6i  feet 
Market  street  and  Division  street    7.00  feet 
Chestnut  street  and  Graham  street      1.50  feet 

This  flood  caused  great  suffering  in  Jefifersonville  and  along  the  whole 
length  of  the  river,  but  relief  in  abundance  was  received  from  all  over  the 
country.  Soon  afterward  the  levee  was  built  under  Government  supervision 

and  with  a  Government  appropriation.  Jeffersonville  stands  now  well  pro- 
tected against  the  recurrence  of  such  a  disaster  and  during  the  great  flood  of 

1907,  the  highest  since  1884,  Jeffersonville  ̂ \■as  the  dryest  town  or  city  along 
the  whole  Ohio  valle}'. 

In  the  eighties  also  the  oil  and  gas  fever  struck  Clark  county  and  a 

company  was  formed  in  Jeffersonville  to  open  wells.  J.  V.  Reed  was  presi- 
dent. Willis  Goodwin,  secretary  and  J.  H.  McCampbell,  treasurer.  Stock  was 

greedily  bought  and  six  or  seven  wells  were  sunk  near  Jeffersonville.  The 

one  in  Ferguson's  woods  struck  a  good  flow  of  gas  and  the  stockholders,  in 
their  elation,  held  a  celebration  at  the  well  and  the  whole  city  turned  out. 

The  gas  was  lighted  and  night  was  turned  into  day.  The  stockholders  refused 
to  sell  their  holdings  to  less  fortunate  friends,  but  their  dream  was  short  lived, 

as  the  gas  soon  gave  out.  Luther  F.  Warder  formed  another  company  to 
sink  wells  but  they  met  with  no  better  success. 

The  political  campaigns  of  '84  and  "88  were  the  most  enthusiastic  since 
the  Civil  war.  Cleveland  and  Hendricks  marching  clubs  vied  with  the  Blain 

and  Logan  clubs  and  the  county  presented  about  an  equal  number  of  marchers 

in  the  many  torch-light  processions  which  marked  the  campaign  in  this 
locality.  The  campaign  of  1888,  between  Cleveland  and  Harrison,  was 
equally  as  strenuous  and  the  Clark  county  citizens  maintained  their  reputation 
for  keeping  things  warm  until  the  night  of  the  election. 

In  1884  one  of  the  most  philanthropic  acts  in  the  history  of  the  county 
was  performed  by  Prof.  William  W.  Borden,  of  Borden,  in  erecting  and 
starting  the  Borden  Institute,  a  school  which  he  maintained  for  a  number 
of  vears,  and  which  has  furnished  good  educations  to  hundreds  of  young  men 
and  women  of  Wood  township. 

In  Jeffersonville  the  water  works  system  was  completed  in  1S88  and  ac- 

cepted. The  population  of  Clark  county  in  1890  was  thirty  thousand  two  hun- 
dred fiftv-nine. 
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On  March  27,  1890,  the  city  of  JeffersonviUe  and  the  southern  part  of 

the  county  was  visited  by  the  most  destructive  cyclone  in  the  history  of  the 

city.  About  seven  o'clock  p.  m.  it  broke  with  all  its  fury,  demolishing  build- 
ings and  sweeping  away  property,  but  fortunately  killing  no  one.  In  Louis- 
ville, however,  scores  of  people  were  killed  and  the  destruction  of  property 

was  tremendous.  In  JeffersonviUe  many  buildings  w^ere  unroofed,  many 
were  partly  clown,  and  many  were  so  badly  damaged  that  they  had  to  be 
pulled  down.  About  two  hundred  houses  were  ruined  in  the  city  alone,  and 
at  the  time  the  damage  was  estimated  at  five  hundred  thousand  dollars.  The 

force  of  the  w-ind  was  terrific,  large  timbers  being  blown  across  the  river  from 

wrecked  buildings  in  Louisville,  A  skift'  in  the  river  was  blown  out  of  the water  and  into  a  house  on  Front  street. 

In  1891  the  Car  Works  and  other  industries  of  Clark  county  were  en- 

joying a  period  of  great  prosperity.  At  that  time  the  Car  A\'orks  was  em- 
ploying two  thousand  men,  and  this  year  turned  out  five  thousand  and  eight 

cars,  valued  at  two  million  nine  hundred  thousand  dollars,  or  one  car  for 

every  thirt-five  minutes.  The  sixty-three  acres  of  the  plant,  with  its  five 
miles  of  track,  was  one  of  the  busiest  places  around  the  Falls,  the  saw  mill 
alone  turning  out  ten  million  feet  of  lumber  per  year. 

The  Big-  Four  bridge,  which  had  been  in  course  of  conftruction  for  sev- 
eral years,  had  reached  that  stage  where  the  spans  were  being  placed  on  the 

piers.  In  December,  1892,  during  a  heavy  gale,  the  large  center  span  fell 
and  shortly  afterward  the  span  on  the  Kentucky  side  followed.  The  collapse 
of  the  center  span  carried  a  score  of  men  to  death,  but  the  fall  of  the  second 

span  resulted  in  no  casualties.  Three  vears  previously  several  lives  were  lost 
by  accidents  in  the  caissons,  but  the  Phoenix  Bridge  Company  repaired  the 
damage  and  the  bridge  was  finished  and  opened  for  traffic  in  September, 

1895.^  ^      • 
In  the  fall  of  1895  the  twenty-ninth  annual  reunion  of  the  Grand  Army 

of  the  Republic  was  held  at  Louisville,  and  Jeft'ersonville  prepared  to  help 
entertain  the  old  soldiers.  Enough  lunch  stands  and  sleeping  quarters  were 
prepared  to  care  for  five  thousand  visitors,  but  the  sandwiches  went  uneaten, 
the  coffee  undrunk  and  the  cots  undisturbed  by  sleepers.  Half  the  population 

expected  to  make  money  during  the  festivities  and  half  the  population  were 
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disappointed.  The  owner  of  one  impromptue  lunch  stand  had  ordered  five 
hundred  pies  per  day  and  he  disposed  of  one  pie.  One  genius  erected  five 

thousands  seats  on  the  river  bank  to  seat  the  crow^ds  during  the  display  of 
fire  works  one  night  and  he  had  one  customer.  The  reunion  was  not  a  season 
of  happiness  so  far  as  Jeffersonville  was  concerned. 

In  this  decade  another  addition  was  made  to  Jeffersonville,  called  In- 

gram's addition.     It  consisted  of  blocks  one  to  four  and  lays  in  Grant  No.  8. 
From  1890  to  1900  the  transportation  of  Jeffersonville  citizens  was  on 

a  celebrated  system  of  mule  cars.  This  line  of  cars,  which  ran  the  whole 

length  to  Market  street,  was  the  butt  of  all  jokers,  but  it  was  a  great  conve- 
nience to  many  and  paved  the  way  for  the  present  system  of  electric  cars, 

which  has  added  so  materially  to  the  attractiveness  of  the  city. 

In  1893,  a  bill,  presented  to  the  Legislature  by  Willis  Barnes,  of 
Charlestown,  was  passed  appropriating  five  hundred  dollars  for  a  monument 

to  Gov.  Jonathan  Jennings.  Jennings'  remains  had  laid  in  the  old  cemetery 
south  of  Charlestown  since  June  27,  1834,  but  they  were  moved  to  the  new 

cemeter}'  in  1894,  and  the  monument  erected  to  mark  his  final  resting  place. 
In  September,  1891,  a  great  fair  was  held  in  Charlestown.  The  exhibits 

being  of  great  interest,  were  viewed  by  thousands  of  visitors. 
From  1892  to  1893  Clark  county  had  the  first  company  of  the  National 

Guard  since  1877.  The  officers  of  this  company  were:  Captain,  L.  C.  Baird; 
first  lieutenants,  C.  H.  Kelly,  W.  W.  Crooker  and  H.  H.  Thacker;  second 
lieutenants,  W.  W.  Crooker  and  H.  E.  Barrett.  The  company  was  called  into 

active  service  during  the  strike  and  riots  of  1893  and  upon  their  return  from 
Sullivan  county  were  received  by  a  great  crowd  of  friends. 

In  1898  the  Spanish  war  found  Clark  county  without  a  company  for  the 
first  call,  but  this  was  caused  by  the  call  being  filled  by  militia  regiments. 
The  second  call  was  responded  to  by  a  splendid  company  recruited  from 

nearly  all  parts  of  the  county.  Their  service  in  the  One  Hundred  Sixty-first 
Indiana  Volunteer  Infantry  will  be  found  in  the  chapters  on  the  military  his- 

tory of  Clark  county.  Their  return  from  foreign  service  May  3,  1899,  was 
the  occasion  of  a  great  demonstration. 

In  October,  1899,  was  held  a  carnival  of  flowers  on  the  occasion  of  the 
meeting  of  the  Southern  Indiana  Press  Association  in  Jeffersonville.  The 

display  of  beautifully  decorated  carriages  was  a  delight  to  the  many  visitors 
here  at  that  time. 

On  September  4,  1899,  a  great  labor  day  celebration  was  held  in  Jef- 
fersonville. 

In  October,  1899,  the  corner  stone  of  the  school-house  in  Howard  Park 
was  laid  with  appropriate  ceremonies. 

On  December  10,  1899,  Father  Andran,  the  beloved  priest  of  St.  Augus- 

tine's Roman  Catholic  church,  died.     His  death  removed  the  friend  and  coun- 
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seller  of  many  and  a  wonderfnily  snccessfnl  worker  from  the  Christian  church. 

In  this  decade  Jeffersonville  and  Clark  county  enjoyed  all  the  advantages 
which  belonged  to  other  places  similarly  situated  with  the  exception  of  street 
car  and  interurban  service,  but  the  next  decade  produced  a  service  second  to 
none. 

In  1896  Jeffersonville  spent  nearly  ten  thousand  dollars  on  street  im- 

provement. 
In  1897  the  city  was  one  of  the  best  lighted  cities  in  the  country,  having 

sixty  arc  lights  on  the  streets. 

The  population  of  Clark  county  in  1900  was  thirty-one  thousand  eight 
hundred  and  thirty-five. 

9 



CHAPTER  XIV. 

THE    ELEVENTH    DECADE   I9OI-I9IO. 

This  last  decade  of  Clark  county  history  is  the  centennial  decade,  not 
only  of  the  county,  but  of  Jeffersonville  and  of  Charlestown. 

On  February  3,  1801,  William  Henry  Harrison,  the  first  Territorial 

Governor,  created  Clark  county  by  gubernatorial  proclamation.  The  centen- 
nial of  this  date  was  marked  by  no  celebration,  but  the  celebration  of  the  cen- 

tennial of  the  founding  of  Jeffersonville,  June  23.  1902.  was  an  event  of 
county  wide  interest.  A  great  parade  of  societies,  exhibits,  b.nnds  and  citizens 

was  a  feature  of  the  day,  followed  by  exercises  at  the  court-house,  where  Col. 
James  Keig\vin,  Hon.  Jonas  G.  Howard,  and  Hon.  Frank  Burke  delivered 

speeches. 
To  the  ladies  of  the  Daughters  of  the  American  Revolution  belong  all 

the  credit  for  this  centennial.  The  parade  in  the  morning  was  divided  into 

divisions  and  were  commanded  by  Jeffersonville  soldiers.  Col.  John  Ingram, 
a  veteran  of  the  Mexican  war,  commanded  one  division.  Col.  James  Keigwin. 

Capt.  John  Hoffman.  Col.  Isaac  Brinkworth,  and  Capt.  C.  \\\  Coward,  vet- 
erans of  the  War  of  the  Rebellion,  commanded  other  divisions;  while  Maj.  D. 

C.  Peyton,  Capt.  L.  C.  Baird,  and  Capt.  James  W.  Fortune,  of  the  Spanish 
war,  commanded  others.  In  the  evening  a  concert  by  a  military  band  was 

given  on  Front  street,  and  this  was  followed  by  a  display  of  fire  works  from 
a  barge  anchored  in  the  river. 

On  September  19,  1903,  the  corner  stone  of  the  new  Jeffersonville  Car- 
negie Library  was  laid  by  the  most  worshipful  grand  lodge  of  Free  and  Ac- 

cepted Masons  of  Indiana,  with  imposing  ceremonies.  Fifteen  thousand  dol- 
lars had  been  provided  by  Mr.  Carnegie  for  the  building  of  this  structure,  and 

one  thousand  five  hundred  dollars  per  year  had  been  pledged  for  its  support. 

At  the  ceremonies.  Grand  Master  William  E.  English,  of  Indianapolis,  pre- 
sided, and  Brother  E.  L.  Powell,  of  Louisville,  made  the  principal  address. 

The  following  is  a  list  of  articles  deposited  in  the  comer  stone : 

City  directory  of  1903. 

One  copy  of  Daily  Courier  Journal,  dated  September  19,  1903. 

One  copy  of  Daily  Herald,  September  19.  1903. 

'   One  copy  of  Daily  Evening  Star,  September  19,  1903. 

One  copy  of  Daih"  Evening  News,  September  19,  1903. 
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One  copy  of  Weekly  Clark  County  Republican,  September  19,  1903. 
Copy  of  Masonic  directory,   1902. 
Roster  of  officers  and  members  of  Clark  Lodge,  Free  and  Accepted  Ma- 
sons, September  19.  1903. 

Roster  of  officers  and  meml)ers  of  Grand  Lodge,  Free  and  Accepted  Ma- 
sons, Lidianapolis,  1903. 

Roster  of  officers  and  members  of  the  Forty-ninth  Indiana  Volunteer  In- 

fantry in  war  of  1861-5,  furnished  by  (and  in  his  own  writing)  Col.  James 
Keigwin,  its  commanding  officer. 

Roster  of  officers  and  members  of  Company  E,  One  Hundred  SixtA^-first 

Indiana  Volunteer  Infantry,  in  war  of  1898-99,  by  Capt.  Lewis  C.  Baird. 
List  of  city  officers  for  1903. 
List  of  county  officers  for  1903. 
List  of  township  officers  for  1903. 

Roster  of  post-office  officials,  carriers,  etc.,  1903. 

List  of  officers  of  new  library  (Carnegie's),  1903,  and  copy  of  resolu- 
tions on  death  of  Miss  Hannah  Znlauf.  one  of  the  original  founders. 
List  of  officers  of  Walnut  Ridge  cemetery. 

List  of  officers  of  First  Presbyterian  church,  1903,  with  history  of  the 
organization  of  the  church  and  photograph  of  the  Rev.  John  S.  Howk,  pastor. 

List  of  officers  of  Wall  Street  Methodist  Episcopal  church,  1903,  and 

photograph  of  Rev.  Charles  E.  Asbur}',  pastor. 

List  of  officers  and  rector  of  St.  Paul's  Episcopal  church,  1903. 
List  of  officers  and  members  of  the  Methodist  Episcopal  church.  South 

(Morton  Chapel),  and  its  history  from  the  organization,  by  Rev.  J.  B.  Butler, 

pastor. 
List  of  officers  of  First  Christian  church. 

List  of  officers  of  First  Baptist  church. 

List  of  officers  of  Ad\'ent  Christian  church. 
List  of  members  of  Bar  of  Clark  county. 
Invitation  to  exercises  of  dedication. 

Program  of  exercises  of  dedication. 
Almanac  of  1903. 

Proclamation  of  Mayor  for  half-holiday. 
Municipal  reports  of  city.  1898,  Alfred  H.  Bamber. 
The  Delineator,  a  magazine  of  fashion,   1903. 

Buttericks's  fashion  patterns,  October,  1903. 
Roster  of  teachers  of  city  schools,  1903,  and  photograph  of  Alexander 

C.  Goodwin,  superintendent. 
Nickel  of  coinage  of  1903.  by  Thomas  B.  Bohon. 
Confederate  bill  of  denomination  of  ten  dollars,  dated  February  17,  1864. 

History  of  Jeffersonville  township  public  library,  by  Mis«  Eva  Luke. 
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Copy  of  contract  and  specifications  for  new  library  building,  by  Clark 
and  Loomis.  architects. 

Photograph  of  Arthur  Loomis,  architect. 
Photograph  of  Mrs.  Carrie  Loomis. 

Roster  of  A.  A.  S.  R.  for  1902,  Valley  of  Indianapolis,  by  Thomas  W. 

Perrj'. 
Roster  of  Murat  Temple,  1902,  A.  A.  R.  Shrine,  bv  T.  W.  Perry. 
Photograph  of  Hon.  James  K.  Marsh,  Judge  of  the  Circuit  Court. 
Photograph  of  Thomas  W.  Perry,  secretary  of  school  board. 
Photograph  of  W.  A.  Davis,  president  of  school  board. 
Photograph  of  Simeon  S.  Johnson,  past  grand  master  Masons  of  Lidiana. 
Card  of  Timmonds  and  Stancell,  makers  of  deposit  box. 

Li  December,  1903,  St.  Augustine's  Roman  Catholic  church  was  burned 
with  a  loss  of  about  thirty-five  thousand  dollars.  The  congregation  imme- 

diately took  steps  to  rebuild  and  on  Sunday,  October  2,  1905,  it  was  dedicated 
by  Bishop  Francis  Silas  Chatard. 

In  February,  1904,  occurred  the  death  of  a  distinguished  educator  of 
Indiana,  Prof.  A.  C.  Goodwin,  the  superintendent  of  the  JefTersonville  public 
schools. 

On  May  i,  1904,  the  last  mule  car  was  seen  in  Jeffersonville ;  the  line 
was  discontinued  for  a  short  time,  and  a  new  electric  equipment  was  installed. 
This  line  extended  up  Market  street  to  Jackson  street.  Port  Fulton,  and  down 
Market  street  to  Ohio  avenue.  There  was  also  a  line  on  Spring  street  from 
Front  to  Court  avenue,  up  Court  avenue,  to  Meigs  avenue,  and  out  Meigs  to 
the  government  depot. 

On  July  12,  1904,  the  City  Council  of  Jeffersonvlile  granted  a  franchise 

to  build  an  approach  to  the  Big  Four  bridge  from  Court  avenue,  and  on  Sep- 
tember 13,  1905,  the  first  car  was  taken  over  the  bridge. 

In  August,  1904,  the  re-dedication  of  the  old  Bethel  meeting  house,  three 
miles  south  of  Charlestown,  took  place  in  the  presence  of  a  large  concourse  of 
Methodists.     Bishop  Walden,  of  Cincinnati,  presided. 

In  May,  1903,  the  state  of  Indiana  acquired  two  thousand  acres  of  land 

near  Henryville  and  established  a  state  forestry'  reservation.  This  tract  of 
land  was  acquired  to  show  that  seven  hundred  thousand  teres  of  so-called 
worthless  knob  land  in  Southern  Indiana  could  be  made  of  value.  Here  also 

were  to  be  raised  seedling  trees  to  distribute  all  over  Indiana  to  make  the  state 

again  an  extensive  and  commercial  hardwood  producer,  and  thereby  retain 
many  of  the  wood  working  concerns  which  would  have  to  eventually  leave  the 
state  unless  a  new  supply  of  timber  could  be  grown.  It  was  also  established 
to  teach  forestry.  On  the  summit  of  the  knob  in  this  tract  six  hundred  feet 

above  the  plains  of  northern  Clark  county  and  one  thousand  twenty-six  feet 
above  sea  level  one  can  look  down  on  the  most  promising  farm  lands  of  the 



BAIRD  S   HISTORY  OF   CLARK  CO.,   IXD.  I33 

state.  This  undertaking  on  the  part  of  the  state  promises  to  be  of  great 
value  and  has  already  borne  fruits. 

On  August  25,  1904,  Jeffersonville  lost  one  of  her  oldest  and  best  known 

citizens  in  the  death  of  Col.  James  Keigwin.  late  of  the  Forty-ninth  Indiana 
Volunteer  Infantry.  Always  proud  of  Jeffersonville  and  Clark  county  he 
belonged  to  that  class  of  men  who  made  a  community  better  by  living  in  it. 
He  was  a  gallant  soldier  and  in  his  day  was  widely  known  and  connected  with 
most  of  the  enterprises  of  the  city. 

In  August,  1904,  the  Jeffersonville  and  New  Albany  Chautauqua  Assem- 
bly was  held  at  Glenwood  Park.  As  the  president  and  seven  out  of  eleven 

directors  were  Jeftersonville  men  it  may  fairly  be  called  a  Jeffersonville  enter- 
prise. This  meeting  was  held  at  Glenwood  Park  on  the  bank  of  Silver  creek 

and  a  program  of  entertainment  for  eleven  days  was  offered.  This  Chautau- 
qua has  been  held  every  year  since  and  it  affords  clean,  wholesome  and  intelli- 
gent entertainment  at  a  very  reasonable  cost. 

In  September,  1904,  the  new  Spring  Hill  school  was  opened  in  Jeffer- 
sonville. This  school  is  a  modern,  handsome,  commodious  and  convenient 

building,  and  marks  an  epoch  in  school  building  in  Clark  county.  The  stand- 
ard of  excellence  set  here  is  to  be  surpassed  by  the  erection  of  a  new  high 

school  at  a  near  date.  Two  of  the  old  original  schools  of  Jeffersonville  were 
torn  down  about  this  time.  The  old  Mulberry  street  school,  at  the  lower  end 
of  Chestnut  street,  was  torn  down  in  the  fall  of  1904,  and  the  old  Blue  school 
on  Watt  and  Maple,  was  demolished  later. 

September  12,  1905,  the  first  electric  car  was  run  over  the  Big  Four 
bridge,  thus  opening  the  whole  of  Southern  Indiana  to  Louisville.  The  trip 
across  the  bridge  was  the  occasion  of  a  great  demonstration  by  the  officials  of 
the  three  cities. 

In  December,  1906,  Judge  C.  P.  Ferguson's  death  removed  from  the  bar 
of  Clark  county  a  distinguished  jurist.  A  friend  and  companion  of  many  of 
the  early  leaders  both  in  law  and  politics,  and  a  student  of  men  and  measures, 
he  rose  to  the  front  of  the  profession  in  Clark  county. 

In  1906  Charlestown  celebrated  her  centennial  with  appropriate  cere- 
monies. This  old  county  seat  town,  and  one  of  the  most  attractive  towns  in 

Southern  Indiana  retains  the  quiet  refinement  and  characteristic  sedateness 
which  befits  its  age.  A  more  picturesque  place  than  Charlestown  does  not  exist, 
and  with  the  historic  memories  of  her  past  and  the  many  points  of  interest  in 
her  near  vicinity  there  is  no  reason  why  the  little  town  on  Falling  Run  could 
not  be  made  a  summer  resort  of  great  popularity.  Fern  Grove,  on  the  river 

at  the  mouth  of  Fourteen  Mile  creek,  is  but  two  miles  away  and  here  a  con- 
tinual stream  of  excursionists  are  found  all  through  the  summer.  Other  attrac- 

tions near  Charlestown  are : 

Buffalo  Lick,  lithia  springs  half  mile. 
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White  sulphur  wells,  one  mile. 

Tunnel  ]\Iill,  over  a  century  old,  old-style  water  mill,  still  running,  two 
miles. 

Stockwell  cave,  two  miles. 
Delaware  Indian  cave,  adjoins  town. 

Halcyon  Hill,  overlooking  town. 
Cave  of  the  Silver  Find,  three  miles. 

Remains  of  Mound  Builders"  Fort,  near  Ohio  river,  two  miles. 
Fourteen  Mile  creek,  fine  fishing,  one  mile. 

Alonument  and  tomb  of  Jonathan  Jennings,  first  Governor  of  Indiana. 
Quaint  architecture  dating  from  1806  to  the  War  of  1812. 

On  July  3T,  1905,  the  old  Utica  "bus"  made  its  last  trip  from  Jefferson- 
ville  to  Utica,  and  on  August  ist  the  first  rural  free  delivery  of  the  mail  in 

Clark  county  was  inaugurated  on  the  route  formerly  covered  by  the  "bus." 
In  the  year  1907  the  city  of  Jefifersonville  made  three  improvements, 

the  Seventh  street  sewer,  Maple  street  sewer  and  Spring  street  improvement. 
W.  O.  Sweeney  was  the  contractor  in  each  case.  The  following  shows  the 
interesting  figures  connected  with  each,  the  total  cost  of  all  improvements 

amounting  to  forty  thousand  two  hundred  and  sixty-six  dollars  and  eighty-one 
cents : 

Seventh  street  sewer:  Material,  vitrified  tile;  length,  one  thousand  seven 

hundred  and  ninety  feet ;  cost,  two  thousand  seven  hundred  and  fifty-six  dol- 
lars and  forty  cents;  contract  approved  November  5,  1907;  final  assessment 

approved  February  i,  1908;  covers  sixty-nine  property  descriptions,  effects 
forty-four  property  owners ;  city  share,  two  dollars  and  twenty-seven  cents. 

Maple  street  sewer:  Material,  vitrified  tile;  length,  two  thousand  fifty- 
five  feet ;  cost,  two  thousand  one  hundred  and  forty-four  dollars  and  fifteen 
cents;  contract  approved  August  29,  1907;  final  assessment  approved  January 

10,  1908;  covers  one  hundred  two  property  descriptions,  affects  sixty-five 

property  owners;  city  share,  one  hundred  sixteen  dollars  and  fifty-six  cents. 
Spring  street,  from  Court  to  Fourteenth:  Material,  vitrified  brick; 

length,  six  thousand  four  hundred  thirty-seven  and  twenty-six  hundredths  feet; 
total  cost,  thirty-two  thousand  three  hundred  sixty-six  dollirs  and  twenty-six 
cents;  cost  per  lineal  foot,  two  dollars  seventy-eight  cents;  contract  approved 

April  29,  1907  :  final  assessment  January  15,  1908 ;  cover  two  hundred  seventy- 
five  property  descriptions,  affects  one  hundred  eighteen  property  owners. 

Apjjrtipriations  of  twehe  thousand  dollars  for  purchasing  the  turnpike 

running  from  Jefifersonville  to  Charlestown,  and  fourteen  thousand  two  hun- 
dred fifty  for  Inlying  the  toll  road  between  Jeffersonville  and  Utica  and  to  a 

point  a  few  miles  beyond  there,  where  it  intersects  the  first  named  highway 
for  an  outlet  to  Charlestown,  was  matle  by  ihc  County  Council  of  Clark  cciunty 
in  April,  1907. 
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The  appropriation  is  practically  a  loan,  and  eventually  Jeffersonville, 
Utica  and  Charlestown  townships  will  pay  it  back. 

On  February  10,  igo8,  a  limited  car  service  was  established  between 

Louisville  and  Seymour,  Indiana.  These  cars  ran  every  two  hours,  and  the 

running  time  between  Jeffersonville  and  Seymour  was  one  hour  and  thirty- 
nine  minutes. 

In  November,  1907.  the  famous  Chalyljeate  Springs,  which  once  made 

famous  the  "Springs'"  in  Jeft'ersonville  in  the  forties  and  fifties,  were  destroyed 
by  the  Big  Four  Railroad  in  making  improvements. 

July  18,  1907,  the  corner  stone  of  the  new  county  poor  asylum  was  laid 
by  the  grand  master  of  Masons  of  Indiana,  Calvin  W.  Prather,  acting  grand 

master  presiding.  This  ceremon}-  was  under  the  auspices  of  Blazing  Star 
Lodge,  No.  226,  Free  and  Accepted  Masons.  The  building  when  completed 

cost  twenty-tive  thousand  dollars,  and  is  one  of  the  finest  in  the  state  of 
Indiana. 

August  25,  1907,  the  first  car  from  Scottsburg,  on  the  Indianapolis  & 
Louisville  Traction  Company  lines,  arrived  in  Jeffersonville. 

One  of  the  important  dates  of  late  years  was  that  of  1907.  The  river 
had  reached  a  high  but  not  dangerous  stage.  The  residents  of  the  lower  end 

of  Jeft'ersonville  had  been  alarmed  at  reports  of  the  weakness  of  the  Pennsyl- 
vania fill  at  the  junction,  and  at  the  ringing  of  the  fire  bell,  when  a  break 

seemed  imminent,  pandemonium  broke  loose.  Wagons,  carts,  buggies,  wheel- 

barrows and  ever)-  other  available  vehicle  was  pressed  into  ser\'ice  to  haul  house- 
hold and  other  goods  to  high  ground.  It  was  the  record  breaking  evacuation, 

notwithstanding  the  fact  that  the  water  would  have  reached  few  of  the  houses 
should  the  fill  have  broken.  When  the  river  had  subsided  the  town  of  Clarks- 

ville,  together  with  the  Pennsylvania  Railroad,  reinforced  the  dike  and  Jeffer- 
sonville is  today  the  safest  and  dryest  river  town  from  Pittsburg  to  Cairo. 

In  the  centennial  decade  Charlestown  began  the  improvement  of  her 

streets  with  granitoid  sidewalks,  and  besides  adding  to  the  beauty,  attractive- 
ness and  convenience  of  the  town,  it  has  added  to  the  value  of  real  estate. 

The  spirit  of  municipal  progress  which  gave  Charlestown  improved  streets, 
a  fine  creamery,  an  electric  lighting  plant,  good  telephones,  cement  and  wall 
plaster  factory,  and  electric  cars,  will  manifest  in  other  lines,  and  the  coming 
generation  may  expect  to  see  the  most  Ijeautiful  residential  suburb  around 
the  Three  Falls  cities.  Her  old  attraction  will  always  remain,  and  to  the 
lovers  of  rural  beauty  and  historical  association  she  will  always  remain  one 
of  the  choicest  spots  on  Indiana  soil. 

Borden  in  like  manner  is  growing  in  prominence  on  account  of  its  in- 
dustries and  improvements,  but  particularly  from  its  strawberry  shipments. 

This  town  has  become  one  of  the  principal  berry  shipping  points  in  the  West, 

no  less  than  twenty  thousand   gallons  being  shipped   to  Chicago  annually. 
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The  shipment  of  fruits  and  berries  to  other  cities  is  growing  and  this  trade 

will  soon  be  one  of  far-reaching  importance  to  this  section  of  the  state. 
Improvement  seems  to  be  the  order  of  the  day  throughout  Clark  county, 

and  Jeffersonville  has  within  the  last  year  taken  great  strides  towards 
rejuvenating  herself  and  advertising  her  advantages  in  every  quarter.  With 
the  resumption  of  business  at  the  car  works  and  the  returning  confidence  of 
the  people  in  the  stability  of  business  in  other  lines  Clark  county  and  her 
various  towns  have  indeed  a  bright  future  before  them. 



CHAPTER  XV. 

THE  MILITARY  HISTORY  OF  CLARK  COUNTY. 

1 786- 1 844. 

The  earliest  history  of  Clark  county  is  military.  The  settlement  at  Clarks- 
ville  had  as  its  nucleus  a  stockade  called  Fort  Clark,  and  within  easy  distance 
of  its  protecting  walls  were  clustered  the  cabins  of  the  settlers.  However,  the 
growing  hostility  of  the  Northwestern  Indian  tribes,  collectively  known  as 

the  \\'abash  Indians,  and  the  grave  political  situation  which  had  arisen 
among  the  people  south  of  the  Ohio  river,  because  of  the  failure  of  the  Union 
to  protect  the  frontiers,  and  open  the  Mississippi  river  to  commerce  led  the 

Go\-ernment  to  establish  and  garrison  the  fort  just  above  the  rapids  of  the  Ohio. 
The  Indian  situation  was  about  as  bad  as  it  could  be,  and  reports  of  murder 
and  robbery  were  almost  daily.  The  trapper  or  hunter  who  \entured  back 
into  the  dense  forests  and  canebrakes  was  compelled  to  match  the  cunning  of 
the  savage  or  pay  the  penalty  with  his  life.  The  settler  could  at  no  time  feel 
safe  from  the  murderous  attacks  of  a  foe  whom  our  English  cousins  had  armed 

and  incited  to  deeds  of  the  most  revolting  crueltv. 
Gov.  Patrick  Henry,  of  Virginia,  was  well  informed  as  to  conditions,  and 

on  "Slay  16,  1786,  presented  the  subject  so  strongly  to  Congress  that  action  was 
soon  taken,  and  on  June  30,  1786,  the  Executive  of  Virginia  was  notified  that 
the  United  States  had  ordered  their  commandant  on  the  Ohio  to  detach  two 

companies  to  the  rapids  of  the  Ohio,  with  request  that  the  militia  of  that  dis- 
trict be  required  to  co-operate  with  them  in  defense  of  the  frontier.  In- 

structions were  sent  to  Colonel  Harmar  as  to  the  disposition  of  his  forces, 
under  date  of  June  27,  1786.  These  were  received  by  him  at  Fort  Pitt,  July 
13.  1786,  by  the  hand  of  Major  North.  Colonel  Harmar  replied  in  part  as 

follows :  "That  in  obedience  to  instructions,  he  should  detach  two  companies 
to  the  rapids  of  the  Ohio,  to  protect  the  inhabitants  from  the  incursions  of 

the  Indians."  He  thereupon  proposed  to  detach  Finney's  and  Ziegler's  com- 
panies from  Fort  Finney,  at  the  mouth  of  the  ]\Iiami,  to  the  rapids,  and  close 

the  post  at  the  Miami,  there  being  no  trouble  below  the  Muskingum. 

Fort  Finney  had  been  built  in  the  fall  of  1785,  but  the  ground  near  the 
mouth  of  the  Miami  was  very  low  and  the  trouble  occasioned  by  floods  was 
so  great  that  it  was  never  used  again. 

Colonel  Harmar  again  reports  to  Secretary  Knox,  under  date  of  August 



138  BAIRD's    history   of   CLARK   CO.,   IND. 

4,  1786,  in  which  he  states  that,  "Agreeable  to  order  of  Congress,  he  had  de- 
tached two  companies  to  the  rapids  of  the  Ohio."  This  seems  to  fix  con- 

ckisively  the  birth  of  the  new  fort,  the  ist  of  August.  1786. 
The  site  chosen  for  the  new  work  was  on  the  north  bank  of  the  river,  and 

near  the  head  of  the  rapids,  in  what  is  now  the  lower  end  of  Jeffersonville. 
It  was  named  in  honor  of  Major  Walter  Finney,  as  was  the  work  closed  at 
the  mouth  of  the  Miami.  Fort  Steuben  was  a  small  work  about  thirty  miles 
below  Fort  Mcintosh  on  the  Ohio.  This  was  abandoned  in  June.  1787,  and 

soon  after  Fort  Finney  at  Jeffersonville  was  re-named  Fort  Steui)en,  in 
honor  of  that  Revolutionary  hero  of  Prussian  birth. 

The  location  selected  by  Major  Finney  was  at  the  lower  end  of  what 

later  on  became  the  original  town  of  Jefiferson\-ille,  on  a  piiint  abuut  forty  feet 
below  what  is  now  the  foot  of  Fort  street,  and  on  a  level  piece  of  land  lying 
between  Front  street  and  the  river.  It  commanded  a  view  up  the  river  for 

some  distance,  as  well  as  a  view  of  the  Falls,  and  it  was  here  that  the  first  or- 
ganized body  of  white  men  made  their  habitation  in  Jeffersonville.  Beyond 

the  fact  that  it  was  in  the  year  1786,  neither  the  war  department  nor  other 
sources  can  give  us  any  information.  The  first  commander  was  Major  Walter 

Finney,  1786  to  1787,  and  his  company  with  that  of  Captain  Zeigler  the  first 
garrison.  Following  Major  Finney  came  Major  Wyllys,  who  was  afterward 
killed  in  action  with  the  Indians  on  the  Miami  river  October  22,  1790. 

It  became  an  important  garrison  and  remained  under  the  command  of 
Capt.  John  Armstrong,  U.  S.  A.,  until  1790,  he  having  been  ordered  here 
from  Fort  Pitt  (now  Pittsburg).  In  shape  the  fort  appears  to  have  been  a 
square  afifair  of  both  wood  and  earthwork.  A  deep  trench  was  cut  from  the 
south  side  of  the  work  to  the  river,  and  this  was  covered  with  logs  and  earth, 
making  a  tunnel  through  which  water  could  be  brought  and  by  which  escape 

could  be  made,  if  necessary.  During  the  few  years  of  Fort  Steuben's  exist- 
ence as  a  garrisoned  fort  the  little  village  around  it  was  the  scene  of  more 

than  one  military  display.  Up  to  1786  the  head  and  center  of  military  action 
seems  to  have  been  mostly  on  the  Kentucky  side  of  the  river,  but  it  shifted 
to  Fort  Steuben  when  that  garrison  was  established  and  remained  here  until 

1791. 
In  the  year  1787  Colonel  Harmar  was  at  Fort  Steuben,  accompanied  by 

Lieutenants  Beatty  and  Pratt,  and  about  June  ist,  of  this  same  year.  Captain 
Strong  and  his  company  from  Fort  Harmar  arrived  to  reinforce  the  garrison. 
The  presence  of  Colonel  Harmar  can  be  accounted  for  by  the  fact  that  he  was 
the  commanding  officer  of  the  First  U.  S.  Regiment,  of  which  organization 
the  garrison  of  Fort  Steuben  was  a  part.  On  June  loth  Lieutenant  Denny, 

Captain  Smith  and  his  company.  Ensign  Sedam  with  part  of  Captain  Mercer's 
company.  Lieutenant  Peters  and  Doctor  Elliott  arrived,  and  on  July  2d, 

Strong's,  Mercer's  and  Smith's  companies  crossed  the  Ohio  to  the  Virginia 
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side  and  niarclied  down  to  encamp  below  the  Falls.  The  next  day  Captains 

Finney  and  Zeigler,  with  their  companies,  left  the  fort  and  joined  the  others 

in  camp.  These  troops,  together  with  Captain  Ferguson's  battery  of  artillery 
from  Fort  Alclntosh,  formed  the  body  of  a  peaceful  expedition  from  Fort 
Steuben  to  Post  Vincennes,  under  command  of  Colonel  Harmar  and  Major 

Hamtramck,  and  it  was  upon  their  return  to  Fort  Steuben  on  October  28,  1787, 

that  Harmar  received  his  commission  as  a  brigadier-general.  Soon  after  this 

all  of  these,  with  the  exception  of  Major  Wylly's  with  Finney's  and  Mercer's 
companies,  who  remained  to  garrison  the  fort,  left  for  Fort  Harmar. 

The  depredations  of  the  Indians  became  so  bold  north  of  the  Ohio  that 
settlement  was  hazardous  in  the  extreme,  and  to  give  better  protection  to  that 

tract  known  as  Clark's  grant  and  its  vicinity.  General  Harmar  sent  reinforce- 
ments back  to  the  garrison  of  Fort  Steuben  in  1788. 

On  August  26,  1789,  about  two  hundred  mounted  troops,  under  Col.  John 
Hardin,  left  the  Falls  to  attack  the  Indian  towns  on  the  Wabash,  and  returned 

on  September  28th,  of  the  same  year,  without  the  loss  of  a  man. 

A  day  of  martial  display,  no  doubt,  was  that  of  January  8,.  1790.  when 

Gov.  Arthur  St.  Clair  and  Winthrop  Sargeant,  secretary  of  the  territory,  ar- 
rived on  their  way  to  the  Illinois  country.  This  official  party  seems  to  have 

made  Fort  Steuben  their  headquarters,  for  the  Governor's  letters  to  Major 
Hamtramck,  the  commanding  officer  of  Post  Vincennes,  are  dated  from  here. 
The  Governor  and  his  party  remained  at  Fort  Steuben  until  January  27,  1790, 
and  while  here  made  the  following  appointments : 

"William  Clark,  of  Clarksville,  Justice  of  the  Peace  and  Captain  of  the 
Militia,  in  the  Town  and  Vicinity." 

"John  Owens,  Lieutenant  of  ̂ Militia." 
It  was  in  this  same  year  that  the  Governor,  being  vested  with  power  by 

President  Washington,  called  for  one  thousand  militia  from  Virginia  and  five 
hundred  from  Pennsylvania.  Kentucky  (which  was  still  a  part  of  Virginia) 

sent  one  hundred  and  twenty-fi\e  men  from  Lincoln  county  and  fifty  men  from 
Jefferson  county  to  Fort  Steuben.  These  troops  assembled  here  on  September 
I2th.  and  soon  after  left  for  Vincennes  for  action  against  the  red  men. 

On  June  14,  1791,  Brig. -Gen.  Charles  Scott  arrived  at  Fort  Steuben  at 
the  head  of  eight  hundred  mounted  and  armed  men,  having  finished  a  suc- 

cessful expedition  against  the  Wabash  tribes.  He  deli\-ered  to  Captain  Ash- 
ton,  of  the  First  U.  S.  Infantry  commanding  the  fort,  forty-one  prisoners  of 
war.  This  was  the  largest  body  of  mounted  troops  in  this  vicinity  during  this 
period,  and  even  at  the  present  day  it  would  be  no  inconsequential  force. 
Their  approach  to  Fort  Steuben  was  either  by  way  of  that  trail  that  led 
westwardly  from  the  fort  past  the  whirlpool  to  the  Vincennes  trail,  or  by  the 

upper  trail,  leading  back  through  the  virgin  forest  a  short  distance  above  the 

fort,  and  afterward  named  Spring  street.     Their  triumphal  return  from  a  sue- 
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cessful  campaign  against  a  savage  foe  so  feared  by  all,  with  forty-one  braves  as 
prisoners  of  war,  was  no  doubt  an  improsing  entry,  and  brought  a  feeling  of 
satisfaction  and  safety  to  the  minds  of  those  who  lived  in  almost  daily  dread 

of  capture,  murder  or  torture.  On  August  21st  of  this  same  year  Brig.-Gen. 
James  Wilkinson  arrived  at  Fort  Steuben  with  five  hundred  and  twenty-five 
men,  having  made  an  expedition  similar  to  that  of  General  Scott,  and  equally 
as  successful.  These  troops,  although  small  in  number,  and  armed  with  old 

flint-lock  muskets,  were  a  formidalile  body  for  those  days,  and  their  march  to 
the  old  fort  must  have  been  a  great  event  in  the  little  hamlet  so  unused  to 
scenes  such  as  these. 

In  May,  1791,  the  garrison  was  reduced  to  sixty-one  men.  The  seat  of 
trouble  having  moved  northward  and  other  forts  having  been  established 
closer  to  the  northern  boundary,  the  old  fort  was  soon  after  discontinued  as 

a  garrisoned  post.  The  last  mention  of  a  garrison  is  that  Captain  Ashton,  of 
the  First  U.  S.  Infantry,  was  in  command,  and  then  we  find  that  on  July  15, 

1791,  "the  whole  of  the  First  U.  S.  Regiment"  arrived  at  Fort  Washington 
to  participate  in  an  expedition  which  established  several  forts  to  the  north- 

ward. This  evidently  was  the  last  garrison  of  regular  troops,  for  the  fort  is 
never  mentioned  as  such  again,  although  the  month  after  this  (August  21st) 

was  the  date  of  the  arrival  of  Wilkinson's  expedition. 
Travelers  have  mentioned  the  fort  after  this  date  as  being  still  in  ex- 

istence, i.  e.,  Francis  Baily,  an  English  traveler  in  Louisville  in  1797.  writes: 

"The  Ohio  here  is  nearly  a  mile  wide  and  is  bounded  by  an  open  champaign 
country,  where  there  is  a  fort  kept  up  for  the  protection  of  the  infant  colony 

and  called  Fort  Steuben."  But  its  garrison  was  no  doubt  part  of  the  militia 
of  the  territory,  as  this  organization  was  a  ver^'  effective  body  at  that  time. 
The  commanding  officers  of  Fort  Steuben  were  Major  Walter  Finney,  who 

constructed  it,  but  who  remained  only  a  year:  I\Iaj.  David  Wyllys,  Capt. 
John  Armstrong,  and  then  for  a  short  while  Capt.  Joseph  Ashton. 

Capt.  John  Armstrong,  although  an  officer  in  the  regular  establishment, 
returned  to  Clark  county  and  settled  here  after  a  long  and  honorable  career 
in  both  the  military  and  civil  service  of  his  country.  He  is  buried  on  a 

farm  opposite  the  Grassy  Flats,  in  Clark  county,  and  a  monument  marks  his 
last  resting  place,  inscribed  as  follows : 

"Sacred  to  the  memory  of  Col.  John  Armstrong,  who  was  born  April  20, 
1755,  and  died  February  4,  1816.  He  entered  the  Army  of  the  United  States 

at  the  commencement  of  the  Revolutionary  war  and  served  liis  country  seven- 
teen years  as  a  soldier  and  an  officer.  During  his  services  in  the  army  he  was 

in  thirty-seven  skirmishes  and  four  general  actions,  among  which  were  the 
battles  of  Trenton,  Stony  Point,    Monmouth,    and    the    Siege  of  Yorktown. 

"The  deceased  came  to  the  western  coimtry  with  the  first  troops  sent 

thither   and   was   in   Harmar's   and    St.    Clair's   campaign,    and   commanded 
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the  garrison  (Fort  Steuben)  at  the  Falls  of  the  Ohio  for  several  years,  making 
frequent  excursions  against  the  Indians.  At  an  early  day  he  selected  for  a 
farm  the  tract  of  land  where  his  remains  are  interred,  and  formed  a  settlement 

on  it  of  several  families  in  the  year  1796." 
The  family  still  remains  in  JelTersonville.  one  of  the  oldest  pioneer  fam- 
ilies, and  his  great-grandson.  Capt.  Frank  Spear  Armstrong,  a  native  and  a 

citizen  of  Clark  county,  and  a  graduate  of  West  Point,  is  at  present  an  officer 

in  the  regular  army  on  his  second  long  period  of  foreign  service  in  the  Philip- 
pines with  his  regiment,  the  Ninth  Cavalry. 
The  soldiers  of  the  garrison  of  Fort  Steuben  who  died  while  stationed 

there  were  given  burial  in  a  little  plot  of  level  ground  that  extended  out  in 
front  of  the  present  ferry  office.  They  lay  here  undisturbed  by  the  march  of 

civilizaton  for  many  years.  In  1843.  when  Haiwey  ]\IcCampbell  was  en- 
gaged in  grading  down  the  bank  to  make  a  wharf  which  would  meet  the  re- 

quirements of  a  growing  town,  and  which  would  afford  access  to  the  river,  it 
became  necessary  to  dig  away  the  whole  of  this  sacred  spot.  In  accordance 
with  the  dictates  of  decency  and  respect.  Dr.  Samuel  Merriwether,  a  member 

of  the  City  Council,  ofifered  a  resolution  on  October  12,  1843,  to  remove  the 
bodies  to  the  old  ]\Iulberry  street  cemetery,  and  the  work  was  ordered  done. 

The  grave  is  now  marked  by  an  oak  tree  planted  by  the  ladies  of  the  Daugh- 
ters of  the  American  Revolution. 

Old  Fort  Steuben,  with  its  earthworks  and  its  tunnel,  its  garrison  and 
its  equipment,  its  quarters  and  its  supplies,  disappeared  many  years  ago, 
and  not  the  slightest  trace  of  its  location  remains,  nor  can  a  single  relic  of  its 
existence  be  found.  The  scene  of  the  usual  routine  of  a  garrisoned  fort,  it 
more  than  once  furnished  the  characters  for  stirring  acts,  and  was  often  the 

center  of  excitement  when  expeditions  were  leaving,  or  of  great  demonstra- 
tions upon  their  triumphal  return.  Even  the  plot  of  ground  upon  which  it  was 

erected  has  been  swept  away  by  the  turbulent  floods  of  the  river,  and  only  an 
occasional  account  serves  to  remind  us  that  at  Front  and  Fort  streets  veterans 

of  the  Revolution  guarded  the  lives  and  property  of  the  dwellers  in  the  little 
village  around  them,  or  boldly  forced  their  way  northward  through  the  forests 
to  drive  back  the  savages  and  claim  the  territory  for  their  own  race  and  flag. 

From  the  abandonment  of  Fort  Steuben  by  the  United  States  troops, 
in  1 79 1,  until  the  battle  of  Tippecanoe,  the  record  of  the  militia  in  and  around 
Jeffersonville  is  meagre,  the  appointment  of  officers  being  about  the  only 
beacons  by  which  we  know  of  the  existence  of  such  a  body.  The  old  militia 

law  of  July  25,  1788,  was  the  authority  by  which  all  the  military  organiza- 
tions in  the  state  were  governed.  This  law  required  all  citizens  between  the 

ages  of  sixteen  and  fifty  to  be  enrolled  in  the  militia.  They  were  divided 
into  two  classes,  the  senior  and  junior.  The  senior  class  was  composed  of 

all  who  had  held  commissions  in  the  U.  S.  army  or  were  graduates  of  mil- 
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itary  schools.  The  law  required  every  man  to  provide  himself  with  "musket 
and  bayonet  or  rifle,  cartridge  box  and  pouch  or  powder  horn,  and  bullet 
pouch,  with  forty  rounds  of  cartridges,  or  one  pound  of  powder  and  four 

pounds  of  lead,  priming  wire  and  brush,  and  six  flints."  The  companies 
usually  consisted  of  sixty-four  men  rank  and  file,  one  captain,  one  lieutenant, 
one  ensign,  four  sergeants,  four  corporals,  one  drummer  and  one  fifer.  Eight 
companies  formed  one  battalion  and  two  battalions  one  regiment. 

Clark  county  was  the  fifth  county  to  organize  her  militia  under  the  new 

law  of  December,  1800.  Governor  Harrison  turned  his  attention  to  militarv  af- 

fairs February  6,  1801,  by  the  appointment  of  his  staff,  and  the  first  aid-de- 
camp commissioned  was  Henry  Hurst.  On  September  20.  1803,  the  militia  of 

the  county  was  organized  and  IMarston  G.  Clark  was  commissioned  lieutenant- 
colonel  commanding.  Joseph  Bartholomew  was  appointed  major  and  five 
companies  were  organized  with  the  following  officers  First  company,  captain, 
John  Owens :  lieutenant,  William  Plaskett ;  ensign,  David  Owens.  Second 

company,  captain,  George  W^ood;  lieutenant,  Isaac  Shelby;  ensign,  Barzillai 

Baker.  Third  company,  captain,  \\'illiam  Goodwin:  lieutenant.  Robert  Burge; 
ensign,  William  Stacy.  Fourth  company,  captain.  William  Smith;  lieutenant, 

\^'illiam  Prather;  ensign,  John  Morris.  Fifth  company,  captain,  Davis  Floyd; 
lieutenant,  John  Jackson ;  ensign,  Rezin  Redman. 

On  September  22,  1804,  John  Berry  and  Matthew  Rider  were  com- 
missioned lieutenants,  and  Josiah  Ekin  an  ensign  in  the  First  Regiment  of 

Clark  county.  On  May  25,  1805.  James  Bland  was  appointed  captain  and 
Thomas  Bland,  ensign,  to  succeed  John  Owens  and  David  Owens,  resigned. 
In  this  same  year  a  new  company  was  organized  with  William  Herrod  as 

captain,  George  Newland  as  lieutenant,  and  Joel.  Cortlly,  as  ensign.  In  De- 
cember, 1805,  Lieut.  Col.  Marston  G.  Clark  removed  from  the  county,  and 

Maj.  Joseph  Bartholomew  succeeded  him. 

On  January  10,  1806,  Lieut.  William  Prather  was  promoted  to  the  cap- 

taincy made  vacant  by  the  death  of  William  Smith,  and  John  \\'ork,  Jr.,  was 
appointed  a  lieutenant  vice  Rider,  resigned.  On  this  same  day  Davis  Floyd 
was  promoted  major. 

On  August  16,  1806.  the  first  troop  of  horse  in  Clark  county,  and  the 

second  in  the  state,  was  organized  in  Jeft'ersonville  with  Charles  Beggs  as 
captain.  Aamn  Prather.  first  lieutenant:  James  Lemon,  second  lieutenant,  and 
Peter  Bloom,  cornet. 

On  this  same  dav  John  Owens  was  made  major  of  the  second  Ijattalion. 
On  November  i8tli.  Ensign  Rezin  Redman  was  commissioned  captain,  vice 

Goodwin,  resigned,  and  Robert  Robertson  was  promoted  captain,  vice  \\'ood. 
resigned,  and  Josiah  Aiken  was  promoted  captain,  vice,  Owens,  promoted. 

John  Anderson  was  appointed  captain;  John  McCoy  was  appointed  lieutenant: 
Eli  Robertson  was  appointed  lieutenant :  Jacob  Fonts  was  appointed  lieutenant. 
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Absalom  Hart  was  appointed  ensign :  Thomas  Chappel!  was  appointed  ensign ; 

Joseph  Bowman  was  appointed  ensign,  and  David  Fonts  was  appointed  en- 
sign, all  on  November  i8,  1806. 

On  April  18,  1807.  John  Johnson  and  Enoch  Boon  w-ere  commissioned 
captains ;  John  Smith  and  Paul  French,  lieutenants,  and  James  Hickman  and 
Robert  Denbow,  ensigns.  On  July  8,  John  Shields  was  appointed  captain : 

^^'illiam  Smith,  lieutenant,  and  Fielding  Qromwell.  ensign.  On  August  22, 
Gresham  Lee  was  made  captain ;  Joseph  Howard  lieutenant,  and  John  Griffin 
ensign.  On  November  3,  1807.  several  promotions  were  made  on  account  of 

resignations,  and  a  new  company  was 'mustered  into  the  service  with  ̂ ^'illiam 
Herrod  as  captain.  George  Newland  as  lieutenant  and  Joel  Combs,  as  ensign. 

On  March  25.  1808.  the  names  of  Lieutenants  George  Roberts  and  James 
Hickman  appears  in  the  promotions,  and  William  Pennington  and  John 
Hickman  in  the  appointments.  On  July  6.  1808.  the  commission  of  Maj.  Davis 
Floyd  was  revoked.  No  cause  can  be  found  for  this  action  in  the  records 
but  as  he  had  been  associated  with  Aaron  Burr  in  his  treasonable  acts,  this 

was  undoubtedly  the  real  cause.  Burr"s  forces  lay  at  Jeft'ersonville  during 
the  winter  of  1807  and  1808.  and  his  secret  scheming,  carried  on  while  seem- 

ingly working  in  the  interests  of  a  canal  around  the  Falls  of  the  Ohid  on  the 
Lidiana  side,  was  a  matter  of  very  great  concern  to  the  territorial  authorities. 
Charles  L.  Byrns  was  appointed  captain,  vice  Johnston,  resigned,  and  Robert 
Denbo  and  Elijah  Hurst  were  appointed  lieutenants.  John  Parkinson  and 
Robert  Rusk  were  appointed  ensigns. 

On  October  22.  1808.  Capt.  ̂ ^'illiam  Prather  received  his  majority,  vice 
Davis  Floyd,  relieved,  and  Samuel  Latton  was  appointed  cornet  in  the  Jeffer- 
sonville  troop  of  horse.  On  March  7,  1809,  Major  Owens  and  INIajor  Bar- 

tholomew recommended  the  following  commissions :  Robert  Evans  to  be  cap- 
tain ;  Jacob  Fonts  to  be  captain ;  John  Norris  to  be  captain :  John  Thompson 

to  be  captain :  Peter  Covert  to  be  lieutenant :  \\'illiam  Kelly  to  be  lieutenant : 
John  Crockett  to  be  ensign ;  John  McNaught  to  be  ensign ;  John  McClintock, 

Jr.,  to  be  ensign.  On  November  29,  1809,  Rezin  Redman  received  his  ma- 
jority, and  Samuel  Smock  was  appointed  captain ;  John  Blenard,  lieutenant : 

Squire  Hall,  lieutenant  and  Andrew  Gelvick  lieutenant.  On  October  10.  1810, 

a  new  Clark  county  company  was  organized  with  James  RIcFarland  as 
captain.  Booth  Thomas,  lieutenant,  and  James  Gaddass,  ensign. 

The  various  companies  were  called  together  on  certain  days,  called 

"muster  days."  for  drill  and  instruction,  but  these  days  became  times  of  such 
drinking  and  carousing  that  on  December  10,  181  o,  the  Legislature  passed  a' 

law  which  forbade  officers  treating  their  men  with  "ardent  spirits"  and  pro- 
hibited the  sale  of  such  within  two  miles  of  the  muster  place,  except  in 

licensed  inns. 

On  April  5,  181 1.    the    following    appointments    were    made:    William 
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Patrick,  captain ;  John  McCoy,  captain ;  William  Montgomery,  captain ;  James 
Bigger,  captain ;  John  Jenkins,  lieutenant ;  John  Herrod,  lieutenant ;  Henry 
Socles,  lieutenant;  John  Chuns,  lieutenant;  Thomas  Jacobs,  ensign;  Joseph 

Carr,  ensign ;  Joseph  Bowers,  ensign ;  Joseph  Stillwell,  ensign.  Walter  Taylor 
was  commissioned  captain ;  George  Twilley,  lieutenant,  and  Joseph  Stroud, 

ensign.  The  last  mention  of  county  regiments  was  made  when  Robert  Rob- 
ertson was  commissioned  as  colonel  of  the  Clark  county  regiment  April  13, 

1812. 

The  year  181 1  was  made  memorable  to  the  people  of  Clark  county,  by 
the  battle  of  Tippecanoe,  Tecumseh  and  his  brother,  the  Prophet,  had  formed 

a  confederacy  of  Indian  tribes,  and  their  strength  and  depredations  had  be- 
come such  that  an  aggressive  policy  was  decided  on  by  Governor  Harrison. 

A  considerable  number  of  troops  were  assembled  and  a  march  on  the  Prophet's 
town  was  decided  on  while  Tecumseh  was  in  the  South.  The  part  that  Clark 

countv  took  in  this  memorable  campaign  is  one  that  reflects  the  highest  credit 
on  the  soldiers  who  went  from  here.  The  following  is  a  list  of  officers  from 
Clark  county,  who  served  through  the  expedition : 

Major  Henry  Hurst,  A.  D.  C. 
Brigade  Inspector  Marston  G.  Clark. 
Lieut.  Col.  Joseph  Bartholomew  (wounded). 
Major  Rezin  Redman. 

Surgeon's  ]Mate  Andrew  P.  Hay. 
Adjutant  Davis  Floyd. 
Capt.  John  Xorris  (wounded). 

/Capt.  James  Bigger. 
Capt.  Charles  Beggs. 

Lieut.  John  Herrod. 
Lieut.  John  T.  Chunn. 
Lieut.  John  Thompson. 

Ensign  Joseph  Carr. 
Ensign  Joseph  Stillwell. 
Cornet  Mordecai  Sweeney. 

The  expedition  consisted  of  about  eleven  hundred  men  and  officers,  or- 
ganized as  follows:  Nine  companies  of  U.  S.  Infantry  (Fourth  Regiment); 

Six  companies  of  Indiana  militia ;  three  companies  of  Indiana  mounted  rifle- 
men ;  two  companies  of  Indiana  dragoons ;  one  company  of  Indiana  riflemen ; 

two  companies  of  Kentucky  mounted  riflemen  ;  one  company  of  scouts;  a  total 

of  twenty-four  companies,  of  which  Indiana  had  thirteen  companies  of 
militia.  Of  this  force  two  hundred  and  seventy  men  were  mounted.  Col. 

John  P.  Boyd  brought  his  regiment,  the  Fourth  L".  S.  Infantry,  from  Pitts- 
burg to  the  Falls  and  marched  from  there  to  Vincennes.     Captain  Geiger's 
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company  from  Jefferson  county,  Kentucky,  passed  through  Jeffersonville 

Septemher  iith  on  their  way  to  X'incennes.  Clark  county  furnished  three 
fuU  companies,  besides  the  officers  on  staff  duty.  Captain  Norris's  company 
of  infantry  was  a  drafted  company.  It  was  raised  Ijetween  Charlestown, 

Jeffersonville  and  Utica,  and  was  sworn  in  at  Springville.  Captain  Bigger's 
company  was  raised  in  Charlestown  and  vicinity  and  was  sworn  in  at  Charles- 

town.  Captain  Beggs's  company  was  mounted.  They  were  raised  in  Jeffer- 
sonville and  vicinity  and  were  sworn  in  at  Jeffersonville.  That  these  com- 

panies were  in  the  thick  of  action  their  casualties  show.  Norris's  company 
had  three  killed  and  one  wounded ;  Bigger's  company  had  two  killed  and 

three  wounded  and  Beggs's  company  had  one  killed. 
Shawnee  Indians  were  chief  among  the  tribes  in  the  confederacy,  both 

Tecumseh  and  Elkswatawa  (The  Prophet)  being  Shawnees.  There  were 

besides  the  Shawnees  at  the  battle,  Wyandottes,  Kickapoos,  Ottawas,  Chip- 
pewas,  Pottawatomies,  Sacs  and  Miamis.  This  campaign  had  the  effect  of 
increasing  the  interest  in  the  militia,  and  aroused  the  people  to  a  keener  sense 

of  their  danger  from  the  Indians.  The  part  played  by  Clark  countv  officers 
was  not  small. 

Alarston  G.  Clark  was  one  of  the  first  settlers  in  Jeffersonville.  He  was 
a  Virginian  by  birth,  and  a  cousin  of  Gen.  George  Rogers  Clark.  He  held 
many  offices  in  Clark  county  and  was  brigade  inspector  on  the  staff  of  General 
Harrison  at  the  battle  of  Tippecanoe.  As  a  soldier,  he  was  said  to  have  been 
insensible  to  fear,  often  leading  men  in  the  pursuit  of  Indians  who  had 

committed  depredations.  He  served  as  Indian  agent  under  President  Jackson 
and  was  appointed  messenger  to  carry  the  electoral  vote  of  Indiana  to 
Washington  in  1840.  He  is  buried  at  Salem,  Indiana.  He  was  one  of  two 

officers  who  were  sent  forward  by  General  Harrison  to  select  the  camping 
ground  the  night  before  the  battle.  The  general  said  of  him  in  his  report  to 

the  Secretary  of  War  eleven  days  after  the  battle :  "Brigade  Major  Clark 
was  very  sen-iceably  employed." 

]\Iaj.  \\'illiam  Henry  Hurst  was  an  aid-de-camp  on  the  staff  of 
General  Harrison  and  Dr.  Samuel  JNIerriwether  was  acting  as  surgeon,  al- 

though not  appearing  on  the  official  rolls  as  such  at  Washington.  General 

Harrison,  in  a  letter,  said:  "My  two  aids-de-camp.  Majors  Hurst  and  Taylor 
afforded  me  essential  aid  as  well  in  the  action  as  throughout  the  campaign." 
The  admiration  of  the  general  for  these  two  aids-de-camp  caused  him  to  have 
them  act  as  his  personal  escort  when  he  rode  through  the  streets  of  Washing- 

ton to  the  capitol  to  be  inaugurated  President  of  the  United  States.  Hurst 

and  JNIerriwether  resided  in  Jeffersonville  for  many  years  afterward,  examples 
of  honor,  integrity  and  civic  virtue  which  we  of  later  years  could  emulate  with 
benefit  to  ourselves  and  the  city. 

Governor  Harrison  in  his  report  of  the  battle,  says :  "Col.  Joseph  Bar- 10 
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tholomew,  a  very  valuable  officer,  commanded,  under  Colonel  Boyd,  the 
militia  infantry.  He  was  wounded  early  in  the  action  and  his  service  lost  to 

me."  He  was  one  of  the  foremost  citizens  of  the  county  for  many  years  and 
received  many  marks  of  honor  and  esteem  at  the  hands  of  the  citizens  of  the 

county.  Harrison  said  of  one  of  Clark  county  company,  "Xorris's  companv  also 
behaved  well." 

Davis  Floyd,  the  adjutant,  has  the  proud  distinction  of  being  the  best 
advertised  man  in  his  day  and  locality.  Nothing  seemed  to  dishearten  him 
for  he  always  bobs  up  serenely  after  any  difficulty,  and  usually  takes  the  most 
prominent  position  in  whatever  is  going  on.  A  prominent  militiaman,  he  was 
an  important  officer  at  Tippecanoe.  He  represented  Clark  county  in  the 
Legislature  in  1805.  He  kept  a  tavern  and  operated  a  ferry  in  Clarks  grant. 
He  was  appointed  Recorder  of  Clark  county  in  1801  and  Sheriff  in  1802  by 

General  Harrison.  He  became  involved  in  Aaron  Burr's  conspiracy  and  was 
sentenced  to  three  hours  in  jail.  He  served  as  secretary  of  the  Springville 

Anti-Slavery  convention.  In  the  Legislature  he  was  elected  Clerk  of  the 
House,  and  was  a  member  of  the  Constitutional  Convention  in  1816. 

General  Harrison  was  severely  criticised  by  many  of  his  political  enemies 

after  the  battle  of  Tippecanoe,  who  claimed  that  it  was  an  unnecessary  cam- 
paign, and  that  even  when  he  had  reached  the  vicinity  of  the  Lidian  town  he 

allowed  the  enemy  to  select  his  camping  ground.  The  general  visited  Jeffer- 
sonville  and  Charlestown  in  1835  and  at  the  latter  place,  in  answer  to  a  re- 

quest for  a  speech  on  "Tippecanoe,"  said:  "When  I  left  Vincennes  for  the 
Indian  countr\'  on  the  Tippecanoe,  it  was  under  positive  instructions  from  the 
War  Department  not  to  attack  them  if  they  showed  a  willingness  to  comply 
with  the  demands  of  the  General  Government.  As  to  the  Indians  selecting 

my  encampment,  there  is  not  a  particle  of  truth  in  that  statement.  Gen. 

Marston  G.  Clark  and  Col.  Davis  Floyd   were   detailed  to  select  the  ground." 
In  those  days  a  keen  eye  for  the  peculiarities  of  the  red  brother  was  quite 

necessary,  and  precautionary  measures  were  still  kept  up  in  the  outlying  dis- 
tricts. The  militia  garrison,  which  from  meagre  accounts,  seems  to  have 

been  kept  in  old  Fort  Steuben  for  several  years  after  its  abandonment  by  the 
U.  S.  troops,  was  not  the  only  defense  available.  As  late  as  1807  a  letter  by 

Waller  Taylor  (afterwards  A.  D.  C.  on  General  Harrison's  staff)  written  to 
Governor  Harrison,  January  12th,  in  speaking  about  Burr's  mysterious  doings 
in  Jeffersonville  and  the  excitement  occasioned  by  his  presence,  says:  "There 
are  stationed  at  this  place  about  two  hundred  militia,  who  examine  all  boats 

that  descend  the  river." 
On  the  bank  of  the  Ohio,  at  Whirlpool  Point,  was  a  stockade  which  was 

used  as  an  outpost  for  Fort  Steuben.  Another  outpost  of  Fort  Steuben  was 

about  where  the  "junction"  is  situated.  It  was  a  place  for  the  soldiers  to  meet 
on  their  rounds,  and  here  the  settlers  used  to  come  for  safetv  when  fear  of  the 
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Indians  drove  them  from  their  cabins  and  clearings.  This  point  was  called 

the  "Corner  Post"  for  many  years  after.  The  last  settler  murdered  by  the 
Indians  in  the  first  decade  of  the  centun-  was  a  trapper  named  Springer.  He 

had  traps  set  on  Springer's  Gut  (now  in  New  Albany)  and  was  surprised  and 
slain  by  Wyandottes  and  Pawpaws,  while  running  them. 

The  Indian  phase  of  the  War  of  1812,  which  was  no  small  thing  to  the 
western  settlers,  was  of  more  moment  to  them  than  a  consideration  of  danger 

from  purely  British  sources.  To  l)e  sure,  the  atrocities  of  the  savages,  to  a 

great  extent,  were  instigated  by  the  British  to  the  north,  but  from  British 
troops  themselves,  no  real  danger  was  ever  anticipated.  The  Pigeon  Roost 
massacre,  September  3,  1812,  was  the  last  trouble  ever  experienced  in  this 

vicinity,  but  it  had  the  effect  of  awakening  the  settlers  to  the  danger  of  unpre- 
paredness  and  resulted  in  the  establishment  of  a  line  of  some  fifteen  or  twenty 

stockades,  beginning  at  the  one  called  the  "Corner  Post"  and  extending  by 
Charlestown  back  to  the  Ohio  at  the  east  of  the  town. 

The  Pigeon  Roost  massacre  was  not  an  Indian  raid  as  has  been  so  often 
stated.  The  Indians  passed  through  the  little  hamlet  which  was  the  nucleus 
of  Vienna  and  never  harmed  a  soul,  while  there.  There  had  been  bad  blood 

between  the  Collins  family  and  the  Indians  for  some  time.  The  Collins  boys 
had  stolen  a  fawn  from  the  Indians  and  refused  to  give  it  up,  and  from  this 

cause  and  possibl}'  some  other,  the  whole  trouble  originated.  Those  other 
than  Collinses  were  killed  only  because  they  lived  in  that  neighborhood. 

Neither  before  nor  after  the  massacre  were  other  white  people  harmed,  show- 

ing conclusiveh'  that  it  was  only  a  local  fight  and  giving  no  cause  for  alarm 
to  other  settlers. 

The  Indians,  who  were  Delawares  and  Shawnees,  are  said  to  have  crossed 

White  river  at  Sparksville.  They  crossed  three  or  four  at  a  time  and  after 

all  had  crossed  formed  together  and  directed  their  way  to  the  spot  now  hal- 
lowed in  the  memory  of  the  early  victims.  During  the  afternoon  of  the  same 

day  they  reached  their  destination,  and  Jeremiah  Payne,  who  lived  near 

Vienna,  was  warned  of  danger  when  his  cows  came  bellowing  home  with  ar- 
rows stuck  in  their  sides.  Taking  his  wife  and  only  son  to  the  fort  at 

Vienna,  the  father  started  on  foot  to  warn  his  brother,  Elias,  but  when  he 
arrived  at  the  cabin  he  found  the  dead  and  mutilated  bodies  of  the  wife  and 

seven  children.  Elias  and  his  brother-in-law,  Isaac  Coffman,  were  in  the 
woods  at  the  time  hunting  bee  trees.  They  were  surprised  by  ten  or  twelve 
Indians  and  Coffman  was  instantly  killed  and  scalped.  Payne  was  pursued 
over  two  miles  before  he  was  overtaken  and  mortally  wounded.  Mrs.  Richard 

Collins  and  her  seven  children  soon  fell  victims  to  the  redskins'  thirst  for 
blood,  and  Mrs.  Henr}'  Collins,  although  pregnant,  was  murdered  and  scalped 
and  the  child  taken  from  the  womb  and  scalped,  and  then  laid  across  her 
breast.     The  incentive  to  such  a  diabolical  deed  was  the  five  dollar  British 
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reward  offered  for  each  scalp.  The  fiends  later  massacred  the  mother,  wife 

and  only  child  of  John  Morris,  and  the  escape  of  other  settlers  was  almost 
miraculous. 

A  part  of  Clark  county  militia  under  Alaj.  John  McCoy  and  Captain 
Devault  pursued  the  Indians  and  killed  one.  In  June,  1813  some  Clark  county 

militia,  under  Col.  Joseph  Bartholomew,  went  on  an  expedition  to  punish  In- 
dians who  were  hostile,  and  returned  without  any  casualties. 

At  the  close  of  the  War  of  18 12  the  militia  of  Clark  county,  as  in  the 
rest  of  the  state,  was  in  excellent  condition.  The  Second  Regiment  was 

originally  the  Clark  county  Regiment,  and  as  such  it  was  under  the  com- 
mand of  Col,  Robert  Robertson.  It  was  one  of  the  most  complete  regiments 

in  the  service  and  included  many  special  organizations,  one  of  which  was  the 

only  artillery  company  mentioned  in  the  territorial  records. 
Colonel  Robertson  resigned  in  181 1  and  Maj.  Joseph  Bartholomew  was 

commissioned  to  succeed  him  October  21st,  of  that  year.  Colonel  Barthol- 

omew sei~ved  until  March  30,  1814,  when  Joel  Combs  was  commissioned 
colonel.  Rezin  Redman  was  lieutenant-colnnel,  and  was  commissioned  as 
such  June  10,  1813, 

In  1814,  the  Ninth  Regiment,  which  was  composed  of  companies  in 
Clark  county,  was  commanded  by  Col.  John  Depau,  with  headquarters  in 

Jeffersonville,  and  the  records  report  it  as  being  one  of  the  best  organized  in 
the  state. 

With  the  passing  of  the  Indian  the  subjects  considered  by  the  Legislature 
concerning  the  militia  seem  to  have  materially  changed.  In  181 5,  an  act  was 

passed  restricting  the  militia  age  to  eighteen  to  forty-five  and  specified  the 

uniform  for  the  officers,  Alajor  and  Brigadier  Generals  should  "wear  a 
French  militaiy  hat,  blue  cloth  coat  turned  up  with  buff  or  scarlet,  with  gold 

epaulettes,  white  small  clothes,  also  boots  and  spurs."  Cluster  days  were 
Saturdays  in  April  and  September.  The  interest  and  energy  which  had  for- 

merly been  directed  against  the  Indians  was  now  turned  to  clothes,  and  the 
citizen  soldiery  was  neglected  and  allowed  to  become  a  dormant  and  practically 
useless  body. 

For  about  two  years  after  the  battle  of  Tippecanoe,  the  territorial  Gov- 
ernment maintained  several  companies  of  rangers  to  protect  the  people  of  the 

state  from  the  depredations  of  marauding  bands  of  Indians.  One  of  these 
companies  was  composed  of  Clark  county  men,  and  was  commanded  by  Capt, 

James  Bigger,  of  Tippecanoe  sen-ice,  and  he  had  as  first  lieutenant, 
John  Carr,  and  as  second  lieutenant,  James  Curry, 

In  the  month  of  June,  1813,  an  expedition  composed  of  about  one  hun- 
dred and  thirty-seven  mounted  men  under  the  command  of  Col.  Joseph 

Bartholomew,  moved  from  Valonio  toward  the  Delaware  towns  on  the  west 

fork  of  the  White  river,  with  the  intention  of  surprising  and  punishing  some 
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hostile  Indians,  who  were  supposed  to  be  hirking  about  those  viUages.  All 

or  a  larger  part  of  Captain  Bigger"s  company  was  in  this  expedition,  and 
thev  destroyed  a  great  deal  of  corn  found  in  the  half-burned  and  deserted 

villaees  alona:  the  ri\er.  Colonel  Bartholomew  said  of  this :  "We  conceived 
it  was  more  necessary  to  do  this  as  the  corn  would,  if  not  destro3'ed,  enable 

considerable  bodies  of  the  enemy  to  fall  upon  and  harass  our  frontier." 
On  July  I,  1813,  Col.  William  Russell  of  the  Seventh  United  States 

Regiment,  at  the  head  of  a  force  amounting  to  five  hundred  and  seventy-three 
men,  set  out  on  an  expedition  against  the  Indian  villages,  which  were  sit- 

uated at  and  about  the  mouth  of  the  Mississinewa  river.  As  Colonel  Bar- 
tholomew and  several  companies  of  rangers  were  in  this  force,  evidently 

Bigger's  company  was  among  them.  They  found  no  Indians  and  the  rangers 
returned  home.  The  service  of  these  companies  of  rangers  was  most  valuable 
and  should  be  given  the  same  prominence  in  history  that  the  Tippecanoe 
campaign  received,  for  their  service  was  equally  as  hazardous  and  equally 
as  valuable  to  the  settlers  who  lived  in  the  remoter  parts  of  the  territory. 

We  hear  little  of  the  militia  of  Clark  county  from  this  time  on.  That 

the  organization  of  state  troops  was  kept  up  there  can  be  no  doubt,  but 
their  duties  were  nil,  and  the  only  milestone  we  have  to  guide  us  through 

this  period  are  the  mention  of  events  where  the  militia  turned  out  to  do  escort 

duty  to  some  prominent  visitor  or  for  some  gala  occasion.  In  May,  1825,  sev- 
eral companies  of  militia  were  under  arms,  and  acted  as  the  escort  to  General 

LaFayette  when  his  official  visit  to  Indiana  was  paid  at  Jefifersonville.  Cap- 

tain Parker's  company  from  Charlestown  was  one  of  these,  and  the  cracker 
story  of  one  of  his  men  has  been  passed  down  as  classical.  From  the  fact 
that  cannon  were  used  in  saluting  our  illustrious  visitor,  we  might  infer  that 
Clark  county  possessed  artillery,  but  of  this  we  are  not  certain. 

By  the  treaty  of  1804,  the  Sacs  and  Foxes  had  sold  all  of  their  land  in 
Ilhnois  to  the  United  States.  The  provisions  of  this  treaty  were  confirmed 
by  Keokuk,  their  head  chief,  in  subsequent  treaties  in  1822  and  1830:  but 

Black  Hawk  refused  to  consider  these  treaties  valid.  The  British  agents  as- 
sured him  that  the  Indians  still  owned  the  land  and  this,  together  with  the 

fact  that  he  had  become  the  leader  of  the  wildest  braves  in  the  tribe,  led  to 

events  which  culminated  in  what  is  known  as  the  Black  Hawk  war  in  1832. 

This  Indian  war  was  fierce  and  sanguinary,  but  affected  either  Clark  county 
or  Indiana  but  little.  However,  there  was  a  company  of  United  States 
mounted  rangers  raised  around  Charlestown  by  Capt.  Lemuel  Ford,  and 
they  served  until  after  the  middle  of  1833.  This  company  was  commanded  by 
Capt.  Lemuel  Ford :  first  lieutenant,  Meedy  Shields,  and  second  lieutenant, 

John  Gibson.  When  this  body  of  men  left  Charlestown  July  i,  1832.  it  num- 
bered one  Iiundred  and  fifteen  men.  They  assembled  in  the  court-house  yard 

and  started  on  their  campaign  with  the  plaudits  of  an  admiring  crowd  of 
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citizens,  many  of  whom  remembered  the  earher  cruelties  of  the  savages  in 
Clark  county.  They  camped  near  Memphis,  the  first  night  out,  and  then 

started  north,  marching  to  within  twenty-five  miles  of  Fort  Dearborn  (now 
Chicago)  where  a  halt  of  three  weeks  was  made  on  account  of  the  prevalence 
of  Asiatic  cholera  at  the  fort,  where  General  Scott  with  the  Regulars  was 
waiting  for  the  arrival  of  the  rangers.  The  route  taken  by  the  rangers  was 

changed  to  lead  to  Dixon's  ferry  on  Rock  river,  Illinois.  The  company  was 
inspected  and  mustered  in  by  Captain  Anderson,  U.  S.  A.,  later  of  Fort 
Sumpter  fame.  The  march  was  then  taken  down  the  river  to  within  one  and 

one-half  miles  of  the  mouth,  and  three  miles  below  Rock  Island  or  "Old 

Fort  Armstrong,"  where  they  crossed  to  the  north  side  of  Rock  river  and 
marched  up  to  the  island.  There  the  rangers  met  their  commanding  officer, 
Colonel  Dodge,  and  General  Winfield  Scott,  commanding  the  expedition.  The 
cholera  was  very  bad  then  at  Fort  Armstrong  and  the  company  lost  three 
men :  Peter  Hall,  Doctor  Johnson  and  Shelby. 

It  was  at  this  point  that  General  Scott  in  his  round  of  inspection  of 
camp  and  hospital,  berated  the  medical  stafif  roundly  and  threatened  to  hang 

some  of  the  M.  D.'s  for  neglect  of  duty  toward  the  stricken.  He  went  into 
the  tents  and  examined  patients  with  his  own  hands,  and  elevated  the  abode 
of  his  Satanic  majesty,  as  only  the  old  general  could. 

The  command  crossed  into  Iowa  Territory  and  then  back  into  Illinois, 
following  the  Mississippi  river  to  Quincy,  and  thence  to  Jefferson 
City,  Missouri,  then  a  town  of  about  five  hundred.  From  here  they 

marched  to  Booneville,  forty  miles  above,  and  from  there  to  Fort  Gib- 
son, Indian  Territory,  one  mile  above  the  mouth  of  Grand  river.  They 

went  into  winter  quarters  for  the  winter  of  '32-'33,  one  mile  below  the  mouth 
of  Grand  river  on  the  Arkansas  river  in  log  cabins.  On  May  6,  1833,  they 

received  marching  orders,  and  the  command  consisting  of  Captain  Ford's 

company  from  Indiana,  Captain's  Beem's  company  from  Arkansas  and  Captain 
Boone's  company  from  Missouri,  all  under  the  command  of  Colonel  Manny, 
U.  S.  A.,  with  about  three  hundred  regulars,  took  a  southwesterly  course 
to  Red  river.  It  was  on  this  march  that  the  great  buffalo  hunting  was  done. 
The  Captain  Boone  here  mentioned  was  the  son  of  Daniel  Boone,  of  pioneer 
Kentucky  fame. 

These  troops  returned  to  Fort  Gibson  July  i,  1833,  where  the  rangers 
were  mustered  out,  disbanded  and  started  for  home  and  arrived  at  Charles- 
town  just  when  the  cholera  was  at  its  worst.  The  officers  and  a  partial  list 
of  the  members  of  this  Clark  County  company  were  as  follows : 

Captain  Lemuel  Ford. 
First  Lieutenant  Meedy  Shields. 
Second  Lieutenant  John  Gibson. 
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Sergeant  John  C.  Huckleberry. 
Sergeant  Campbell  Hay. 
Private  W.  AI.  Garner. 

Private  James  Drunimond. 
Private  Eden  Combs. 
Private  David  H.  Wheeler. 
Private  Henderson  Davis. 

Private  John  Hanlin. 
Private  Charles  Mathes. 

Private  William  J.  Owens. 
Private  William  B.  Shelley. 
Private  Joseph  Davis. 
Private  John  M.  Pound. 
Private  George  Reynolds. 
Private  Benjamin  Chrissman. 
Private  George  Christopher. 

Private  \A'esley  G.  Hammond. 
Private  Eph  Washburn. 
Private  Hugh  Hartley. 
Private  Peter  Hall. 

Private  Alford  Huckleberry. 

Private  John  Chrissman. 

They  saw  little  or  no  active  service  so  far  as  extended  fighting  was  con- 
cerned, but  their  long  marches  and  their  hardships  entitle  them  to  a  high 

place  in  the  early  military  annals  of  Clark  county.  They  served  until  Black 
Hawk  had  been  captured.  The  service  which  they  gave  was  the  last  ever 
given  by  a  Clark  county  organization  in  Indiana  warfare.  Black  Hawk 

stands  in  history  as  the  "Last  native  defender  of  the  soil  of  the  Northwest." 
The  ominous  clouds  of  war  hanging  like  a  pall  over  the  land  were  not 

necessary  to  influence  the  manhood  of  Clark  county  to  enlist.  The  officers 
who  had  served  during  the  Black  Hawk  war  knew  the  temper  of  our  Hoosiers, 
and  that  they  made  soldiers  second  to  none.  Capt.  Lemuel  Ford,  in  1836, 
came  to  Charlestown  to  recruit  men  for  the  United  States  Dragoons.  Li  the 

issue  of  "The  Lidianian,"  of  Charlestown,  dated  Friday,  October  28,  1836. 
appears  the  following:  "Wanted  for  the  First  Regiment  of  L'nited  States 
Dragoons,  able  bodied  citizens  between  the  ages  of  eighteen  and  thirty-five 
years,  being  not  less  than  five  feet,  six  inches  high,  of  good  moral  character, 
and  of  respectable  standing  among  their  fellow  citizens.  None  need  apply  to 
enter  the  service  but  those  who  are  determined  to  serve  the  period  of  their 
enlistment,  which  is  only  three  years,  honestly  and  faithfully. 

"Lemuel  Ford." 
It  is  needless  to  say  that  his  rendezvous  at  Charlestown  was  a  popular 

place,  and  that  he  received  many  recruits. 



CHAPTER  XVI. 

THE  ^HLITARV  HISTORY  OF  CLARK  COUNTY— 1844- 1860. 

The  first  uniformed  inilitary  company  of  which  we  have  any  record,  after 

the  twenty-five  years  of  dormancy,  from  1819  to  1844,  was  in  Jeffersonville 
in  1844.  It  was  called  the  Jeffersonville  Blues,  and  its  captain  was  a  man 

named  Charles  Hensley.  He  was  one  of  several  brothers,  and  he  had  the 

reputation  of  being  the  most  popular  man  in  town.  This  company  had  for  a 
drill  master  a  refugee  from  Poland,  who  lived  and  died  on  a  farm  just  this  side 

of  Sellersburg.  His  name  and  title  was  Col.  J.  J.  Lehmonoski,  and  while  drill- 
ing the  men  he  wore  the  uniform  of  a  high  officer  in  the  Polish  army.  His 

historj'  is  most  interesting.  Lehmonoski  was  a  colonel  of  the  Polish  Lancers, 
the  bodyguard  of  the  great  Napoleon,  and  had  participated  in  two  hundred 
and  three  battles.  He  carried  fourteen  wounds  on  his  person  as  a  result  of 

his  sen-ice.  He  was  at  tlie  sieze  of  Toulon,  at  the  victor}'  of  Austerlitz,  he 
fought  on  the  plains  of  Egypt,  and  witnessed  the  ocean  of  flame  which  rolled 

over  Moscow.  The  disaster  of  Waterloo  drew  him  to  the  L'nited  States  in 
18 16,  and  for  a  while  he  traveled  as  an  evangelist  with  the  approval  and  sanc- 

tion of  Lyman  Beecher  and  others.  He  finally  settled  in  Clark  county  and 
died  here.  Under  his  instruction  the  company  became  very  proficient  and 
turned  out  two  or  three  times  each  week  to  parade  or  drill,  and  everybody  in 

town  was  very  proud  of  "our  company." 
Col.  James  Keig^vin  in  his  memoirs  says  of  this  company : 

"They  were  invited  to  attend  an  encampment  of  the  Kentucky  militia  at 
the  old  Oakland  race  course  in  Louisville,  and  Colonel  Lehmonoski  took  great 
delight  in  preparing  them  for  the  contest  for  some  of  the  prizes  to  be  contested 
for  at  the  encampment,  and  of  course  every  citizen  of  our  town  was  anxious 

that  'our  company'  should  bring  home  a  trophy  of  their  soldierly  qualities  and 
good  behavior  while  in  camp.  But  you  can  imagine  our  disappointment  on 
their  return  home.  Some  of  the  officers  and  men  were  addicted  to  the  too  free 

indulgence  of  'John  Barleycorn,'  and  the  report  came  daily  from  those  of  their 
admirers  who  visited  them  that  a  majority  of  the  company  spent  a  greater 

part  of  their  time  in  the  guard  house  charged  with  the  too  free  use  of  'ardent,' 
and  with  disorderly  conduct. 

"One  incident  I  will  relate  that  occurred  after  they  crossed  the  river.  In 
those  days  of  slavery  the  negroes  had  learned  from  their  masters  that  every- 

body who  lived  in  that  little  town  across  the  ri\-er  was  nothing  but  'poor  white 
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trash"  and  that  it  was  a  dangerous  place  for  a  black  face  to  be  seen  in,  and 
that  if  a  negro  valued  his  life  he  had  better  keep  away  from  it.  The  owners 

of  slaves,  for  protection  to  that  old-time  property,  instilled  into  the  young 

darkies'  minds  that  we  were  not  only  poor  white  trash,  but  that  we  would 
steal  them  and  sell  them  to  cotton  planters  down  South,  and  the  young  darkies 

believed  that  as  firmly  as  ever  a  white  child  believed  in  old  Santa  Claus.  The 

company  was  handsomely  uniformed,  well  drilled  and  armed  with  old  flint- 
lock muskets.  Their  head  dress  was  a  tall  leather  hat  or  cap.  surmounted  by 

a  handsome  pompon  that  looked  very  much  like  a  paint  brush.  When  the 
company  was  passing  out  the  streets  of  Louisville  with  the  drum  corps  beating 

that  favorite  tune,  'The  Girl  I  Left  Behind  ]Me,"  every  one  of  the  company 
feeling  that  all  eyes  were  centered  on  him,  and  that  he  carried  the  honor  and 
reputation  of  old  Jeff  in  his  knapsack,  determined  to  win  laurels  and  fame  for 
our  little  city.  They  were  feeling  elated  at  seeing  so  many  people,  both  black 
and  white,  lining  the  streets  to  hear  the  music  and  look  at  a  company  of  Hoosier 
soldiers.  You  can  imagine  our  mortification  when  we  heard  a  cry  from  the 

little  darkies  on  the  sidewalks :  'Look  at  dem  poah  white  trash  from  Jeffer- 

so\-ille  with  paint  brushes  in  dar  hats."  It  is  needless  to  relate  that  no  prizes 
were  carried  home  at  the  completion  of  the  tour  of  duty."" 

It  is  a  matter  of  regret  that  complete  rosters  of  these  old  militia  companies 

of  our  early  history  have  been  lost,  for  to  them  belongs  the  credit  of  keeping 
alive,  to  a  great  extent,  that  spirit  which  found  such  eloquent  expression  here 

during  the  War  of  the  Rebellion.  The  feeling  among  some  misguided  and  un- 
American  citizens  of  our  present  day  of  belittling  our  state  troops  by  denuncia- 

tion as  well  as  a  refusal  to  serve,  is  not  the  spirit  which  prompted  such  service 

in  those  days  or  in  the  times  that  tried  men"s  hearts  during  the  sixties. 
These  old  militia  companies  filled  a  place,  no  doubt,  and  although  some 

of  them  may  not  ha\e  performed  any  actual  service  for  the  state,  it  lessens 
their  value  none. 

The  general  condition  of  the  militia  of  Indiana,  including  that  of  Clark 
county,  during  the  period  just  preceding  the  ̂ Mexican  war,  is  described  by 
Adjutant  General  Reynolds,  Xovember  29,  1845.  He  was  greatly  discouraged 

and  wrote  as  follows :  "It  is  true,  however,  that  while  our  system  has  under- 
gone a  partial  paralysis,  the  martial  spirit  is  not  extinct,  but  exhibits  itself  in 

the  form  of  a  number  of  energetic  companies  of  independent  militia,  as  well 

as  a  few  regiments  of  district  militia  which  have  survived  the  general  disor- 
ganization. It  would  seem  also,  if  not  cjuite  impossible  to  revive  military 

discipline,  unless  some  exigency  should  demand  an  acti\-e  service.  War.  with 
its  thrilling  incidents,  could  alone,  we  l^elieve.  fully  accomplish  it :  and  no  state 

in  the  L'nion  would  more  fearlessly  and  promptly  respond  to  even  its  first 
notes  of  preparation  than  Indiana. 

Six  months  after  the  unexpected  happened.     War  was  declared  May  13. 
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1846,  and  Indiana  was  called  upon  for  three  regiments  of  infantry.  On  May 
22d  Governor  Whitcomb  issued  his  call  for  the  thirty  companies  required. 

and  by  June  loth,  or  in  eighteen  days,  the  entire  quota  had  been  reported,  and 

twenty-two  additional  companies  were  clamoring  for  admission. 
The  beginning  of  the  Mexican  war  found  the  spirit  of  Mars  strongly 

manifesting  itself  throughout  the  county,  but  to  Charlestown,  the  county  seat, 

belongs  the  honor  of  furnishing  the  only  organizations.  Individual  enlist- 
ments in  Kentucky  and  Indiana  regiments  were  made  from  various  parts  of 

the  county,  and  in  Jefifersonville  there  was  quite  an  enthusiastic  movement 
started  to  raise  a  company  of  volunteer  infantry  for  one  of  the  regiments  then 
forming,  but  it  began  and  ended  in  talk.  Col.  James  Keigwin  has  an  account 

of  one  of  their  public  meetings  in  the  old  market  house  on  Market  street,  be- 
tween Spring  street  and  Pearl  street,  as  follows : 

"At  this  time  they  were  trying  to  recruit  the  company,  and,  by  the  way, 
I  attended  all  the  meetings,  as  I  was  big  enough  to  be  a  Sl^ldier  myself.  At 

that  time  there  was  but  one  saloon  in  the  town,  kept  by  one  of  the  best  bachel- 
ors that  ever  lived.  Charles  Cunningham  was  his  name,  and  his  saloon  was  on 

Front  street,  four  doors  below  Spring  street.  It  was  in  front  of  this  saloon 

where  the  drums  beat  the  assembly.  All  those  who  were  the  leaders  were 
fond  of  their  toddies,  and  whisky  at  that  time  being  only  worth  six  dollars  a 

barrel,  Charley,  the  saloon  keeper,  as  he  was  called,  being  a  patriotic  lover  of 
his  country  and  anxious  to  have  his  own  town  represented  in  the  war,  said  that 
he  would  give  all  who  volunteered  all  they  wanted  to  drink  free  of  charge,  so 
you  can  understand  that  by  the  time  all  the  patriotic  residents  and  barefooted 
boys  had  assembled  in  front  of  the  saloon  that  the  promoters  of  the  company 

would  be  pretty  full  and  would  feel  as  if  they  could  lick  a  regiment  of  'greasers' 
by  themselves. 

"The  organizers  of  the  company  were  Amos  Lovering,  afterward  one  of 
the  judges  of  one  of  our  courts;  William  Buchanan  and  Richard  Peacely, 

studying  law  with  Judge  Lovering,  and  John  F.  Read,  who  had  just  grad- 

uated from  Hanover  College.  After  the  party  had  sampled  Charley's  whisky 
to  their  satisfaction,  we  were  ordered  to  fall  in  and  march  to  the  market  house, 

where  we  would  have  speeches  from  Read  and  others.  Well,  we  fell  in  and 

marched  to  the  market  house,  and  Read  was  boosted  up  on  the  butcher's  block 

by  Peacely  and  Buchanan,  who  held  to  John's  legs  to  steady  him.  He  was 
making  a  very  patriotic  and  convincing  speech  as  to  our  duties  to  the  best 
government  in  the  world,  and  how  we  would  lick  old  Santa  Anna  and  his 
Mexican  horde  off  of  Texas  soil,  and  then  he  pictured  to  us  the  humiliation  we 

would' feel  if  Jeffersonville  failed  to  have  a  company  in  the  war.  John's  father, 
the  old  judge,  heard  the  racket  in  the  market  house,  and  as  he  came  near  and 
saw  his  hopeful  in  the  condition  he  was.  you  can  imagine  his  surprise.  Just 

then  Peacely  and  Buchanan  discovered  the  judge's  presence  and  began  to  pull 



BAIRD  S    HISTORY  OF   CLARK  CO.j   IND.  I55 

John's  legs  and  tell  him  to  close,  when  John  blurted  out  in  one  of  his  sopho- 
moric  flights  he  had  brought  home  from  college :  'Yes,  my  fellow  citizens, 
the  government  will  furnish  3'ou  all  with  plenty  of  the  very  best  kind  of 

clothes.'  The  meeting  was  a  failure  and  it  is  unnecessary  to  add  that  our  old 
town  failed  to  be  honored  witJT  a  military  company  in  the  war  with  Mexico." 

In  Charlestown  men  responded  to  the  call  with  alacrity,  and  the  trouble 
was  with  the  excess  rather  than  the  insufficiency  of  material.  The  first  and 

second  regiments  had  no  Clark  county  companies  in  them,  but  the  third  regi- 
ment had  a  company  from  Charlestown  and  vicinity.  This  company  was 

raised  by  Thomas  W.  Gibson,  of  that  town,  and  he  took  as  his  lieutenants 
First  Lieutenant  Harrison  Daily,  and  Second  Lieutenant  Daniel  L.  Fonts.  The 

raising  of  this  company  was  accompanied  with  the  greatest  enthusiasm,  and  the 

drum  corps  and  martial  music  added  tn  the  excitement  of  the  town.  This  com- 
pany was  to  enlist  for  one  year,  and  the  prospect  of  service  in  Mexico,  and  the 

sights  and  adventures  of  such  a  campaign  was  more  than  the  young  men  of 
the  county  seat  could  stand.  The  men  were  rapidly  enlisted,  and  when  they 

were  not  drilling  in  the  court-house  yard,  they  were  skirmishing  in  the  bot- 
toms of  Pleasant  run.  They  were  quartered  in  the  house  now  known  as  the 

Badger  house  on  Main  street,  near  Spring  street,  and  in  their  "barracks"  as 
the  house  was  called,  they  remained  about  a  month.  The  day  of  departure  of 
this  company  for  the  rendezvous  at  Camp  Whitcomb,  on  the  river  just  below 
the  mouth  of  Silver  creek,  was  one  of  intense  excitement.  Mothers  and 
fathers,  sisters  and  brothers,  sweethearts  and  wives,  assembled  to  wish  the 

departing  company  well.  They  left  Charlestown  in  wagons,  and  upon  arrival 

at  camp,  began  an  active  preparation  for  the  campaign  before  them.  They 

were  mustered  into  the  United  States  service  ninety-four  strong,  on  June  22, 
1846,  by  Col.  S.  Churchill. 

Captain  Gibson's  company  served  throughout  their  term  of  enlistment 
with  an  honorable  record.  The  regiment  was  engaged  in  the  battle  of  Buena 
Vista,  and  other  actions,  and  upon  their  return  home,  found  themselves  cov- 

ered with  glory.  The  return  of  Gibson  and  his  company  to  Charlestown  was 
the  occasion  for  a  great  demonstration.  A  great  reception  and  barbecue  was 

given  them  in  Hammond's  woods,  and  at  the  present  day  the  trenches  still 
remain  where  the  beef  was  roasted  whole.  The  citizens  were  proud  of  their 
soldiers,  as  well  they  might  be. 

On  April  24,  1847,  Governor  \\'hitcomb  called  for  one  additional  regi- 
ment to  fill  the  quota  required  by  the  President's  proclamation  of  April  19th. 

His  proclamation  ends  as  follows:  "And  in  conformity  with  the  suggestion 
of  the  Secretary  of  War,  that  a  place  of  rendezvous  be  appointed  on  the  Ohio 

river  for  the  several  companies  as  fast  as  they  shall  be  organized,  the  ground 

near  or  adjacent  to  'Old  Fort  Clark',  near  Jefifersonville,  on  the  south  is  hereby 

designated  for  that  purpose".     May  30th  the  regiment  was  filled,  and  from 
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that  time  on  they  were  drilled  and  "licked"  into  shape  for  the  service  ahead 
of  them. 

The  companies  which  were  to  form  this  new  regiment  arrived  during  the 

latter  part  of  May  and  the  first  part  of  June,  1847.  They  reached  Jefferson- 
ville  in  the  following  order,  and  upon  their  arrival  encamped  just  above  the 

whirlpool  on  the  bank  of  the  Ohio,  at  a  point  later  known  as  Camp  Joe  Holt, 
and  not  at  Fort  Steuben,  as  some  authorities  state : 

Company  A,  Marion.  Captain  Dodd.  arrived  May  31,  1847. 

Company  B,  Gosport,  Captain  Alexander,  arrived  June  8,  1847. 
Company  C,  Lawrenceburg,  Captain  Payne,  arrived  May  28.  1847. 
Company  D,  Indianapolis,  Captain  Landers,  arrived  May  28,   1847. 

Company  E,  Rockport,  Captain  Graham,  arrived  June  8,  1847. 
Company  F,  Columbus,  Captain  Fitzgibbon.  arrived  June  12,  1847. 
Company  G,  Bloomington,  Captain  Lunderman,  arrived  June  10,  1847. 
Company  H,  Terre  Haute.  Captain  Cochran,  arrived  June  12,  1847. 
Company  I,  Plymouth,  Captain  Fravell.  arrived  June  14,  1847. 
Company  K.  Lawrenceburg,  Captain  Dumont,  arrived  June  7,  1847. 

These  companies,  so  the  muster  rolls  state,  were  "called  into  the  service 

of  the  United  States'"  as  they  arrived.  The  regiments  embarked  on  steam- 
boats at  the  wharf,  between  Spring  and  Pearl  streets,  June  28th,  and  nearly 

everybody  in  Clark  county  was  in  town  that  day  to  witness  the  departure  and 
wish  them  a  safe  return. 

Three  steamboats  lay  at  the  wharf  and  the  martial  spirit  was  in  the  very 

air.  The  steamer  "Saladin"  carried  companies  A,  B,  C  and  D,  under  com- 
mand of  Col.  Willis  A.  Gorman.  The  steamer  "Franklin"  carried  companies 

E,  I  and  G,  under  Lieutenant  Colonel  Dumont,  and  the  steamer  "General 

Hamer"  carried  companies  H,  F  and  K,  under  Major  McCoy. 
On  the  day  preceding  the  embarkation  the  regiment  proceeded  from  their 

camp  near  the  Big  Eddy  to  Jeffersonville.  and  was  drawn  up  in  solid  column 
for  the  purpose  of  receiving  from  the  ladies  of  the  city  a  splendid  stand  of 
regimental  colors.  This  gift  from  the  fair  and  patriotic  ladies  of  Jeffersonville 
was  received  into  hands  strong  to  protect  it  in  every  emergency,  and  by  hearts 

w'arm  and  ardent  to  appreciate  its  value.  The  adjutant  general  of  Indiana 
supported  the  flag,  and  Capt.  Edw-ard  Lander,  in  behalf  of  the  ladies,  delivered 
an  eloquent  address,  which  on  behalf  of  the  regiment,  was  responded  to  by  the 

colonel,  \\'illis  A.  Gorman.  One  newspaper  account  ends  thus :  "A  fine  band 
attached  to  the  regiment  then  struck  up  'The  Star  Spangled  Banner'  as  the 
troops  whirled  into  open  column  under  the  sountl  of  instrumental  harmony  that 

breathed  heroic  ardor  to  adventurous  deeds",  and  the  regiment  proceeded  to  its 
camp  at  Fort  Clark. 

While  the  Fourth  Regiment  remained    at    Jeffersonville,    Company  D, 
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Captain  Landers,  was  the  recipient  of  a  splendid  flag  presented  by  the  ladies  of 
Indianapolis.  The  presentation  took  place  in  front  of  the  old  Bowman  house, 
and  was  the  occasion  of  quite  a  demonstration  of  patriotism. 

On  August  31,  1847,  Governor  ^M^itcomb  issued  his  proclamation  author- 
izing the  raising  of  the  Fifth  Regiment.  It  was  to  be  composed  mostly  of 

men  who  had  seen  service  in  Mexico  in  earlier  regiments.  This  regiment  ren- 
dezvoused at  JMadison,  and  Clark  county  was  represented  by  a  fine  company 

of  men  under  the  command  of  Capt.  George  Greene.  His  lieutenants  were 
Philip  J.  Roe,  first  lieutenant ;  James  ̂ I.  Ross,  second  lieutenant,  and  Henry 
Hensley,  additional  second  lieutenant.  Captain  Greene  at  various  times  was  a 

resident  of  both  Jeffersonville  and  Charlestown,  antl  his  company,  called  the 

"Rough  and  Ready  Guards",  was  recruited  from  in  and  around  b(ith  places. 
The  Fifth  Regiment  embarked  on  steamboats  at  Camp  Reynolds,  Madi- 
son, on  November  i,  1847,  ''"'I  arrived  at  JeiTersonville  the  same  day.  The 

steamers  "\\'ave",  "Xe  Plus  Ultra",  and  "PhcEuix",  carried  them  to  Xew 
Orleans,  arriving  there  on  the  6th.  Their  sen-ice  after  arriving  at  Vera  Cruz 
was  equal  to  that  of  the  other  regiments,  and  upon  their  return  home  the 
Clark  county  soldiers  were  received  with  great  demonstrations  and  were  the 
heroes  of  the  day. 

Capt.  Lemuel  Ford,  of  Charlestown,  recruited  a  company  of  United  States 
Dragoons  for  the  regular  service  from  in  and  around  that  town,  and  with 

this  troop  performed  valiant  service  in  Mexico.  He  was  brevetted  major 
October  19,  1847,  for  gallant  and  meritorious  conduct  in  the  affair  at  Atlixco, 

and  the  ser\qce  both  he  and  his  company  of  Clark  county  men  gave  was  of  the 
highest  class. 

Capt.  John  S.  Simonson,  of  Charlestown,  who  was  in  the  regular  army, 
raised  a  company  of  mounted  dragoons  in  and  around  Charlestown  for  ser- 

vice in  Mexico,  and  besides  the  many  creditable  reports  from  him  and  his 

company  while  in  the  land  of  the  "Greasers,"  he  was  l)revetted  major  Sep- 
tember 13,  1847.  f'^r  gallant  and  meritorious  conduct  in  the  battle  of  Chapul- 

tepec. 

In  Captain  Gibson's  Company  I.  of  the  Third  Regiment,  was  a  sergeant 
named  Jefferson  C.  Davis.  He  got  his  commission  of  second  lieutenant  after 

meritorious  service — remained  in  the  regular  army  after  the  war  with  IMexico 

— was  in  Fort  Sumpter  with  Major  Anderson  when  the  war  of  the  Rebellion 

opened  with  this  "strange  contest  between  seventy  men  and  seven  thousand". 
He  rose  to  be  brigadier  general  of  volunteers  and  during  this  war  was  brevet- 

ted major,  lieutenant-colonel,  colonel,  brigadier  general  and  major  general, 
for  gallant  and  meritorious  services. 

Besides  the  men  credited  to  Clark  county,  there  were  others  who  enlisted 
elsewhere. 

There  were  four  Jeffersonville  men,  so  far  as  we  can  find,  wdio  joined  the 
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Louisville  Legion,  and  they  served  faithfully  with  their  command  during  the 
war.  These  four  Jeffersonville  men  were  Benjamin  P.  Fuller,  Simeon  P.  Bell, 

James  A.  Thompson  and  Francis  M.  Scliell.  They  were  all  privates  in  Com- 
pany A,  First  Regiment  of  Kentucky  Foot  Volunteers,  known  as  the  Louis- 
ville Legion.  They  were  mustered  in  May  17,  1846,  at  the  old  race  track  on 

the  Seventh  street  road,  in  Louisville,  and  were  all  mustered  out  at  the  New 

Orleans  barracks  May  17,  1847,  with  the  exception  of  Francis  M.  Schell,  who 
was  discharged  for  disability  at  Camargo,  Me.xico,  August  27,  1846. 

The  interest  in  things  Mexican  seems  to  have  pervaded  the  whole  county, 

for  a  great  demonstration  was  projected  when  it  was  learned  that  President- 
elect Gen.  Zachary  Taylor  was  to  pass  through  Louisville  on  his  way  to  Wash- 

ington. On  Monday,  February  5,  1849,  the  mayor  of  Jeffersonville,  William 
F.  Cullom,  offered  the  following  resolution,  and  it  was  unanimously  adopted : 

"Resolved,  By  the  Mayor  and  Common  Council  of  the  city  of  Jefferson- 
ville, that  in  consideration  of  the  service  rendered  to  his  country  by  Gen. 

Zachary  Ta3'lor,  President-elect  of  the  United  States,  and  in  consideration  of 
the  exalted  station  to  which  he  has  been  called  to  occupy  by  his  fellow  citizens, 

that  he  be  invited  to  visit  our  city  on  his  way  to  ̂ ^'ashington,  and  partake  of 

our  hospitality". 

The  general  saw  fit  to  accept  our  invitation  and  visited  Jeft'ersonville  in 
February,  1849,  and  was  received  with  a  great  demonstration  of  enthusiasm. 

The  reception  ceremonies  were  held  in  the  small  Presbyterian  church  on  Mar- 
ket street,  between  Spring  and  Pearl  streets,  where  he  delivered  a  speech.  This 

building  still  remains  one  of  the  old  landmarks  of  the  city,  being  occupied  now 
by  the  German  Reformed  congregation  as  a  place  of  worship. 

After  the  regiments  returned  home  from  Mexico  we  would  suppose  that 
the  ardor  of  some  of  the  young  soldiers  would  have  prompted  them  to  place 
Clark  county  in  a  better  position  than  she  was  at  the  beginning  of  the  war, 
but  they  seemed  to  have  had  all  the  military  they  desired  in  their  campaign 
against  the  land  of  the  Montezumas.  There  was,  however,  a  company  of 

young  lads  in  Jeffersonville  in  the  year  1853  or  '54,  with  James  Schell  as  cap- 
tain, and  they  were  uniformed  and  equipped.  Their  chief  duty,  so  far  as 

hearsay  tells  us  (and  that  is  our  only  authority)  was  to  drill  very  often  for 
the  edification  of  their  friends.  Joseph  Reign  was  color  bearer,  but  of  the 
other  members  we  can  find  nothing. 

From  this  time  on  until  the  period  of  the  War  of  the  Rebellion  we  find 
Clark  county  like  the  rest  of  the  state,  without  much  enthusiasm  concerning 
things  military. 



CHAPTER  XVII. 

THE  .MILITARY  HISTORY  OF    CLARK    COUNTY  DURIXG  THE 
WAR  OF  THE  REBELLIOX. 

No  part  of  the  history  of  Clark  county  was  so  thoroughly  saturated  with 
military  life  as  the  period  of  the  War  of  the  Rebellion.  The  record  of  her 

•enlistments,  and  the  ser\'ice  of. her  soldiers  leave  no  doubts  of  her  loyalty, 
but  of  honest  Southern  sympathizers  there  were  enough  to  add  a  spice  to  even 
those  strenuous  times.  The  towns,  villages  and  farms  contributed  their  share 

of  loyal  men  to  the  armies  in  the  field,  but  the  city  of  Jeffersonville,  from  her 
situation,  was  the  center  of  activities.  From  the  rugged  hills  of  LTtica,  along 
the  border  lands  of  the  Ohio,  to  the  peaceful  village  of  Bethlehem,  men  needed 

but  to  gaze  at  the  "dark  and  bloody  ground"  beyond  the  silent  waters  to  re- 
ceive the  inspiration  to  do  and  die  for  their  coimtry,  as  did  their  forbears  of 

'1876.  when  Paul  Revere  aroused  them  to  heroic  deeds  at  Concord  and  Le.K- 
ington.  From  the  heights  and  valleys  of  the  knobs  of  Borden,  from  the 
undulating  farms  and  country  sides,  from  the  old  pioneer  town  of  Charlestown 
and  the  country  to  the  north,  from  the  banks  of  Silver  creek  and  Pleasant 
run,  from  Clarksville  to  New  Washington,  the  trumpet  call  for  volunteers  was 

answered  by  fathers,  sons  and  brothers.  \A'ith  the  hosts  of  the  nation's 
chivalry  in  the  South  the  question  of  equipment  and  subsistence  was  no  small 
task  for  those  still  left  at  home,  and  thus  sprang  up  a  labor  of  a  magnitude 
undreamed  of,  when  the  struggle  began.  Jeffersonville  being  at  one  of  the 

principal  gateways  of  the  South,  she  became  the  scene  of  an  ever  changing 
panorama  of  troops  of  all  arms  of  the  service  either  passing  through  the  city, 
camping  here  awaiting  orders,  or  returning  north  decimated  and  mangled  after 

their  blood}^  campaigns,  bound  for  the  great  hospitals  or  their  homes  beyond. 
During  this  period  nearly  every  man  and  boy  in  the  city  was  connected  at  one 

'time  or  another  with  the  army  in  some  capacity,  and  the  vast  storehouses, 
shops,  factories,  offices,  hospitals  and  barracks  were  to  be  found  scattered  over 
all  parts  of  Jeffersonville  and  its  vicinity. 

The  tramp  of  marching  men  and  horses  and  the  heavy  rumble  of  artillery 

were  not  the  only  outward  and  "visible  signs"  of  the  great  struggle  then  in 
progress.  Jeffersonville  was  the  base  from  which  all  troops  and  supplies  for  the 

L'nion  army  were  transported  to  points  south  of  Louisville.  Infantry,  cavalry 
and  artillery,  ordnance,  quartermaster,  commissar}-  and  medical  stores  had  to 
be  transported  across  the  river  from  the  J.,  M.  &  I.  depot  at  Court  avenue  and 
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Wall  street  to  tlie  Louisville  and  Xashville  Railroad  depot  in  Louisville  by  the 

ferry,  and  this,  together  with  the  various  army  institutions  which  were  main- 
tained in  Jeffersonville  during  almost  five  years,  gave  the  little  city  the  busiest 

period  of  her  history.  Camp  Joe  Holt,  the  camping  place  of  many  regiments 
on  their  way  south,  was  situated  just  above  the  Big  Eddy,  on  the  river  bank. 
This  historic  camping  ground  extended  back  from  Front  street  to  Todd  street, 
and  north  past  Montgomery  street  almost  to  the  present  location  of  the  P.  C. 
C.  &  St.  L.  tracks  and  Cane  Run  creek.  It  derived  its  name  from 

Gen.  Joseph  Holt,  Secretary  of  War  under  Buchanan,  and  later  judge  advo- 
cate general.  Being  a  native  of  Kentucky,  he  was  sent  to  that  state  to  influence 

■her  people  towards  loyalty,  but  his  mission  failed  and  the  state  declared  for  neu- 
trality. Lovell  H.  Rosseau,  a  pr(iniinent  lawyer  of  Louisville,  believing  that 

man\-  Kentuckians  were  prevented  from  enlisting  by  this  neutrality,  accepted  a 

colonel's  commission  from  President  Lincoln  and  began  to  organize  his  regi- 
ment across  the  river  on  Lidiana  soil,  and  in  honor  of  the  eloquent  Kentuckian 

named  his  camp  "Joe  Holt". 
One  of  Rousseau's  captains  was  Edward  J.  Mitchell,  of  Louisville,  who 

later  became  a  citizen  of  Clark  county.  He  commanded  Company  F,  of  the 

Second  Kentucky  Cavalry,  and  recruited  several  men  for  his  company  whose 

homes  were  in  Clark  county.  James  M.  Patterson,  his  brother-in-law,  went 
out  with  him  as  his  first  lieutenant.  Companies  A  and  C,  of  the  Sixth  Ken- 

tucky Infantry,  were  the  only  companies  mustered  into  the  L'nited  States 
service  at  camp  Joe  Holt,  although  there  were  other  companies  forming  there 
at  that  time.  Battery  A,  of  the  First  Kentucky  Light  Artillery,  was  organized 
there  at  that  time,  all  of  these  organizations  constituting  the  force  under  the 

command  of  General  Rousseau.  Captain  Mitchell's  company  was  the  only 
one,  so  far  as  we  know,  that  drew  men  from  Clark  county,  and  we  should 

congratulate  ourselves  on  this  fact,  because  from  the  records  of  the  Kentucky 

adjutant  general's  office  we  would  infer  that  Battery  A  was  not  as  gallant  a 

body  as  the  "Twelve  Hundred"  or  "The  Old  Guard".  There  were  one  hun- 
dred and  twenty  desertions  from  it.  Rousseau's  force  crossed  the  river  on  the 

night  of  September  15,  1861,  being  the  first  troops  to  move  south. 

After  the  camp  ceased  to  be  used  as  rendezvous,  a  hospital  was  estab- 
lished and  maintained  until  early  in  1864,  when  the  new  JefYerson  General 

Hospital  was  put  in  commission.  The  camp,  however,  was  used  almost  con- 
tinually until  near  the  close  of  the  war  by  regiments  arriving  or  leaving  at 

various  times.  The  hospitals  there  consisted  of  a  number  of  frame  buildings 

for  wards,  offices  and  a  chapel,  the  latter  being  purchased  by  St.  Paul's 
parish  of  the  Episcopal  church,  and  moved  to  a  lot  on  the  lower  side  of  Mul- 

berry' street  between  Chestnut  and  Alaple.  where  it  stood  for  many  years, 
being  used  by  the  congregation  as  a  place  of  worship  until  1892.  This  build- 

ing at  Camp  Joe  Holt  was  situated  on  the  west  side  of  what  is  now  Front 
street,  and  lav  at  the  extreme  west  end  of  Montgomerv  street. 
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One  of  the  largest  and  most  important  government  institutions  in  the 

city  was  the  Jefferson  General  Hospital.  Adjoining  the  village  of  Port 

Fulton  to  the  east  lay  a  beautiful  farm  reaching  to  the  water's  edge,  the  prop- 
erty of  the  Hon.  Jesse  D.  Bright,  at  that  time  United  States  Senator  fixim 

Indiana.  Gently  rolling  to  the  southward  and  separated  from  the  river  bottom 

by  a  bluff  of  some  fifteen  feet,  with  a  sufficient  depth  of  water  and  a  good  land- 
ing the  year  around,  a  mile  and  a  half  from  the  Louisville  ferry  and  about  as 

far  from  the  old  J.,  M.  &  I.  depot,  it  afforded  an  ideal  location  for  the  estab- 
lishment of  a  hospital.  Senator  Bright  had  forsaken  his  congressional  duties 

and  had  cast  his  fortunes  with  the  Southern  Confederacy.  The  Federal  gov- 

ernment had  seized  the  land  and  here  they  erected  a  plant  which  was  one  *of 
the  finest  in  the  United  States  for  the  care  of  their  wounded  and  sick  from  the 

camps  and  battlefields  in  the  South.  It  was  the  third  largest  hospital  in  the 
country,  and  was  built  on  the  plan  of  the  Chestnut  Hill  Hospital  in  Philadelphia. 

From  a  great  circular  corridor,  exactly  one-half  of  a  mile  in  circumference  and 
eight  hundred  and  forty  feet  across,  under  roof  and  enclosed  by  sliding  glazed 

sash,  there  radiated  outwardly  like  spokes  from  a  hub,  twenty-seven  spacious 
buildings,  each  one  hundred  and  seventy-five  feet  long  and  twenty  feet  wide. 

l"wenty-four  of  these  were  wards,  each  containing  fifty-three  beds  for  patients 
and  one  for  the  ward  master.  The  walls  were  high,  the  roof  ribbed,  without 
ceiling,  the  comb  being  open  for  ventilation.  The  windows,  of  which  there 
was  one  between  every  two  beds,  extended  from  a  foot  above  the  floor  to  the 
eaves,  so  that  there  was  a  complete  absence  of  hospital  odor  summer  and 

winter,  day  and  night,  and  every  bed  had  a  sunbath  every  day  the  sun  shone. 

One  of  the  remaining  "spoke"  buildings  was  equipped  as  a  carpenter  and 
repair  shop  for  such  emergencies  as  chanced  to  arise.  The  other  two  "spoke" 
buildings  were  of  two  stories  each  and  were  used  for  storage  and  supplies, 
with  quarters  over  one  of  them  for  the  women  nurses.  As  an  equator  to  the 
circle  from  north  to  south  was  a  covered  passage  way,  but  not  enclosed. 

Each  of  the  wards  had  its  mess  room  and  buttery  in  front  and  opening 
out  on  the  circular  corridor,  while  at  the  outer  end  of  each  building,  in  a 

small  ell,  was  located  a  ward  master's  room,  bath  and  toilet. 
Just  between  the  extreme  outer  ends  of  each  two  wards  was  an  open  coal 

bin,  from  which  supplies  were  drawn  during  the  winter  to  heat  the  buildings. 

Each  ward  was  supplied  with  four  large  cast  iron  stoves,  and  they  were  suffi- 
cient to  inake  the  rooms  comfortable.  The  large  building  located  inside  the 

circle  was  the  much  used  little  chapel  and  reading  rooms,  one  hun- 
dred and  fifty  feet  long  by  forty  feet  wide,  and  the  small  addition  joining  it 

on  the  north  was  the  chaplain's  office.  The  operating  room  lay  just  beyond, 
while  farther  in  the  distance  was  located  the  headquarters,  a  building  two  hun- 

dred and  ten  feet  north  and  south,  and  thirty  feet  wide.  The  full  and  light 
diet  kitchens,  engine  room,  and  machine  shop  in  a  building  one  hundred  and 

II 
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eighty  feet  long  by  thirty  feet  wide;  the  mess  rooms  and  nurses  sleeping 

apartments  in  another  building  one  hundred  and  seventy-five  feet  by  thirty 
feet,  and  the  commissary  department  in  a  building  one  hundred  and  seventy- 
five  feet  long  by  fifty  feet  wide,  were  situated  at  the  extreme  western  side  of 
the  circle  near  the  baggage  room  and  guard  house.  On  each  side  of  the  circle 
were  located  two  large  hot  water  tanks,  while  just  above,  and  to  the  east  of 

the  grounds,  was  located  the  pumping  station,  which  furnished  an  ample  sup- 
ply of  water  from  a  well  sunk  to  a  great  depth.  It  may  be  a  matter  of  interest 

to  know  that  one  of  these  tanks  is  still  in  use  at  the  circular  saw-mill  at  How- 

ard's shipyard  ( 1909). 
In  the  circle  were  also  located  the  post-office,  drug  and  instrument  house 

and  the  dead  house.  In  the  distance  and  to  the  left  was  the  river  with  Louis- 

ville beyond,  while  to  the  right  and  the  distance  among  the  trees  could  be  seen 

the  stables,  and  back  of  that  Price's  ditch,  a  great  skating  pond  for  Port  Fulton 
boys  up  to  a  few  years  ago. 

The  drainage  system  was  most  complete,  rarely  requiring  the  plumber's 
attention. 

Barracks  for  soldiers  guarding  the  hospital  and  doing  necessary  police 

duty  were  situated  near  by,  and  the  great  laundry  was  located  on  the  river 

bank,  about  a  quarter  of  a  mile  above  the  present  pumping  station  of  the  Jef- 
fersonville  water  works. 

The  hospital  was  opened  for  the  reception  of  patients  on  Feljruary  21, 
1864,  and  was  closed  in  December.  1866.  Long  before  the  war  closed  the 
capacity  of  the  institution  was  found  to  be  unequal  to  the  demand  and  several 

tent  divisions  were  in  constant  use.  i\t  one  time,  after  Hood's  defeat  before 
Nashville,  in  the  dead  of  winter,  with  snow  of  unusual  depth,  it  became  neces- 

sary to  close  the  sash  of  the  circular  corridor  and  transform  it  into  an  im- 
mense ward.  At  that  time  the  hospital  had  five  thousand  two  hundred 

(5,200)  beds,  and  they  were  all  occupied.  Besides  the  large  number  of  sol- 
diers and  male  nurses  employed  there  was  a  corps  of  women  nurses  under  the 

supervision  of  IMrs.  Arbuckle,  as  chief  nurse.  The  chief  surgeon  during  the 

life-time  of  the  hospital  was  Dr.  Middleton  Goldsmith,  who  in  civil  life  had 

been  a  surgeon  of  large  experience  and  great  success.  The  position  of  execu- 
tive officer,  second  in  command,  was  at  different  times  filled  l^y  Dr.  W.  T. 

Okie,  LTnited  States  Army:  Dr.  J.  C.  Happersett,  Dr.  A.  B.  Prescott 

"and  Dr.  F.  A.  Seymour.  There  were  Iiut  two  chaplains,  who,  with  equal 
rank  remained  throughout — Chaplain  Chauncey  W.  Fitch,  an  Episcopal 

clergyman  and  the  father  of  Col.  Edw.  ̂ \^  Fitch ;  and  Chaplain  L.  G.  Olm- 
stead,  a  Presbyterian.  They  were  men  of  great  heart  as  well  as  brain,  and 

Chaplain  Olmstead  being  a  great  lover  of  flowers  was  responsible  for  adding 
materially  to  the  beauty  and  attractiveness  of  the  grounds  by  planting  many 
trees  and  flower  beds  to  cheer  the  homesick  sufiferers. 


